The biomechanical changes during sportspecific tasks and different commercially available footwear in individuals following meniscectomy

Vanessa Walters

School of Health and Society, University of Salford, Salford, UK

September 2020

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for

the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Table of Contents

AcknowledgementsXIII
AbbreviationsXV
Abstract1
Chapter 1 - Introduction
Aims and objectives
Hypotheses9
Chapter Structure11
Chapter 2 - Literature Review
2.1 The Meniscus12
2.1.1 What is the meniscus?12
2.1.2 Structure
2.1.3 Function
2.2 Meniscal injuries16
2.2.1 Incidence and prevalence of meniscus injury16
2.2.2 Degenerative tear
2.2.3 Traumatic tear
2.3 Management of meniscal injuries21
2.3.1 Diagnostic procedure
2.3.2 Conservative treatment
2.3.3 Surgical approaches25
2.4 Long-term consequences following meniscectomy28
2.5 Comparison between medial and lateral meniscectomy30
2.6 Risk factors of knee joint degeneration31
2.7 Knee loading
2.8 Balance and stability
2.9 Self-reported outcome measures
2.9.1. Kinesiophobia
2.9.2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score47
2.10 Dynamic movement
2.11 Return to physical activity49
2.12 Footwear
2.12.1 Footwear and osteoarthritis
2.12.2 Cushioning footwear
2.12.3 Lateral wedge footwear
2.12.4 Stability footwear

2.13 Gaps in the literature	60
Chapter 3 - Overall Methodology	62
3.1. Chapter Overview	62
3.2 Research Environment	62
3.2.1 Three-dimensional (3D) capture of data	63
3.2.2 Force platform data	64
3.2.3 Calibration	64
3.2.4 3D Marker construction	66
3.2.5 Retro-reflective marker set up and definitions of segments	67
3.2.6 Surface Electromyography (EMG)	69
3.3 Data collection procedures	72
3.3.1 Questionnaires	72
3.3.1.1 Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia	72
3.3.1.2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score	73
3.3.1.3 Physical activity survey	73
3.3.1.4 Rehabilitation questionnaire	73
3.3.2 Isometric strength assessment	73
3.3.3 Y-Balance test	75
3.3.4 Drop landing	76
3.3.5 Walking	77
3.3.6 Running	78
3.3.7 Ninety degree change of direction	78
3.4 Data processing	79
3.4.1 Kinematics and kinetics	79
3.4.2 Definition of the segments	81
3.4.2.1 Trunk segment	81
3.4.2.2 Pelvis segment	82
3.4.2.3 Thigh segment	83
3.4.2.4 Shank segment	84
3.4.2.5 Foot segment	85
3.4.2.6 Virtual lab	86
3.4.3 Definition of timing events	87
3.5 EMG processing	91
3.6 Primary outcome measures	92
3.6.1 Kinetics	92
3.6.1.1 EKAM	92

3.6.1.2 KFM	94
3.6.1.3 KAAI	95
3.7 Secondary outcome measures	95
3.7.1 Isometric peak torque	95
3.7.2 Muscle co-contraction	96
3.7.3 Centre of pressure	97
3.7.4 Balance	98
3.7.5 KOOS	98
3.7.6 Tampa	98
3.7.7 Physical activity	98
3.7.8 Rehabilitation questionnaire	99
3.7.9 Supporting data	99
3.8 Statistical approaches	99
3.9 Repeatability of marker placement	100
3.9.1 Repeatability of marker placement background	100
3.9.2 Methods of repeatability	103
3.9.3 Results of repeatability	104
3.9.4 Results of between-lab test	104
3.9.4.1 Between-test during walking	104
3.9.4.2 Repeatability of kinematic during running	105
3.9.4.3 Repeatability of strength measure	106
3.9.5 Discussion of repeatability	107
3.9.6 Conclusion of repeatability	110
Chapter 4 - Biomechanical Outcomes associated with Osteoarthritis progression in individual. following Meniscectomy during athletic and functional tasks (BOOM study)	s 111
4.1 Background	111
4.2 Aims and Hypotheses	113
4.3 Methodology	114
4.3.1 Recruitment	114
	116
4.3.2 Participants	118
4.3.2 Participants 4.3.3 Procedure	
4.3.2 Participants4.3.3 Procedure4.3.4 Data processing	119
 4.3.2 Participants 4.3.3 Procedure 4.3.4 Data processing 4.3.5 Primary outcome measures 	119 120
 4.3.2 Participants	119 120 120
 4.3.2 Participants	119 120 120 121

4.4.2 Walking	
4.4.2.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparisons	124
4.4.2.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparisons	
4.4.2.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction	
4.4.3 Running	
4.4.3.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison	
4.4.3.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison	
4.4.3.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction	
4.4.4 Landing	
4.4.4.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison	
4.4.4.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison	
4.4.4.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction	141
4.4.5 Change of direction	142
4.4.5.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison	142
4.4.5.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison	144
4.4.5.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction	146
4.4.6 Functional measures	147
4.5 Discussion	147
4.5.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparisons	148
4.5.2 Comparison of knee loading between meniscectomy and healthy individu	als149
4.5.3 Muscle activation, weakness, and balance	
4.5.4 Physical activity following meniscectomy	
4.5.5 Patient-reported outcomes	
4.6 Limitation/Future direction	
4.7 Summary	164
Chapter 5 - The effect of commercially available Footwear on biomechanical outcome with knee osteoarthritis in individuals following Meniscectomy. (Meni-Foot study)	es associated 166
5.1 Background	
5.2 Aims and Hypotheses	
5.3 Methods	
5.3.1 Recruitment	
5.3.2 Participants	
5.3.3 Procedure	
5.3.4 Data processing	
5.3.5 Primary outcomes	
5.3.6 Statistical analysis	
-	

5.4 Kesuits	174
5.4.1 Walking	
5.4.2 Running	
5.4.3 Change of direction	
5.4.4 Medial and lateral comparison	
5.4.5 Perception of comfort	
5.5 Discussion	
5.5.1 Cushioning	
5.5.2 Stability Footwear	
5.5.3 Lateral Wedge	
5.5.4 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison in footwear	
5.5.5 Comfort Score	
5.6 Limitation/Future direction	
5.7 Summary	
Chapter 6 - Final Discussion	
6.1 Medial compared to lateral meniscectomy	
6.2 Knee loading following meniscectomy in physically active individuals	
6.3 Footwear following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls	
6.4 Limitations	
6.5 Novelty of study	
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice6.7 Future directions	207 208
 6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary 	207 208 209
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References	207 208 209 211
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References Chapter 8 - Appendices	
 6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207 208 209 211 260 260
 6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207 208 209 211 260 260 260 263
 6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References Chapter 8 - Appendices Appendix 1: Ethical approval Appendix 2: Questionnaires Appendix 2.1: Health questionnaire 	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263
 6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 263 265
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References Chapter 8 - Appendices Appendix 1: Ethical approval Appendix 2: Questionnaires Appendix 2.1: Health questionnaire Appendix 2.2: Sport activity survey Appendix 2.3: Rehabilitation questionnaire	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 265 265
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References Chapter 8 - Appendices Appendix 1: Ethical approval Appendix 2: Questionnaires Appendix 2.1: Health questionnaire Appendix 2.2: Sport activity survey Appendix 2.3: Rehabilitation questionnaire Appendix 2.4: VAS Footwear comfort score	207 208 209 211 260 260 260 263 263 263 265 267 273
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions. 6.8 Summary. Chapter 7 - References. Chapter 8 - Appendices. Appendix 1: Ethical approval Appendix 2: Questionnaires Appendix 2:1: Health questionnaire. Appendix 2.2: Sport activity survey Appendix 2.3: Rehabilitation questionnaire Appendix 2.4: VAS Footwear comfort score Appendix 3: Graphs	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 263 263 265 267 273 274
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice 6.7 Future directions 6.8 Summary Chapter 7 - References Chapter 8 - Appendices Appendix 1: Ethical approval Appendix 2: Questionnaires Appendix 2.1: Health questionnaire Appendix 2.2: Sport activity survey Appendix 2.3: Rehabilitation questionnaire Appendix 2.4: VAS Footwear comfort score Appendix 3: Graphs Appendix 3.1: Walking	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 263 265 265 267 273 274 274
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 263 265 265 267 273 274 274 274
6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice	207 208 209 211 260 260 263 263 263 265 265 267 273 274 274 274 275 276

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: The bloody supply in a meniscus. Source: https://www.nwskelleymd.com/copy-of-ankle-instability	ty 13
Figure 2.2: This figure shows the medial and lateral compartments of the meniscus, where it can be seen that	!t
the lateral meniscus is more circular and smaller. Source: http://www.physio-	
pedia.com/images/9/91/Lat.meniscus.gif	15
Figure 2.3: Illustration of Markov models comparing the percentage of incidence of isolated meniscal repair	r to
partial meniscectomy and the risk of knee joint degeneration (Rogers et al., 2019)	18
Figure 2.4: This image shows the several types of traumatic tears that occur in the meniscus. Source:	
http://www.limbreconstructions.com/meniscal-injuries.html	20
Figure 2.5: Abram meniscal management guideline (Abram et al., 2019)	22
Figure 2.6: The framework of how a meniscal injury causes a continuous loop to occur which in turn creates	5
joint degeneration and links meniscectomy to OA. (Andriacchi et al., 2014)	34
Figure 2.7: Ground reaction force vector location and moment in (a) healthy (b) medial meniscectomy	
(Duivenvoorden et al., 2015)	37
Figure 2.8: 1st and 2nd peaks of the external knee adduction moment and the knee adduction angular impuls	se
under the curve (KAAI). (Levinger et al., 2013)	38
Figure 2.9: The shift of the GRF laterally wearing a lateral insole. Source: http://journals.eco-	
vector.com/files/journals/1/articles/6157/supp/6157-5635-1-SP.png	57
Figure 3.1: Running track at the MIHP showing 10 of the 28 cameras (top)	63
Figure 3.2: 60m running track with embedded force platforms (in the white box) and timing gates. White X	
indicates centre of the collection area and where L-frame is placed	64
Figure 3.3: The calibration L-frame and T-shaped wand	65
Figure 3.4: The standard deviation of measurement (circled in red) of all the cameras	66
Figure 3.5: Prediction error (red ball = marker, arrow = prediction and blue ball = deviation) (QTM, 2011)) 67
Figure 3.6: Marker Placement	68
Figure 3.7: The EMG electrode placement on the thigh	70
Figure 3.8: Normalisation strategies using handheld dynamometry to collect MVC for each muscle. Left =	
Quadriceps, Right = Hamstrings	71
Figure 3.9: Biodex isokinetic dynamometer during isometric strength testing	74
Figure 3.10: Y-balance task on the force platform	76
Figure 3.11: 90 degrees change of direction approach and exit distance	78
Figure 3.12: 90 degrees change of direction at 80% speed	79
Figure 3.13: QTM raw static model (left) and Visual3D full segment model (right)	80
Figure 3.14: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the trunk	81
Figure 3.15: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the pelvis	82
Figure 3.16: This shows thigh marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the thigh	83
Figure 3.17: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the shank	84

Figure 3.18: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the foot	86
Figure 3.19: This shows model on Visual 3D for the Virtual lab	87
Figure 3.20: Events during running, 90-degree change of direction and drop landing	89
Figure 3.21: The stance phases during walking and running, identifying early stance (loading) and late stan	nce
(propulsion): Source https://www.kintec.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/runninggait-1024x375.png	90
Figure 3.22: An example EKAM curve during walking indicating the early (1st peak) and late (2nd peak) st	tance
phases	92
Figure 3.23: This graph shows the EKAM during running indicating the early (1st peak) and late (2nd peak	c)
stance phases of loading	93
Figure 3.24: This graph shows the peak EKAM during drop landing	93
Figure 3.25: This graph shows the peak EKAM during change of direction in the first 50% of stance	94
Figure 3.26: This graph shows the KFM during walking indicating the early (1st Peak) and late stance (2nd	d
Peak) phases	94
Figure 3.27: The external knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) under the curve shown by shaded area	95
Figure 3.28: This shows the foot strike index highlighting that anything above 0.5 is forefoot strike and belo	ЭW
0.5 is rearfoot strike (Sanutz et al., 2017). This was a sagittal view of a typical rearfoot (A) and forefoot (B))
strike patterns during running	97
Figure 3.29: Graph of between session force curve for the isokinetic dynamometer strength test showing the	е
isometric strength at during a 5 s contraction (top) and the concentric/eccentric isokinetic strength measure	e at
60 degrees/s normalised to 101 data points of trial (bottom)	107
Figure 4.1: Flow chart of recruitment process	116
Figure 4.2: Flow chart of test procedure	119
Figure 4.3: Flow chart of meniscectomy participant inclusion in this study	122
Figure 4.4: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following media	al (n
= 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during walking	124
Figure 4.5: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following me	edial
(n = 13) and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during walking	125
Figure 4.6: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane motion comparing the meniscectomy leg ($n = 29$),	
contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individual ($n = 20$) during walking	126
Figure 4.7: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscectomy leg (n	=
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during walking	128
Figure 4.8: Sum of net activation of the knee extensors and flexors	130
Figure 4.9: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following med	ial (n
= 13) and lateral ($n = 16$) meniscectomy during running	132
Figure 4.10: Sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following medial and lateral	
meniscectomy during running	133
Figure 4.11: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectomy leg (n	=
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during running	134

Figure 4.12: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscector	my leg (n =
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during running	135
Figure 4.13: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals follow	wing medial
(n = 13) and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during landing	138
Figure 4.14: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals fol-	lowing
medial $(n = 13)$ and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during landing	139
Figure 4.15: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectom	y leg (n =
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during landing	139
Figure 4.16: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscecto	my leg (n =
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during landing	141
Figure 4.17: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals follow	wing medial
(n = 13) and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during change of direction	143
Figure 4.18: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals fol-	lowing
medial $(n = 13)$ and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during change of direction	143
Figure 4.19: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectom	y leg (n =
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during change of direction	144
Figure 4.20: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscecto	my leg (n =
29), contralateral leg ($n = 29$) and control individuals ($n = 20$) during change of direction	145
Figure 5.1: The testing protocol including the timing	171
Figure 5.2: The four commercially available trainers used	172
Figure 5.3: Flow chart of meniscectomy participant inclusion in this study	175
Figure 5.4: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion during running comparing for	ır different
footwear conditions $(n = 20)$	178
Figure 5.5: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments during running comparing	four different
footwear conditions $(n = 20)$	179
Figure 5.6: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion during change of direction co	omparing
four different footwear conditions ($n = 20$)	180
Figure 5.7: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments during change of direction	comparing
four different footwear conditions	181
Figure 5.8: Comfort score rated on a visual analogue scale (VAS) for all four footwear	182

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the stance phase	in
walking	105
Table 3.2: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the stance phase	in
running	106
Table 3.3: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the average peak	k
isokinetic and isometric strength	106
Table 4.1: The participant demographics (* is shows significant differences between meniscectomy and heat	lthy
<i>controls), N</i> / <i>A</i> = <i>Not Applicable</i>	122
Table 4.2: The self-reported outcome measures from the questionnaires for each group (*indicated the result	lts
were significantly different between meniscectomy and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and	
underlined, $N/A = Not Applicable$)	123
Table 4.3: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee motion and moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean	
comparing individuals following a medial $(n = 13)$ and lateral $(n = 16)$ meniscectomy during walking	
(*indicated significance. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)	124
Table 4.4: Average speed and peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during early and late stance du	ıring
walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control **	
indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance	
between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)	127
Table 4.5: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments, vertical GRF during early and late stance, KAAI and medio-later	ral
centre of pressure during walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy	
(Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and ***	
indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and	
underlined	129
Table 4.6: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during early an	ıd
late stance phase in walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and	
control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance	
between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)	131
Table 4.7: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee motion and moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean	
comparing individuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during running (*indicated the results v	were
significantly different between medial and lateral meniscectomy. High effect size was indicated in bold and	
underlined)	132
Table 4.8: Average speed, peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during early and late stance of run	ning
(*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated	
significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between	
contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)	134
Table 4.9: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments, vertical GRF during early and late stance, KAAI and medio-later	ral
centre of pressure during running (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy	

(Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)

Table 4.10: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during early andlate stance of running (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control **indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance betweencontralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)137

136

Table 4.11: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparingindividuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during landing (*indicated significance. High effectsize was indicated in bold and underlined)138

Table 4.12: Average speed, peak ankle, knee, hip and trunk motion during landing from foot contact untilmaximum knee flexion (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) andcontrol ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicatedsignificance between contralateral and control)140

 Table 4.13: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments and vertical GRF during landing between foot contact until

 maximum knee flexion (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and

 control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated

 significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)
 141

 Table 4.14: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during landing
 (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance

 between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control.
 142

Table 4.15: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparingindividuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during change of direction (*indicated significance.High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)143

Table 4.16: Average approach and exit speed, peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during change ofdirection (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicatedsignificance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral andcontrol. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)144

Table 4.17: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments and vertical GRF during change of direction (*indicated the resultswere significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance betweenmeniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. Higheffect size was indicated in bold and underlined)145

Table 4.18: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during change ofdirection (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicatedsignificance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral andcontrol. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)146

Table 4.19: Peak isometric torque and average peak y-balance reach distance comparing the meniscectomy leg, contralateral leg and control individual (*indicated the results were significantly different between

XI

meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated	ated
significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)	147
Table 5.1: The participant demographics	175
Table 5.2: Mean \pm SD speed, peak ankle, knee and hip motion during walking comparing cushioning, stability	ity
and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer (* indicated significance, large effect size indicated by bold a	ınd
underlined value)	176
Table 5.3: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments during walking comparing cushioning, stability and lateral we	edge
trainers to a neutral trainer (* indicated significance, large effect size indicated by bold and underlined valu	ue)
	177
Table 5.4: Peak ankle, knee and hip motion in early and late stance during running comparing cushioning,	
stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer (* demonstrated significance and a bold underlined	
effect size showed large effect)	178
Table 5.5: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments, vertical GRF and medial/lateral COP during running compared	ring
cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer. (* demonstrated significance. Large effe	ect
size was shown by bold and underlined value).	179
Table 5.6: Average approach and exit velocity, peak ankle, knee and hip motion during change of direction	
comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer	180
Table 5.7: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments and vertical GRF during change of direction comparing	
cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer	181
Table 5.8: EKAM when comparing medial vs lateral meniscectomy in all four footwear conditions	182

Acknowledgements

No acknowledgments could ever be enough to thank from the bottom of my heart all the people that have supported me in so many ways during this PhD during the last (almost) 4 years. It has truly been one of the most difficult times in my life. I have grown and learnt so much from this experience and now can say that I am so very proud of myself and that is all thanks to the people who helped push and support me throughout this entire journey.

First and foremost, I would like to say a massive thank you to my supervisors Prof. Richard Jones, Dr. Chelsea Starbuck and Dr. Lee Herrington. You guided me through this PhD journey, with your knowledge and without your incredible encouragement and support, this work would not have been possible. I would also like to thank you for giving me a push when I needed it and helping me get to the end of this work. It has been a rollercoaster and I am extremely grateful to my supervisors for all their help, patience, guidance, and support. I have learnt a lot from my supervisors which has allowed me the opportunities to grow as a researcher, with a strong inquiring approach and care for every detail of my project and am very proud and honoured to have been under their supervision.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Prof. Richard Jones and the University of Salford for funding my PhD and to the University and Santander for providing financial support to attend national and international conferences. I would like to say a massive thank you to the orthopaedics teams at the Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust and specifically Mr. Bilal Barkatali for supporting me and helping with patient recruitment. Tremendous thanks also to all the participants in my testing and work who gave their precious time, so that others might benefit.

Thanks to my colleagues at Salford, Anna, Susan, Alix, Eleonora, Niamh, Sue who have tolerated, supported, and helped me throughout my PhD. Thank you for our lunches every day, attending the two beautiful weddings and for the enduring friendships I made. Mostly thank-you for being there and being great examples every step of the way. The biggest thanks to my friend Jo who sent me the PhD advert and who believed in me and encouraged me to apply. It is due to her inspiration and her belief in me that I have gotten to where I am today

I would like to thank all my amazing friends Marie, Georgina, Denise, Jenny, Jana, Sophie, Mike, Riana, for your absolute endless support, patience, comfort, and love. I would like to say a special thank you to my housemates who have gotten me through at the end of every day and picked me up ready for the next one. Frankey you have been my partner in crime whilst living in Salford and I would not have been able to do this without you. You cheered me on every step of the way and were there when I needed a glass of wine, a laugh or even when I forgot to make food. Thank you for everything you do and for being the most beautiful human. You have given me another friend for life and have taught me that nothing is impossible. Tiffany, although we were not housemates for very long, we clicked immediately. Thank you so much for being there when I moved to a new city right at the end of my PhD. Thank you for helping push and motivate me every day and for waiting and warming up my food at the end of the day. You have been my angel in the craziest of times and have helped push me to the finish line.

No words are enough to express my deep gratitude towards my beloved family. They have always supported me with their unconditional love, in all my choices, included that of doing a PhD. None of the experiences I gained in my life would have been possible without them. I would like to thank my sisters for their constant support and love. Laura you have been there through the whole journey and have been my go-to person when I needed that extra bit of strength. Tasch, thank you for giving me a place to live when I first moved to start my new job and for reading through my work. Thank you for feeding me and helping me out when my days were too long. To my parents I will be forever grateful. My father (Kenn Walters), you have taught me to always work hard and never give up. You have supported me the whole way through my entire life and without your encouragement I would not have made it this far. My mother (Barbara Walters), you are my biggest hero and my biggest supporter. I owe you everything as you have made me the person I am today. You have taught me to stay positive and keep fighting even when times look tough. You have shown me unconditional love and have travelled from Spain to the UK to support me when I needed you the most. I am forever grateful and am truly lucky to have such an incredible family and I will forever try and make you proud of who I am. This PhD is dedicated to you my parents as it would not have been possible to start the PhD let alone finish it without your constant support.

Abbreviations

0	Degrees
2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
ADL	Activity of daily living
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ASIS	Anterior Superior Iliac Spine
BF	Biceps Femoris
BMI	Body Mass Index
BW	Body Weight
CAST	Calibrated Anatomical System Technique
CCR	Co-contraction ratio
CI	Confidence Interval
CMC	Correlation of multiple coefficient
COM	Centre of Mass
COP	Centre of Pressure
DOF	Degree of Freedom
EKAM	External knee adduction moment
EMG	Electromyography
ES	Effect Size
Ext	Extension
Flx	Flexion
GRF	Ground-reaction force
KAAI	Knee adductor angular impulse
KFM	Knee flexion moment
kg	Kilogram
KOOS	Knee injury and osteoarthritis outcome score
LHS	Left heel strike
LOFF	Left off
LON	Left on
LTO	Left toe off
m	Metre
mA	Milliampere
MDD	Minimal detectable difference
mm	Millimetre
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
ms	Millisecond
MIHP	Manchester Institute of Health and Performance
MVC	Maximal voluntary contraction
NHS	National Health Service
Nm	Newton metre
OA	Osteoarthritis
PSIS	Posterior superior iliac spine

QOL	Quality of life
QTM	Qualisys track manager
RHS	Right heel strike
RMS	Root mean square
ROFF	Right off
ROM	Range of motion
RON	Right on
RTO	Right toe off
SD	Standard deviation
SEBT	Star excursion balance test
SEM	Standard error of the measurement
sEMG	Surface electromyography
SENIAM	Surface Electromyography for the Non-Invasive Assessment of
	muscles
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
ST	Semitendinosus
TSK	Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia
VAS	Visual analogue scale
VGRF	Vertical ground-reaction force
VL	Vastus lateralis
VM	Vastus medialis

Abstract

Injuries to the meniscus are common particularly in sporting individuals. Traumatic meniscal tears typically occur due to a high impact twisting action on a planted foot, which can be seen in sports such as basketball, football and skiing. Competitive athletes generally agree to having a meniscectomy surgery with the objective of returning to the same level of activity as was considered normal before the injury, however the effect of returning to sport and performing sport-specific tasks has not been researched in depth following meniscectomy. Altered knee mechanics and increased knee loading, like those seen in knee osteoarthritis (OA), have been observed following a meniscectomy, therefore identifying ways to reduce knee loading and slow the progression of OA are a priority. Individuals following meniscectomy have been reported to be 15 times more likely to develop knee OA compared to the general healthy population. Whilst it is well researched that medial partial meniscectomies result in the onset of medial (OA), little is known about the biomechanical effects following lateral meniscectomy in comparison to individuals following medial meniscectomy. Therefore, an improved understanding of biomechanical changes following medial and lateral meniscectomy, specifically during both functional and sport-specific tasks is vital and whether approaches such as the use of different footwear have an influence to aid in offloading the knee.

To develop a robust and reliable test protocol for the investigation of the biomechanical outcomes in individuals following meniscectomy, a repeatability study was performed, which enabled the development of a protocol that was applied in the following studies of the thesis. The BOOM study investigated biomechanical and clinical outcomes following meniscectomy surgery in 29 individuals following both medial and lateral meniscectomy in comparison to 20 healthy controls. It was found that there were few differences when comparing individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy, therefore the sub-groups were combined to analyse the knee joint loading. Knee loading was increased in the early stages of rehabilitation during walking, running and landing, highlighting initial effects of non-effective rehabilitation with muscle weakness, stiffness in joint motion and kinesiophobia, which may have the potential to lead on to knee joint degeneration.

Lastly, the Meni-Foot study looked at the use of three different types of footwear including cushioning footwear, stability footwear and lateral wedge footwear in comparison to neutral footwear, to find a way to offload the affected compartment of the knee and slow the risk of OA progression, specifically in a young active population. Lateral wedge footwear was found to offload the medial compartment of the knee and aid individuals following medial meniscectomy, however further research needs to be done looking at a more comfortable shoe with a lateral wedge to offload the medial compartment and a greater medial arch support to offload the lateral compartment whilst considering pain and motion during dynamic tasks.

To summarise the findings in this thesis, other than greater trunk lean in the lateral meniscectomy during walking, there were no significant differences in knee loading between individuals following a medial meniscectomy and individuals following a lateral meniscectomy. The lack of differences in knee loading between medial and lateral meniscectomy groups was unexpected, however it suggested combining groups in the short-term period following surgery was applicable. Individuals on average 6 months post-meniscectomy showed reduced balance, isometric strength and self-reported function. Individuals showed a quadriceps avoidance strategy, with altered muscle activation, stiffer movement patterns and greater kinesiophobia compared to healthy controls. Non-invasive interventions such as lateral wedge footwear can be used to offload the medial compartment of the knee during walking and therefore, could be beneficial for individuals following medial meniscectomy. Further research needs to be done on sport specific tasks and different footwear conditions depending on which compartment of the knee it aims to offload.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

The meniscus plays a vital part of knee joint health as it aids in stabilising the knee, acting as a shock absorber, and transmitting load, with the lateral meniscus taking as much as 70% of the load in the lateral compartment and the medial meniscus carrying approximately 50% of the medial load (Fox et al., 2015; Kurosawa et al., 1980). Injury to the knee, specifically the meniscus is one of the most common problems in competitive sports, due to high demand that is placed on the meniscus in high impact movements such as running, change of direction and landing movements (Stanley et al., 2016; Mitchell et al., 2016). Meniscal injuries are responsible for over 500,000 injuries every year in the USA (Kim et al., 2011; Englund et al., 2016) and an estimated 25,000 hospital admissions each year in the UK (Snoeker et al., 2013). Medial meniscal tears are twice as likely to occur than those on the lateral side, due to the inability of the medial meniscus to move with the joint (Campbell et al., 2001).

Altered knee mechanics have been reported following surgery, including reduced joint contact area and significantly increased joint contact force (Bae et al., 2012), resulting in reduced ability to transmit load through the knee (Badlani et al., 2013; Edd et al., 2015; Willy et al., 2016). These alterations in biomechanics can induce composition changes of the articular cartilage that can lead to degeneration of the menisci and gradual development of knee osteoarthritis (OA) (Dieppe and Lohmander., 2005). Sustaining a meniscal injury significantly increases the risk of developing knee OA, with studies finding that 80% of individuals develop OA 5 to 10 years after a meniscectomy, further resulting in a 15-fold increased risk of requiring total knee reconstruction (Englund et al., 2004; Petty et al., 2011; Papalia et al., 2011; Hall et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2017).

Surgical arthroscopic partial meniscectomy is the most common treatment for a torn or injured meniscus in sporting populations, as there are minimal healing capabilities in the meniscus and recovery time following a meniscectomy is often shorter compared to meniscal repairs or transplantations (Englund et al., 2008). The loads on both the medial and lateral compartment of the knee are even greater during dynamic tasks when considering the high demand on the knee in sport-specific movements such as running, landing and changing of direction (De David et al., 2015). Medial meniscectomies have been researched more frequently, which may be due to them being more common and reoperation rates being higher (Paxton et al., 2011). The lateral meniscus, however, is of particular importance in young active people, particularly

in athletes and sportspersons as it aids in cushioning the knee during dynamic movement due to its mobility. Previous studies have demonstrated less favourable outcomes after lateral meniscectomy compared with medial meniscectomy in terms of joint degeneration (Frabricant et al., 2007), time to return to pre-injury level and incidence of adverse events (Nawabi et al., 2014). However, the biomechanical mechanisms associated to these outcomes lack investigation following a lateral meniscectomy. Longo et al., (2019) analysed 57 individuals pre-and post-partial meniscectomy in both the medial and lateral meniscus and found that there was significant progression of knee OA in both groups of individuals following medial meniscectomy ranging from 17.2% pre-surgery to 65.95% post-surgery and in individuals following lateral meniscectomy ranging from 17.64% pre-surgery to 58.82% post-surgery. The fact that individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy are at risk of developing knee joint OA clearly highlights that both need to be analysed in terms of the biomechanical outcomes to identify ways to slow OA progression in both compartments. Greater understanding following lateral meniscectomy in comparison to medial meniscectomy needs to be established, specifically how the menisci deals with knee loading during competitive sports where it is at greater risk of injury/re-injury (Mitchell et al., 2016). To date, there has only ever been one study that looked at the biomechanical outcomes post-lateral meniscectomy, and this was investigated during bilateral drop landing (Ford et al., 2011).

Individuals who have sustained a traumatic meniscal tear are usually young and active with tears occurring during sporting tasks (Beaufils et al., 2014). Traumatic tears frequently occur during an instance where the individual has an increased load occurring at the knee during a twisting motion (Weiss and Whatman., 2015). Therefore, it is important to look at multi-directional dynamic movements which would be replicated in a sporting environment. Individuals that participated in competitive sport prior to a meniscectomy place a high demand on their meniscus to manage the loads that occur across the joint following surgery and aim to return to full competitive sport as soon as possible (Eberbach et al., 2018). Zedde et al., (2014) suggested that returning to competitive activities such as basketball should be longer than three months post-surgery, however the return to sport criteria often allows individuals following meniscectomy and whether compensatory mechanisms are used in the early stages on rehabilitation, which may have a detrimental long-term effect

Although tibiofemoral knee loading has been previously analysed following meniscectomy, this has generally been done during walking, with only a few studies looking at running and more dynamic tasks (Willy et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2017). Additionally, the running studies were seen not to be ecologically valid, and when looking at the young active population (Mitchell et al., 2016), it is important to identify the loads that occur in tasks such as landing and change of directions. Willy et al., (2016) examined treadmill running which, although the loads during treadmill running and over-ground running have been shown to be similar (Fellin et al., 2010), running on a treadmill cannot simulate in-game dynamic movements (Raja Azidin et al., 2015). Only one study has investigated over-ground running (Hall et al., 2017) and this was conducted barefoot at a relatively slow speed jogging pace of (2.45 m/s) compared to typical running speeds seen in competitive sports (5-7 m/s) (Ferro et al., 2014). Ford et al., (2011) and Hsu et al., (2016) were the only studies to examine drop landing and single leg hop movements in individuals following meniscectomy. Further research is needed to explore movement patterns and knee joint loading during more demanding sport-specific tasks post meniscectomy and return-to-sport abilities for the young active populations.

As many athletic individuals with a meniscal tear undergo partial meniscectomy intend to return to sports, knowledge of the changes in knee joint loading during such activities are important to identify the implications that may affect the ability to return to their competitive level of activity, however this is significantly under researched (Sherman et al., 2020). Following meniscectomy, reduced contact surface area within the joint and increased contact pressures can be seen, resulting in a reduced ability to transmit load (Badlani et al., 2013). Indirect measures of medial knee loading, such as the external knee adductor moments (EKAM) and knee adduction angular impulses (KAAI) and knee flexion moment (KFM) and muscle activation, have been associated with increased risk of developing patellofemoral and medial tibiofemoral OA (Hall et al., 2014; Mills et al., 2008; Hulet et al., 2015; Willy et al., 2017; Thorlund et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2014). Coordination of muscle activity also contributes to knee joint loading (Schmitt & Rudolph, 2008). The quadriceps and hamstrings contract simultaneously during the stance phase of walking and play an important role for knee joint loading as muscles support the joint due to them crossing over the knee joint and controlling knee joint movement (Winby et al., 2009). Despite information about contributing factors and underlying mechanisms of meniscus injuries and the progression to OA, there is still a lack of information in the current literature on specific movement patterns and the effect on knee joint loading during sport-specific movements.

Muscle strength recovery is considered important for young individuals after an arthroscopic surgery to regain the capacity to participate in sports or other activities (Batailler et al., 2018). Both pre- and post-operative knee extensor strength have been reported to predict better functional outcome of knee surgery post-meniscectomy (Ericsson et al., 2009). The reduction in muscular strength levels is clinically relevant for the return to sport criteria, as most individuals following meniscectomy have seen a 25% strength reduction in the affected leg compared to the contralateral leg (Hall et al., 2013). For individuals at a highly competitive level of sport a leg strength discrepancy is often capped at 10% or less between legs to be ready to return to their sports (Grindem et al., 2016). Explosive movements, such as running and jumping, require good muscle strength and control which is reduced in individuals following meniscectomy up to a year after surgery (Hsu et al., 2015). Muscle strength is closely linked with balance and joint stability, creating a clinical implication for day-to-day living (Baltich et al., 2015).

Co-contraction of the muscle, or altered timings of the muscle contractions, are also important as this can show compensatory techniques post-operation which can increase compressive forces in the knee (Selistre et al., 2017). Greater co-contraction of the medial muscles at the knee have demonstrated a faster progression of knee OA in individuals diagnosed with medial knee OA (Hodges et al., 2016). Therefore, it is important to understand whether individual's post-meniscectomy have greater co-contraction and whether this could be a risk factor to lead on to future knee OA progression. Changes in muscle activation could have major implications for individuals following meniscectomy as this could identify issues post-surgery. Therefore, strategies and modalities to help offload the knee and slow knee joint degeneration, allowing these athletic individuals to carry on with competitive sport are key.

Fear of movement is often linked to muscle weakness due to surgery and re-injury, which have been previously reported as having negative psychological effects to return-to-sport outcome and therefore, should be another important area for investigation following meniscectomy (Ageberg & Roos, 2016; Everhart et al., 2020; Hart et al., 2020). The psychological influences such as confidence in function (Chmielewski et al., 2008), pain catastrophizing (de Boer et al., 2012), Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) (Collins et al., 2011), kinesiophobia (Kvist et al., 2005) are highly important when understanding re-injury and participation in dynamic sport following surgery (Brand and Nyland., 2009). Therefore, these aspects should be taken into consideration when looking at a meniscectomy population who wish to return to sport and partake in more dynamic movements, as individual's negative attitudes toward their movement can cause gait adaptations to occur and aid in compensatory movements to be established (Tichonova et al., 2016).

A variety of footwear interventions have been used in individuals with OA to reduce knee loading and pain (Butler et al., 2007; Chapman et al., 2013; Erhart et al., 2008). Recent, significant advances have occurred in the design and manufacturing of athletic footwear (Malisoux et al., 2017). Commercially available footwear, which is easily accessible for the general population to buy has greatly improved over the past decades, with many different types of footwear being available to accommodate for individual preferences (Kong and Bagdon., 2010; Hurst et al., 2017; Chughtai et al., 2018). Jones et al., (2015) found that in individuals with knee OA, lateral wedge insoles were effective in reducing the external knee adduction moment EKAM by shifting the ground reaction force (GRF) laterally, altering the knee angle into a valgus position. This shift of the GRF thereby decreases the moment arm which results in a reduced EKAM on the knee joint (Kakihana et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2014). An increased EKAM has previously been reported in individuals following a meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014), therefore examining lateral wedge technology which could offload the medial knee compartment could be beneficial in minimising or delaying the progression of joint degeneration in this population. Mølgaard et al., (2015) analysed the use of a lateral wedge in individuals following medial meniscectomy and found that the lateral wedge did reduce EKAM, however not to the level of healthy controls. Different footwear interventions have not been examined in individuals following meniscectomy, however, this could be implemented as an offloading strategy of the knee by shifting the ground reaction force away from the affected compartment of the knee with the aim to help slow knee joint degeneration.

Cushioning insoles have been shown to help support the affected compartment of the knee, with a reduction in impact through shock absorption resulting in clinical improvements of tibiofemoral pain (Voloshin & Wosk, 1982). Paterson et al., (2014) stated that cushioning and stability footwear have been recommended for individuals who suffer from knee OA and pain. Following injury or surgery, stability is often reduced (Almekinders et al., 2004), however it seems that adding more stability or stiffness to footwear may not be the most beneficial for an active clinical population. It has been well established that stable supportive footwear styles increase knee loads significantly in knee OA (Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). Current evidence regarding footwear has mainly focussed on off-loading

the knee in knee OA individuals (Shakoor et al., 2010; Bennell et al., 2009; Hinman et al., 2012; Paterson et al., 2018), however, it is unclear how footwear could affect knee joint loading following a meniscectomy where individuals are at high risk of developing knee OA. Furthermore, understanding the influence of footwear during sport-specific movements in individuals who have had a meniscectomy will inform recommendations for appropriate footwear for effective self-management

Understanding the biomechanical outcomes which have been linked to the risk factors of knee OA progression in post-meniscectomy individuals compared to healthy controls during functional and sport-specific tasks is vital. Combination of assessment tools are crucial to develop a holistic approach to understanding coping mechanisms post-meniscectomy. This type of study should facilitate more informed biomechanical outcomes, conveying measures that can be implemented to reduce the risks of OA in individuals following meniscectomy and in the hopes of improving and aiding their recovery.

Aims and objectives

The aim of this thesis was to examine the biomechanical changes during sport-specific tasks and the use of commercially available footwear as offloading strategies in individuals following meniscectomy. The thesis was formed around two studies; the BOOM and MENI-FOOT studies. The aim of the BOOM study was to analyse knee loading in individuals following meniscectomy, with three objectives. The first objective was to compare knee loading and offloading strategies between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy. The second objective was to analyse knee loading during functional and sport-specific tasks and the third objective was looking at outcomes that influence knee loading following meniscectomy. The aim of the MENI-FOOT study was to look at footwear as an offloading mechanism for the knee following meniscectomy, with three objectives. The first objective was to identify the difference in knee loading wearing a stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear in comparison to neutral footwear. The second objective was to look at knee loading in the three different types of footwear during dynamic tasks and the third objective was to analyse the comfort of these different types of footwear following meniscectomy.

Hypotheses

H_{1:} Individuals following both medial and lateral meniscectomy show differences in knee loading demonstrated by the EKAM, KFM and KAAI

- H₀: there is no significant difference in the EKAM, KFM and KAAI between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

H₂: Individuals following meniscectomy show greater EKAM, KFM and KAAI compared to healthy controls

- H₀: there is no significant difference in the EKAM, KFM and KAAI following meniscectomy

H₃: Individuals following meniscectomy show greater EKAM, KFM and KAAI during dynamic tasks (running, landing and change of direction) compared to healthy controls - H₀: there is no significant difference in the EKAM, KFM and KAAI during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls

H₄: Individuals following meniscectomy show lower KOOS pain, physical activity and quality of life self-reported outcomes measures compared to healthy controls

- H₀: there is no significant difference in self-reported outcome measure between meniscectomy individuals and healthy controls

H₅: Individuals following meniscectomy demonstrate lower isometric quadriceps muscle strength compared to healthy controls

- H₀: there is no significant difference in isometric quadriceps muscle strength between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls

H₆: Individuals following meniscectomy have a greater co-contraction of the agonist/antagonist (extensor/flexor) (medial/lateral) muscles compared to healthy controls - H₀: there is no significant difference in muscle co-contraction between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls

H₇: Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear show a difference in EKAM and KFM compared to neutral footwear

- H₀: there is no significant change in the EKAM, KFM whilst wearing different commercially available footwear

H₈: Stability, cushioning and lateral footwear reduce the EKAM, KFM during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy

- H₀: there is no significant change in the EKAM, KFM whilst wearing different commercially available footwear during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy.

H₉: Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear exhibit differences in comfort during dynamic tasks compared to neutral footwear in individuals following meniscectomy
- H₀: there is no significant difference in comfort whilst wearing different commercially available footwear during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy.

Chapter Structure



Chapter 2 - Literature Review

2.1 The Meniscus

2.1.1 What is the meniscus?

Throughout history, the knowledge of the human body has constantly evolved. The first recorded use of the word "Meniscus" was in 615 BC (Sappho., 615BC). Hippocrates first examined injuries to the bones and joints in approximately 400BC. Whilst, it was not until Vesalius in 1543AD that the meniscus structure and function was looked at in detail and showed the importance of the meniscus for total knee joint health (Vesalius., 1543). The meniscus are made up of two fibrocartilaginous C-shaped discs which can be found between the tibial plateaus and the femoral condyle (Murphy et al., 2019). The term "meniscus" is from the Ancient Greek word $\mu\eta\nui\sigma\kappao\varsigma$ (meniskos), meaning "crescent." (Diab., 1999). Each knee has a medial meniscus and a lateral meniscus which have slightly different structures and functions (Makris et al., 2011). The menisci of the knee joint are important functional units able to improve joint congruence and load distribution, thereby reducing the stress on the knee joint, a function that is considered primordial to protect the articular cartilage and prevent osteoarthritis (Messner and Gao, 1998).

2.1.2 Structure

The meniscus plays a key role in the health of the knee joint (Chang and Brophy, 2020). The knee is made up of medial and lateral fibrocartilaginous discs, located between the tibiofemoral joint. The medial meniscus is crescent shaped and occupies around 60% of the medial compartment of the knee (Vermesan and Prejbeanu., 2015). The menisci under the age of 10 years are both highly cellular and vascular, with a blood supply available throughout the whole menisci (Clark and Ogden, 1983), however, as adulthood is reached only the outer 10-30% of the medial meniscus and 10-25% of the lateral meniscus contain a good blood flow, which has important implications for healing (Danzig et al., 1983; Harner et al., 2000). Vascularization is strongly related to healing in the meniscus, however, is not solely dependent on blood flow, and may be affected by the reduced production of synovial fluid and mechanical pumping (Bray et al., 2001). The outer rim of the menisci is called the red zone as it is the only part of the meniscus that contains blood flow (Mordecai et al., 2014). The outer rim is thick, convex in properties and is attached to the joint, while the inner edge known as the white zone is concave, thin, does not have any blood supply available and has a free edge (Figure 2.1) (Fox

et al., 2015). The rest of the meniscus receives nourishment through either endoligamentous vessels from the anterior and posterior horns which travel a short distance into the menisci (Danzig et al., 1983), or via synovial diffusion or mechanical motion (Meyers et al., 1988). A tear in the inner compartment of the meniscus is most likely to require surgical treatment due to no blood supply and therefore limited healing capabilities (McDermott et al., 2006). The healing capacity of each area is directly related to blood circulation, leaving the white region susceptible to permanent post-traumatic and degenerative lesions (Arnoczky and Warren., 1982).



Figure 2.1: The bloody supply in a meniscus. Source: https://www.nwskelleymd.com/copy-of-ankle-instability

The meniscus is highly hydrated as it is made up of 72% water with the rest consisting of organic matter made up of mostly extracellular matrix (ECM) (28%). Collagen makes up around 75% of the ECM organic matter, with GAGs, DNA and glycoproteins (Ghadially et al., 1983). The amount of collagen in the meniscus varies depending on the area of the meniscus, with the red zone holding more collagen than the white zone (Fox et al., 2015). When ageing or damaged, the meniscus loses some of that tensile strength and increases in stiffness due to a reduced water composition (Tsujii et al., 2017). This reduces the capability of the meniscus to manage high loads and deal with twisting movements as seen in competitive sports which may be linked to joint degeneration (Rath and Richmond, 2000). Rai and McNulty (2017) highlighted that specific biomarkers change in the meniscus when an injury is sustained. These

include inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, damage-associated molecular patterns, matricryptins, and elevated protein levels (adiponectin and resistin) similar to what is observed in knee joint degeneration (Rai et al., 2017). Imaging tools and biomarkers in the meniscus can be beneficial in tracking meniscus health and disease, including those related to biomechanical signaling and inflammatory paths such as the proteins (Cook et al., 2017; Brophy et al., 2017). Melrose et al., (2017) showed that alterations in the meniscus biology following an injury are generally noticed after the injury has occurred, whereas studying the knee joint mechanics can highlight the initial response to the structural and functional changes by reporting a change in load bearing of the knee (Zhang et al., 2019).

Three distinct mechanoreceptors can be found within the meniscus (Ruffini endings, Pacinian and Golgi tendon organs; Kennedy et al., 1982). The Ruffini mechanoreceptors mainly detects changes in joint deformation and pressure (Han et al., 2020). Pacinian mechanoreceptors detect changes in tension. Finally, the Golgi is associated with neuromuscular inhibition by hindering the knee joint from excessive flexion, extension, and extreme rotation of the knee (Assimakopolous et al., 1992). These mechanoreceptors detect changes in joint deformation and pressure, tension, speed, acceleration, direction of movement and determination of the position of the knee join in space, respectively (Zimny, 1988; Denti et al., 1994). Mechanoreceptors contribute towards functional stability and neuromuscular control and therefore it has been seen that damaged mechanoreceptors alter neuromuscular functions, as well as diminish somatosensory information (proprioception), which in turn can create instability in the knee (Lephart., 1994), which is present in individuals following meniscus injury (Salata et al., 2010). The menisci also have proprioceptive properties which are demonstrated by the presence of mechanoreceptors in the anterior and posterior horns of the menisci, which are essential for joint health and functional movement (Messner and Gao, 1998; Karahan et al., 2010). When the meniscus is damaged, neural changes at the receptors occur reducing the functional ability for the meniscus to deform and transmit loads (Fox et al., 2012).

The medial meniscus is fixed in place, attached with one anterior and one posterior insertion point to the tibia (Fox et al., 2015) (Figure 2.2). The lateral meniscus is generally more of a circular shape and is smaller and more mobile compared to the medial meniscus, enabling it to aid with cushioning during dynamic movements (Fox et al., 2015). As the meniscus is shaped like a wedge with a thin inner edge and a thick outer edge, the shear forces that constantly act on the meniscus between the tibiofemoral joint are distributed throughout the whole meniscus,

creating circumferential stress (Makris et al., 2011). The meniscus helps dissipate the load in the knee by increasing joint surface area when it compresses (Koenig et al., 2009). As the medial meniscus cannot move, it is more likely than the lateral meniscus to suffer from a tear (Sari et al., 2018). However, when the lateral meniscus tears, it is generally a complex tear as it either tears straight through, tears at the root or causes a greater surface area tear (Fox et al., 2014). Similar to the medial meniscus, the lateral meniscus occupies between 60 and 80% of the lateral compartment and also has two separate insertion points to the tibial plateau (Fox et al., 2015). Due to this the loss of the lateral meniscus from a meniscal tear may result in increased cartilage contact stress as there is a lower cross-sectional area to help dissipate the load across the menisci and therefore there is a greater risk of joint degeneration (Seedhom and Hargreaves., 1979; Krych et al., 2020).



Figure 2.2: This figure shows the medial and lateral compartments of the meniscus, where it can be seen that the lateral meniscus is more circular and smaller. Source: http://www.physio-pedia.com/images/9/91/Lat.meniscus.gif

2.1.3 Function

It is now accepted that the menisci are not "functionless vestiges" (Fox 2012), as was thought in earlier centuries, but are in fact vital for the normal functioning and longevity of the knee joint health, as described in early research (Fairbank, 1948; Arnoczky et al., 1988; Roos et al., 1998, 2001; Rodkey, 2000; McDermott and Amis, 2006; Fox et al., 2015). The meniscus functions transmit load (Fairbank, 1948; ; Seedhom et al., 1979), act to absorb shock by increasing the contact area when compressed and therefore, reducing contact stresses in the knee (Voloshin and Wosk, 1983; Andrews et al., 2011), aid in knee joint stability (Müller, 1994; Wu et al., 2002), support joint nutrition (Makris et al, 2012, Travascio and Jackson, 2017) and joint lubrication (Lee et al., 2000; Bonnevie et al., 2014), and provide additional proprioceptive mechanisms (Al-Dadah et al., 2011; Karahan et al., 2010). It is now accepted that the primary function of the meniscus is to transmit shear and tensile loads across the tibiofemoral joint while decreasing the resultant stress placed on the articular cartilage (Messner and Gao, 1998). In extension, the lateral and medial meniscus deals with 40-60% of the load transmitted through the knee (Mansfield et al., 2019). Knee loading increases by up to 90% when the knee is in flexion, highlighting the importance of the meniscus (Dudhia et al., 2004), particularly in activities where high flexion movements occur. The medial knee compartment deals with 60% greater biomechanical knee loading compared to the lateral compartment during walking (Prodromos et al., 1985). Given the different loading contribution observed between the lateral and medial menisci, one would think that they should be approached independently.

On impact, drag forces occur as fluid escapes the tissue of the meniscus, allowing shock absorption to occur (Voloshin and Wosk, 1983). The fixed attachment of the medial meniscus to the tibia contributes to anterior stability of the knee and is consequently more frequently torn. Lubrication in the meniscus is not well researched, however Fox et al., (2015) believed that when the knee is loaded, the meniscus compresses and circulates fluid into the articular cartilage, reducing friction and additionally providing nutrition to the joint (Mac, 1950; Arnoczky et al., 1988). Any of these processes can cause functional deficits or biomechanical adaptations when the meniscus is injured.

2.2 Meniscal injuries

2.2.1 Incidence and prevalence of meniscus injury

In 2013, meniscal injuries were responsible for an estimated 25,000 hospital admissions in the UK and each admission cost between £2,000-£4,000 per surgery (Snoeker et al., 2013). In the private hospitals around the UK the cost for a meniscectomy surgery, excluding rehabilitation and initial consultation has been shown to be between £2000-£5000 depending on the area (Private health UK, 2020). In 2016-2017, it was reported that 42,651 people in the UK National

Health Service (NHS) were admitted for meniscal surgery (Hospital Episode Statistics, NHS Digital, 2017). Post-operative treatment costs vary depending on private or national care services (£15-£60 per session), and resources are becoming more available online such as physio-guided exercise plans being available in private health (Litchfield and Buttress., 2019). Although in the short-term a meniscectomy compared to meniscal repair is more cost effective as there is often a greater re-operation rate following meniscal repair (Figure 2.3), it was shown in the US that in the long term a meniscal repair (\$23,948) was less of an economic burden compared to a partial meniscectomy (\$38,648) as it had a lower incidence of leading on to knee OA and follow up treatments (Rogers et al., 2019). Knee OA costs the UK health service on average £10.2 billion annually, which includes the cost of treatments, surgery, and impact on work (Woolf, 2018). Abram et al., (2018) found that the greatest incidence of meniscal injuries was between the ages of 20-39 and was more evident in males (10.4/100,000 athletic exposures) than females (4.3/100,000 athletic exposures), as in Abram et al., (2018) study, the males were found to perform in more higher impact sports compared to the females. Athletic exposures were defined as the susceptibility of injury during each practice or competition in an individual's chosen sport (Mitchell et al., 2016). In comparison, knee injuries such as ACL injuries, also show a greater incidence in males (36.0/100,000 athletic exposures) compared to females (12.8/100,000 athletic exposures) (Abram et al., 2018). Mitchell et al. (2016) reported an average of 5.1 meniscal injuries per 100,000 athletic exposures (training or game) (during football, basketball, American football and hockey), highlighting the types of sport which all involve twisting movements with increased knee loads and therefore have a greater risk of injury to the meniscus.



Figure 2.3: Illustration of Markov models comparing the percentage of incidence of isolated meniscal repair to partial meniscectomy and the risk of knee joint degeneration (Rogers et al., 2019)

2.2.2 Degenerative tear

Tears become more complex as we reach adulthood and older age as the meniscus undergoes significant degeneration during a lifetime (Pujol and Boisrenoult, 2009). With age the water content in the meniscus increases by around 15%, with the collagen and proteins (glycoaminoglycans) decreasing by around 5% reducing the stiffness of the meniscus and therefore the ability to deal with high compressive loads (Herwig et al., 1984). Tsujii et al., (2017) also highlighted the reduction of synovial fluid with age. Synovial fluid aids in the lubrication of the meniscus and therefore causes constant friction on the tissue, and in turn,

breakdowns of the meniscus. Degenerative tears are more difficult to treat with surgery, however, this is generally the only option (Fox et al., 2015).

Degenerative meniscal tears can develop slowly when the meniscus loses resilience (Beaufils et al., 2017) which is more problematic due to the whole joint degenerating, causing portions of the meniscus to break off leaving frayed edges. Beaufils et al., (2017) found that following meniscectomy surgery, individuals continue to feel knee pain and discomfort due to the tissue having frayed and only the mechanical problems (locking) are removed. The increased pain following a degenerative tear is generally associated with the onset of knee osteoarthritis which would not be improved with surgery (Englund et al., 2003). Fairbank et al., (1945) described the narrowing of the joint space and the flattening femoral condyle with age, particularly once the meniscus was injured leading to osteoarthritis due to the reduction in cushioning (Thorlund et al., 2017).

2.2.3 Traumatic tear

Traumatic tears generally occur in younger, active individuals during a twisting/loading action on a planted/inverted foot (Browner et al., 2003) or jumping and landing movements (Mitchell et al., 2016) as seen in competitive sports. There are distinct types of traumatic tears (longitudinal, radial, horizontal and bucket handle) which are all located in different sections of the meniscus and have different treatment pathways (Figure 2.4). In the United States a traumatic meniscal tear showed an 8.7 per 1,000 incidence rates in the active duty military population due to infantry-related duties, occupations that require frequent squatting/kneeling, and sports such as rugby, football, basketball, skiing, and other high impact sports (Raj and Bubnis., 2019).



Figure 2.4: This image shows the several types of traumatic tears that occur in the meniscus. Source: http://www.limbreconstructions.com/meniscal-injuries.html

For example, tears on the inner edge of the meniscus will normally be treated with a partial meniscectomy, where they cut out the affected part of the meniscus as there are no healing capabilities in this area due to the limited blood flow in the inner compartment (McDermott, 2011). A longitudinal tear is more common on the medial meniscus compared to lateral owing to the fixed nature of the medial meniscus, whereas a radial tear has been seen more frequent on the lateral meniscus (Mordecai et al., 2014). The presence of tears in the red zone (good blood supply) of the meniscus leads to better long-term prognosis following repair compared to the white zones (Bochynska et al., 2016).

In general, the medial meniscus is ten times more likely to get a meniscal tear than the lateral meniscus as the medial meniscus is fixed in place and does not have any mobility characteristics (Ahlback, 1968; Campbell, Sanders and Morrison, 2001). Medial meniscal tears often in connection with ACL injuries and are therefore most commonly seen in ACL deficient knees (Raj and Bubnis, 2019). On the contrary, Yeh et al., (2012), identified 129 isolated meniscus tears in professional basketball players and highlighted the lateral meniscus tears were involved in 59.2% of all incidences and the medial meniscus were involved in 40.8% of all meniscus tears. Ridley et al., (2017) found that medial meniscal tears were only more
common with increased age in individuals over 30 years (52.2%), whereas lateral meniscal tears were more common in the younger populations with individuals under 20 years (63%). The lateral meniscus tears were stated to be more common in the young individuals due to the lateral meniscus playing a greater role during knee loading and motion characteristics. Meniscal injuries can cause knee pain, swelling and locking, reducing the ability for an athlete to perform sporting task and finally leading athletes to cease participation in sports (Hall et al 2011).

2.3 Management of meniscal injuries 2.3.1 Diagnostic procedure

Joint line tenderness has been reported to be the gold standard test to identify a meniscal injury, due to its ability to highlight the rough location and severity of a meniscus tear (McKeon et al., 2009). This test is used if the pain is localised to either the medial or lateral aspect of the joint. Symptoms that can occur with joint tenderness are joint stiffness, swelling, redness, warmth, and joint pain (Stephen et al., 2010). McMurray's test, indicates a positive result for meniscal tears if a pop or snap can be heard at the joint line whilst flexing or twisting the knee, is then used. Ji et al., (2015) analysed the sensitivity of the McMurray test and found that it is 79.3% sensitive which mean that the test has a high ability to correctly identify those individuals with the disease and therefore, can be used for both a screening tool and post-operative outcome tool. Hing et al., (2009) looked at 25 studies which analysed the sensitivity of the McMurray test and showed that it varied from 16%-88%, and therefore a negative result should not be taken as law and further assessments are recommended. The Thessaly test is also used to look at the dynamic reproduction of knee joint loading and see if there is any catching or locking (Karachalios et al., 2005). For this test, the individuals have to stand on one leg with knee flexion both 5° and 20° whilst slightly twisting at the knee. Karachalios et al., (2005) looked at the diagnostic accuracy of the Thessaly test for detecting meniscus tears and found that at 20° there was a 94% accuracy for medial tears and a 96% accuracy in detection of lateral tears. Gossens et al (2014) were in agreement and found a positive detection value of 87% from 593 individuals, however, found that the sensitivity was only 62%. When comparing both the McMurray test and the Thessaly test it was found that McMurray test had a better specificity and sensitivity, however the Thessaly test has a higher detection accuracy at 20° (Venkata Ram Kishore et al., 2019). This shows that neither should be used on its own, but in combination for an initial assessment. Finally, the patient will undergo an MRI of the joint which has a crucial

role in visual analysis of individuals with injuries to the knee and can help establish what kind of treatment is most adequate moving forward. Abram et al., (2019) developed a meniscal tear management guideline, that clearly states the process of meniscal tear identification and then what treatment options should be considered, highlighting that the most conservative and preservative treatments should be considered first unless not possible (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5: Abram meniscal management guideline (Abram et al., 2019)

2.3.2 Conservative treatment

The meniscus plays an important role in knee joint health and therefore preservation of the meniscus is essential to preventing joint degeneration (Zedde et al., 2014). Non-invasive treatment of meniscal injuries in the general population is viable for stable, incomplete, peripheral tears (less than 10 mm) and tears located at less than 3mm from the medial compartment of the joint (McCarty et al., 2002; Alessio-Mazzola et al., 2016). King et al., (1936) was the first to reveal that a peripheral meniscal tear has the potential to heal itself due to the available blood flow and therefore can recover without surgery. Small, degenerative meniscal tears are frequently treated conservatively by reduced loading and weight bearing on the joint through activity modification, while also treating with physiotherapy (El Ghazaly et

al., 2015). Where non-surgical approaches are taken it is vital that a good level of strength is maintained in the affected leg in comparison to the contralateral leg. Any activities which require pivoting upon the leg or other sudden changes of direction should be avoided until dynamic tasks have been incorporated into the physiotherapy programme. If the tear is severe enough the patient will be asked to rest and take time out of competitive sports. In a sporting population, meniscal tears are generally complex or radial, meaning mechanical changes are present, reducing the capability for healing (Aune et al., 2014). Therefore, the conservative approach to treatment is less favourable due to the greater functional demands for the sport-specific movements and the injured person's need to rapidly return to compete at a competitive level (Zedde et al., 2014).

Conservative treatment for meniscal injuries can include a range of interventions. These include physiotherapy as mentioned above (El Ghazaly et al., 2015), medication against inflammation and pain (Machado et al., 2017), injection such as steroids or other lubricants (Turajane et al., 2019), knee bracing (Hunter, 2015), and orthotics or footwear (Wagner and Luna, 2018). Knee braces or orthoses vary in size, design and material and may contain mechanisms to limit joint movement (Coppola 2009). Unloader or off-loader knee braces have been used by individuals with knee OA to help relieve mechanical stress on the affected joint compartment and shift load from the symptomatic compartment to the non-affected compartment (Laroche et al., 2014). However, other knee brace mechanisms may improve the stability, proprioception, and warmth of the knee joint, which in turn improves quality of life (Hunter, 2015). These conservative treatments may help relieve some of the pain and discomfort symptoms, however, are unlikely to improve mechanical symptoms arising from a displaced or unstable meniscal fragment. Squyer et al., (2013) also found that wearing knee braces was too uncomfortable for some individuals because it altered gait and was considered too heavy to take part in any physical activity. The key problem for young active populations in wearing knee offloading braces, specifically during sport, may lead to discomfort and slippage due to construction of brace and therefore may cause further damage which is not advisable in the sporting population. Knee braces have not been analysed in individuals following meniscectomy and could be a future potential research area to focus on.

Siemieniuk et al., (1982) was one of the first studies that showed a conservative approach is preferred to a surgical approach following meniscal tears. This study highlights that the benefits of arthroscopy may not outweigh the burden and risk of joint degeneration which have also

been reported in later studies (Khan et al., 2014; Kise et al., 2016 and van de Graaf et al., 2018). These studies showed that in middle aged individuals with non-obstructive meniscal tears, there were no greater benefits from having a meniscectomy compared to physiotherapy alone. Additionally, Sihvonen et al., (2013) looked at the difference between meniscectomy and sham surgery in individuals following a degenerative meniscal tear and found at 12 months follow up, individuals were not significantly different between the groups, showing that individuals with a degenerative tear may not benefit from having the surgery. Thorlund et al., (2015) undertook a systematic review which included nine studies and found that there was no benefit in individuals having a meniscectomy in individuals with degenerative meniscal tears. Although there was some improvement in pain in the early stages following meniscectomy, this did not continue to be the case after 24 months, which could be linked that the patients in only two of the nine studies did not have osteoarthritis which may have contributed to the pain. Due to the degenerative nature of the tear and OA being highly common, surgery may not be recommended for these individuals as the tissue may continue to degrade further.

Katz et al., (2013) found that 30% of the participants who were assigned to a physiotherapy group alone, rather than surgical intervention, underwent surgery within six months as the pain was not bearable and there were no signs of improvement of the WOMAC score, which measures physical function for knee osteoarthritis. El Ghazaly et al., (2015) agreed with these findings because the physiotherapy group did not report satisfactory outcomes as pain and mechanical locking did not subside with only physiotherapy following the injury and therefore, surgical intervention was undertaken. If the tear is large, in a low vascularised region, or if conservative management fails to alleviate the associated pain and joint dysfunction then surgery is the next step (Messner and Gao., 1998). In Van de Graaf et al., (2018) study, 159 individuals underwent a meniscectomy and 162 individuals had physiotherapy treatment, however 47 individuals in the physiotherapy group ended up needing a meniscectomy. The results showed a slight increase in function following meniscectomy, however there were no significant differences between groups and showed that in non-obstructive meniscal tears, physiotherapy is as effective and therefore should be the first option, however a meniscectomy may be needed in some cases. Equally, Kise et al., (2016) also analysed the comparison between a meniscectomy compared to physiotherapy in middle aged individuals following a degenerative meniscal tear and found that there were no significant differences in the outcomes between groups, however out of 70 individuals 13 ended up having a meniscectomy anyway highlighting the importance to start with a conservative approach unless surgical intervention is necessary.

2.3.3 Surgical approaches

In 1731, Heinrich Bass was one of the first physicians who combined knee injury, anatomy and surgical techniques when writing about a meniscal tear which was treated by a meniscectomy (Bass., 1731). Until 1883 when Thomas Annandale performed the first meniscal repair, treatment of the menisci was still conservative and by today's standards, primitive as they would either remove the whole menisci or leave it as it was which in the worst case may still happen, however, with the understanding of the importance of the meniscus, if the whole meniscus needs to be removed, where possible a meniscal transplant is now possible. Surgical options currently include either resection (partial meniscectomy), repair or replacement of the damaged meniscus (Howe et al., 2017). Meniscal resection (partial meniscectomy) is the most common treatment for meniscal tear, although the number of meniscal repairs is growing (Vidal 2012; Pujul and Beaufils, 2019). Historically, total resection (total meniscectomy, or removing) of the meniscus was widely used as the primary standard surgical treatment for meniscal injuries (Sutton, 1897). Annandale (1885) was the first person to operate on the meniscus and after years of research found that removing the meniscus entirely had degenerative adverse effects and therefore, the meniscus should be preserved as much as possible. A partial meniscectomy involves the removal of the damaged or frayed section of the meniscus and trimming the cartilage back to a stable rim (Katz et al., 2013). Recent research has stated meniscal repairs are being strongly advocated rather than meniscectomy to prevent future joint degeneration, showing an increase in meniscal repairs of 6.64%/year between 2009/2010 and 2016/2017 in England (Abram et al., 2018). In France between 2005 and 2017, the rate of meniscal repair showed a 320% increase, while meniscectomies showed a 21.4% decrease, with the largest meniscectomy reduction effort occurred in private hospitals compared the public hospitals (Jacquet et al., 2019). Abrams et al., (2020) reported that in the UK the rate of meniscal repairs doubled between the years of 1998 and 2017. Meniscectomies are still in some cases the only possible treatment, as without blood flow or healing capabilities, meniscal repair is not possible without the chance of the meniscus catching, locking, or reinjuring (Makris et al., 2011).

A meniscal repair is carried out either arthroscopically or by open surgery when the surgeon sutures the part of the meniscus that has been torn (Yoon 2014). In France, the rate of meniscal repair in stable knee increased from 2.5% to 12.05% between 2006 and 2012, at 14,781 operations in 2012 (Lutz et al., 2015). Until recently a meniscal repair was deemed possible

only in the vascular peripheral zone of the meniscus where blood flow is present and therefore, has healing capabilities (Moulton et al., 2016). Recently, this has been reported to not be the case and meniscal repairs can extend into the avascular zone (Kalliakmanis et al., 2008; Howe et al., 2017). It has been found in the Karia et al., (2018) that meniscal repair may be more possible depending on the type of tear and location. Vertical tears are the most common to be repaired as they are often quite large in circumference and occur along the periphery of the meniscus where healing capabilities occur (Karia et al., 2018).

Radial tears are normally treated with a meniscectomy as they occur from the medial compartment on the meniscus where the white zone is and no blood flow occurs (Ode et al., 2012). Noyes and Barber-Westin (2002) found that using an inside-out vertical divergent suture technique for a meniscal repair had an 87% success rate in active individuals under the age of 20 years. Beaufils et al., (2009) stated that a meniscal repair was suitable for anything as far as 4 mm from the periphery as long as there is some partial blood flow, however contradictory to this belief, many believe that anything more than 2 mm from the periphery should not be treated as there is too low a healing capability (Xu and Zhao., 2015). Additionally, Paxton et al., (2011) found that there is a much greater reoperation rate with meniscal repairs compared to meniscectomies, which highlighted that meniscal repairs between 0-4 years post-operation had a 16.5% reoperation rate compared to 1.4% for meniscectomy. Following 10 years this increased to 20.7% compared to 3.9% of meniscectomy (Paxton et al., 2011). Paxton et al., (2011) also showed that between 4-10 years there was a greater reoperation rate following a medial meniscal repair (29.9%) compared to lateral meniscal repair (23%), however, it was found to be the opposite case following a medial meniscectomy (0.5%), with greater reoperation rates following lateral meniscectomy (1.4%). The key factors taken into consideration when deciding on surgical procedure are dependent upon the clinical evaluation done arthroscopically, related previous lesions and the exact type, location, and extent of the meniscal tear (Jensen et al., 1994)

Arthroscopy is normally necessary to take a detailed look at the meniscal tear and determine the most suitable treatment. Partial meniscectomy which is the most commonly used treatment (Lau et al., 2018), which is also done arthroscopically serves to remove as little functional meniscal tissue as possible. The aim is to remove all the fragments that might interfere with the joint and cause locking, while addressing the clinical symptoms that may have caused the tear (Beaufils et al., 2017). Following meniscectomy improved short-term outcomes such as reduced pain, increased mobility, and no more mechanical locking are evident along with a reduced recovery period, making it a preferential and highly suitable treatment for sporting populations (Xu and Zhao, 2015).

Meniscal replacement (transplantation) surgery has developed and progressed over the last century and has often been used for tears that cannot be repaired or where a significant amount of meniscal tissue has been lost (Pereira et al., 2019). Meniscal replacement is not yet used as a standardised treatment for meniscal tears, with the procedures and techniques continuing to evolve and be refined, as long-term results are yet to be established and quantified (McCormick, 2014). Meniscus regeneration is also a new clinical technique following extensive research and laboratory trials (Guo et al., 2018). Meniscus regeneration has evolved rapidly and significantly during the last decades and has grown to include cell-free scaffolds, gene therapy, and intra-articular delivery of progenitor cells (Scotti et al., 2013). Reestablishing the meniscus integrity after injury is now considered a necessary approach in knee surgery. Meniscus regeneration seems promising for young individuals, however, is still in the experimental phase (Li et al., 2018).

Over the years, joint degeneration has been documented in 89% of young athletes 5-20 years after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy in the knee joint (McDermott, 2006). To date there is no consensus to which treatment is necessary or most beneficial for young athletes with meniscus injuries. For instance, Nepple et al., (2012) found that in both the short- and long-term follow-up, meniscal repair has generally been associated with higher failure rates when compared to partial meniscectomy, which was in agreement with Pujol et al., (2011) who found a 5-43% chance of failure in meniscal repairs compared to meniscectomy. Stein et al., (2010) found that a repair approach when feasible seems to be superior to partial meniscectomy in terms of long-term clinical outcomes as it does not leave the cartilage exposed in the same way a meniscectomy does and creates a reduced likelihood of developing osteoarthritis. Howe et al., (2015) equally showed a superior IKDC, Lysholm and Tegner score following meniscal repair, highlighting a better quality of life compared to meniscectomy and therefore, for a young active population who want fast, effective short-term results, the meniscectomy is still more commonly used (Lau et al., 2018).

In both the medial and the lateral meniscus, a meniscal repair shows greater contact pressure in the knee following meniscectomy. However, Lau et al., (2018) stated that resection of up to 50% of the meniscal depth may be acceptable without causing too much further damage (OA) when a repair is not feasible. To summarise, although meniscal repairs are more recommended as they leave the meniscus intact without increasing the contact loading in the knee as seen following meniscectomy, there are still many types of tears which do not allow for a meniscal repair to be performed and therefore, meniscectomy is the best option. In young active populations the short term-recovery from a meniscectomy is also often still the chosen method to deal with the meniscus tear. Regeneration will be highly beneficial in the future of meniscal tear treatment but is not yet being used in everyday treatments.

2.4 Long-term consequences following meniscectomy

As discussed above, the meniscus plays a large part in knee joint health, specifically in load transmission, shock absorption, and lubrication of the joint (Fox et al., 2015). Tears often result in long-term degeneration, joint swelling, joint line pain, and mechanical blocking, which have severe negative effects on daily life (Li et al., 2018). Persistent pain can be overwhelming, this can result in people altering the way they load their body as they compensate to avoid pain (Boyer, 2018). Locking and catching are two common symptoms caused by meniscal tears; they either causes the knee to lock up and stiffen, which restricts range of motion, or to catch on the meniscus fragments which causes compensatory mechanisms to be employed. Depending on the type of tear, locking may occur, causing the individual to lift his or her hip during walking instead of flexing at the knee to gain ground clearance (Anetzberger et al., 2014).

Fairbank et al., (1948) was one of the first authors to describe the load-bearing function of the meniscus and the degenerative changes that occur when injured, such as the narrowing of the joint space and reduced load bearing capabilities, which are important for the meniscus. The loads in the meniscus are well distributed when the meniscus is intact (Fox et al., 2015), however, its removal results in a significant reduction in tibiofemoral contact area and therefore, a significant increase in contact stress, increasing the load in the remaining meniscus which may lead to joint degeneration (Rodeo et al., 2019). Fairbank et al., 1948 showed that following meniscectomy, the contact stress in the lateral component can be seen to increase up to 300%. When standing, the meniscus absorbs most of the load, however, during walking or

stair climbing, contact forces shift medially (Walker and Erkman, 1975; Gilbert et al., 2013). These loads applied to the meniscus are increased even more when the knee is flexed, and in particular when injured under increased load during stair climbing or activity (Fox et al., 2015). Bernholt et al., (2017) highlighted a significant increase in physical function (4.5%), reduction of pain (8%) and therefore improved quality of life when analysing patient-reported outcome measurements six weeks following meniscectomy compared to pre-surgery. Voloshin and Wosk (1983) found that without a meniscus there would be approximately 20% less shock absorption in the knee due to the biological changes. The meniscus also acts as a secondary anteroposterior stabiliser of the knee joint, aids in proprioception and contributes to the lubrication to reduce friction between the joint of the articular cartilage (McDermott et al., 2008; Chevrier et al., 2009; Englund et al., 2009). When the lateral meniscus is torn there is an increased pivot shift in the knee causing a shift in the location of the loads towards the affected compartment of the knee (Musahl et al., 2010). Individuals would benefit from a focus on rehabilitation following partial meniscectomy to restore proper knee mechanics (Lau et al., 2018)

Understanding all the functional changes that occur post-surgery is important, particularly in the young active population as no joints should become damaged over time due to the surgery. Many young active populations often are willing to incur the risk of joint degeneration or functional changes for a faster return to sport time (Gortz et al., 2012). Evidence regarding the negative long-term effects of meniscectomy surgeries needs to be explored further by looking at the joint loading capabilities and what procedures can help delay these changes specifically for an active young population that is most at risk of long-term damage affecting their expected normal physical functions and lives.

The meniscus is capable of detecting proprioceptive information, thus playing an important role in the sensory feedback mechanism of the knee which is necessary for both sporting and functional tasks, however the effect meniscal injury or surgery has on this is not well documented (Karahan et al., 2010, Fox et al., 2015). Mechanoreceptors contribute towards proprioception and neuromuscular control (see section 2.13). Following surgery damage to these mechanoreceptors alter neuromuscular functions, increase instability in the knee (Lee et al., 2020). Location of injury will affect proprioceptive ability, for instance, with Ruffini corpuscles (type I mechanoreceptors) located mainly in the posterior horn of a medial meniscus and generally responding to static joint position, and Pacinian corpuscles (type II

mechanoreceptors) located mainly near blood vessels at the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus which rapidly adapts to changes in dynamic joint motion (Lee et al., 2018).

2.5 Comparison between medial and lateral meniscectomy

Medial meniscectomies are more commonly studied compared to lateral meniscectomies, which may be, in part, due to prevalence being higher (Paxton et al., 2011). However, lateral meniscectomies show greater functional deficits as the menisci stability properties are affected resulting in altered load transmission of the articular cartilage (Salata et al., 2010), which highlights that both medial and lateral meniscectomies need to be studied in detail. The lateral meniscus is of particular importance to absorb the high loads produced during dynamic movements in young, active people (Chatain et al., 2003). Ridley et al., (2017) found that after analysing 782 individuals following either medial or lateral meniscectomy, that medial meniscectomies generally occurred in individuals aged 30 or above. Furthermore, 63% of isolated lateral tears occurred at the age of 20 years and below, highlighting that young, active populations are susceptible to both medial and lateral meniscal tears which result in requiring a meniscectomy (Ridley et al., 2017). There are roughly 2.5 times greater loads on the medial tibiofemoral joint compared to the lateral tibiofemoral joint during walking (Schipplein and Andriacchi, 1991) due to the ground reaction force passing medially to the knee joint.

When considering knee loading, the medial and lateral properties of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004). A cadaver study looked at load distributions on the menisci, showing that the lateral meniscus deals with 70% of the load in the lateral compartment, whereas the medial meniscus deals only with 40% of the load on the medial compartment (Seedhom et al., 1979). There is also more significant displacement in the lateral meniscus compared to medial meniscus when under load shown by another cadaver study (Bylski-Austrow et al., 1994). Increases in knee loading post-medial meniscectomy compared to healthy controls have been found in several studies (Hall et al., 2014; Sturnieks et al., 2008; Thorlund et al., 2016). Despite the consideration that medial and lateral menisci properties of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004), there have been no previous biomechanical studies analysing the comparison between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. The lateral meniscus has been seen to play a more vital part in dynamic movements compared to the medial meniscus (Fox et al., 2015), therefore looking at the individuals following medial and lateral

meniscectomy in isolation was highly important, specifically in relation to knee joint loading during dynamic tasks. Shelbourne and Dickens (2000) analysed 49 individuals 12 years postmedial meniscectomy and found that there was a joint space reduction as high as 2 mm compared with the unaffected knee following the procedure, showing joint degeneration occurring following medial meniscectomy. Further research is needed to analyse gait outcome measures and to look at the activity levels of these individuals to understand knee joint loading in active individuals following lateral and medial meniscectomy.

2.6 Risk factors of knee joint degeneration

Knee osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease affecting approximately 30% of the population and is a leading cause of disability and pain worldwide (McDonough and Jette., 2010; Silverwood et al., 2014), with the medial compartment of the joint more commonly affected than the lateral (Asay et al., 2017). Loss of joint cartilage is considered the main cause of OA, despite the disorder including problems with synovial fluid, the meniscus, and subchondral bone (Hügle and Geurts, 2017). The most commonly affected population for joint degeneration is the elderly population, including those over 50 years of age (Sasaki et al., 2019). Knee OA can be painful and is associated with several risk factors including increased body mass, a history of knee injuries, knee alignment and age (Driban et al., 2014). Acute trauma to the joint, such as a meniscal injury and treatment, increases the risk of early onset OA, stating that 38% of individuals following medial meniscectomy and 24% of individuals following lateral meniscectomy developed OA at 4.5 years post-surgery (Carbone and Rodeo., 2016). Individuals with a history of knee injuries are three times more likely to develop knee joint degeneration and have been found to have structural changes as soon as five years postinjury, without factoring in biomechanical changes following surgery (Muthuri et al., 2011). The risk of developing knee osteoarthritis 10 years after meniscectomy is nearly 80% postmeniscectomy (Chatain et al., 2003). Englund et al., (2003) showed that following a partial meniscectomy an individual is six-fold more likely to develop OA.

Walking is the most common form of human locomotion, happening daily for the general population, when biomechanical loading on the knee joint during walking is shown to exceed 3-4 times body weight (BW) (Vannini et al., 2016). It has been widely hypothesised that higher knee joint loading is causally linked with accelerated knee joint degeneration (Felson et al., 2013). Henriksen et al., (2014) identified five prospective cohort studies focusing on three

estimates of knee joint loading: the peak external knee adduction moment (EKAM), knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) and overall tibiofemoral compression force through a systematic literature search. They identified that there was no evidence of a causal link between knee joint loading during walking and structural progression of knee OA (Henriksen et al., 2014). Healthy joints can usually be expected to withstand a lifetime of repetitive stress and loading while undertaking usual and non-exceptional activities without developing OA (Miller, 2017). Exceptional stress and mechanical demands which exceed articular cartilage tolerance play an important role in both the development and the progression of joint degeneration. Driban et al., (2017) showed that although knee loading in standard walking may not be enough to cause progression in knee OA, participation in sport such as football, wresting, weight-lighting where the knee loading is significantly increased, did indeed have a 3-7 times higher prevalence in knee OA.

Sports activities can generate higher or exceptional loads on the tibiofemoral joint with jogging showing a load of 9 times the BW at each step, (approximately 2-3 times walking loads), running up to 14 times the BW, and jumping up to 20 times the BW (Vannini et al., 2016). Knee OA incidence in current or former football players is reported between 16 and 80 %, being 5–12 times more frequent than in the general population (Kuijt et al., 2012). Furthermore, incidence among this population has been shown to occur on average 4–5 years earlier in life (Kuijt et al., 2012). Driban et al., (2014) stated that aside from repetitive overloading of the joint, pre-existing sport-related knee injuries involving ligaments, menisci and/or cartilage are associated with an accelerated progression of knee OA. Driban et al., (2017) followed this study up by stating that there is a higher incidence of OA in knees of former high-impact sports players than in those of the normal population, which may be correlated to either increased joint overloading or number of injuries in the joint.

Muscle co-contractions have also been shown to affect knee joint loading as it is associated with all the muscles crossing the knee activating to support externally applied moments (Starkey et al., 2020). Current evidence demonstrates that individuals with knee OA exhibit excessive muscular co-contraction (simultaneous activation of the quadriceps and hamstrings) during walking (Sharma et al., 2017). With increased co-contraction, increases in compressive loads at the knee joint can be seen (Brandon et al., 2014). Greater co-contraction of the medial muscles at the knee have demonstrated higher joint loading (Lloyd & Buchanan, 2001; Meyer et al., 2013; Schipplein & Andriacchi, 1991) and faster progression of knee OA in individuals

diagnosed with medial knee OA (Hodges et al., 2016; Heiden, Lloyd, & Ackland, 2009; Wu et al., 1990; Zeni et al., 2010). Preece et al., (2016), found that a reduction in clinical pain in individuals with OA was associated with a reduction in medial co-contraction, and that this reduction could be used as an effective treatment target within knee OA. Hodges et al., (2016) agreed to this and showed that there was an increased medial co-contraction of the muscles in individuals following OA, however with an increased lateral muscle co-contraction the medial compartment can be offloaded, and joint degeneration slowed. Heiden et al., (2009) also found that there was no significance increase in external knee adduction moment (EKAM) shown as the surrogate for knee loading in their OA population, which may be related to the increased lateral co-contraction of the muscles. Therefore, examining co-contraction is essential.

Proprioceptive sense plays a role in daily life, for example protecting the knee joint from extreme compulsive and traumatic movements and against falls (Mani et al., 2020). Proprioception, although highly researched, still shows significantly mixed results, with some studies highlighting the importance to look at proprioceptive changes and how these can be associated with joint degeneration (Bayramoglu et al., 2007; Hassan et al., 2001; Baert et al., 2013) and other studies, highlighting that proprioception itself does not affect joint degeneration, as it is often associated with muscle weakness and age (Sharma et al., 1997; Hall et al., 2006; Mani et al., 2020). Individuals who are physically inactive due to pain as seen in individuals with OA, also show connective tissue that may become fibrotic and muscle fibres may shorten which, causes the Golgi tendon organs in the extrafusal muscle fibres to be inhibited (Proske et al., 1993). Van der Esh et al., (2014), analysed proprioception and muscle weakness in individuals with OA and its association to falls and found that proprioception itself was not the cause for the increased falls with OA, but, knee extensor and flexor muscle weakness was the main substantive cause of the increased incidence of falls.

Individuals with OA have commonly been reported to display muscle weakness around the knee and hip, mainly seen in the quadriceps with strength deficits of 20 to 45% compared with age and gender-matched controls (Palmieri-Smith et al., 2010; Alnahdi et al., 2012; Omori et al., 2013). Takagi et al., (2018) showed however that muscle weakness was not only present at early stages of OA, it had a high prevalence in knee OA also after a 6-year period. The quadriceps have an important protective function at the knee joint, working during the early stance phase of walking to cushion the knee joint and act to decelerate the limb prior to heel strike, thereby reducing impact loading (Brandt et al., 2008). Weaker quadriceps have been

associated with an increased rate of knee joint loading (Alnahdi et al., 2016), and future tibiofemoral joint space narrowing, highlighting the importance of the analysis of muscle strength to support the joint (Segal et al., 2010). Takagi et al., (2018) stated that quadriceps muscle weakness was linked to an increased incidence of knee OA, however, it was not linked to its progression, and therefore identifying muscle weakness in the early stages of OA may be highly beneficial.

Biological and mechanobiological changes such as reduced collagen fibres, reduced shear stress, reduced stiffness of the tissue and increased moments in the knee joint are associated with increased risk of developing knee OA following a meniscectomy (Figure 2.6) (Andriacchi et al., 2014). This framework shows that following meniscectomy gait adaptation occur including increased knee joint loading, increased co-contraction in the muscles and changes in joint angles. With these changes individuals still try to return to sport sometimes as early as 3 months post-treatment which with the compromised cartilage may lead to the risk of joint degeneration as soon as 5 years post-meniscectomy due to the biological and mechanobiological changes as stated in Figure 2.6. Therefore, if the gait adaptations following meniscectomy were considered prior to returning to sport, the risk of knee joint degeneration may be slowed.



Figure 2.6: The framework of how a meniscal injury causes a continuous loop to occur which in turn creates joint degeneration and links meniscectomy to OA. (Andriacchi et al., 2014)

Obesity has also been shown to be a high indicator of OA development. A body mass index (BMI) that is too high (over 30 kg/m²) causes an increase in the load being transferred to the knee joint (Felson et al., 2000; Yusuf et al., 2011). Felson et al., (2002) stated that 60-70% of weight-bearing load is transmitted through the medial compartment of the joint, creating a higher chance for medial OA in obese individuals. Research has shown that an increase in body weight by two units of BMI in obese individuals with knee OA may increase the risk of disease progression by 50 % (Felson et al., 1993). Following meniscectomy, it is essential to make sure that the body mass is not too high for the joint to cope with the loading, which with a young and active population is not generally a concern. Women had a slightly lower BMI at follow up in an Englund et al., (2004) study that also found that lateral meniscectomy was more common in women (38%) compared to men (16%).

Hinman et al., (2002) performed a comparison between individuals with knee OA with a healthy control group to assess static and dynamic standing balance. They found that individuals with knee OA demonstrated poor dynamic standing balance compared to the healthy control group. Balance has also been seen to be a predictor of knee OA progression OA (Hinman et al., 2002), which has also been seen in lower limb injuries (Bennell et al., 2003; Pilsky et al., 2006; Herrington et al., 2009). In addition, individuals with knee OA demonstrated greater trunk lean in anterior-posterior and lateral directions as a compensatory mechanism compared to the healthy group (Hinman et al., 2002). Trunk lean has been used in studies to evaluate static balance deficits using force platforms (Kollegger et al., 1992). Trunk lean has been found in individuals following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014), however, a full picture of compensatory mechanisms highlighting all the biomechanical outcomes which could be linked to OA progression in unison including muscle weakness, increased co-contraction, stiff gait and pain has not been developed.

2.7 Knee loading

As technology, research progress, diagnostic and surgical techniques improve, understanding of all biomechanical consequences following a meniscectomy and associated degenerative changes in the knee is highly important (Sari et al., 2018; Englund et al., 2006; Thorlund et al., 2017). During normal gait, several factors play a key role, such as stability through co-contraction, range of motion to allow full, healthy ambulation, joint alignments to maintain integrity, and ground reaction forces for even weight distribution (Bennell et al., 2008). The

available literature describes in some detail the biomechanical effects when analysing knee loading post-meniscectomy surgery (Hall et al., 2014; Mills et al., 2008; Hulet et al., 2015; Willy et al., 2017; Thorlund et al., 2017). However, biomechanical research following meniscectomy still appears limited and is unable to fully describe the whole effect meniscectomy surgery has on knee joint health both the short-term and long-term (Lau et al., 2018). Following partial meniscectomy, there is a reduced tibiofemoral contact area in the knee, which diminishes the capacity to manage loads (Atmaca et al., 2013). Consequently, activities with elevated knee joint loading such as sporting tasks may be particularly harmful to tibiofemoral joint articular cartilage in an individual's post-meniscectomy (Willy et al., 2017). Therefore, understanding knee joint loading and changes in a compromised joint, specifically when loads are increased is vital.

Joint moments have been identified as one of the key surrogate indicators of joint loading including the external knee adduction moment (EKAM) and the knee flexion moments (KFM) (Richards et al., 2018). Joint moments essentially describe the muscular effort applied to rotate a body segment around a joint centre of rotation as a balance to externally applied forces (Flaxman, 2017). Joint moments are calculated as the product of the magnitude of the vertical ground reaction force vector (GRF) and the distance from the joint center of rotation where the force acts (Figure 2.7)(Lau et al., 2018). For example, increases in the EKAM are shown to increase medial tibiofemoral loading, whereas the KFM has been shown to increase anterior tibiofemoral loading, which is linked to disease severity and rate of OA progression (Sturnieks et al., 2008; Miyazaki., 2002; Barrios et al., 2012, Hurwitz et al., 2002; Asay et al., 2018). During walking there are two peaks in the moment curves, the first peak can be found in the early stance (0-50%) and the second peak in the late stance (51-100%) (Thorp et al., 2006). Studies have found the association between frontal knee alignments and EKAM magnitude (Barrios et al., 2009) where malalignment of the varus knee leads on to an increase in tibiofemoral EKAM in individuals following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014). Additionally, varus knee alignment has been found to be high in individuals with medial knee OA (Tanamas et al., 2009). Therefore, reducing the varus knee alignment leads to EKAM reduction and thereby might delay the progression of medial compartment OA of the knee joint (Miyazaki et al., 2002; Teichtahl et al., 2009). Individuals following meniscectomy have demonstrated greater EKAM as early as three months post-meniscectomy during barefoot walking at both a slow and fast speed and is still present between 10- 20 years post-meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014). Additionally, an increased KFM was found in individuals following meniscectomy over a 2-year period (Hall et al., 2013), which has been linked to medial tibial cartilage and patellofemoral joint degeneration (Chehab et al., 2014; Teng et al., 2015).



Figure 2.7: Ground reaction force vector location and moment in (a) healthy (b) medial meniscectomy (Duivenvoorden et al., 2015)

The knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) has been considered as another important measure for medial knee loading (Bennell et al., 2011). The KAAI has been used in addition to the EKAM and KFM as a complimentary assessment to measure knee loading (Selistre et al., 2017). The first or second peak of the EKAM only analyse a single time point during the stance phase and do not represent the overall stance phase, whereas the KAAI analyses the magnitude of the EKAM and the duration of the medial knee loading during the whole stance phase (Thorp et al., 2006). This measure is calculated as the area under the EKAM curve (Figure 2.8). KAAI has been associated with degenerative disease progression (Bennell et al., 2011), as well as pain and disability (Kito et al., 2010) and therefore, would be applicable for individuals following meniscectomy. Thorp et al., (2006) stated the importance of analysing the KAAI and highlighted that it is more sensitive to detecting differences in mild OA rather than just severe OA when compared to the first and second peak of EKAM. For these reasons, the EKAM should be considered alongside the KFM and KAAI to better understand the behaviour of medial and lateral compartment loading. KFM is used to highlight knee loading at the patellofemoral joint (Sturnieks et al., 2011).



Figure 2.8: 1st and 2nd peaks of the external knee adduction moment and the knee adduction angular impulse under the curve (KAAI). (Levinger et al., 2013)

Thorp et al., (2006) was one of the first studies that looked at the KAAI for knee loading. They studied 117 individuals and found that both EKAM and KAAI increased with increased grade of OA. Individuals with a medial meniscectomy have greater magnitude of the external knee adduction moment waveform and longer stance phase than the matched healthy group, however no studies have looked at using statistical parametric mapping (SPM) (Thorlund et al., 2017; Zedde et al., 2014). The use of SPM allows for the comparison of entire movement cycles, which reduces the errors in the reporting of statistical inferences. Thorlund et al., (2014) reported an increase in KAAI compared to the contralateral limb at three months following meniscectomy, which was also found in the EKAM. In a follow-up study Thorlund et al., (2016) found that the KAAI was still increased at 12 months post-meniscectomy, highlighting that the short-term compensatory mechanisms may have harmful lasting effects which can lead on to OA.

A study conducted over five years investigated the effect of EKAM and KFM on cartilage changes in individuals with OA and found that both EKAM and KFM should be analysed to get both medial and lateral knee joint loading (Chehab et al., 2014). Walter et al. (2010) agreed with this as they found that reduction in the first peak of the EKAM did not guarantee the reduction in the medial knee contact force due to a reduction in the peak of the KFM. Hall et al., (2015) highlighted there was a reduction in KFM in the affected knee compared to the contralateral knee three months post-meniscectomy, however, at 12 months post-

meniscectomy, the KFM had increased, however they did not have a control patient group to compare this to. Therefore, the intitial KFM reduction may just be a short-term effect to alleviate post-surgical pain and may be associated with weaker quadriceps muscles (Fisher et al., 2019). Chehab et al., (2014) stated that reducing the EKAM and increased the KFM may have large benefits in slowing knee joint degeneraton, which therefore highlights its importance in looking at both in individuals following mensicectomy. Boyer et al., (2012) highlighted that KFM was sensitive to pain and therefore caused adaptations in individuals with OA, reducing quadriceps muscle activation when walking (Miyazaki et al., 2002). Pain, reduced muscle strength and reduced muscle activation have been seen in individuals following mensicectomy (Ogawa et al., 2016; Ericsson et al., 2019; Sturnieks et al., 2011), however, only few studies have firstly looked at KFM in individuals following mensicectomy and none have looked at the link between KFM, muscle activation and pain.

There are a variety of different compensatory strategies to help offload the knee, such as increasing lateral trunk sway towards the affected stance limb during walking and running (Mündermann et al., 2005; Hunt et al., 2008), decreasing speed with shorter stride length (Andriacchi, 1994), and increasing foot progression (toe-out) angle during stance phase (Chang et al., 2007; Jenkyn et al., 2008) that have been observed in individuals with medial knee OA. Jamison et al., (2012) showed that an increased lateral trunk lean should act to pull the GRF and centre of pressure laterally, decreasing the moment arm on the medial compartment of the knee and therefore decreasing medial knee loads. Additionally, whilst manipulations in the trunk lean alters knee joint loads, it is also often used in competitive sport to deceive opponents and therefore, laboratory tasks should strive to mimic the in-game situation (Zebis et al., 2009). Fox et al., (2018) highlighted that proximal motion at the trunk during a change of direction appears to have a large effect in managing the loads experienced at the knee following ACL reconstruction. Lateral flexion of the trunk toward the intended change of direction were frequently linked to reduction in loads (i.e., external knee abduction moment) experienced at the knee during change of direction tasks (Mornieux et al., 2014, Jones et al., 2016). Lateral trunk lean has not yet been researched in individuals following meniscectomy, however, have been seen in combination with increased EKAM as a compensatory strategy in OA (Gerbrands et al., 2017) and therefore, it would be beneficial to see if these compensatory strategies are also being implemented after surgery. For example, Mündermann et al., (2008), analysed the impact of lateral trunk lean in healthy individuals and found that it can be used to lower the

external knee adduction moment in healthy individuals by shifting the GRF away from the affected compartment of the knee. In addition, individuals with medial knee OA demonstrated reduced EKAM with greater lateral trunk lean as a compensatory strategy to help offload the knee (Gerbrands et al., 2017). The reduction of knee loading was due to a medial shift of the knee joint centre, shortened distance of the centre of pressure to knee joint centre, and shortened distance of the knee–ground reaction force lever arm during the stance phase (Tokuda et al., 2018).

Dempsey et al., (2007) however, found that there was an injury-performance conflict as using a lateral trunk lean over the push off leg has been shown to increase external knee valgus (abduction) moments (a surrogate measure of increased ACL injury risk), which may also put the meniscus at risk. The initial increase in knee loads by Dempsey et al., (2007) was thought to be due to the lack of familiarisation of the task with an added trunk lean, however Dempsey et al., (2009) undertook a follow up study, analysing the effects on knee loading with alterations to the change of direction technique and found that following a 6-week training program, knee loads were lowest when the trunk was more upright. During a change of direction task, in contrary to walking and running, it may not be beneficial to use trunk lean to offload the knee, rather to aim to reduce the knee moments to as little as possible and just shift the load and overcompensate as seen by the trunk lean during a change of direction. Fox et al., (2018) found that biomechanical strategies that are employed to reduce the risk of injury in an ACL population, are also biomechanical strategies that may have a negative impact on performance such as soft landings, however adding a lateral trunk lean does not seem to reduce performance but has had a positive effect in reducing knee loading. Kristianslund et al., (2014) stated that to reduce knee loading during dynamic tasks such as landing or change of direction you either have to reduce the GRF which may be achieved with a softer landing with increased knee flexion, or by reducing the moment arm by reducing the knee valgus angle.

Knee motion is an important outcome measure for individuals who have suffered an injury, and following surgery, as reduced range of motion is often linked to pain, swelling, stiffness, muscle weakness and fear avoidance (Lau et al., 2018). Dempsey et al., (2013) showed that reduced motion at the knee was linked to increased loading and reduced joint space leading to OA development. A primary focus area that should be considered when looking at the biomechanical outcomes following meniscectomy is knee motion, which is essential for many functional tasks in daily living.

Knee joint loading is also determined by the coordination of muscle activity (Horsak et al., 2015). The main limitation of using solely frontal and sagittal plane moments to interpret joint loading is that external joint moments do not account for the contribution of muscle forces to joint loading (Starkey et al., 2020). The quadriceps and hamstrings contract simultaneously during the stance phase of walking and play an important role for knee joint loading as muscles support the joint due to them crossing over the knee joint and controlling knee joint movement (Winby et al., 2009). Muscle activation supports frontal plane moments, altering knee joint stability and loading (Sturnieks et al., 2011).

The estimation of muscle co-contraction is a useful clinical tool to better understand how pathology can affect the muscle strategies during gait (Den Otter et al., 2006). Co-contraction is defined as the simultaneous activation of the agonist and antagonist muscle groups around a joint (Selistre et al., 2017). Greater muscle co-contraction between the quadriceps and hamstrings muscles have been found in individuals with knee instability to compensate for instability when compared to healthy individuals and the contralateral leg (Schmitt and Rudolph, 2008).

Methods used to examine the simultaneous actions of agonist and antagonist muscles can vary from mathematical models (Solomonow et al., 1986) to electromyography (EMG) measurements (Rudolph et al., 2000). These EMG measurements are often presented in a normalised form to represent muscles co-contraction, due to the complexity in estimating the muscle moment (Kellis, 1998). EMG activity and force do not have a linear relationship, particularly during dynamic activities (Buchanan et al., 2004). Additionally, it must be noted as a further drawback of normalised moment or EMG values, that differentiation between the force production capacity of the agonist and antagonist muscle group cannot be shown. Souissi et al., (2017) performed a study to compare co-contraction index (CCI) computed from muscle moments to different co-activation indexes derived from EMG data at the ankle and the knee joint during gait. The co-activation methods produced lower values than the CCI. The coactivation methods trend was to underestimate the simultaneous action of agonist and antagonist contraction. Because the EMG-driven model included the muscle mechanical properties (e.g., force-length-velocity relationship) and muscle moment-arm, the cocontraction based on major agonist and antagonist muscle moment provided a more accurate description of muscle action compared to co-activation index, however the difference was not significant, and both are commonly used as biomechanical outcomes.

Both quadriceps and hamstrings are biarticular i.e., cross the knee joint (Marchetti et al., 2016) and equal co-contraction of the quadriceps and hamstring muscles occur during linear movements such as walking, whereas in more dynamic movements medial muscles are activated to support externally applied abduction moments and lateral muscles for adduction moments (Zhang et al., 2001; Besier et al., 2003). Increased medial co-contractions also increase medial joint loading and therefore could aid in a fast progression of medial osteoarthritis (Lloyd and Buchanan, 2001). Muscle activity and co-contractions should be researched more in relation to meniscal injuries, particularly in the sporting population and for how muscle strength can be used to aid in slowing OA progression. Surface EMG can be used as a non-invasive method to supply clinically meaningful information about neuromuscular control deficits as it provides the information from the muscles and explores the activity of each muscle (Farina et al., 2014; Frigo and Crenna, 2009).

Knee muscle strength and co-contraction are also key aspects which are affected following injury and surgery. Muscle strength is essential to control movement, including movements such as change of direction and landing, which are involved in many sports (Rudolph and Snyder-Mackler., 2004). Previous studies have reported increased quadriceps weakness as a consequence of meniscectomy surgery (Becker et al., 2004; Ericsson et al., 2006). Becker et al., (2004) found that in 25 individuals after four years following a partial meniscectomy, quadriceps muscle strength was lower compared to healthy controls with lower voluntary muscle activity being measured by electrodes whilst performing an isometric leg extension. Ericsson et al., (2006) also stated that four years following meniscectomy muscle weakness was present and found that individuals with less weakness also showed less pain and a better quality of life, highlighting the importance of muscle strength even in the long term. The quadriceps muscles are primary contributors to dynamic knee joint stability and associated with increased risk of joint degeneration when the quadriceps are weakened and joint stability is reduced (Segal and Glass., 2011). Sturnieks et al., (2008) found increased EKAM in 102 individuals due to reduced knee extensor strength compared to controls at 11 weeks following a meniscectomy. Sturnieks et al., (2011) analysed both strength and muscle activation in 89 individuals following meniscectomy and found that between one- and three-months postsurgery, there were no significant differences in muscle strength, however there was a significant increase in knee flexor muscle activation during gait which may increase tibiofemoral knee loading as it increases the compressive forces in the knee. These results may

have been due to the short time following surgery, however, have also been seen in individuals with knee OA (Mills et al., 2013).

Hubley-Kozey et al., (2008) found increases in lateral hamstring activation during walking gait in severe and moderate knee OA. Sturnieks et al., (2011) found an increase in hamstring activation in both early and late stance phase of walking following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. Yet, quadriceps activity was only increased during mid-stance phase, which could show the duration of the activation to be longer rather than greater compared to healthy controls. Seeing as individuals following meniscectomy also have increased external knee adduction moments (Sturnieks et al., 2008) it can be assumed that they may also walk with increased laterally directed co-contraction of the quadriceps muscles to try and offload the medial compartment of the knee.

Stronger muscles protect the structure of the knee as the muscles work in tandem with the joint throughout movement, for example: when we flex the knee, the hamstrings contract; to extend the knee, the quadriceps come into play and help carry the weight and stress of the movement (Richards et al., 2018). Ericsson et al., (2009) found that hamstring strength was not significantly reduced following meniscectomy. However, the quadriceps strength was still 9% lower in the meniscectomy leg compared to the contralateral leg, but after a 4-month functional exercise program quadriceps strength was fully regained. Hall et al., (2014) found that there was around 14-16% difference in quadriceps strength in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls at 3-months post-meniscectomy, however at 2 years postmeniscectomy the muscle strength was regained to a similar level compared to healthy controls. Equally, Ganderup et al., (2017) highlighted that in middle-aged patients who had sustained a degenerative meniscal tear, they showed superior knee function evidenced by improved task performance following surgery, and although there was a reduction in knee extensor strength three months post-surgery, this was not evident at one-year post-surgery. None of these studies mention a pre-injury level of training or physical condition which may have an influence on the results. Slemenda et al. (1998) found that quadriceps muscle weakness increases the development of knee OA. Such muscle weakness reduces the ability to absorb forces during movement, resulting in greater loads on the knee joint itself (Selmenda et al., 1998). The risk of further joint degeneration occurs up to four times more often with the presence of muscle weakness which has been found to be linked with valgus malalignment in individuals, which can increase the speed and level of joint degeneration (Sharma et al., 2001).

To reiterate, gait adaptations have been reported by previous studies with knee flexion angles being reduced (Willy et al., 2016; Chang et al., 2015), external knee adduction moments increasing (Hall et al., 2015; Sturnieks et al., 2008; Thorlund et al., 2016) following meniscal surgery, resulting in knee OA progression. Higher knee varus angle shift with medial meniscectomies, which could be rectified with longer co-activation of the lateral muscles compared to the medial muscles (Hall et al., 2014), which could be explained by muscle weakness, specifically the quadriceps and fear avoidance strategies (Ericsson et al., 2009). The increased knee loading that occurs due to a meniscectomy is detrimental in return to sport criteria, due to the high loads that occur with increased intensity. Specific research analysing the dominant activities that would be seen at return-to-play have not yet been examined, including specific rehabilitation protocols and competitive sports performance or reinjury. Muscle strength recovery is important for young individuals after an arthroscopic surgery to regain capacity to participate in sports (Ericsson et al., 2006; Pietrosimone et al., 2016).

2.8 Balance and stability

Baltich et al., (2015) showed that there was a link between altered joint loading following a knee injury and reduced balance, due to impaired proprioception, reduced muscular strength and increased co-contraction (Hubley-Kozey et al., 2008; Ingersoll et al., 2008; Al-Dadah et al., 2011; Magyar et al., 2012). Al-Dadah et al., (2011) looked at 29 individuals three months post-meniscectomy and compared them using a single leg dynamic stabiliometry (Biodex Balance SD System, multiaxial moveable platform) to both their contralateral leg and healthy control and found that there was a significant proprioceptive deficit compared to both groups. It was stated that the individuals following meniscectomy were otherwise clinically successful had proprioceptive deficits (Al-Dadah et al., 2011). Mallious et al., (2011) analysed the balance and functional capabilities up to two years following meniscectomy comparing the injured leg to the contralateral control leg. They found that there was a significant difference between the injured leg and contralateral leg with a reduction in both the balance and functional outcomes in the meniscectomy leg, highlighting reduced proprioception. Lee et al., (2018) looked at postural stability using anteroposterior and mediolateral stabilometry comparing medial with lateral meniscectomies and found that both legs (injured and contralateral) in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy had reduced neuromuscular control compared to the individuals following medial meniscectomy. This study was however, not compared to healthy controls, as many studies that look at the proprioception and therefore it is hard to indicate how different the medial proprioception is compared to the norm from this study. Karahan et al., (2009) looked at the comparison between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls and found that there was still a significant difference in proprioception 2 years following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls.

Balance has been found to be a key evaluation technique of neuromuscular function (Mallious et al., 2011). The star excursion balance test (SEBT) is a simple, inexpensive test used to measure dynamic balance (Gribble et al., 2012) that has been incorporated in several clinical settings and laboratories. SEBT is performed by measuring a maximal reach distance whilst the individual stands on one leg and then reaches the other leg in different directions while remaining balanced throughout (Olmsted et al., 2002; Gribble et al., 2007). As the SEBT in all eight directions takes a long time, focusing the assessment on specific directions that are that performed by certain muscles is a potential method to reduce the duration (Olmsted et al., 2002; Herrington et al., 2009), as these specific muscles are significantly activated more than other muscles in certain directions (Early and Hertel, 2001). In knee OA, the anterior and medial directions will be proposed to test because quadriceps muscles are affected with knee OA and become weak (Slemenda et al., 1997; Chang et al., 2005). The directions most valid for looking at the sporting aspect of this study were anterior, posterolateral and posteromedial direction as seen in previous studies relating to ACL injury (Herrington et al., 2009). Proprioception deficits can cause more issues than just the knee giving way or feeling unstable, it can also cause psychological anxieties where individuals become more apprehensive of their movements trying to anticipate when the knee becomes unstable and hinder movement (Tichonova et al., 2016).

2.9 Self-reported outcome measures

The value of rehabilitation has been increasing over the last decades, as it was seen that it promotes faster recovery time with improved long-term outcomes (Bade et al., 2011). Jahan et al., (2018) developed a validated rehabilitation protocol following extensive research for individuals following a meniscectomy. The study was split into two phases. In phase one of rehabilitation protocol a literature review took place including several previously demonstrated protocols and a draft protocol was made. Seven clinicians were then asked to analyse the draft

protocol and the final eight-week protocol was established. Phase two included testing the protocol over an 8-week course which was split into 3 phases in 38 young active individuals following meniscectomy. For the most effective outcomes individuals were asked to attend the sessions three times a week for two hours each session as soon as three days following meniscectomy. Massage therapy and hydrotherapy were then added on separate days. In week 1 of the 8-week process the focus was on healing and rest. In this program the individuals were asked to walk with crutches and only bear 50% of their weight. The exercises were focused on range of motion and slight contraction exercises. In phase two of the protocol (weeks 2-4) the training increased to low impact leg raises and balance tasks. And in phase three (week 5-8) the focus of the rehabilitation program then included strength, endurance, balance and looked at gait. At the end of the program the aim was to get the individuals following meniscectomy ready for a normal community-based training program. This detail for rehabilitation in the national health service is not available but it is well understood that the time as stated in Jahan et al., (2018) study cannot be invested in the national health service, which may be why outcomes following meniscectomy lead on to knee OA. Therefore, analysing the type, intensity, and amount of rehabilitation an individual receives following meniscectomy is highly important.

Recently, the self-perceived outcomes on movement and function related to rehabilitation and following musculoskeletal injury have been increasingly researched (Ardern et al., 2011). Therefore, it is important to know which psychological factors are related to the rehabilitation process which can contribute to a good recovery (Tichonova et al., 2013). The psychological influences such as self-efficacy (people beliefs in their own ability) (Hsieh et al., 2013), confidence in function (Chmielewski et al., 2008), pain catastrophizing (negative orientation towards pain) (de Boer et al., 2012) influence the ability for individuals to return to sport and causes further gait adaptations to occur. Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) (Collins et al., 2011), kinesiophobia or re-injury (Kvist et al., 2005) also influence of pain and kinesiophobia on knee function can be explained by the fear-avoidance model, which has an important role in patient behaviour and has been seen to effect return to sport levels (Ardern et al., 2011). The fear-avoidance model often occurs in relation to the fear of pain or with athletes the fear of re-injury, which therefore causes maladaptive and restrictive compensatory mechanisms to occur to avoid anything that may cause the individuals pain or re-injury

(Fischerauer et al., 2018). KOOS has been utilised in several studies as it looks at the individual's perception of their own knee function in daily living, sport and recreation and analyses their perception of their quality of life following their injury (Collins et al., 2011). Therefore, these two aspects should be analysed and considered when looking at a meniscectomy population.

2.9.1. Kinesiophobia

A variety of impairments could lead to altered gait, including abnormal psychosocial factors (Hsieh et al., 2013). Kinesiophobia causes individuals to avoid behaviours that may potentially elicit pain or re-injury (Tichonova et al., 2016). The injury can create feelings of uncertainty and fear of how far the injury will affect future function (Österberg et al., 2013). This causes the individual's negative attitudes toward the body and participating in daily activities and sports, which can cause gait adaptations to occur and aid in compensatory movements to be established. The tampa scale of kinesiophobia (TSK) was used to establish if there was any fear of movement or fear or re-injury as seen in ACL individuals following surgery, which would thereby alter movement patterns, particularly when going back to being more active (Chmielewski et al., 2008). Özmen et al., (2017) found that there was a relationship among quadriceps muscle weakness, increased pain, and kinesiophobia in individuals with knee OA. Kinesiophobia has not been researched well in individuals following meniscectomy. Tichonova et al., (2016) found that kinesiophobia decreased in individuals following meniscectomy following a good rehabilitation program, however a high level of kinesiophobia was significantly correlated with more difficulties experienced in daily activities and poorer knee-related quality of life before and after rehabilitation.

2.9.2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score

The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) has been used to see how an individual is feeling about his or her knee and to identify if there is a link about the individual's perception of their knee and the ability to undertake daily activities and the development of OA (Collins et al., 2016). The score is made up of five subscales including pain, symptoms, function during daily activities, sport and recreational function, and quality of life. Each subscale ranges from 0 to 100 points, with 0 representing extreme knee problems and 100 representing no knee problems (Roos et al., 1998). The score was created involving individuals

following knee injury that can lead on to OA such as meniscus injury, anterior cruciate ligament injury, and chondral injury (Roos et al., 1998). The KOOS questionnaire has been shown to be valid, reliable, and repeatable when looking at meniscectomy (ROOS et al., 1998). The KOOS outcome scores should help give an indication of knee function due to an individual's self-reported perception of their pain, physical activity, and quality of life following meniscectomy.

Lutz et al., (2015) compared meniscal repairs to meniscectomy 10 years following surgery and found that the meniscal repair has higher scores for all outcomes, except quality of life which was linked to protecting the knee joint against degeneration. Thorlund et al., (2017) analysed both traumatic and degenerative tears at 12 weeks and 52 weeks follow up and found that sports/recreation and quality of life scored the lowest at 12 weeks, which improved slightly, however at 52 weeks still averaged around 50 out of 100. Willy et al., (2016) found that a lower KOOS quality of life score was associated with greater hip, knee support moments, and knee extension moments. Therefore, KOOS activity and quality of life should be analysed in alignment with kinematics and kinetics following meniscectomy.

2.10 Dynamic movement

A traumatic meniscal tear in the younger population is generally caused whilst participating in sports that include knee loading with a twisting action seen in sports such as football, basketball and other dynamic sports that includes landing or changing direction at a speed (Zedde et al., 2014). While many young, active individual's post-partial meniscectomy return to sports that require running (Baumgarten, 2007; Hurd and Synder-Mackler, 2007), there is a lack of research highlighting the association between long-term physical activity and structural OA progression in individuals following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2017; Willy et al., 2017). Hall et al., (2017) is one of the only papers that analysed running, which analysed 78 patients following meniscectomy at 3 months post-op and 2 years post-op barefoot over-ground jogging ($2.46 \pm 0.39 \text{ m/s}$) and found that at three months post meniscectomy, the KFM was significantly lower in individuals following meniscectomy than in the control group and the EKAM was much greater. Two years post-meniscectomy, however, the KFM was similar to that seen in the control group, but EKAM remained much greater than the control group. Willy et al., (2017), also found that compensatory factors could be seen when running at a self-selected speed after a meniscectomy operation. For instance, to offload the knee which showed a 14.5%

reduced knee extensor moment, there was an increased load on the hip on average 37 months post-meniscectomy.

While partial meniscectomy has a high likelihood to develop OA, little is still known regarding knee loading during running (Willy et al., 2016) or other typical sports movements including one study looking at single leg hop (Hsu et al., 2016) and one study looking at landing (Ford et al., 2011). Hsu et al., (2016) analysed individuals following meniscectomy performing a single leg hop at both post-rehabilitation and 1-year post-surgery in relation to return to sport. They found that there was a large association between reduced peak knee flexion angle, reduced knee extension moment and peak torque. Ford et al., (2011) looked at landing mechanisms 3-months following lateral meniscectomy compared to healthy controls to analyse return to sport implication. They found identically to Hsu et al., (2016) that knee extension moments were reduced at 3 months post-surgery compared to healthy controls which was associated with the reduced quadriceps muscle strength, highlighting that quadriceps strength is one of the greatest issues following meniscectomy, particularly in relation to return to sport. The aforementioned studies, however, only focus on linear movements, whereas active individuals will need to partake in multidirectional movements. For example, Kiesel et al., (2014) examined the movement patterns related to injury in football players, these do not solely involve landing or running movements but also changes of direction as seen in the game, highlighting the importance of looking at these movements in further studies.

2.11 Return to physical activity

As discussed previously, meniscal injuries may be hard to treat effectively to ensure full recovery without compromising knee function. This is particularly important for young, active individuals, as sports-related injuries account for more than one third of all meniscus lesions (Li et al., 2018). Meniscal injuries are amongst the most common knee injuries in the sporting populations preceded by movements including twisting at the knee on a planted foot or jumping and landing movements (Mitchell et al., 2016). The preservation of the meniscus is well understood, and therefore a meniscal repair is favoured for the general population (Paxton et al., 2011; Xu and Zhao, 2015). This is more controversial in an active competitive population as individuals aim to return-to-sport as soon as possible and with a meniscal repair recovery time is longer compared to following meniscectomy (Eberbach et al., 2018).

In a professional environment, taking substantial time to return to sport can lead to added pressure and cost implications for the athlete, resulting in a premature, and potentially damaging, return to sport outcomes (Lee et al., 2019). Early return to sport following ACL reconstruction has been shown to place an athlete at higher risk of re-injury (Cheney et al., 2020). This is quite relatable as ACL injury is associated with meniscal tears and are both traumatic knee injuries. Laboute et al., (2010) found that individuals following ACL reconstruction who returned to competitive sports within the first 7 months of surgery were three times more likely to sustain a re-injury. In addition, Grindem et al. (2016) found that the knee re-injury rate in ACL reconstruction individuals could be reduced by up to 51% for each month return to sport was delayed for up to 9 months post-surgery. Greater compensatory mechanisms have also been seen such as trunk lean in early return to sport individuals which may cause further issues down the line if they become learnt habits and can cause re-injury (Capin et al., 2016). Previous studies which analysed return to sport following meniscal surgery stating that on average between 30-60% of individuals manage to return to their competitive sport at the same level as before (Chalmers et al., 2013; Eberbach et al., 2018; Roos et al., 2000). Brophy et al., (2009) found that the career length was shortened substantially in American football athletes following a meniscectomy in a two-year follow up study that found 54.4% of individuals either needing a follow up surgery or developing OA and therefore were not able to compete at the same level as before. Yet, meniscectomies are still the preferred method of treatment in the young active population as short-term results are generally excellent with low complications plus, less reoperation rates (Aune et al., 2014).

Return to competitive sport guidelines have been found to vary in length and intensity depending on the level of sport at which the individual competes (Kim et al., 2013). Several studies stated that the mean timeframe of the individuals to go back to competitive sports was between 3-10 months, however it took some almost three years to get back to a semi-professional level due to pain, muscle strength and patient reported outcomes varying for each subject (Zedde et al., 2014; Logerstedt et al., 2014; Samitier et al., 2015). Capin et al., (2016) looked at delaying return to sport following ACL reconstruction and how they affect reinjury. Delayed return to sport even in the absence of any clinical or biomechanical alterations in gait may be necessary in preventing second ACL injuries for occurring in young women (Capin et al., (2016). Ekhtiari et al., (2018) stated that out of 244 individuals who had undergone a meniscectomy, 80.4% of them returned to their preoperative level playing their sport as soon

as 4.3 months post-rehabilitation. This was due to the individuals having a very good and comprehensive level of physiotherapy as they were training at a high level, highlighting that rehabilitation plays a large role in return to sport.

At three months post-surgery, private surgeons generally ask the individual to come back to see their physiotherapist for a return to play screening which includes a functional movement screen, a drop landing, gauging range of motion, isokinetic strength tests and sport-specific tasks to give the individuals or club the all clear to play at a high level or compete (McDermott, 2011). For the national health system, this in-depth screening process is not always available, and the physiotherapist will discharge a patient straight after the operation allowing them to self-assess as to their readiness to participate again in sports (Lowe et al., 2007). Kim et al., (2013) found that the return to activity timescale is dependent on the age of the individual, the type of tear, and the undergone surgery. Three months post-surgery may not be enough, considering how many high impact movements are involved in many sports (Eitzen et al., 2009). Nawabi et al., (2014) agreed with this study and highlighted that return to play is also site- and location-specific, following their comparison of lateral and medial meniscectomy. Their study showed that it took nearly three times longer for lateral individuals following meniscectomy to return to their competitive sports, and that due to pain and swelling they faced significant adverse effects and could not return to the same level of performance as before. Hsu et al., (2016) found that the individuals who sustained a meniscal tear wanted to go back to their competitive sport post-surgery, however, only 44% managed to play at their pre-injury level 3 years post-meniscectomy, due to knee pain and onset of osteoarthritis (OA). Management of the injury also plays a key role as to when the individual should be able to return to sport. Non-invasive interventions such as footwear could alter biomechanics to lower EKAM and reduce the progression of OA, thus playing a key role in treatment strategies. However, a full understanding of the lower limb biomechanics in these individuals must be grasped. During physical activity, the footwear an individual wears plays a major role in reinjury risk and pain management, as more cushioning has been seen to help alleviate joint pain in individuals with OA (Chang et al., 2007). Therefore, to identify an adequate way to manage knee loads following meniscectomy with the knowledge that they would want to return to sports, further studies should look at different footwear conditions following meniscectomy as they are low-cost and effective to aid in management of symptoms as well as prevention or slowing of knee joint degeneration.

2.12 Footwear

For effective self-management for pain using footwear has been found to be an effective strategy, however, there is little evidence to inform what the appropriate footwear is for individuals after surgery (Shakoor et al., 2010). The design of footwear may substantially affect the loading patterns of the entire lower body, and these biomechanical effects may have important implications for conditions in which mechanical factors are important such as post-surgery or OA.

Trainers/running shoes and other footwear have evolved dramatically over the past few decades (Subotnick, 2017). Whilst there are many different types of shoes on the market, primary categories are minimalist shoes, cushioned trainers with a soft increased pitch, and stability shoes which aid in motion control. Understanding the loads and compressive forces that go through the knee is essential when choosing your footwear, particularly following injury, or surgery (Wang et al., 2018). Footwear has been seen to alter foot knee pathology in individuals with knee OA and is a comfortable and cost-effective way to reduce symptomatic pain and possibly slow OA progression (Bennell et al., 2009). There were no significant differences between using valgus brace and lateral wedge footwear treatments to medial knee OA; however, compared with knee braces treatment, the footwear treatment was more acceptable among individuals with medial knee OA due to comfort and ease (Fu et al., 2015). Schmitz and Noehren (2014) found that the most effective way to reduce the first peak of the EKAM was to reduce the knee adduction angle followed by the GRF, which should be done by retraining the gait or using footwear interventions.

2.12.1 Footwear and osteoarthritis

Depending on what surgery the patient has undergone, part of the cartilage may be exposed and loading, shock absorption and lubrication may be altered (Fox et al., 2012). Therefore, it can be assumed that more cushioning, support or wedges should be implemented to try and offload the affected part of the knee to help either reduce load, reduce movement or shift the loads (Levinger et al., 2013). Different footwear interventions have been used in individuals with OA to reduce knee loading and pain (Erhart et al., 2008; Chapman et al., 2013). The UK's National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommended either cushioning or lateral wedge footwear and insoles to be a part of the conservative management of knee OA (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014). The biomechanical treatments of footwear and insoles are both cheap and effective (Wang et al., 2018).

It has been stated that the use of modern self-chosen walking shoes resulted in a 14% increase in dynamic loading of the knee compared to barefoot walking in individuals with OA, however other studies show that a lateral wedge or more cushioning has a greater advantage for individuals with knee OA (Voloshin, Wosk, & Brull, 1981; Jones et al., 2015). The greater demand placed on the knee during these sporting movements highlights the need for footwear interventions for active individuals particularly following surgery (Saxby et al., 2016). Individuals following meniscectomy generally are not advised to change their footwear as this is not regulatory, and therefore may go back to wearing the same shoes/trainers they were wearing before the treatment. It is unclear whether footwear design can affect knee loading and therefore OA risk in meniscectomy patient and therefore further investigation is needed.

In individuals with medial knee OA, it has been widely stated that lateral wedge footwear (Shaw et al., 2018) or shoes with midsoles that are stiffer laterally than medially where the knee load is redistributed away from the medial tibiofemoral compartment towards the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and can be beneficial for individuals with medial knee OA (Bennell et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2015). Likewise, footwear with midsoles that are stiffer medially compared to laterally, such as those with medial arch support seen in stability shoes (Shakoor et al., 2010), shift load toward the medial compartment which may allow a reduction in lateral tibiofemoral knee loading, however this has not been widely researched (Patterson et al., 2020). Patterson et al., (2020) found that in a healthy population, footwear with medial arch support shifted the GRF medially (Schmalz et al., 2006), reducing loading on the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and therefore may be feasible for offloading individuals following lateral meniscectomy therefore was of interest including a lateral wedge and increased medial arch support and cushioning footwear.

2.12.2 Cushioning footwear

Footwear with a soft cushioned heel, particularly those with an increased pitch (raised heel in relation to the forefoot), have been used to aid in firstly reducing knee loading during impact tasks and secondly to aid in propulsion during running to enhance running economy with an added spring from the increased soft pitch on the heel (Day and Hahn., 2019). Mercer et al.,

(2018) also looked at running economy with cushioning footwear, however found the opposite results and showed cushioning footwear did not influence running economy when compared to a control footwear, however their number of individuals used in the study was quite low (10) and therefore, further research needs to be done. Burns and Tam (2020) reported that the Nike Vaporfly 4% which had increased midsole cushioning managed to improve running economy by 4%, however this was reported to be due to the additional carbon plate in the footwear which was intended to reduce energy loss during toe bend. Running, is an exceedingly popular exercise worldwide, however, every year up to 50% of runners worldwide encounter injuries, which typically occurs due to repeated loading of the knee joint (Tschopp and Brunner, 2017). To reduce the risk of running-related injuries, running shoe manufactures have added cushioning to shoe soles aimed at reducing knee joint loading however, studies show no evidence of reduced running injury rates with increasing amounts of cushioning (Kulmala et al., 2018). In fact, some studies have even shown that there is an increase in knee loading when wearing footwear with increased cushioning compared to a harder sole (Chan et al., 2018; Baltich et al., 2015; Pollard et al., 2018). The increased in knee loading when applying increased cushioning was unexpected when taking into consideration early research looking at in vitro data (Aerts et al., 1993) and the attenuation theory which is often used for running (Kim et al., 1994), that showed increased sole cushioning should reduce knee loading.

The attenuation model takes into account the spring like mechanism of the leg during running, where the leg is compressed in the initial stance at impact and gradually decelerates, and then recoil in late stance to reaccelerate the body (Kim et al., 1994). This allows for efficient force production to occur during every stride through the stretch-shortening cycle of the muscles, which propels the body (centre of mass (COM)) forward and is also in the attenuation theory called the spring-mass system (Kim et al., 1994). This theory is important when analysing footwear stiffness, as it has previously been shown that when changing surface stiffness, leg stiffness itself is altered to maintain the COM movement (Kerdok et al., 2002). For example, as a runner transitions from a hard surface to a softer surface, the leg has been found to become stiffer to maintain the preferred spring-mass mechanics, which can also be associated to increased cushioning footwear (Kulmala et al., 2018). Gill et al., (2020) analysed the spring-mass model in individuals and looked at its association with foot-strike index. Gill et al., (2020) found that the spring-mass model could not be used for all individuals as only 34-46% of the

individuals ran with a force-length linearity, therefore this model is not appropriate for all running styles, but it can be used as a baseline concept when thinking of running mechanics.

Several conflicting studies show that cushioning footwear can either reduce knee loading or increase knee loading (Chambon et al., 2014; Kulmala et al., 2018; Day and Hahn, 2019; Meardon et al., 2018). Meardon et al., (2018), similarly found that with increased footwear cushioning of around 10-20%, high loads at mainly the ankle but also the knee and hip could be seen during running. Wei et al., (2018) also demonstrated that cushioned shoes resulted in lower knee loading and tibial shock on the lower extremities, which could be beneficial to reduce knee loading following meniscectomy compared with the inferior cushioned footwear during landing. As only landing was analysed, it could be assumed that these findings displayed significant reduction in knee loading as it was in a controlled vertical motion and therefore, foot motion could be more controlled.

In comparison, when examining running and multidirectional loading such as seen during a change of direction, results showed increased knee loading when wearing cushioning shoes (Lindenberg et al., 2011). The increased knee loading is due to the additional imbalance caused by the increased soft heel, which the body needs to compensate for. Wei et al., (2018) found that the imbalance (increased foot motion) seen with an increased soft heel creates increased muscle activation around the ankle to stabilise the foot and therefore greater ankle stiffness. Kulmala et al., (2018) found that when wearing cushioning footwear compared to control footwear, leg stiffness increased which in turn increased impact loading on the knee to keep COM maintained with the increased compression of the cushioning. Jellema et al., (2019) also stated in their literature review that shoe sole hardness affects the sensitivity of the foot, allowing greater awareness and control to occur with sole hardness and therefore, with greater cushioning in the sole, increased instability is caused, which can be related to a compromised joint. The instability was demonstrated in this study by the increased variability in ankle inversion/eversion in the cushioning footwear compared to the neutral footwear.

2.12.3 Lateral wedge footwear

Lateral wedges have demonstrated reduced medial knee loading during walking in both affected and contralateral limbs in individuals with medial OA (Jones et al., 2013). It was Tomatsuri et al. (1975) who firstly proposed to use lateral wedges to treat medial knee OA.

Interventions such as the lateral wedge have been used in individuals with OA to reduce mechanical load on the medial compartment and lessen compensatory strategies such a lateral trunk lean (Esfandiari et al., 2013). For walking and running it has often been stated that a lateral wedge insole (LWI) can be used to offload the medial compartment of the knee (Voloshin, Wosk, & Brull, 1981; Jones et al., 2015). The maximum effect of the LWI occurs during early stance at heel strike (first peak of the EKAM) because of the structure of the LWI where the inclination of the insole was superior at the heel and gradually decreased to 0° at the forefoot (Shanib et al., 2016). The most common inclination angle of LWI was 5° because higher inclination of LWI would cause increasing and considerable discomfort in individuals with medial knee OA and therefore reduce compliance (Arnold et al., 2016; Butler et al., 2007).

Previous studies have highlighted that a lateral wedge of at least 5° produces reductions in the EKAM ranging, between 4% to 12% (Hinman et al., 2008; Bennell et al., 2011; Fantini Pagani et al., 2012). The mechanism of EKAM reduction caused by a lateral wedge due to ankle eversion occurring, laterally shifted centre of pressure and therefore reduced the GRF vector at the knee (Kakihana et al., 2005). Similarly, medial wedge insoles could reduce lateral knee loading for individuals with lateral knee OA by shifting the centre of pressure (COP) medially, however these have not been researched in detail as medial knee OA is more common (Rodrigues et al., 2008).

Jones et al., (2015) highlighted that lateral-wedge insoles in individuals with OA to be an important intervention to reduce the EKAM by shifting the ground reaction force laterally, altering the angle of the knee, thereby moving the moment arm which results in a reduced the EKAM on the knee joint as also seen in individuals following meniscectomy (Figure 2.9) (Kakihana et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2014). Hinman et al., (2012) found great variability in results, identifying that whilst wearing a lateral wedge knee loads have been seen to range from reductions in knee loading by to 25% to increases in knee loading of more than 20%, highlighting a responder, non-responder situation as stated by Jones et al., (2014). Hatfield et al., (2016) stated that difference in results could be due to differences in foot posture and subtalar joint mechanics and found that implementing a lateral wedge with a medial arch support better help reduce medial knee loading in individuals with OA with all foot types. Starbuck et al., (2017) found that during running whilst wearing lateral wedge footwear knee loading did not differ, which was stated to be associated with different foot strike patterns, therefore affecting the ability for the lateral wedge footwear to affect knee loading.


Figure 2.9: The shift of the GRF laterally wearing a lateral insole. Source: http://journals.ecovector.com/files/journals/1/articles/6157/supp/6157-5635-1-SP.png

The typical lateral wedge insole has no medial arch support which means that most lateral wedge insoles have no limit to how far they laterally shift the COP, however with a medial arch support, this is more controlled by reducing the magnitude of the COP excursion (Hinman et al., 2009). Hatfield et al., (2016) found that lateral wedge footwear with medial arch support had the same EKAM reduction (8%), but individuals with OA indicated that the comfort with the medial arch was significant and therefore they would be more likely to wear them. Hunt et al. (2017) compared the lateral wedge insole with medial arch support in individuals with medial knee OA and found that pain and function were improved over prolonged wearing. Similarly, Jones et al. (2015) highlighted that both the typical lateral wedge (5.21%) and medial supported lateral wedge insoles had a reduction in pain in individuals with OA whereas the lateral wedge did not affect pain.

ASICS in Australia have developed shoes with the mechanism of a lateral wedge insole with medial arch support as an integrated system, this created the Melbourne OA shoe (Kean et al., 2013, Van Ginckel et al., 2017, Bennell et al., 2013, Hinman et al., 2014). The Melbourne OA shoe has been found to reduce medial knee loading during walking when compared with control shoe for individuals with medial knee OA (Kean et al., 2013, Bennell et al., 2013). Hinman et al. (2016) found after six months of wearing the Melbourne OA shoe compared to a conventional walking shoe, pain and function improved on average 50% in both Melbourne OA shoes and conventional shoe groups, but no additional improvement such as quality of life

or activity level) was found in the Melbourne OA shoe group. With more extensive knowledge this could be a simple and beneficial way to help manage both gait alteration postmeniscectomy and pain related to the injury and/or surgery at low cost. Given the potential long-term health implications of joint injury understanding offloading strategies to aid in slowing further re-injury or joint degeneration is highly important.

2.12.4 Stability footwear

High-supportive footwear generally classed as stability footwear typically possess medial, midfoot, and longitudinal stiffness and support (medial arch support) and, similarly, to cushioning shoes, have an increased pitch, which likely influences sagittal plane knee moments (Sayer et al., 2019). Stability footwear has been found to increase knee loads significantly by shifting the GRF anteriorly with reduced dorsiflexion and increased knee flexion moments in individuals with OA (Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). Following injury or surgery, stability is often reduced (Almekinders et al., 2004), however, it seems that adding more stability or stiffness to shoes may not be the most beneficial intervention for an active clinical population (Fisher et al., 2007). It has been well established that stable, supportive footwear increase knee loads significantly more in OA individuals compared to flat flexible shoe styles (Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). Chambon et al., (2014) found that increased midsole support had similar results to cushioning footwear where an increased knee flexion moment can be seen, however, this could potentially be solely due to a greater footwear pitch also being seen in stability footwear. Shakoor et al., (2010) found that footwear with midsoles that are stiffer medially compared to laterally, such as those with medial arch support seen in stability footwear, shift load toward the medial compartment in individuals with OA. Patterson et al., (2020) found that in a healthy population, footwear with medial arch support shifted the GRF medially, reducing loading on the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and therefore may be feasible for offloading individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

As well as cushioning footwear, high-supportive footwear generally classed as stability footwear, often have an increased pitch at the heel compared to low-supportive counterparts. The high-supportive stability footwear has also been found to result in increased KFM (Sayer et al., 2018). Stability shoes are designed for runners and have a mix of cushioning and motion control which includes more rigid elevated aspects in the shoe for instance the medial arch

which prevents the foot from collapsing inwards (Barton et al., 2009). High-supportive shoes often have an increased tread at the heel compared to their low-supportive counterparts (Sayer et al., 2018). Following injury or surgery, stability in the knee is often reduced (Almekinders et al., 2004), however it seems that adding more stability or stiffness to footwear may not be the most beneficial for an active population with a compromised knee joint such as seen following meniscectomy.

Stable supportive footwear has typically been recommended by clinicians for people with knee OA to help stabilise the knee (Paterson et al., 2014). The effects of footwear and stability shoes on individuals following meniscectomy has not yet been looked at. Footwear with an increased pitch (raised heel in relation to the forefoot), specifically with a soft cushioned heel, have been used to aid in firstly reducing knee loading during impact tasks and secondly to aid in propulsion during running to enhance running economy with an added bounce from the increased soft pitch on the heel (Day and Hahn, 2019).

To summarise, non-invasive interventions such as footwear and insoles have been found previously to reduce knee loading during running (Lewinson et al., 2013). More recently, Starbuck et al., (2017) found that during running, whilst wearing lateral wedge footwear frontal plane knee loading was not reduced, highlighting that further research needs to be done on footwear to reduce knee loading during running. Individuals in young active populations sustain a sporting meniscal injury are likely to return to sport following treatment (Eberbach et al., 2018). Therefore, choosing the ideal trainer for the specific sports post-surgery could make a great difference when considering joint degeneration progression and could be used as a management tool. Reducing knee loads via non-surgical biomechanical treatment strategies is thus an appropriate treatment aim for people following meniscal surgery. Footwear is a promising avenue for self-management, therefore further research needs to be done to evaluate biomechanical outcomes from commonly commercially available trainers to understand how individuals following meniscectomy respond, which can then lead to a more systematic approach to understanding and identifying guidelines.

Stiffness of the footwear, particularly during running, has a large influence on fore-foot foot motion and therefore can influence running performance and injury risks (Stefanyshyn and Wannop, 2016). Hinman et al., (2013) found that increased medial stiffness caused an increase in medial knee loading in healthy individuals during walking which may in turn be even worse

for clinical populations, and therefore not be recommended following meniscectomy specifically in a young active population. Clinical OA guidelines recommend appropriate footwear for knee OA self-management, with some guidelines specifying shoes with supportive and cushioning features (National Clinical Guideline Centre., 2014; Fernandes et al., 2013). Currently it is unclear whether characteristics of cushioning, medial arch support or minimal properties have favourable or negative effects on knee loading in individuals following meniscectomy as this has not previously been researched.

2.13 Gaps in the literature

Radiographic evidence has been reported following meniscectomy, however the biomechanical effects have not been well documented, and therefore understanding knee joint loading in individuals following meniscectomy will provide a clearer picture to determine whether gait adaptations occur in early stages of rehabilitation and if alteration strategies can be implemented. In reviewing the literature, the external knee adduction moment, knee flexion moment and knee adduction angular impulse have been used as surrogate measures of knee loading and have been seen to clearly identify increased knee loading following meniscectomy (Bennell et al., 2011). Knee flexion moment needs to be analysed to understand the frontal and saggital plane knee joint loading (Asay et al., 2018). Despite the consideration that medial and lateral menisci properties of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004), there have been no previous biomechanical studies analysing the comparison between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. The lateral meniscus has been seen to play a more vital part in dynamic movements (Fox et al., 2015), therefore looking at the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy in isolation was highly important, specifically in relation to knee joint loading during dynamic tasks.

Evidence is limited when analysing post-meniscectomy outcomes during sporting tasks such as running, change of direction, and landing. Most studies focus on knee loading during walking and do not examine knee loading during sport-specific movements (Englund et al., 2003; Sturnieks et al., 2008; Thorlund et al., 2016). Assessing knee loading during sportspecific movements would reflect the types of movements sporting individuals would be required to perform when returning to sport. It is therefore not known if a change in the activity level changes the outcomes post-meniscectomy and whether a return to activity framework could be identified better with the understanding of the effect of high loads on a meniscectomy. A full picture of all the biomechanical and functional outcomes which are both linked to OA progression and other joint diseases should be drawn, including muscle activation, 3D movement analysis, strength measures, and psychological factors in individuals following meniscectomy.

Conservative treatments, including footwear, are designed to reduce medial knee loading which could improve clinical and biomechanical outcomes. Evidence has shown that the external knee adduction moment is reduced significantly when using lateral-wedge insoles (Jones et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2013). Whilst cushioning and stability footwear still shows mixed outcomes when looking at knee loading and whether the increased pitch of soft sole can aid in supporting the knee during walking or increase knee loading during dynamic tasks (Paterson et al., 2014; Lindenberg et al., 201; Kulmala et al., 2018). Footwear has been well researched in individuals with OA, however there is little consensus in the studies, and it is unclear which footwear modalities could reduce knee loading, specifically following meniscectomy. Footwear has also not been looked at in a post-meniscectomy population even though this could be a beneficial tool to help offload the knee and slow OA progression.

In conclusion, to the author's knowledge, only a few studies have investigated the effect of high impact loads as seen in competitive sports in individuals following meniscectomy including two studies looking at non-ecologically valid running for sporting individuals (Willy et al., 2016, Hall et al., 2014) one study looking at landing (Ford et al., 2011) and one study looking at a single leg hop (Hsu et al., 2016). To the author's knowledge, there has not been a study analysing the combination of balance, which is important with neuromuscular stability in the joint and muscle activation (to help support the joint) in following meniscectomy. Footwear and other alternative coping strategies, which may help offload the knee and in turn slow OA progression, have also not been covered for individuals following meniscectomy. Using a full approach including kinematics, kinetics, muscle activation, muscle strength, muscle co-contraction, self-reported outcomes, balance and footwear could show major implication for individuals following meniscectomy and give strategies and modalities to help slow if not offset degeneration in the joint, allowing these athletic individuals to return to competitive sport. This will be the first study to provide a holistic approach to understanding biomechanical, clinical, and self-reported outcomes in a sporting population post-meniscectomy.

Chapter 3 - **Overall Methodology** 3.1. Chapter Overview

The results from the literature review showed a varied methodology for studies associated with the biomechanical outcomes following a meniscectomy, where 18 studies investigated the biomechanical effects following meniscectomy, however, these were generally looking at walking tasks only (Jiang et al., 2019). These studies all varied in measurement techniques, equipment used, and type of individuals measured. Two studies that have investigated running, as a task, in individuals following meniscectomy, are not perceived as ecologically valid protocols as they were performed on treadmills or performed barefoot (Willy et al., 2017; Hall et al., 2017). Three studies have investigated sport-specific tasks including landing and jumping which align with the tasks in this thesis (Ford et al., 2011; Hsu et al., 2016; Willy and Davis, 2018). When conceptually looking at the individual following a meniscectomy it is necessary to ensure strength, muscle activation and biomechanical loading are within normal limits as these could be risk factors for future knee disorders (Sturnieks et al., 2008; Baltich et al., 2015; Ericsson et al., 2009). To the author's knowledge, no studies have examined all these aspects in combination following a meniscectomy and how these are all perceived to be a risk factor for knee OA. In this chapter, a repeatable methodology was established which was confirmed by the repeatability study in chapter 3.8.

3.2 Research Environment

Data collection took place at the Manchester Institute of Health and Performance (MIHP). To ensure data quality, a between-session repeatability assessment was undertaken (section 3.09)

A marker placement repeatability (chapter 3.09) was conducted which showed that all the values for the SEM were under 2° for the kinematics data highlighting a high repeatability between sessions. The SEM dictates the amount of variability in a test which is caused by measurement error which indicated that if the measurement outcome is not greater than the measurement error, although significant, the data may not show clinically meaningful results.

3.2.1 Three-dimensional (3D) capture of data

Three-dimensional (3D) kinematic motion data was collected using 28 Qualisys infra-red Oqus cameras at the MIHP (QTM Oqus300, Qualisys AB, Sweden) with a sampling rate of 250Hz (Figure 3.1). These were positioned around the running track and adjusted. The cameras were centred around four force platforms at the MIHP which were embedded into the floor, which had a sampling rate of 1500Hz. To collect the data positional markers are recorded by at least two cameras and redefined with their new 3D location in the global coordinate system (LAB system), which enables the storage of positional information that can be used to analyse the kinematics (Perry & Burnfield, 2010). Infra-red light reflects off of the retro-reflective markers back to the camera, which produces a point in each image to provide the 2D position of each marker. These 2D markers (bright spots) are then reconstructed to generate a 3D location in the global coordinate system (LAB system), which then allows trajectories to be formed from the markers (Kirtley et al., 2006). Each marker must be seen by at least 2 cameras for each frame at any point during the trial to provide a 3D location to be determined within the LAB coordinate system, which allows storage of the positional information that is used to analyse the kinematics (Perry and Burnfield, 2010). To allow the conversion of the given 2-dimensional (2D) image of the cameras into a 3-dimensional (3D) workspace, a spatial calibration is needed (section 3.2.2).



Figure 3.1: Running track at the MIHP showing 10 of the 28 cameras (top)

3.2.2 Force platform data

The ground reaction force which is used to calculate the kinetic outputs was measured with floor embedded force platforms (AMTI, Washington, USA) (Figure 3.2). The measurement of the ground reaction force was synchronised with the kinematic data to calculate the kinetic data such as moments. Before each trial, the force platforms were zeroed to remove noise and make sure the force that is applied is solely the force from the individuals, therefore any force that exceeds the body mass of the individual is an extra force that is applied to the body.



Figure 3.2: 60m running track with embedded force platforms (in the white box) and timing gates. White X indicates centre of the collection area and where L-frame is placed

3.2.3 Calibration

To collect accurate and reliable data, and to allow the conversion of the given 2-dimensional image of the cameras into a 3-dimensional workspace, a calibration is needed. The system is first calibrated statically by placing an L-frame (equipped with four markers along with the metal frame) (Figure 3.3), in the centre of the collection area on the second force platform from the bottom (marked with white X) (Figure 3.2). The static calibration identifies the orientation and position of each camera in relation to the other cameras and the global coordinates of the gait laboratory. The fixed markers of the L-frame were used to define the X and Y axis of the laboratory coordinate system. The positive X axis points forwards and the positive Y axis points to the left when facing forwards, which were aligned along the two sides of the force platform. When the X and Y have been identified, the positive Z axis can be established (upwards). The coordinate system was coincident with the force platforms by making sure the

L-frame is aligned with the edges of the force platform to synchronise the force and camera orientation and set the same origin for both which was ensured by using the clips on the L-frame, so that the origin of the force platforms could be identified accurately as the origin on the coordinate system to establish the correct X, Y orientation.



Figure 3.3: The calibration L-frame and T-shaped wand

Secondly, a dynamic calibration was performed to ensure that all motions within the measurement volume can be identified and captured. This was done with a T-shaped calibration wand (equipped with 2 markers at each end) (Figure 3.3), which was used to set the capture volume. The wand was randomly moved during the calibration in as many directions as possible around the test space ensuring that the volume between the floor and the highest point (roughly 2 m) were covered. The T-shaped wand was 601.6 mm in length and the calibration was set up for 120 s ensuring that all cameras could see the wand for a minimum of 500 frames.

The error of the calibration should be as low as possible, as the higher the residuals, the higher the inaccuracies involved in the results of the measurements. During the calibration, the standard deviation of the average residuals of the 3D marker points are analysed for every camera, whether each camera can see the calibration markers and then the average standard deviation for all cameras is calculated (Figure 3.4). This is known as a quality check for the

measured position of the markers (Qualysis., 2006). The calibration established the global coordinate system where the x, y, z coordinates of each marker at each sample point of time could be saved. Whereby x is the anterior/posterior, z the vertical and y the left/ right (medial/ lateral) axis

Camera re	sults					
Camera re Camera 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 25 26 27 28	sults X (mm) 19742.38 13805.64 10755.34 6573.34 52839.94 -1118.42 -3914.45 -4225.45 -8965.36 -112015.80 -13830.56 -14286.45 -8510.52 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -2730.72 -14286.45 -3588.06 -1380.36 -3588.06 -3588.06 -3588.06 -3398.06 -3398.06 -3398.06 -3398.06 -3399.29 -2397.88 -3300.31 1487.35	Y (mm) 122.52 -2102.41 -2000.43 -1922.79 -1922.401 -1937.89 -1937.89 -1937.89 -1937.89 -1937.48 -1937.75 -1934.46 -1937.75 -1934.46 -1937.75 -1934.46 -1937.75 -1934.46 -1934.20 -1934.80 -1934.	Z (mm) 2908.36 2869.77 2804.02 2780.71 2802.40 2838.11 2812.68 2785.45 2787.76 2808.60 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2849.00 2852.24 3552.24	Points 3515 1701 3183 639 1573 2255 2138 1456 2731 1301 2416 1085 3138 1664 2574 2574 2574 2574 2574 2574 2275 2075 1222 2275 2122 2275 271 1043 1032 669	Avg. residual (mm) 0.73311 0.71435 0.83174 0.71435 1.71435 1.71435 1.20132 0.89578 1.20132 0.85988 1.00394 0.85581 1.00394 0.85581 1.00394 0.85789 0.75789 0.85789 0	
Standard (deviation of w	and length:	0.72116 (mn 0:58:46			•

Figure 3.4: The standard deviation of measurement (circled in red) of all the cameras

3.2.4 3D Marker construction

Once the reflective marker has been identified the camera software QTM[©] software (v 2019.1) will look for the same marker in the next time frame. If a marker is found it will be joined to the former marker to form a trajectory. To ensure a smooth trajectory of each marker, uses a 3D tracking function with a buffer of 4-10 frames to predict the next location of the trajectory's marker. In this thesis the maximum frame gap, which specifies the number of frames allowing the joining of two trajectories, was set to 10 frames (42 ms). The calibration algorithms extract the camera position and orientation for each camera by evaluating the camera's view of the calibration wand during the calibration (QTM Manual). Although the system is highly accurate, the calibration algorithm may have (1) prediction error or the (2) maximum residual may be off centre which need to be accounted for.

1) Prediction error: To predict the location of the marker in the next frame a prediction area is calculated where the marker placement can be calculated from the previous

location if a marker has dropped out (Figure 3.5). The QTM guidelines (2011) stated that a prediction error of 30 mm would be most consistent to predict the location of the markers, which was also used in the current. If the prediction error value is set too high, the likelihood increases that jumpy motions within single trajectories are seen. Equally, the greater the deviation, the higher the chance for a cross-over swapping between two trajectories. If this parameter is set too small, division of trajectories can occur, which might result in many more trajectories than markers.



Figure 3.5: Prediction error (red ball = marker, arrow = prediction and blue ball = deviation) (QTM, 2011)

2) Maximum residual: The maximum residual function has been implemented together with the prediction error to ensure the continuation of the trajectory and sets the limit to the distance from the final location of the 3D point. If the value is too large, it can slow down the calculation and can cause a merger of 3D points (QTM, 2011). The default value of the maximum residual is 10 mm, however, due to the good visibility, it has been set in this thesis to 6 mm. The correct location in 3D space and force platform was ensured by using a CalTester which is a quality assurance tool for validating the laboratory by verifying the spatial synchronisation of the motion capture system and forces.

3.2.5 Retro-reflective marker set up and definitions of segments

For the 3-dimensional (3D) motion analysis collection, 44 retro-reflective markers were used which each had a diameter of 14 mm and were attached both on the lower limb and trunk using double sided hypoallergenic tape (Figure 3.6). The reflective marker itself is very light to reduce the skin movement artefact. All markers were placed by the principal researcher on the subject by palpating the anatomical landmarks (incisura jugularis (IJ), Spinous process of Thoracic Vertebrae 2 (T2), Spinous process of Thoracic Vertebrae 10 (T10), ASIS, PSIS, Illiac Crest, medial and lateral femoral epicondyles placed above the femoral condyle on the joint line, medial and lateral malleolus and the 1st, 2^{nd,} and 5th metatarsophalangeal joint (Met)).



Figure 3.6: Marker Placement

At least three reflective makers are necessary on a segment (limb) to define the position and orientation in the 3D space. Cappozzo, Catani, Leardini, Benedetti, & Croce, (1996) investigated the number of markers needed to define one segment and showed that four markers represented the most advisable solution. To track a segment three markers should be identified by the cameras (Cappozzo et al., 1996), however, four were used in this thesis for all segments in case one marker could not be seen (trunk, pelvis, thigh, shank, and foot) adding some redundancy to the collection. As the markers are placed on the skin and not directly on the bone, the position of the marker is estimated and associated with the underlying bone, which causes instrumental errors due to the position error in the reconstructed coordinate system relative to the global frame and skin artefacts caused by the movement of the skin relative to the bone (Cappozzo et al, 1995). Movement artefacts can take place due to the skin and fatty soft tissues moving over the underlying bone, which can cause significant errors within the study (Cappazzo et al., 1996), therefore marker placement and marker set up are important. There are several different marker set ups for 3D motion capture with the most common being Helen Hayes, Plug-in gait and six-degree-of-freedom (Collins et al., 2009, Capozzo et al., 1995). The most commonly used marker set for clinical application is a variation of the Helen Hayes based marker set (Collins et al., 2009). The Helen Hayes was developed for low resolution systems to have few markers which are placed on the bony landmarks and constraining joint motion to three rotational degrees-of-freedom. The standard plug-in gait also uses fewer markers, and for instance in the foot model calculates the whole foot movement rather than splitting it up into segments which causes greater error (Paterson et al., 2017).

These constraints introduce errors to joint angle calculations, including the sharing of markers between segments can also increase error and decrease the independent segment calculations. The six-degree-of-freedom marker set such as the CAST marker set allows rotational and translational axes (vertical, medial/lateral and anterior/posterior) to be calculated as well and reducing the unnecessary error by tracking the individual segments with the application of clusters (Cereatti et al., 2007). To overcome these challenges Cappozzo, Catani, Croce, & Leardini, (1995) developed the calibration anatomical systems technique (CAST) which is a six-degree-of-freedom marker set which provides six variables for each segment to describe its position and orientation. The CAST set up provides information about the origin of *x*,*y*,*z* and the rotation about the principal axes for each joint segment (sagittal, frontal and transversal). The CAST marker set up has been shown to be valid and repeatable method, which attempts to minimise skin-movement artefacts by attaching markers to the centre of segments rather than single markers close to the joints and thus has been applied in this thesis (Collins, Ghoussayni, Ewins, & Kent, 2009; Schmitz et al., 2016; Żuk & Pezowicz, 2015).

3.2.6 Surface Electromyography (EMG)

Electromyographic (EMG) data were collected using the Delsys EMG system with wireless surface electrodes (Delsys, 16 Channel Trigno EMG System, Boston, MA). The Trigno control panel was used to synchronise the electrodes to the hub which was synchronised with the Qualisys software. The sampling frequency was set to 2000 Hz for the surface EMG, as it has been stated that the sampling frequency should be set to at least double that of the frequency that is being measured (Millette, 2013). This was then synchronised with the Qualisys system through the trigger. To ensure high accuracy of the EMG signal, the preparation of the skin and placement was in accordance with the SENIAM guidelines (Konrad., 2005). Based on SENIAM recommendations, bony landmarks were located and the distance between landmarks taken to identify and mark with a pen on the muscle belly. The placement did, however, vary between individuals as each participant is slightly different and therefore after the guidelines were followed, a submaximal isometric contraction determined whether the correct location had been marked in the first instance. To prepare the skin for the electrodes, any hair was shaven to allow full skin contact. The shaven area was then rubbed with an abrasive gel and then wiped with alcohol to allow no dirt or dead skin cells to get in the way. The wireless electrodes were then placed on the skin using double-sided hypoallergenic tape, in the direction of the muscle fibres (Nishihara & Isho, 2012).

The EMG electrodes were placed on the upper. On the thigh the electrodes were placed on the vastus medialis (VM) and lateralis (VL), biceps femoris (BF) and semitendinosus (ST) (Figure 3.7). The vastus medialis electrode placement was placed at 80% on the line between ASIS and the joint space in front of the anterior border of the medial epicondyle. The vastus lateralis was placed at 2/3 on the line from the ASIS to the lateral epicondyle. The biceps femoris was placed at 50% on the line between the ischial tuberosity and the lateral epicondyle. The semitendinosus was placed at 50% on the line between the ischial tuberosity and the medial epicondyle. These muscles have been chosen because they play the main role in movement and stability of the knee. To avoid additional artefacts, the electrodes were fixed in place with bandages.



Figure 3.7: The EMG electrode placement on the thigh

The magnitude of the EMG signal can be influenced by many factors such as muscle length, skin contact, movement artefact, cross-talk of muscles (De Luca, 1997). To control for outside factors from the data, the EMG signal was normalised to a reference contraction allowing for comparisons between different muscles (French et al., 2015). The SENIAM guidelines recommend normalising the EMG signal by using a maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) as the reference contraction (Merletti, 1999; Burden, 2010), which expresses the task EMG as a percentage of the maximal activation capacity of the muscle (Burden, 2010). Alternatively, to the MVC normalisation, dynamic normalisation methods exist such as the mean or peak normalisation. The dynamic normalisation method expresses the task EMG as a percentage of the same EMG signal (Burden, 2010; Burden, Trew, & Baltzopoulos, 2003). Although to date, the MVC normalisation method is the most commonly applied normalisation method, no consensus has been reached about which method is the most appropriate normalisation method. Several studies investigated different normalisation methods and showed a higher intra-subject variability and reduced sensitivity of the MVC normalisation method compared with dynamic normalisation methods (Albertus-Kajee et al.,

2011; Balshaw & Hunter, 2012; Burden & Bartlett, 1999; Burden et al., 2003; Chapman, Vicenzino, Blanch, Knox, & Hodges, 2010; French et al., 2015). In contrary, the MVC normalisation method demonstrated high repeatability (Bolgla & Uhl, 2007) and high sensitivity compared to dynamic normalisation methods (Benoit, Lamontagne, Cerulli, & Liti, 2003). Burden (2010) literature review revealed that the mean and peak normalisation techniques reduced the inter-subject variability more than any other normalisation technique (Burden, 2010). Therefore, in this thesis the maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) normalisation approach was used with a hand-held isometric contraction method as the isokinetic dynamometer was in a different room meaning separate software and set up would have had to be put in place (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Normalisation strategies using handheld dynamometry to collect MVC for each muscle. Left = Quadriceps, Right = Hamstrings

For all MVC participants were asked to contract maximally against a resistance for three seconds. This maximal contraction was repeated three times with a five second rest between contractions to allow for muscle fatigue recovery, allow for a 3:5 work to rest ratio. The quadriceps MVC was measured first which involved the individuals sitting on the plinth with their leg at the ankle strapped to the fixed leg of the plinth at 90° whilst holding on to the back of the plinth as this was the angle where the leg was able to comfortably produce the most force without the strap slipping up the leg. They were then asked to push (kick out) against the strap as hard as possible for three seconds. This was then repeated for the hamstring muscles, where the individuals were asked to lay on the plinth face down, the back of the plinth was raised, the leg was strapped to the raised back at 30° knee flexion and the individual was then asked to pull their leg towards their head as hard as possible without lifting their hips as this was established to be the range where the hamstrings produce most force (Beyer et al., 2019).

3.3 Data collection procedures

The static and dynamic tasks involved, balance, several dynamic movement tasks and strength measurements. There was no randomisation of the tasks as the order of the tasks did not affect the results of the thesis, therefore the more dynamic tasks which were more likely to fatigue the individuals were done last for each participant. The participants were always asked to start with filling out the questionnaires, then the strength measurement, balance task, drop landing, walking, running, and change of direction to finish. There was as much rest between each task as was needed for each individual.

3.3.1 Questionnaires

3.3.1.1 Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

A variety of impairments could lead to altered gait, including abnormal psychosocial factors (Becker et al., 2004; Sturnieks et al., 2011; Adern et al., 2011). Kinesiophobia is defined as "an irrational and debilitating fear of physical movement and activity resulting from a feeling of vulnerability to painful injury or re-injury" (Kori and Todd, 1990). Kinesiophobia causes individuals to avoid behaviours that may potentially elicit pain or re-injury (Tichonova et al., 2016). The injury can create feelings of uncertainty and fear of how far the injury will affect future function (Österberg et al., 2013). This causes the individual's negative attitudes toward the body and participating in daily activities and sports which can cause gait adaptations to occur and aid in compensatory movements to be established (Chmielewski et al., 2008). Worse knee confidence is also described in people with knee OA and associated with higher pain and greater knee instability (Skou et al., 2013). Knee OA is highly prevalent after meniscectomy (Becker et al., 2004; Sturnieks et al., 2011), and factors such as knee confidence and kinesiophobia play a key role in those recovering from injury (Chmielewski et al., 2008). The Tampa scale of Kinesiophobia (Miller et al., 1991) was used to establish if there was any fear of movement or fear or re-injury. The Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia is a 17-item scale with scores ranging from 17 to 68 points, which uses a 4-point Likert scale, measuring the fear of movement or re-injury. The greater the value on the scale, the greater the kinesiophobia level was.

3.3.1.2 Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score

The Knee injury and Osteoarthritis outcome score (KOOS) has been used to see how an individual is feeling about their knee and to identify if there is a link about the individual's perception of their knee and the ability to undertake daily activities and the development of OA (Roos et al., 2003; Collins et al., 2016).KOOS score identifies if the individuals have pain, show symptoms and whether their quality of life has decreased which all may lead to compensatory strategies following surgery. Scores range from 0 to 100 with a score of 0 indicating the worst possible knee symptoms and 100 indicating no knee symptoms. To calculate each section $100 - \frac{Mean \ score \ (P1-P7) \times 100}{4}$ is used with the correct question numbers depending on the number of questions in each subsection.

3.3.1.3 Physical activity survey

The physical activity survey looked at the level of physical activity the individuals were preinjury, pre-surgery and post-surgery (Appendix 2.2). The physical activity questionnaire analyses the type of sport they were participating in, how many times a week and at what level. The three stages of the physical activity questionnaire were analysed to look at the changes in physical activity due to the meniscectomy and their return to activity level. The physical activity questionnaire was chosen to provide an in-depth assessment of type of sport and level of participation/ competition before and after injury and after surgery. The Tegner scale (Tegner, 1929) which is normally used assess the current activity levels and does not reflect all sports that are done.

3.3.1.4 Rehabilitation questionnaire

This questionnaire was given to individuals post meniscectomy to highlight time since surgery, time of rehabilitation, type of rehabilitation and intensity of rehabilitation (Appendix 2.3). The rehabilitation questionnaire gave of the standard of rehabilitation, including the most standard rehabilitation exercises following knee surgery and whether individuals were tasked to do these. This was to give an idea as to how good and thorough their rehabilitation was.

3.3.2 Isometric strength assessment

Following the questionnaires, the participants were asked to perform a maximum isometric strength measurement in a sitting position on an isokinetic dynamometer (Biodex System 3

PRO, Biodex Medical System, New York, NY, USA) with a sampling frequency of 120 Hz. Each participant was secured to the testing chair with a chest and pelvic belt (Figure 3.9). The participants were strapped and measured up to a chair to allow them to sit comfortably and safely to avoid any injuries. The knee joint centre was aligned directly with the pin of the lever arm of the dynamometer.



Figure 3.9: Biodex isokinetic dynamometer during isometric strength testing

The participants were asked to perform a maximal force (85 degrees hip flexion) with a knee flexion angle of 60° which was found to be the range where knee flexors produced their maximum capacity (Murray et al., 1980). The extension arm on the isokinetic dynamometer was attached 1 cm proximal to the malleoli of the ankle to the dominant shank in line with previous recommendations (Brown & Weir, 2001). Prior to the test, a warm-up session of four submaximal isometric quadriceps contractions were performed to habituate the participants to the test equipment and to ensure that the participants were warmed up. The familiarisation and warm up sessions were performed in accordance with previous recommendations (Brown & Weir, 2001). Following the familiarisation trials, participants were asked to perform maximal isometric contraction of the quadriceps. This involved a maximal contraction, pushing upwards against the lever arm at a 60° knee bend for five seconds. This was repeated five times with a break of 20 s between each test. Concentric and eccentric strength of the quadriceps was also measured in the repeatability study. To set up the dynamometer prior to starting the trials, participants were asked to move their leg through the full available range of motion (ROM) from 90 degrees knee flexion to maximum knee extension pushing as hard as they can. To familiarise the participants to the movements, they were asked to perform five submaximal incremental repetitions of knee extension and flexion prior to the performance of maximal efforts. Following the familiarisation, the individuals were asked to start the trial which, involved the participants to push their leg upwards (concentric) with as much force as they can against the lever arm and then continuing to push upwards (eccentric) with as much force as they can still pushing against the lever arm at the speed of 60 deg/s. Each maximum torque measurement was performed three times with a break of 60s between the tests. The isokinetic protocol was not used in the main study as increased error could be seen in the isokinetic concentric/eccentric strength assessment in the repeatability study and therefore only the isometric toque was measured. The individuals also found the isokinetic task was much more difficult as they could not produce maximum muscle contractions at full knee extension and often needed help with releasing the lever arm in extension. Therefore, this protocol was also deemed unfeasible for individuals following a meniscectomy.

3.3.3 Y-Balance test

The Y balance test is part of the star excursion balance test (SEBT), which is an assessment to investigate dynamic postural control (Hertel, Miller, & Denegar, 2010; Kinzey & Armstrong, 1998). The reaching direction was reduced to three directions (the anterior, posterior-medial, posterior-lateral) (Figure 3.10) as these have been shown to be reliable and efficient in measuring dynamic postural control in individuals with knee injuries whilst challenging the muscles around the knee identifying neuromuscular control (Coughlin et al., 2012; Chimera & Warren, 2016). Participants were asked to maintain a single-leg stance on the participants assessed leg whilst reaching forwards with the opposite leg as far as possible along the chosen line with the most distal part of their foot. Participants were given as many practice trials as necessary until the individual was comfortable with the task (Chung-Hoon and Tracy, 2015). The individual was asked to keep their upper body upright and make sure the heel from the stance leg remained on the ground and keep their arms out to the side to help with balance. Participants were asked to complete three successful trials for both legs. If participants lost balance and put their foot down, they were just asked to stop the trial and repeat. The

participants completed the test with their dominant leg for the healthy controls and the noninjured leg for the individuals following meniscectomy first and then repeated with their nondominant for healthy controls and injured leg in the individuals following meniscectomy. The Y-balance task was performed on the force platforms using 3D motion capture as centre of pressure (COP) was considered as a variable which was why the task was performed on the force platform to see whether there was a shift in the COP in relation to the foot which was taken from the 3D motion capture. Measuring the reach distance with the 3D motion capture system was chosen over the standard Y-balance rig as foot contact was necessary on the force platforms to measure the COP which would have been affected by the lever arms of the Ybalance rig.



Figure 3.10: Y-balance task on the force platform

3.3.4 Drop landing

For the drop landing, the participant was asked to step off a 30 cm box and land with the same leg in a bent position onto a mark placed 10 cm away from the box. A 30 cm box was used where the intention was to examine a more sports specific landing. The 30 cm box was chosen as previous literature has stated that anything under 30cm does not represent sporting tasks (Zhang et al., 2000) and with increased height, there is a greater chance of injury (Yeow et al., 2010; Ali et al., 2014). The 30cm box was chosen in the current thesis to allow the task to be sport specific without causing any further risk of injury. The individuals were asked to land with a bent leg to cushioning the landing and prevent any sudden pain to occur on the affected knee in the individuals following meniscectomy. The participants were required to hold the

position for three seconds without putting the elevated leg down. A three second hold was chosen to look at the individual's stability and capability to perform the task adequately, as if individuals fell over straight after landing, it showed a lack of capability and the individuals should have been able to perform this task adequately with the idea of returning to sport following meniscectomy. The participant was not cued as to what to do with the upper body as the movement should be as natural as possible and most individuals chose to hold their arms out to the side for additional balance. Participants were given time to familiarise and ensure they were comfortable with the tasks. The uninjured leg was tasked to go first for individuals following meniscectomy, and the dominant leg was tasked to go first for the healthy controls. Participants were asked to complete three successful trials for both legs. If they lost balance and put their foot down before the three seconds, they were just asked to stop the trial and repeat.

3.3.5 Walking

Participants were asked to walk at a self-selected speed on the running track. Although gait changes can be seen with altered walking speed including increased stride length and knee moments (Ardestani et al., 2016), which is why self-selected speed was chosen as the results in this thesis were meant to be individualised and specific to what the participants natural walking speed, to see whether there was a reduced walking speed following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls. Han et al., (2018) found that after a total knee replacement walking speed was still reduced compared to healthy controls which was linked to lower knee moments. For example, when you consider limb length as a small person may struggle to walk the same speed as a very tall person, therefore self-selected speed was chosen for the individuals. The participants were asked to walk through two timing-gates (Witty timer, Microgate, Bolzano, Italy) which were placed 6 m apart over a 30 m running track. Five successful trials were collected at their self-selected speed $\pm 5\%$; each trial included left and right foot contacts. A successful trial required a full foot contact in the stance phase for each leg, without an overlap of the foot between force plate and the track. Unsuccessful trials were determined when less than three markers per segment were visible, speed changes were seen during the trials, or a partial/double contact with the force platforms occurred.

3.3.6 Running

Similarly, as for the walking trials, the participants were asked to run at a self-selected speed along a 60 m running track (with embedded force plates). Initially, five runs at their self-selected speed were collected to identify their average self-selected speed and the desired speed within $\pm 5\%$. Five successful trials were then collected, with both left and right full foot contacts for the stance phase. A successful trial included a full contact phase on a force platform for each leg, without an overlap of the foot between force plate and the track. Rest was given between each trial or as much as is necessary. Unsuccessful trials were ones whereby less than three markers per segment were visible, speed changes were seen during the trials, or a partial/double contact with the force platforms occurred

3.3.7 Ninety degree change of direction

The timing gaits were moved to include a third set allowing the approach time and exit time to be recorded. These were set at 6 m and 4 m (Figure 3.11).



Figure 3.11: 90 degrees change of direction approach and exit distance

The participants were asked to perform several practice runs, to determine the correct starting point to gain force platform foot contact and to fully understand the task. The participants were asked to perform one maximal effort of the change of direction task running as fast as possible or comfortable to the last force platform, then run through a series of cones (placed at 90

degrees) (Figure 3.12). For the trials, the participants were asked to approach the force platform at 80% of maximum running speed and perform the change of direction movement on the force platform, then run through the final cones placed 90 degrees to the side. The running speed was chosen to be the most valid in terms of dynamic competitive sports such as football where individuals would run up to an opponent and change direction at speed. This is also the speed where most injuries are likely to occur. The participants were tasked to change direction through cones at 90°. Ninety degrees was chosen as most studies look at 45, 90, 135 and 180 degrees, however 90 was chosen as the most common angle individuals change direction whilst still being a challenge for the individuals and without causing too much of a 'twist' on the knee joint (Rouissi et al., 2017). Participants were asked to perform five successful trials on both the right and left leg. A trial was successful when a full foot contact was produced with a clear run up before and push through after. An unsuccessful change of direction included when individuals missed the force platform completely, miss-stepped on the force platform creating a hop and ran too slow.



Figure 3.12: 90 degrees change of direction at 80% speed

3.4 Data processing

The following data processing was undertaken once the individual had completed all the tasks.

3.4.1 Kinematics and kinetics

All retroreflective markers were labelled using Qualisys 2.19 Track Manager software (QTMTM), where the markers were identified, checked for irregularities, labelled and digitised.

Each trial was cut to include one step either side of the force platform. All successful trials were then exported to a C3D file which was processed in Visual 3D (V3D) software v6 (C-motion, inc., USA). To delete any unwanted noise in the kinetic and kinematic data, a Butterworth low pass filter with a cut-off frequency of 12 Hz was used as this was seen to be the most adequate frequency for both kinematics and kinetics during both static and dynamic tasks to be able to identify actual events without noise from the data and not lose too much data by over smoothing. It has been shown that using different cut-off frequencies for different studies could have a significant effect on the data, specifically the joint moments, and therefore, Kristanslund et al., (2012) recommended that the kinematic and kinetic data should be processed with the same filter.

In V3D, a six degrees of freedom model was adopted, which is made up of the collection of rigid segments that translates to the subject's body segment. Therefore, the height and mass of each participant were recorded and entered to obtain subject-specific segmental inertia parameters to enable accurate and individual analysis for the moments and forces. The position and orientation of each segment were created by defining the proximal and distal joint locations and radius of each segment which allowed each skeletal segment to be created (Figure 3.13). The anatomical markers were identified for each segment, the tracking markers were then highlighted, and the x-y plane of the segment coordinate system was defined to allow accurate tracking of the segments. The joint centres were then calculated which was used to join the segments together and calculate the angles between these segments.



Figure 3.13: QTM raw static model (left) and Visual3D full segment model (right)

3.4.2 Definition of the segments 3.4.2.1 Trunk segment

To define the trunk segment, markers were positioned on the incisura jugularis (IJ), the spinous process of the Thoracic Spine (T2, T10 vertebrae) allowing a 3D model to be created as the markers are placed anterior and posterior of the body (Armand et al., 2014). In the 3D analysis, which in this case was Visual3D v6 (C-Motion Inc., Washington, USA), which is a premier biomechanics analysis tool for measuring movement and force data. The thorax segment was created by using the IJ as the orientation with an anterior orientation with the T2 as the proximal point and the T10 as the distal point. To create the thorax the depth was also set to 0.1 (Figure 3.14) with the tracking markers being marked as the IJ, T2 and T10.



Figure 3.14: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the trunk

3.4.2.2 Pelvis segment

The pelvis segment was defined by positioning the markers on the predefined anatomical landmarks of the anterior-superior and posterior-superior iliac spin (ASIS & PSIS) (Figure 3.15). Additionally, a marker was placed on each side of the iliac crest in the case one of the markers, generally the ASIS could not be tracked. Within Visual 3D the standard CODA pelvis was used with the ASIS and PSIS as the calibration and tracking markers with the hip joint centre being calculated through the following calculation:

• 0.36*ASIS_Distance, -0.19*ASIS_Distance, -0.3*ASIS_Distance (ASIS_Distance is the distance between the ASIS of both sides)

This estimation is based on the established prediction method of Bell et al. (1990) which has been recommended for the use in motion analysis due to the small and unbiased errors (Leardini et al., 1999).



Figure 3.15: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the pelvis

3.4.2.3 Thigh segment

For the thigh, the calibration markers were placed on the lateral and medial sides of the segments. The thigh was defined by the HIP which was created by the pelvis segment and the femoral epicondyles on each leg (R_LKNEE, R_MKNEE). These locations were identified by palpating the segment and following the joint line until the joint centre has been identified between the femur and the tibia. To ensure that the markers were placed on the true knee axis, the participants were asked to squat, and the marker placement was visually checked on the computer after the static calibration has taken place. The tracking markers for the thigh were attached with clusters which each had 4 markers mounted on a rigid plastic plate which was strapped to the side of the segment. Extra elastic bandages were wrapped around the clusters to minimise movement. The position of the clusters were marked with a pen around each corner, to ensure that there was no movement of the cluster during the trials and if movement did occur then the markers were repositioned, straps tightened and a new static collected (Figure 3.16).



Figure 3.16: This shows thigh marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the thigh

3.4.2.4 Shank segment

For the shank, the calibration markers were placed on the lateral and medial bony landmarks of thee knee and ankle. The shank is defined by the knee segment and the malleolus (R_LMAL, R_MMAL). These locations were identified by palpating the segment and following the joint line until the joint centre has been identified on the bony landmarks. The tracking markers for the shank were attached with clusters which each had 4 markers mounted on rigid plastic plate which was strapped to the side of the segment. Extra elastic bandages were wrapped around the clusters to avoid as little movement as possible, particularly when applying extra load (Figure 3.17). The position of the clusters were marked with pen around each corner, to ensure that there is no movement of the cluster during the trials and if movement does occur then the markers are repositioned, straps tightened and a new static standing condition collected.



Figure 3.17: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the shank

3.4.2.5 Foot segment

The foot was tracked with both markers on the shoe and markers on the foot. Previous literature data was only collected barefoot as this is simplest and most accurately tracks the foot segment, however typically, activities of daily living and physical activity are performed while wearing shoes (Bishop et al., 2013). It has been shown that solely tracking the motion of shoe-mounted markers does not indicate the movement of the foot inside the shoe (Stacoff et al., 2001). Due to this, it is essential to consider the segments of the shoe with the added complexity of the foot, rather than just the shoe or foot in isolation. This would allow the foot to remain the major factor determining the kinematics, however, the shoe changes the basic assumptions of the segments (Bishop et al., 2013). Four markers were attached to the test shoes with a wand cluster attached to the calcaneus of the foot. These were either taped or glued to the shoe to allow as little movement as possible. On each shoe one marker was placed on the heel (calcaneus), one marker on the proximal head of the 1st and 5th metatarsal bone and one marker was placed distally on the metatarsal head of the 2nd metatarsal (Figure 3.18). The markers were kept on the shoe to keep as much of the structural integrity as possible, so the individuals could move as comfortable as they would in their day-to-day trainers. A calcaneus cluster was also attached to the skin of the foot through a hole in the shoe to help track the exact movement of the rearfoot, however, this was not used in the end as the markers came loose from many individuals due to sweat. The segment was created with the 1st and 5th metatarsophalangeal joint of the metatarsal (R_TOE_5_MET, R_TOE_1_MET) and the malleolus markers (R_LMAL, R_MMAL) with the cluster as the tracking markers. A virtual foot was put in place to be aligned with the shank to set the ankle joint angle to zero. The virtual foot was created instead of relating the joint angle to the static trial as during the motion trials the orientation of the segments constantly change which may vary from the orientation of the static segment and therefore the analysis of the motion trials would not be accurate.



Figure 3.18: This shows marker placement and model on Visual 3D for the foot

3.4.2.6 Virtual lab

With the lab coordinate axis having a positive and negative direction, there was a need to create a Virtual Lab which allowed data to be collected in both directions rather than just in the direction of the origin. The virtual lab was created by using landmarks such as the Lab Z direction (which had an offset of Z axis by 0.1) as the proximal joint centre and the Lab origin as the distal lab centre with a Radius of 0.001 (Figure 3.19). The Pelvis Lateral Projected landmark was created from the lab origin, lab orientation and pelvis and then used in the Virtual Lab segment as the Extra Target to define Orientation. The virtual lab coordinate system ensured that the data would remain consistent whether the individual went up or down the laboratory.



Figure 3.19: This shows model on Visual 3D for the Virtual lab

3.4.3 Definition of timing events

To identify different tasks and create the ability to analyse these tasks with different calculations, tags were created. Automatic gait events were then created to identify the start and finish points of the analysis (Figure 3.20). Right and left heel strike (RHS/LHS) and right/left toe off (RTO/LTO) were the events created on V3D to identify the correct moment where foot contact starts and stops within the stance phase. Foot contact was defined at the first instance the foot touches the ground, whether it is heel strike or mid-foot strike or fore-foot strike. Over the force platform, foot contact occurs at the instance where the first force is produced under the foot. Toe off occurs at the last instance the foot is still in contact with the ground and on the force platform, this occurs at the last point force is produced under the foot.

During walking and running the kinematics were calculated taking into account the whole gait cycle included swing phase, which therefore was calculated from heel strike to next stride heel strike, for example from RHS to RHS. For the kinetics foot contact on the force platform was used for the analysis, which was identified with the events right/left on (RON/LON) and right/left off (ROFF/LOFF). The foot contact was based on the threshold of the vertical force. As soon as force was applied on to the force platform, foot contact was established and at toe/off the last frame was used where vertical force was being produced (Figure 3.20). The foot contact during the change of direction task for the kinematics and kinetics data calculations were established from the events where the foot first hit the last force platform (CUT_ON_R/CUT_ON_L) to when the foot was leaving the last force platform (CUT_OFF_R/CUT_OFF_L). For the drop landing the kinematics were calculated from the moment the individual had contact with the force platform (RHS/LHS) and for the kinetics (RON/LON) until maximum knee flexion was reached in the trial (Right_max_knee_flex, Left_max_knee_flex).





Figure 3.20: Events during running, 90-degree change of direction and drop landing

For walking and running data was analysed during the stance phase which was further divided into early and late stance. The data was time normalised to 101 points throughout the whole gait cycle for walking and running. The first peak and second peaks during walking and running were analysed for the kinematics and kinetics to highlight the loading phase as well as the whole propulsion phase (Figure 3.21). During walking the stance phase is stated to be the first 60-65% of the gait cycle. When calculating the angles the first and second peaks were calculated taking this into account, meaning that the loading phase is the 0-40% and the propulsion phase is the last 40-60% of gait. For the moments as these are taking into account the GRF and force platform contact, these stance phase is split 50-50% for impact loading and propulsion (Kirtley et al., 2006). There is a difference between kinematics and kinetics as in the kinematics swing phase is included during the later part of the gait cycle which is not being analysed, however the moments were only calculated through stance phase. During running the stance phase is the first 40% (Figure 3.21). To calculate the angles for running, the 0-20% were still used at the loading phase and the 20-40% were used as the propulsion phase.





Figure 3.21: The stance phases during walking and running, identifying early stance (loading) and late stance (propulsion): Source https://www.kintec.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/runninggait-1024x375.png

The compute model based data on function Visual 3D was used to create angles, moments, powers, forces and centre of pressure. For the joint angles, the segment was chosen starting at the top of the body for example pelvis for the pelvic angle used the pelvis as the segment and virtual lab as the reference segment in the compute model based data function in Visual 3D. Then the hip used the thigh as the segment and the pelvis as the reference segment. The knee used the shank as the segment and the right thigh as the reference and the ankle used the virtual foot as the segment and the shank as the reference.

Inverse dynamics were used to calculate the ankle, knee and hip external moments using the proximal segment for the calculation. These are calculated as the product of the magnitude of the vertical ground reaction force vector (GRF) and the distance from the joint center of rotation to the through which that force acts (Lau et al., 2018). The moments were calculated with the force and motion data along with the inertial properties of the limb and the angular and linear velocities of the segments where the origin of the knee joint centre was defined as the midpoint between medial and lateral landmarks of the segments. The joint moments and force data were normalised to body mass to ensure that the observed differences are related to the physical characteristics and task rather than the body mass (Andriacchi, Natarajan, & Hurwitz, 2005). Analysis methodologies, mainly look at peaks in the curves or quantified differences at each time point of the movement cycles, however this practice has been shown to result in type I error. Statistical parametric mapping (SPM) allows for the comparison of entire movement cycles, reducing the likelihood of errors in the reporting of statistical inferences. SPM requires an identical number of cases and controls to perform the analysis, and therefore, could not be used in the current thesis. Additionally, looking at the peaks could be easily compared to previous research rather than SPM.

After all the correct calculations have taken place, an automated pipeline was created to export the data to an ASCII file where the values were checked in Microsoft Excel where the individual subject and sample curves were plotted. For this the Pipeline Parameters were set to choose the location where to save the data, the Active File was chosen to be the task and then all the angles, moments, KAAI, powers and force data were exported to the right location.

3.5 EMG processing

The following data processing was undertaken once the individual had completed all the tasks.

All Delsys EMG wireless electrodes were attached to the quadriceps and hamstrings and were collected simultaneously with a trigger through Qualisys 2.19 Track Manager software (QTMTM), where the electrodes were identified and then the signal was checked for irregularities. Each trial was cut to include one step either side of the force platform. All successful trials were then exported to a C3D file which was processed in Visual 3D (V3D) software v6 (C-motion, inc., USA) and Excel.

Electromyography is inevitably affected by noise of the surroundings and other tissue movement; therefore it needs to be filtered to the point that the data is clear enough, without

reducing any of the results (Aschero et al., 2010).To delete any unwanted noise generally a Butterworth Bandpass filter needs to be applied, however the system used in this study (Delsys) does this automatically whilst collecting data with the ACDC.

Following the bandpass filtering the EMG signal should be assumed to be clear with reduced levels of noise. The data was then full wave rectified and smoothed (low-pass, 4th order, zero-phase-lag Butterworth filter with a 15-Hz cut off frequency), producing a waveform which is easily analysable (Ervilha et al., 2012; Delsys, 2016). Normalising the EMG signal was done, following the SEMIAN guidelines by using an MVC as a reference contraction.

3.6 Primary outcome measures 3.6.1 Kinetics 3.6.1.1 EKAM

The peak EKAM was defined as the maximum peak adduction moment during the either the early stance (1st peak) or late stance (2nd peak) (Figure 3.22). During walking there are two peaks in the EKAM, the 1st peak can be found in the early stance which was determined as the loading phase (0–50%) and the 2nd peak in the late stance which was determined as the propulsion phase (50–100%) (Thorp et al., 2006).



Figure 3.22: An example EKAM curve during walking indicating the early (1st peak) and late (2nd peak) stance phases
To calculate the moments for running, the 1^{st} and 2^{nd} peak were split between initial contact and loading throughout the stance. The initial impact loading took place between 0-20% of stance and the loading throughout stance was calculated as the peak between 20-100% of the stance phase (Figure 3.23).



Figure 3.23: This graph shows the EKAM during running indicating the early (1st peak) and late (2nd peak) stance phases of loading

To calculate the moments for the drop landing, the peak value was taken for the whole stance phase as this was calculated to maximum knee flexion and therefore, did not need to be split any further (Figure 3.24).



Figure 3.24: This graph shows the peak EKAM during drop landing

To calculate the moments for change of direction, the peak value was taken for the initial 50% of stance as this was of main interest when looking at knee loading as the individuals land on the force platform and initiates the movement into the opposite direction which generally occurs within the first 50% of the task rather than just looking at the point of maximum knee flexion as loading at this point may be different. This was chosen as the initial impact and movement into the opposite direction is where most injuries normally occur (Figure 3.25).



Figure 3.25: This graph shows the peak EKAM during change of direction in the first 50% of stance

3.6.1.2 KFM

Knee flexion moment (KFM) is used to highlight knee loading at the patellofemoral joint (Sturnieks et al., 2011). The KFM was calculated at the same time as the EKAM with the inverse dynamics looking at the maximum peak in early stance (1st peak) or late stance (2nd peak). During walking this was split 50-50% between early (1st peak) and late stance (2nd peak) (Figure 3.26).



Figure 3.26: This graph shows the KFM during walking indicating the early (1st Peak) and late stance (2nd Peak) phases

3.6.1.3 KAAI

The knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) has been considered as another important measure for medial knee loading. It takes into account the magnitude of the EKAM and the duration of the medial knee load during the stance phase (Thorp et al., 2006). The area under the EKAM curve was calculated between heel strike and toe off to calculate KAAI (Figure 3.27). The external knee adduction angular impulse was calculated as the integral of the external knee adduction moments for the overall stance phase. The KAAI (%Bw) was calculated using the metric integrate function which integrates a signal between events using the trapezoidal rule, where in this case it calculated the area under the knee moments curve from the ON and OFF events.



Figure 3.27: The external knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) under the curve shown by shaded area

3.7 Secondary outcome measures 3.7.1 Isometric peak torque

Quadriceps muscle strength is also essential to control movements such as change of direction and landing which are involved in many sports (Rudolph and Snyder-Mackler., 2004). The quadriceps strength was analysed as muscle quadriceps weakness is common following injury and particularly following surgery (Sturnieks et al., 2008). The average from the three highest trials was taken from the isometric peak torque exported from the isokinetic dynamometer, and then normalising to body mass. The meniscectomy leg was compared to both the contralateral leg and the healthy control leg. The rate of force development was not analysed in this thesis although it was deemed an important output to look at how individuals produce force. The isokinetic dynamometer (Biodex) used in this thesis records the data at such a low sampling frequency, that important data would be missed in the analysis which may affect the rate of force development outcomes and therefore, this outcome could not be analysed for this thesis.

3.7.2 Muscle co-contraction

Knee load is not only determined by kinetic and kinematic variables, but also by muscle forces generated around the knee joint (Winby et al., 2013). The quadriceps and hamstrings contract simultaneously during the stance phase to control the joint and finally play an important role during knee joint loading (Winby et al., 2009). In the current thesis, the sum of the net activation was calculated from the sum of the knee extensors (vastus medialis, vastus lateralis) and the sum of the knee flexors (semimembranosus, biceps femoris) muscles in early and late stance during walking. All EMG was normalised to MVC as shown in section 3.2.4. The cocontraction was analysed between medial (vastus medialis, semimembranosus) and lateral (vastus lateralis, biceps femoris) muscles, and between extensors (vastus medialis) and flexors (biceps femoris) (Hodges et al., 2016). If Agonist (extensor/medial) is more active number is above zero. Max co-contraction is close to zero and min is close to 1/-1 (Heiden et al., 2009). The sum of the net activation was calculated from the sum of the knee extensors (vastus medialis, vastus lateralis) and the sum of the knee flexors (semimembranosus, biceps femoris) muscles in early and late stance during walking. Co-contraction ratios (CCR) between antagonist and agonist muscles were calculated between quadriceps and hamstring and medial compared to lateral co-contraction using the following formula (Heiden et al., 2009):

If agonist mean EMG > antagonistic mean EMG:

CCR= 1- antagonistic mean EMG/agonist mean EMG

If agonist mean EMG < antagonistic mean EMG:

CCR= agonist mean EMG/ antagonistic mean EMG -1

3.7.3 Centre of pressure

Both the medio-lateral centre of pressure position at touchdown (mm) and the antero-posterior centre of pressure (% foot length) were measured. The medio-lateral centre of pressure excursion was measured to look at the shift in the centre of pressure in relation to the foot. The COP was calculated by taking the X-Y co-ordinates of the force in relation to the foot to look at the general force distribution in the medio-lateral direction. This was then calculated in relation to the foot segment and the COP excursion was analysed by taking the min and max values during stance. A medial shift was classified as a positive value and a lateral shift in the COP was classified as a negative value (de Haart et al., 2005).

The antero-posterior centre of pressure was analysing the foot strike index, as originally defined by Cavanagh and Lafortune (1980), identifying whether an individual is a rearfoot, midfoot or forefoot striker. The strike index was calculated as the distance from the heel to the centre of pressure at impact relative to total foot length (Figure 3.28). The index was grouped into two categories: rearfoot strike (< 0.5) and forefoot strike (>0.5). The closer the number was to 0.0 the more of a rearfoot striker the individual was, the closer to 0.5 the more of a midfoot striker in individual was and the closer to 1.0 the more of a forefoot striker the individual was.



Figure 3.28: This shows the foot strike index highlighting that anything above 0.5 is forefoot strike and below 0.5 is rearfoot strike (Sanutz et al., 2017). This was a sagittal view of a typical rearfoot (A) and forefoot (B) strike patterns during running

3.7.4 Balance

The star excursion balance test (SEBT) is a simple, inexpensive test, used to measure dynamic balance (Gribble et al., 2012) that incorporate a single-leg stance with maximum reach of the other leg (Olmsted et al., 2002). The reach distance was calculated using the evaluate expression function on Visual 3D, measuring the distance between the right and left calcaneus at maximum extension (MAXD). The reach distance was normalised to leg length which was taken from the ASIS markers to the calcaneus markers, taken from the static in Qualisys. To normalise the reach distance was divided by limb length and multiplied by 100 to find the percentage (reach distance/leg length) * 100 = % MAXD (Robinson and Gribble, 2008)

3.7.5 KOOS

KOOS other subscales hold 33 items in symptoms, activity of daily living, sport and recreation, and QoL. All items have five possible answer scores from (0) no problem to (4) extreme problem. The KOOS pain, sport/rec and quality of life (QOL) subscales were of main interest. A normalized score (100 indicated no symptoms and 0 indicated extreme symptoms) was taken from each sub-section and a final score was added of the mean of these sections.

3.7.6 Tampa

The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia is a 17-item instrument assessing pain-related fear of movement. All questions are ranked on a 4-point Likert scale (from 1= strongly disagree, to 4= strongly agree). The total score was calculated, ranging from 17=no fear to 68=strong fear avoidance beliefs.

3.7.7 Physical activity

The physical activity questionnaire (Appendix 2.2) was calculated in a similar way as the International Knee Documentation Committee (IDKC) score calculator. Apart from Question 1, all other questions have a Likert scale and were recorded with a similar style as the IKDC. Questions 2-5 went to the scale of 10 (0 = not active at all. 10 = highly active) where question 5 was measured by activity level. Questions 6 and 7 went up to 5 (0 = much better than before injury/ 5 = much worse than before injury) point adding up to 10 in total.

Questionnaire Score =
$$\left[\frac{\text{Raw Score-Lowest score}}{\text{Range of Score}}\right] \times 100$$

3.7.8 Rehabilitation questionnaire

The rehabilitation questionnaire was an open questionnaire which was analysed the rehabilitation that was provided to the individuals following meniscectomy and gave them the opportunity to give more detailed responses including how many times a week rehabilitation was performed, what exercises they underwent, and at what stage of rehabilitation they started doing the specific exercises (Appendix 2.3). This gave a basic outline how long ago the surgery was and, in this time, how much and how intense the rehabilitation was. This was to give an idea as to how good and thorough their rehabilitation was following meniscectomy.

3.7.9 Supporting data

The effect of meniscectomy on the vertical GRF (the first peak and the second peak), ankle, knee and hip joint angles in sagittal and frontal plane (first peak (loading) and second peak (propulsion), ankle, and hip joint moments in sagittal and frontal plane were all chosen as secondary outcomes to help support and explain findings that may occur at the knee.

3.8 Statistical approaches

Statistical analysis was carried out with SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics 20), graphs and tables were produced using excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2013). Normality was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk test and normal detrended Q-Q-plots was examined. Subsequent parametric or non-parametric tests were run, including post-hoc tests to take into account the 95% confidence interval was chosen as the data was normally distributed. The specific statistical analysis was explained in further details specifying the tests run for each study in the following chapters.

The effect size for each significant variable was calculated using the Cohen's D effect sizes to give an indication of the magnitude of the effect of the intervention (>0.8 large effect, 0.5 moderate effect, <0.3 small effect) (Cohen, 1988). The effect size is just the standardised mean difference between the two groups. This was calculated by:

Effect size = $\frac{[Mean of experimental group] - [Mean of control group]}{Standard Deviation}$

3.9 Repeatability of marker placement

The overall aim of this thesis was to gain a more thorough understanding of loading at the knee in both healthy individuals and meniscus individuals, considering the effects of surgery on the movement of the joints and loading mechanisms. Therefore, in order for such a study to be successfully established, the repeatability of the investigator in placing reflective markers needed to be assessed prior to data collection of the study. The repeatability in both walking and running was also assessed to make sure any changes in data were solely due to the human effect and not the task difficulty. This repeatability study was therefore conducted to enable the researcher to understand the measurement error present in the results. The placement of markers should be as identical as possible over subsequent laboratory visits to ensure that any differences observed after the surgery is from the intervention itself and not from the experiment error in the marker placement.

3.9.1 Repeatability of marker placement background

Clinical gait analysis was first utilised in the 1940's (Whittle, 1996) where it was found to be a very beneficial tool for the measurement of movement during walking. Since the 1940s, time advances have been made and everything has been computerised, and gait analysis has been split into four sections: kinematics, kinetics, electromyography, and engineering mathematics. Clinical gait is a both valuable and reliable technique which seeks to discriminate between normal and abnormal gait and to assess changes in gait over time (Schwartz et al., 2004). Repeated gait measurements in this day are mainly used to establish the responses to specific interventions such as surgery, physiotherapy and orthotics on kinematic and kinetic data, however, the results obtained can be affected by certain factors.

For kinematic and kinetic measurements to be valuable, it must provide valid and reproducible values with small measurement errors (Rankin & Stokes, 1998). Understanding of the repeatability and measurement errors associated with each screening tool is important (Batterham & George, 2003). As repeated gait measurements typically show some differences, these can be assumed to contain a proportion of error. Several factors that are vital for ensuring measurement errors are reduced and can be controlled include accuracy and consistency of marker position, task difficulty, and faults in data processing (Schwartz et al., 2004). Knowledge of the error magnitude can enable investigators to minimise the risk of over-

100

interpreting small differences as significant, and the understanding of using unreliable measurements may lead to excessive noise in the data drowning out significant results.

The marker placement accounts for the greatest errors in 3D motion analysis (Malfait et al., 2014; Ford et al., 2007). Precise placement of reflective markers is imperative in accurately calculating the kinematic and kinetic outcomes as this calculates the joint centres and therefore markers location in relation to the surroundings. The calculation of the coordinate system is based for practical reasons on a bone frame and therefore, should meet requirements which are associated with the anatomy of the bone. As the markers are placed on the skin and not directly on the bone, the position of the marker is estimated and associated with the underlying bone. Depending on which marker set is used the repeatability of the data could also differ.

Cappozzo et al., (1996) implies that the placement of reflective markers on the body landmarks cause an elevated level of variability and greater measurement error, with these locations being more difficult to palpate, the position error in the reconstructed coordinate system relative to the global frame and skin artefacts caused by the movement of the skin relative to the bone. Cappozzo et al. (1996) revealed that the displacement with respect to the underlying bone during the movements amounted to up to 40 mm. One way in which these errors can be reduced is to use a calibration procedure, as briefly mentioned above, which involves both anatomical landmarks (markers on the bony landmarks) and anatomical frames (segment mounted rigid plates with markers attached). This calibrated anatomical system technique (CAST) model enables that during dynamic tasks only the segment mounted markers are used to decrease the skin artefacts of anatomical landmarks (Manal et al., 2000). This helps give more reliable and therefore valid kinematic data in all planes (Baker et al., 2003). Therefore, for this study, the CAST marker set was used, placing the shank and thigh tracking markers on rigid plates and were attached to the segment with extra straps attached to avoid slipping of the clusters.

The task also plays a crucial role when considering the repeatability of the study. High impact tasks have been found to create a greater error in measurement as this can cause a movement artefact from both the clusters but predominantly the muscle and adipose tissue movement with force (Winter, 2009). As the impact ripples through the body is can be assumed that some markers would move fractionally, causing a slight error in the measurement. Some errors in kinematic and kinetic data can be contributed to test design and data processing, however the

aim of this study is to focus on the test-retest repeatability of the reflective marker placement by the investigator.

Between-day repeatability of kinetic and kinematic data was quantified using the correlation of multiple coefficient (CMC) and the standard error of the measurement (SEM). The CMC is a measure of the strength of the association between the two variables and was used in this study as it is the most widely reported measure for repeatability. Collins et al., (2009) stated that for the data to be reliable the CMC needs to be greater than 0.70. The SEM represents the standard deviation of errors of measurement within the study allowing quantification of the extent to which individual trials provide accurate results. Low levels of SEM indicate high levels of accuracy. The SEM is calculated, using a spreadsheet which was created by Richard Baker by carrying out a standard deviation of the trials multiplied by the square root of the gait cycle (Growney et al., 1997). McGinley et al., (2008) concluded that in previous studies an error of five degrees and less for all gait variables was acceptable and an error of less than two degrees was considered very reliable. When looking at more active sporting tasks this should be considered. This suggests that an error larger than five degrees may be enough to influence clinical interpretation of the data and therefore, should be carefully considered. For running, change of direction and the drop landing, the error is generally greater due to more movement occurring on the skin with the increased force (Wolf et al., 2009). Alenezi et al., (2016) showed that during running and change of direction the kinematics still showed a SEM under 5° for all joint angles and therefore McGinley et al., (2008) acceptable error level can be used for the more dynamic tasks as well. Kinetic analyses from Alenezi et al., (2016) showed a range from 0.13-0.56 Nm/kg during change of direction and 0.14-0.30 Nm/kg during running showing a greater error present in the hips compared to the ankle which may be due to the greater range of motion available at the hip.

The aims of the repeatability study were to firstly assess between-day repeatability of marker placement by the researcher and the change in the outcomes this may have. Secondly, to assess the between-day repeatability of measuring biomechanical variables during walking and running and finally to establish the standard error of measure (SEM) and the correlation of multiple coefficient (CMC).

3.9.2 Methods of repeatability

After approval from the Research ethics panel of the academic audit and governance committee at the University of Salford (Approval number: HSR1617-57), 17 healthy individuals between the ages of 18-40 were recruited through the University and sport teams (football, volleyball, hockey, basketball) where they participated in sports at least 2 times a week in sports which would include dynamic tasks such as landing and change of direction. Prior to the commencement of testing, each participant read and signed the participant information sheet and written informed consent sheet.

For the repeatability study, the participants attended the human performance laboratory at the University of Salford on two separate occasions, one week apart. Kinematic and kinetic motion data were collected by 12 infrared cameras and three force platforms which calculated the inverse dynamics of the hip, knee and ankle external moments. (Please refer to the full methodology above, including system calibration, reflective marker placement and data analysis). Coefficient of multiple correlation (CMC) which analyses the similarity of the waveform and the standard error of measurement (SEM) which analyses the amount of error between trials were used to analyse the repeatability of the tasks and the investigator marker placement. Only the main outcome measures were compared in this study which will be analysed in the main studies. This includes the sagittal plane (X) and frontal plane (Y) angles for the hip, and knee and only the X angle for the ankle and pelvis. For the moments only, the X and Y of the hip and knee were analysed as these were the most reported in meniscectomy studies. The strength measurements were also included in the repeatability study to allow the decision to be reached whether both isometric and isokinetic needed to be measured.

The data obtained in the repeatability study were used to calculate the maximum error. The maximum error within the study is less than, or very close to 2° for all kinematic data, and therefore can be deemed as acceptable when considering the recommendations by McGinley et al., (2009). McGinley et al., (2009) stated that an error between 2° and 5° should be regarded as reasonable and suggested that errors that exceed 5 could be large enough to be interpreted as meaningful results. For kinetics the values varied between joints, showing greater error the higher up the kinetic chain, i.e., the hip produced greater error compared to the ankle. This was also seen in Alenezi et al., (2016) study. The isokinetic torque was stated by Kean et al., (2010)

to have an error of 0.27 Nm/kg and for isometric to have an error of 0.33 Nm/kg, which was used as the comparison in this study.

For the repeatability study the standard error of the measurement (SEM) was calculated which is the estimated standard deviation of the sample mean multiplied by the square root of 1 minus the reliability of the scores and was calculated using the following formula:

 $\text{SEM} = SD \times \sqrt{1 - r}$

3.9.3 Results of repeatability

Overall, the repeatability results demonstrated high repeatability between the two sessions between walking and running. The SEM for kinematics was under 2° and greatest correlation was to be seen at 0.99 for the CMC. There was a greater variability with the more demanding tasks such as running, however, these values were still within the limits of repeatability, showing the CMC as close to 1 as possible and the SEM was under 5°.

3.9.4 Results of between-lab test

All temporal spatial data and gait event specific points during walking and running showed similar results, which is to be expected as humans are unable to replicate the same movement.

3.9.4.1 Between-test during walking

The comparison within individuals was most important as this showed the ability of the researcher to apply the markers accurately. Between lab is important as the repeatability and BOOM/Meni-Foot studies were conducted at different sites due to the time it took to set up the access to the MIHP and the lab availability at the University. The accuracy of marker placement is so important as if the markers are not placed correctly, the kinematics and therefore kinetics data may be off and therefore show insignificant or wrong results. Therefore, the between-session repeatability was so crucial to make sure marker placement from the researcher was accurate and outcome from the studies could be seen as accurate meaningful differences.

Test-retest results show high repeatability by the researcher during self-selected speed walking. This can be seen in both in SEM and CMC analysis. The SEM is under 2 degrees in all angles apart from the knee adduction angle which was at 2.25° (Table 3.1) and under 0.30 Nm/kg for the moments. The SEM was still under 5° which was stated to be the greatest error allowed whilst still producing a clinical meaningful difference. The CMC level ranged from 0.93 - 0.99 in the angles and 0.72 - 0.93 in the moments which showed moderate to high correlation. There was also no significance between values stating that they were all similar.

Table 3.1: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the stance phase in walking

	M	ean, SD	P Value	SEM	CMC intra- subject
	Test 1	Test 2			
Speed (m/s)	2.04 ± 0.22	1.86 ± 0.10	.843	1.3	0.97
Ankle flexion angle (°)	12.08 ± 3.30	11.98 ± 3.52	.897	1.75	0.97
Knee flexion angle (°)	32.74 ± 5.27	32.48 ± 5.21	.998	1.80	0.99
Knee adduction angle (°)	-6.45 ± 5.45	-2.94 ± 7.36	.374	1.30	0.88
Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.55 ± 0.30	0.52 ± 0.30	.853	0.11	0.94
Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.48 ± 0.18	0.50 ± 0.19	.756	0.06	0.91
Knee int. rotation moment (Nm/kg)	0.40 ± 0.09	0.41 ± 0.1	.685	0.05	0.31
Hip flexion angle (°)	-16.21 ± 4.44	-17.19 ± 4.49	.482	1.95	0.99
Hip adduction angle (°)	8.26 ± 3.68	5.84 ± 3.57	.231	1.60	0.96
Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.86 ± 0.20	0.91 ± 0.19	.783	0.16	0.72
Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.97 ± 0.21	0.96 ± 0.13	.775	0.18	0.92
KAAI ((Nm/kg) *s)	0.82 ± 0.78	0.54 ± 0.53	.314	0.66	0.85

3.9.4.2 Repeatability of kinematic during running

The test-retest results for the running trials showed slightly lower repeatability compared to the walking with increased SEM values. The CMC during running were comparable to walking. The SEM were between 1.54° and 3.99° in the angles (Table 3.2). The SEMs were all under 0.30 Nm/kg in the moments during running. The CMC results for the knee and hip angles and moments during running were all moderate to very good 0.48-0.97.

	Mean, SD		P Value	SEM	CMC intra- subject
	Test 1	Test 2			
Speed (m/s)	4.86 ± 1.23	5.22 ± 1.07	.653	1.22	0.83
Ankle flexion angle (°)	20.48 ± 7.08	20.77 ± 7.41	.998	2.20	0.94
Knee flexion angle (°)	25.24 ± 8.93	25.80 ± 9.53	.876	2.21	0.75
Knee adduction angle (°)	-0.84 ± 0.41	0.91 ± 0.56	.593	1.95	0.87
Knee int. rotation angle (°)	3.04 ± 4.93	5.9 ± 6.85	.005*	3.99	0.52
Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.77 ± 0.30	1.00 ± 0.36	.374	0.20	0.95
Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.44 ± 0.14	0.43 ± 0.16	.973	0.25	0.92
Knee int. rotation moment (Nm/kg)	0.40 ± 0.18	0.39 ± 0.20	.774	0.06	0.48
Hip flexion angle (°)	35.65 ± 8.12	37.19 ± 7.20	.403	3.67	0.89
Hip adduction angle (°)	11.59 ± 5.93	11.47 ± 5.2	.834	1.75	0.92
Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.06 ± 0.24	1.13 ± 0.26	.621	0.25	0.91
Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	1.15 ± 0.34	0.98 ± 0.33	.217	0.20	0.94
KAAI ((Nm/kg) *s)	0.06 ± 0.06	0.04 ± 0.03	.668	0.04	0.48

Table 3.2: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the stance phase in running

3.9.4.3 Repeatability of strength measure

For the strength measurement only, the right leg was tested in the repeatability study. The findings showed that both isokinetic and isometric force measure for strength have high variability between tasks (Figure 3.29). The isokinetic concentric/eccentric task showed an SEM of 0.49 Nm/kg and the isometric showed and SEM of 0.30 Nm/kg.

Table 3.3: Between sessions mean, SD, significance from paired t-test, SEM and CMCs for the average peak isokinetic and isometric strength

	Mea	P Value	SEM	CMC intra- subject	
	Test 1	Test 2			
Isometric (Nm/kg)	1.23 ± 0.66	1.34 ± 0.69	.658	0.30	0.88
Concentric Isokinetic (Nm/kg)	0.74 ± 0.19	1.11 ± 0.19	.056	0.49	0.65



Figure 3.29: Graph of between session force curve for the isokinetic dynamometer strength test showing the isometric strength at during a 5 s contraction (top) and the concentric/eccentric isokinetic strength measure at 60 degrees/s normalised to 101 data points of trial (bottom)

3.9.5 Discussion of repeatability

There was a high repeatability between-session repeatability for walking and running, showing that marker placement was accurate, and the tasks were repeatable.

Although only one assessor applied the markers, variability between sessions became apparent. To reduce variability within the thesis, the CAST marker-based protocol (Cappozzo et al., 1995) was used, which attempts to reduce skin-movement artefacts by attaching markers to the centre of segments rather than single markers close to the joints, as in the Helen Hayes model (Collins et al., 2009). Variability could also be caused due to the individual moving differently on the second session as it is impossible to mimic a movement pattern completely. Less reliable results were seen during the running task compared to the walking task. The lower repeatability

might be caused by different velocities during walking tasks, as it has been found that with a consistent speed and generally at a reduced speed, repeatability is shown to be higher (Alenezi et al., 2016). Time of day and fatigue may also affect the results, however the second session was booked at the same time as the first session and individuals were instructed to get as much rest as possible and were asked not to participate in any strenuous activity 24 hours before attending the laboratory session.

The primary outcome measure within this thesis was looking at lower limb motion and knee loading which demonstrated to have good test-retest repeatability in this thesis. The knee flexion moment (KFM) and knee adduction moment (EKAM) were found to have high repeatability in the healthy participants. When compared to previous studies, the SEM during walking was very similar and showed a difference between 0.04-0.06 Nm/kg for EKAM and 0.06-0.20 for KFM (Riley et al., 2007; Al-Amri et al., 2017) whereas in the current study the SEM showed a difference of 0.06 for EKAM and 0.11 Nm/kg for KFM during walking. As the results in the current study compared to those differences seen in previous studies, the current knee loading values have been shown to be repeatable in the current study. The CMC values were also between 0.86-0.97, showing great repeatability. These findings indicated high repeatability of the tasks and agreed with previous research, highlighting that any value close to 1 CMC is shown to be clinically repeatable (Tsushima et al., 2003, McGinley et al., 2007, Birmingham et al., 2007).

Alenezi et al., (2016) found similar results to the current repeatability study during the running task, showing SEM values for joint moments ranging between (0.07–0.39 Nm/kg) and joint angles ranging between (0.98–5.14°). In the current study, the joint moments ranged between (0.06–1.98 Nm/kg) and the joint angles between (1.47–3.99°). When considering solely the knee moments which will be the most important outcome in the following studies the SEM ranged between (0.06-0.23 Nm/kg) showing great similarity to Alenezi et al., (2016). In Alenezi et al., (2016) study the least repeatable values were also the hip angles (4.74°), which was seen in the current repeatability study (3.67°). The increase in SEM scores in the hip for the angles may be explained by the larger range of motion in the sagittal plane compared to other planes. In Sinclair et al., (2014) study they also showed similar results with the greatest SEM value for moments being 2.09 Nm/kg. Sinclair et al., (2014) compared an expert, intermediate and novice individual at applying marker placement and for the knee outcomes,

the results in the current study aligned perfectly as those found in Sinclair et al., (2014) expert individuals.

Although the repeatability study was carried out on solely healthy individuals, it was assumed that the results would be similar for participant's post-meniscectomy. In previous studies, errors reported between sessions were due to marker placement variance (Kadaba et al., 1998). Several factors in participant testing were known to affect the between day and within-day repeatability, for instance, task difficulty, movement artefact of the markers on the skin and static alignment (Ford et al., 2007). Between the BOOM and Meni-Foot study, the principal investigator was the only one who attached the reflective markers to the participants to ensure high repeatability throughout the thesis. It is generally accepted that it is impossible to remove all error from a study, however, the investigator can gain some understanding of the amount of error and where it comes from which can help establish significantly meaningful results. The systematic review by McGinley et al., (2009) stated that the highest error within the reviewed studies was mostly found to be greater than 2. The highest error in the kinematics and kinetics in this study was 3.99° in running which was still deemed as an acceptable level of error.

The sagittal plane has previously been identified to be the most reliable across gait measurements (Ferber et al., 2002). On the contrary, the current repeatability study showed that the sagittal planes had the highest error compared to the frontal plane. The frontal plane values indicated the lowest occurrence of errors in all tasks with having the lowest SEM (0.04) in the walking moments and highest CMC (0.98) values. Although some errors were present in this study, most of the values were seen to be less than 2 for the SEM and close to 1 in the CMC, highlighting that 1 signifies identical gait traces.

The knee and hip angles and moments were reliable in both the low impact and high impact tasks. Røislien et al. (2012) described that kinematic curves with a larger range of motion (ROM) appeared more similar, which was reflected in a higher CMC result. This might be an explanation for the decreased CMC results, because the rotation and adduction angles and moments are relatively small during these tasks (Røislien et al., 2012). Thus, Røislien et al. (2012) concluded that the CMC results should be interpreted with caution. During the stance phase in running, the SEMs and CMCs were from 'moderate' to 'good' for the repeatability of the hip and knee angles and moments. The CMC results during the stance phase in running

were from 'moderate' to 'good' and thereby in line with previous repeatability findings during running (Alenezi, Herrington, Jones, & Jones, 2016).

Increased error could be seen in the strength measure, predominantly when looking at the isokinetic concentric/eccentric strength assessment. The isokinetic concentric/eccentric strength assessment. The isokinetic concentric/eccentric strength assessment showed high variability between the sessions showing a familiarisation session should probably be had as this task feels very unnatural and is not easy to do when trying to produce force in full extension (Dyk et al., 2018). For the repeatability study the participants were allowed two practices for this task, however the results showed that this may not be enough with the SEM being (0.5 Nm/kg) and might be cause to exclude this task, due to the inability to grasp the task in the first place and apply force with a fully extended knee. The isometric task seemed a lot easier to grasp as the SEM (0.3 Nm/kg) was lower and therefore showed a lower error in the data. Between- day it has been shown that producing the same force is quite difficult and therefore the isometric task was accepted for this study. Although the sporting tasks may have some complexity, all individuals that participated in the study, are from a sporting background where these tasks are very common and therefore although the tasks are more complex, the individuals should feel comfortable performing them.

3.9.6 Conclusion of repeatability

In conclusion, the study undertaken shows that certain variables indicate high consistency within test-retest sessions with a relatively low standard error of measurement identified within all variables and tasks. Furthermore, the results showed that the repeatability of marker placement in all conditions was good and can be used to quantify kinematics and kinetics accurately by the investigator in future studies. The only task that should possibly be excluded due to lack of repeatability without an extensive familiarisation task is the concentric/eccentric quadriceps strength task.

Chapter 4 - Biomechanical Outcomes associated with Osteoarthritis progression in individuals following Meniscectomy during athletic and functional tasks (BOOM study)

4.1 Background

Injuries to the meniscus are common in sport, often as a result of a traumatic event (Englund et al., 2016; Stanley et al., 2016; Yeh et al., 2012). Mitchell et al. (2016) reported 5.1 meniscal injuries per 100 000 athletic exposures, with a greater proportion reported during competition (11.9 injuries per 100 000 athletic exposures), compared to practice (2.7 injuries per 100 000 athletic exposures). Rotation around a planted/ inverted foot paired with greater knee loading such as seen in jumping, landing and change of direction tasks have been cited as a common mechanism for meniscal tears (Mitchell et al., 2016). The meniscus aids in stabilising the knee, acting as a shock absorber and transmitting load within the joint, with the lateral meniscus taking as much as 70% of the load in the lateral compartment and the medial meniscus carrying approximately 50% of the medial load (Fox et al., 2015; Kurosawa et al., 1980). Medial meniscectomies have been researched more frequently, which may be due to them being more common and reoperation rates being higher (Paxton et al., 2011). However, the lateral meniscectomies show greater functional deficits as the menisci stability properties are affected resulting in altered load transmission of the articular cartilage (Salata et al., 2010), which highlights that both medial and lateral meniscectomies need to be studied in detail. To date, there has only been one study that looked at the biomechanical outcomes post-lateral meniscectomy, and this was looking at bilateral drop landing (Ford et al., 2011).

Damage to the meniscus is suggested to be associated with altered knee mechanics leading to the initiation or acceleration of osteoarthritis (OA) development (Badlani et al., 2013; Englund et al., 2016). Prior meniscal tears were commonly reported in individuals with medial knee OA (Bhattacharyya et al., 2003), with reports suggesting a 4 to 14 times greater risk of developing knee OA following a meniscal injury (Khan et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2016; Kujala et al., 1995). Meniscectomies are widely used to manage the symptoms associated with meniscus injuries (McDermott, 2011). As many athletic individuals with a meniscal lesion undergo partial meniscectomy intend to return to sports, therefore, knowledge of the changes in knee joint loading during such activities are important to identify the implications that may affect

the ability to return to their competitive level of activity, however, this is significantly under researched (Willy et al., 2016).

Indirect measures of medial knee loading, such as the external knee adductor moments (EKAM) and knee adduction angular impulses (KAAI) and knee flexion moment (KFM), have been associated with greater risk of developing knee OA (Hall et al., 2014; Mills et al., 2008; Hulet et al., 2015; Willy et al., 2017; Thorlund et al., 2017; Chang et al., 2014). Knee joint loading is also contributed by the coordination of muscle activity (Schmitt & Rudolph, 2008). Increased lateral quadriceps and hamstring muscle activation has been found following medial knee OA to help offload the medial compartment of the knee and reduce pain (Astephen Wilson et al., 2017). Despite information about contributing factors and underlying mechanisms of meniscus injuries and the progression to OA, there is still a lack of information in the current literature on sport-specific movement patterns and the effect on knee joint loading. The majority of studies examining meniscectomies have looked at knee joint loading during walking with only Willy et al. (2016) and Hall et al., (2014) assessing running, albeit at slow speeds and not over ground, while Ford et al., (2011) and Hsu et al., (2016) examined drop landing and single leg hop movements. Further research is needed to explore movement patterns and knee joint loading during more demanding sport-specific tasks post-meniscectomy and return-to-sport abilities for the young active populations.

Extensor and flexor muscle strength and co-contraction are also key aspects which are affected following injury and surgery (Lau et al., 2018). Following meniscectomy surgery, previous studies have reported greater quadriceps weakness (Becker et al., 2004; Sturnieks et al., 2011). Muscle strength is essential to control movement, including movements such as change of direction and landing, which are involved in many sports (Rudolph and Snyder-Mackler., 2004). It has also been demonstrated that following a meniscectomy, quadriceps weakness is often present, which has been related to increased pain, increased stiffness and kinesiophobia in individuals with knee OA (Becker et al., 2004; Sturnieks et al., 2011; Özmen et al., (2017). Ericsson et al., (2019) found that four years following a meniscectomy quadriceps muscle strength can be associated with joint space narrowing, highlighting that individuals with stronger muscles showed less severe osteoarthritic changes. Muscle strength recovery is also considered to be important for young individuals after an arthroscopic surgery in order to regain capacity to participate in sports (Zedde et al., 2015). Quadriceps weakness also leads to reduced eccentric control, reducing the ability for the knee to absorb shock and stabilise, reducing motor

112

control (Lewek et al., 2004). Hart et al., (2014) also acknowledged the importance of testing muscle weakness in relation to change of direction tasks as there has been a link between muscle weakness and a predisposition to knee injury during change of direction tasks. Greater co-contraction of the medial muscles at the knee have demonstrated a faster progression of knee OA in individuals diagnosed with medial knee OA (Hodges et al., 2016), which was reported in individuals following medial meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014). Therefore, it is important to understand whether individuals following meniscectomy have greater co-contraction and whether this could be a risk factor to lead on to future knee OA progression.

Measures of perceived function such as confidence in function (Chmielewski et al., 2008), pain catastrophizing (de Boer et al., 2012), Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) (Collins et al., 2011), kinesiophobia (Kvist et al., 2005) are highly important when understanding re-injury and participation in dynamic sport following surgery (Brand and Nyland, 2009). KOOS has been utilised in several studies as it looks at the individual's perception of their own knee function in daily living, sport and recreation and analyses their perception of their quality of life following their surgery (Collins et al., 2011). Therefore, KOOS should be analysed and considered when looking at a meniscectomy population who wish to return to sport and partake in more dynamic movements, in addition to Tampa scale of kinesiophobia, as individual's negative attitudes toward their movement following meniscectomy can cause gait adaptations to occur and aid in compensatory movements to be established (Tichonova et al., 2016).

4.2 Aims and Hypotheses

The purpose of this study was to initially examine if there was a difference in knee joint loading between individuals following a medial and a lateral meniscectomy. Secondly, the aim was to identify the changes in clinical and biomechanical outcomes which have been linked to the risk factors of OA progression in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy individuals during functional and athletic tasks. A combination of assessment tools is crucial to develop a holistic approach to understand coping mechanisms post meniscectomy. Additionally, this study assessed balance, strength and quality of life following meniscectomy when compared to healthy individuals. Four hypotheses were tested in this study and have been presented as the alternative and null hypothesis.

H_{1:} Individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy show differences in knee loading demonstrated by the EKAM, KFM and KAAI

- H₀: there is no significant differences in knee loading between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

H₂: Individuals following meniscectomy show greater knee loading during dynamic tasks compared to healthy controls

- H₀ hypothesis, there is no differences in the knee loading during dynamic sport tasks in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls.

H₃: Individuals following meniscectomy show lower muscle strength, greater muscle cocontraction and lower balance compared to healthy controls.

- H_0 hypothesis, there is no differences in muscle strength, muscle co-contraction and balance in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls

H₄: Individuals following meniscectomy exhibit greater kinesiophobia compared to healthy controls

- H_0 hypothesis, there is no differences in kinesiophobia in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls

4.3 Methodology

This is a case-control study comparing individuals following a meniscectomy with healthy individuals. Ethical approval was granted from both the ethics panel of the academic audit and governance committee at the University of Salford (Approval number: HSR1617-56) and the NHS HRA approval was given (IRAS 239135; Appendix 1). Additionally, the trial was registered with clinicaltrials.gov (NCT03350204).

4.3.1 Recruitment

Individuals who underwent a meniscectomy were recruited through NHS clinics and private orthopaedic clinics of knee surgeons within the Greater Manchester area. Access to these individuals was approved by the relevant orthopaedic teams who provided details of individuals who were considered eligible for the study. Potential meniscectomy participants for this study were identified through the relevant orthopaedic clinics on attendance to consultations with surgeons. An invitation letter was sent to all eligible individuals. Individuals who responded to the invitational letters had the study explained to them and they received a participant information sheet and a health screening questionnaire. A minimum period of 24 hours was set between providing the information sheet and determining their decision to take part in the study. They were then asked to return the health screening questionnaire so full eligibility could be assessed. If potential risks to the participant were identified, then participation within the study was discussed and the individual was either asked to consult a physician to receive approval for the participation or were advised not to participate in this study.

Healthy, physically active staff and students from the University of Salford, were invited to take part in the current study as the healthy controls. The recruitment was undertaken through emails and posters. Participants needed to have experience in the tasks that were performed in the current study, for example, the individuals were asked if they participated in team sports which involved landing, running and change of direction manoeuvres. The posters were also at the University, fitness centres and sports clubs in Manchester and Salford to recruit healthy participants whereby an appointment at the Performance Capture Laboratory at the Manchester Institute of Health and Performance was made. If they agreed to participate and were eligible for the study, they were given an appointment at the Performance Capture Laboratory at the Manchester Institute of Health and Performance (MIHP) (Figure 4.1). To ensure that the anonymity of participants remains intact the data was coded, and only the principal examiner has access to the participants' details. The participants received a voucher of £15 as compensation for his/her time participating in this study.



Figure 4.1: Flow chart of recruitment process

4.3.2 Participants

Individuals clinically diagnosed with a meniscal tear and had received a meniscectomy of the knee were asked to volunteer for the project. In the current study a post hoc power calculation conducted via G-power to investigate how many participants were needed in each group to find statistically significant different interaction effects with an 80% power and an alpha level equal to 0.05 (Prajapati, Dunne, & Armstrong, 2010). The power calculation was conducted on the walking and running task on the EKAM as this was seen to be the most reported variable for knee loading. The effect size (ES) was calculated by using the following equation (McCrum-Gardner, 2010):

The calculated effect size for the stance phase in walking was ES = 0.76 (medium) and running was ES = 0.54 (medium) and thus a power of 85% was reached. The results revealed that 49

participants were needed to achieve 80% power, which was rounded to 50, however only 49 individuals were achieved. Both medial and lateral meniscal tears were accepted. Healthy controls were also asked to volunteer if they have not sustained a knee injury or undergone knee surgery and matched the eligibility criteria. Eligibility for the study was based on the following inclusion and exclusion criteria:

Meniscectomy inclusion criteria

- 1. Aged between 18 and 40 years
- 2. Meniscal injury sustained during a sporting task e.g. sports cutting manoeuvre
- 3. Between 3 and 12 months post-surgery
- 4. Compete and or play sport a minimum of two times a week for a minimum of 60 minutes
- 5. Able to perform sport-specific tasks including running, single leg landing and change of direction
- 6. Medial or a lateral meniscectomy

Meniscectomy exclusion criteria

- 1. History of lower extremity surgeries e.g. ACL reconstruction except for meniscectomy
- 2. Bilateral meniscectomy
- 3. Longer than 12 months post-surgery
- 4. Evidence of knee osteoarthritis development either assessed clinically (based on ACR criteria) or radiographically (Kellgren-Lawrence grade >1)
- 5. Previous history of traumatic (other than the sustained meniscal injury), inflammatory or infectious pathology in the lower extremity
- 6. Evidence of ligament laxity

Control inclusion criteria

- 1. Aged between 18 and 40 years
- 2. Compete and or play sport a minimum two times a week for a minimum of 60 minutes
- 3. Able to perform sport-specific tasks including running, single-leg landing and change of direction

Control exclusion criteria

- 1. History of any lower extremity surgeries
- 2. Evidence of knee osteoarthritis development either assessed clinically (based on ACR criteria) or radiographically (Kellgren-Lawrence grade >1)
- 3. Previous history of traumatic, inflammatory, or infectious pathology in the lower extremity
- 4. Evidence of ligament laxity

4.3.3 Procedure

On arrival at the performance capture laboratory, participants had any final questions answered and were asked to sign the informed consent form (Appendix 2.1). The participants were informed that they were free to withdraw at any point of time from the study, without any disadvantage to them. One copy of the consent form was given to the participant and one was kept in the study filing cabinet.

Before the biomechanical data was collected participants completed several questionnaires to establish self-reported outcome measures including KOOS (Roos et al., 2003), sports activity questionnaire (Appendix 2.2), rehabilitation questionnaire (Appendix 2.3), Tampa Kinesiophobia, and body mass and height was taken (Figure 4.2). The isokinetic dynamometer was used first to make sure there was no fatigue present from the other tasks. Isometric strength of the quadriceps was measured at 60-degree knee flexion.

Three-dimensional movement data were collected using 28 Qualisys OQUS7 cameras (Qualisys AB, Sweden). The ground reaction forces were collected with four force plates (BP600900, Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc. USA), which were embedded into the floor and synchronised with the Qualisys system. Markers were placed on the participants as per the image below and defined in the earlier methodology section (Chapter 3, section 3.2.3). Standardised footwear (Asics, Gel Windhawk) was worn.

Each subject was then asked to perform the Y-balance task, single leg drop landing, walking, running and 90 degrees change of direction tasks on a 60 m running track at the MIHP (see section 3.4.1-3.4.5). Walking and running speed was controlled and reported using timing gaits to ensure that each trial was within $\pm 5\%$ of their self-selected speed. The walking, running and change of direction tasks were performed until five successful trials were collected. This was due to needing at least three perfect trials and with a more dynamic movement sometimes it is hard to see any errors. For the landing only three successful trials were collected as it was easier to control and identify if a trial was unsuccessful. Unsuccessful trials were determined when less than three markers per segment were visible, speed changes were seen during the trials, or a partial/double contact with the force platforms occurred.



Figure 4.2: Flow chart of test procedure

4.3.4 Data processing

The kinematic and kinetic outcomes were calculated by utilising a six-degrees-of-freedom model in Visual3D (Version 5, C-motion Inc, USA). Motion and force plate data were filtered with a 4th order Butterworth filter with cut-off frequencies of 12Hz (Kristanslund et al., 2012). The Cardan sequence used in the kinematics calculation with Visual3D was the ordered sequence of rotations (x, y, z), with: x = flexion/extension, y = abduction/adduction, z = longitudinal rotation (R. B. Davis, Ounpuu, Tyburski, & Gage, 1991). The kinematics, kinetics, balance, muscle co-contraction and strength measures were all analysed using Visual 3D, Excel, and SPSS.

Joint moment data were calculated using a three-dimensional inverse dynamics algorithm. The joint moments were normalised to body mass and presented as external moments referenced to the proximal segment. The kinematic data were normalised to 100% of gait and kinetic data were normalised to 100% of stance phase, whereby the stance phase was sub-grouped in earlystance (0 - 20% of stance phase) and late stance (20 - 60%) of stance phase) during walking. During running the stance phase is the first 40% and the swing phase is the last 60%, the stance phase was sub-grouped in early stance (0 - 20% of stance phase) and late stance (20 - 40%) of stance phase) (see section 3.6.1). The change of direction was calculated from foot contact where the initial foot contact occurred on the force platform (CUT_ON_R/CUT_ON_L) to toe off where the foot contact finished on the force plactform (CUT_OFF_R/CUT_OFF_L). The early stance (initial 50%) of the change of direction was analysed for the kinematics and kinetics as the impact management was most important during this task. The peak values were then analysed. For landing the kinematics and kinetics were measured from foot contact on the force platform (RON/LON) until maximum knee flexion occurred (max_knee_flex_right/max_knee_flex_left) and the peak values were analysed.

4.3.5 Primary outcome measures

The following outcome measures were investigated which were explained in full in Chapter 3, section 3.7-3.8. The isometric quadriceps strength was measured in Nm and normalised to body mass (kg), the balance was measured the Y-balance test in the anterior, medio-posterior and latero-posterior direction measuring the reach distance in cm and then normalised to leg length. Peaks of hip and knee and ankle flexion, adduction angles and moments were measured during walking, running, change of direction and landing. The sum of net muscle activation of quadriceps (extensors) and hamstrings (flexors) was collected using the EMG and muscle co-activation between agonist and antagonist and medial and lateral muscles were calculated. Self-reported outcome measured of knee function were collected including the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia, the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), the rehabilitation questionnaire and the physical activity questionnaire.

4.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out with SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics 20), graphs and tables were produced using excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2013). Normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and normal detrended Q-Q-plots was examined. For the medial compared to

lateral meniscectomy comparison, independent sample t-tests were performed with a 95% confidence interval to compare two samples. Once the medial and lateral sub-groups were combined, the statistical analysis was used to identify the main effect between the meniscectomy and the healthy controls. Following this, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was calculated with post-hoc Tukey. This was to show a comparison between all three groups in relation to the meniscectomy leg, contralateral leg and control leg. The post-hoc Tukey test considers the 95% confidence interval was chosen as the data was normally distributed. The effect size was calculated using the Cohen's D calculation where the mean difference is divided by the standard deviation of the difference to give an indication of the magnitude of the effect of the intervention (>0.8 large effect, 0.5 moderate effect, <0.3 small effect) (Cohen, 1988).

4.4 Results

A total of 50 participants were recruited for this study in total including healthy control and individuals following meniscectomy. Out of thirty, twenty-nine individuals following meniscectomy successfully completed all tasks and were included in this study as one individual was unable to perform the drop landing and change of direction task due to pain and did not feel comfortable doing the tasks (Figure 4.3). The twenty-nine individuals were between the ages of 18-40 ((mean \pm SD), 29.53 \pm 6.56 years, height 175.60 \pm 9.03 cm and mass 82.33 \pm 13.91 kg) and 20 healthy individuals (24.23 \pm 5.00 years, height 174.44 \pm 8.62 cm and mass 73.42 \pm 11.78 kg). There was a significant difference between age, with the healthy controls being on average six years younger (Table 4.1). Of those who had a meniscectomy 13 were medial (age 30.93 \pm 6.89 years, height 175.76 \pm 8.02 cm, mass 79.23 \pm 14.78 kg). The individuals were on average around six months post-surgery (5.73 \pm 2.91 months), ranging from three to twelve months. All individuals were physically active individuals before the injury occurred where they trained at a competitive level at their chosen sport at least twice a week as shown in the eligibility criteria (Table 4.1).



Figure 4.3: Flow chart of meniscectomy participant inclusion in this study

Table 4.1: The participant demographics (* is shows significant differences between meniscectomy and healthy controls), N/A = Not Applicable

		Number	Age (years)	BMI (kg/m ²)	Time since surgery (months)	Activity Level
	Total	29	29.53 ± 7	26.54 ± 3.21	5.73 ± 2.91	8.03 ± 1.25
	Female	10	25.00 ± 3.85	24.18 ± 2.76	5.80 ± 3.88	8.80 ± 0.92
Meniscectomy	Male	19	30.29 ± 6.31	27.71 ± 2.90	5.70 ± 2.41	7.68 ± 1.25
	Medial	13	30.93 ± 6.89	25.65 ± 2.97	6.00 ± 3.26	8.15 ± 1.57
	Lateral	16	27.67 ± 5.86	27.26 ± 3.31	5.620 ± 2.72	8.00 ± 2.91
P value			.402	.366	.611	.839
~	Total	20	24.23 ± 5.00	23.8 ± 2.42	N/A	6.77 ± 1.72
Controls	Female	8	22.11 ± 3.48	24.01 ± 2.80	N/A	6.56 ± 1.81
	Male	12	25.69 ± 5.48	23.5 ± 1.87	N/A	6.92 ± 1.71
P value			.030*	.458	N/A	.086

4.4.1 Self-reported outcome measures

In this study there was a significant difference between the level of physical activity pre- and post-meniscectomy, ($F_{1,48} = 6.948$, p < 0.01). The mean level of physical activity premeniscectomy surgery (8.03 ± 1.25 (out of 10)) was significantly higher than the mean level of physical activity following meniscectomy surgery (5.40 ± 2.28 (out of 10)). The physical activity questionnaire highlighted that all injuries were caused through physical activity which mainly consisted of football, rugby, skiing and bouldering. All sections of the KOOS questionnaire were significantly reduced between the individuals following meniscectomy to the controls. A lower score for all outcomes was found following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls (p < 0.001; Table 4.2). Tampa scale of kinesiophobia showed a significantly greater kinesiophobia score following meniscectomy (35.83 ± 6.53) compared to healthy controls who have had no surgery (30.68 ± 4.77, $F_{1.48} = 3.054$, p < 0.05). There was also a large effect size for all questionnaires highlighting the importance of the significance found.

	Questionnaires	Medial Meniscectomy	Lateral Meniscectomy	Total Meniscectomy	Control		
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES
	Pain	77.78 ± 14.48	73.22 ± 17.12	75.24 ± 15.24	99.05 ± 2.01	.000*	<u>2.19</u>
KOOS	Symptoms	68.13 ± 24.02	62.28 ± 19.43	64.83 ± 21.10	94.71 ± 5.11	.000*	<u>1.95</u>
	ADL	89.37 ± 12.29	83.73 ± 13.75	86.28 ± 13.27	99.91 ± 0.30	.000*	<u>1.45</u>
	Sport/Recreation	66.92 ± 23.23	58.44 ± 23.00	62.24 ± 23.09	97.86 ± 5.61	.000*	<u>2.12</u>
	Quality of Life	48.56 ± 20.44	49.61 ± 26.17	49.31 ± 23.39	98.86 ± 3.07	.000*	<u>2.97</u>
	Total	70.15 ± 16.11	65.46 ± 18.08	67.59 ± 17.01	98.00 ± 2.35	.000*	<u>2.50</u>
Tampa Scale		36.64 ± 6.03	35.60 ± 7.04	35.83 ± 6.53	30.68 ± 4.77	.005*	<u>0.89</u>
Sport	Pre-Injury	8.15 ± 1.57	8.00 ± 0.97	8.03 ± 1.25	6.77 ± 1.72	.000*	<u>1.43</u>
Activity	Pre-Surgery	4.00 ± 3.27	3.25 ± 2.91	3.60 ± 2.99	N/A	.015*	<u>1.93</u>
	Post-Surgery	5.46 ± 2.22	5.56 ± 2.31	5.40 ± 2.28	N/A	.000*	0.68

Table 4.2: The self-reported outcome measures from the questionnaires for each group (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control. High effect size was indicated in **bold** and underlined, N/A = Not Applicable)

4.4.2 Walking

4.4.2.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparisons

There was no significant main effect in any of the planes or joints when comparing the medial and the lateral meniscectomies (p > 0.05; Table 4.3). The knee adduction moment during late stance showed a high effect size (ES = 0.83) (although no significance) with greater knee adduction moments in the lateral meniscectomy group (0.25 ± 0.08 , 0.83) compared to medial meniscectomy group (0.36 ± 0.17 ; Figure 4.5).

Table 4.3: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee motion and moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparing individuals following a medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during walking (*indicated significance. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

	The knee variables during stance phase	Medial meniscectomy	Lateral Meniscectomy		
	_	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES
	Peak knee flexion angle (°)	14.23 ± 4.73	16.53 ± 3.78	.923	0.54
	Peak knee adduction angle (°)	-2.26 ± 2.87	-3.95 ± 4.09	.206	0.48
Early stance phase (loading)	Peak knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.37 ± 0.27	0.35 ± 0.25	.946	0.08
(g)	Peak knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.39 ± 0.12	0.42 ± 0.18	.849	0.20
	Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	2.26 ± 3.93	3.97 ± 4.01	.257	0.43
	Peak vertical GRF (BW)	1.16 ± 0.07	1.13 ± 0.06	.251	0.46
	Peak knee flexion angle (°)	36.74 ± 6.29	35.13 ± 6.27	.870	0.26
Late Stance	Peak knee adduction (°)	-4.45 ± 4.32	-6.31 ± 5.01	.289	0.40
Phase (Propulsion)	Peak knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	-0.35 ± 0.16	-0.41 ± 0.12	.601	0.01
	Peak knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.25 ± 0.08	0.36 ± 0.17	.070	<u>0.83</u>
	Peak vertical GRF (BW)	1.14 ± 0.06	1.13 ± 0.08	.710	0.14



Figure 4.4:Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during walking



Figure 4.5: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during walking

4.4.2.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparisons

The walking speed between the individuals following meniscectomy $(1.42 \pm 0.15 \text{ m/s})$ and healthy controls $(1.41 \pm 0.15 \text{ m/s})$ was not significantly different (F_{1,48} = .07, p = .790) with a low effect size 0.07 (Table 4.4). During walking there were no significant main effects in all planes for knee angles, both during early and late stance (p > 0.05; Figure 4.6; Appendix 3). There was a statistically significant main effect for ankle plantarflexion angle ($F_{2,77} = 2.570$, p = 0.013) during late stance (Table 4.4). Greater dorsiflexion angle in late stance was observed for both the meniscectomy leg ($13.42 \pm 2.68^\circ$, p = .017) and the contralateral leg ($13.24 \pm 2.50^\circ$, p = .031) compared to the healthy control group (11.23 ± 3.01°). There was also a medium effect size in the meniscectomy leg (ES = 0.77) and the contralateral leg (ES = 0.73) in relation to the healthy control in ankle dorsiflexion in late stance. The knee adduction angle showed no significant main effect, however there was a significant difference in late stance between the meniscectomy leg ($-5.44 \pm 4.72^\circ$, p = 0.049) compared to the control individual ($-2.90 \pm 3.78^\circ$). The hip flexion angle showed a significant main effect in the early stance phase ($F_{2,77} = 3.304$, p = 0.002) and in the late stance phase (F_{2,77} = 3.158, p = 0.002), with greater hip flexion in the meniscectomy leg ($33.58 \pm 6.33^\circ$, p = .009) and contralateral leg ($33.49 \pm 6.96^\circ$, p = .010) compared to the healthy control group $(28.14 \pm 4.58^{\circ})$ during early. During late stance, the meniscectomy leg (-8.35 \pm 7.90°, p = .011) and contralateral leg (-6.71° \pm 8.32, p = .001) showed greater hip flexion compared to the healthy control group $(-14.96 \pm 6.11^{\circ})$. There was

also a large effect size in early and late stance hip flexion angle showing a large effect in the meniscectomy leg and contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls (ES > 0.8). The trunk flexion angle showed a significant main effect during walking ($F_{2,44} = 10.406$, p = 0.002). There was significantly greater lateral trunk flexion in the meniscectomy leg ($2.76 \pm 2.13^{\circ}$, p = 0.002) and the contralateral leg during early stance ($3.78 \pm 4.85^{\circ}$, p = 0.002) compared to the healthy controls ($0.59 \pm 1.31^{\circ}$) and in late stance for the contralateral leg (5.76 ± 3.78 , p = 0.012) compared to healthy controls ($-0.10 \pm 1.57^{\circ}$). There was also a large effect size during lateral trunk flexion (ES > 0.8) between the individuals following meniscectomy for both the meniscectomy leg and contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls in early and late stance.



Figure 4.6: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane motion comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individual (n = 20) during walking

Table 4.4: Average speed and peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during early and late stance during walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variables	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Co	ontrol	Meni vs (Contra	Contra	vs
									Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
			,	,						
	Speed (m/s)	1.42 ± 0.15	N/A	1.41 ± 0.15	.790	0.07	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Early	Ankle flexion angle (°)	-5.21 ± 3.92	-5.88 ± 3.04	-6.18 ± 2.30	.558	0.30	.706	0.19	.945	0.11
Stance phase	Ankle inversion angle (°)	-1.70 ± 12.19	-0.43 ± 5.76	-2.06 ± 7.06	.990	0.04	.848	0.13	.805	0.25
	Knee flexion angle (°)	16.86 ± 4.19	16.38 ± 5.53	13.52 ± 4.88	.054	0.73	.952	0.10	.114	0.55
	Knee adduction angle (°)	-3.16 ± 3.62	-2.85 ± 4.04	-1.16 ± 3.58	.061	0.56	.753	0.08	.138	0.44
	Hip flexion angle (°)	33.58 ± 6.33	33.49 ± 6.96	28.14 ± 4.58	.009*	<u>0.98</u>	.998	0.01	.010***	<u>0.91</u>
	Hip adduction angle (°)	6.74 ± 3.65	7.26 ± 3.83	6.50 ± 4.44	.975	0.06	.867	0.14	.780	0.18
	Pelvis tilt angle (°)	11.50 ± 4.72	11.76 ± 4.73	8.92 ± 4.03	.050	0.59	.833	0.06	.032***	0.65
	Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	2.76 ± 2.13	3.78 ± 4.85	0.59 ± 1.31	.002*	<u>1.23</u>	.564	0.27	.003***	<u>0.89</u>
Late	Ankle flexion angle (°)	13.42 ± 2.68	13.24 ± 2.50	11.23 ± 3.01	.017*	0.77	.966	0.07	.031***	0.73
Stance phase	Ankle inversion angle (°)	11.77 ± 12.77	12.46 ± 6.90	11.96 ± 6.95	.997	0.02	.958	0.07	.983	0.07
	Knee flexion angle (°)	35.88 ± 6.23	37.17 ± 6.71	39.17 ± 13.34	.392	0.32	.833	0.20	.706	0.19
	Knee adduction angle (°)	-5.44 ± 4.72	-4.40 ± 4.92	-2.90 ± 3.78	.049*	0.59	.404	0.22	.254	0.34
	Hip flexion angle (°)	-8.35 ± 7.90	-6.71 ± 8.32	-14.96 ± 6.11	.011*	<u>0.94</u>	.685	0.20	.001***	<u>1.13</u>
	Hip adduction angle (°)	6.61 ± 3.01	6.74 ± 3.28	6.11 ± 4.07	.866	0.14	.988	0.04	.798	0.17
	Pelvis tilt angle (°)	11.92 ± 4.77	11.99 ± 4.80	9.21 ± 3.98	.042*	0.62	.953	0.01	.037***	0.63
	Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	3.08 ± 2.00	4.08 ± 3.78	1.15 ± 1.68	.092	<u>1.04</u>	.562	0.33	.080	<u>1.00</u>

There was a significant main effect for knee flexion moment during walking in late stance phase ($F_{2,77} = 2.404$, p = 0.020; Table 4.5). The knee flexion moment was significantly reduced in the meniscectomy leg (-0.38 ± 0.42 Nm/kg, p = .044) compared to the healthy control group $(-0.49 \pm 0.17 \text{ Nm/kg})$, however, there was no significant difference between either the meniscectomy leg and the control leg compared to the contralateral leg (-0.43 \pm 0.15 Nm/kg, p > 0.05; Figure 4.7). This significant difference was seen to be the same as the SEM seen in the repeatability study, showing there is no minimal detectable difference highlighting no clinically meaningful result. There was also a large effect size in the late stance knee flexion moment comparing the individuals following meniscectomy to the healthy controls (ES =1.09). The ankle plantarflexion moments showed a significant main effect in late stance during walking ($F_{2.77} = -2.591$, p = 0.013). The plantarflexion moment was significantly lower in the meniscectomy leg during late stance $(1.45 \pm 0.17 \text{ Nm/kg}, p = 0.015)$ compared to the healthy controls (1.59 \pm 0.22 Nm/kg). The hip flexion moments showed a significant main effect in late stance during walking ($F_{2,77} = 3.769$, p < 0.001; Appendix 3). The hip flexion moment was significantly lower in the meniscectomy leg during late stance (-0.79 ± 0.24 Nm/kg, p = 0.003) compared to the healthy controls (-1.04 \pm 0.22 Nm/kg). There was no significant difference between the meniscectomy leg and the control leg compared to the contralateral leg in hip flexion moment during late stance (-0.89 \pm 0.28 Nm/kg, p > 0.0; Table 4.5). The effect sizes were low to moderate during walking for the moments in early and late stance. KAAI did not show a significant difference in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls, however there was a moderate effect size (ES = 0.66).



Figure 4.7: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during walking
Table 4.5: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments, vertical GRF during early and late stance, KAAI and medio-lateral centre of pressure during walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined

	Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni	VS	Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
					Control				Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
	Ankle flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.59 ± 0.14	0.57 ± 0.11	0.57 ± 0.13	.870	0.15	.684	0.16	.966	0.00
	Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.36 ± 0.25	0.45 ± 0.22	0.49 ± 0.21	.132	0.56	.343	0.38	.777	0.19
Early Stance	Knee adduction moment	0.40 ± 0.16	0.41 ± 0.12	0.46 ± 0.11	.338	0.44	.993	0.07	.392	0.43
phase	(Nm/kg)									
	Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.79 ± 0.23	0.82 ± 0.21	0.77 ± 0.26	.920	0.08	.914	0.14	.732	0.21
	Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.89 ± 0.15	0.87 ± 0.15	0.93 ± 0.12	.608	0.29	.942	0.13	.427	0.44
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.14 ± 0.08	1.15 ± 0.07	1.19 ± 0.30	.420	0.23	.621	0.13	.518	0.18
	Ankle flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.45 ± 0.17	1.53 ± 0.14	1.59 ± 0.22	.015*	0.71	.212	0.51	.386	0.33
	Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	-0.38 ± 0.14	-0.43 ± 0.15	-0.49 ± 0.17	.044*	0.71	.506	0.34	.330	0.37
Late	Knee adduction moment	0.31 ± 0.15	0.32 ± 0.11	0.34 ± 0.14	.697	0.21	.933	0.08	.876	0.16
phase	(Nm/kg)									
	Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	-0.79 ± 0.24	-0.89 ± 0.28	-1.04 ± 0.22	.003*	<u>1.09</u>	.293	0.38	.098	0.60
	Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.83 ± 0.14	0.83 ± 0.16	0.88 ± 0.11	.398	0.40	1.00	0.00	.388	0.36
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.13 ± 0.07	1.14 ± 0.07	1.15 ± 0.25	.757	0.11	.867	0.14	.804	0.05
	KAAI ((Nm/kg)*s)	0.12 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.06	0.15 ± 0.04	.089	0.66	.495	0.18	.505	0.39
	Medio-lateral centre of pressure	0.81 ± 0.26	0.82 ± 0.33	0.74 ± 0.25	.315	0.27	.959	0.03	.380	0.27
	position at touchdown (mm)									

4.4.2.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction

There was no significant main effect in the co-contraction ratio between the extensors (vastus medialis) and the flexors (biceps femoris) in both early and late stance phase of walking when comparing the individuals following meniscectomy to the contralateral leg and the healthy controls (p > 0.05; Table 4.6). There was also a low effect size for the co-contraction between extensor and flexors muscles.

There was a significant main effect in the co-activation between the medial (vastus medialis) and the lateral (vastus lateralis) extensor muscles in early stance ($F_{2,77} = 8.396$, p < 0.001) and in late stance ($F_{2,77} = 8.557$, p < 0.001). There was a greater lateral knee extensor co-contraction ratio during early stance in the meniscectomy leg (-0.74 ± 0.12, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (-0.70 ± 0.13, p < 0.001) compared to the healthy controls (0.13 ± 0.05; Table 4.6). There was also a significantly greater lateral knee extensor muscle activation ratio seen in late stance in the meniscectomy leg (-0.75 ± 0.07, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (-0.71 ± 0.07, p < 0.001)

compared to the healthy controls (-0.24 \pm 0.22). There was a large effect size in the cocontraction ratio between the medial and lateral extensor for early and late stance (ES >0.8; Table 4.6).

There was a significant main effect between the net muscle activation in early stance ($F_{2,77} = 7.550$, P = 0.001) and in late stance ($F_{2,77} = 7.498$, P = 0.001; Table 4.6). There was a significant increase in the net activation knee extensor muscle (vastus medialis, vastus lateralis) during early stance in the meniscectomy leg (0.69 ± 0.31 %MVC, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (0.73 ± 0.43 %MVC, p = 0.002) compared to the healthy controls (0.35 ± 0.30 %MVC; Table 4.6). On the contrary, there was a significant increase in the meniscectomy leg (0.63 ± 0.601) and contralateral leg (0.63 ± 0.50 %MVC, p = 0.002) compared to the healthy controls (0.23 ± 0.24 %MVC, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (0.63 ± 0.50 %MVC, p = 0.002) compared to the healthy controls (0.23 ± 0.16 %MVC; Figure 4.8). There was a large effect size in the net muscle activation for the extensor in early stance and flexors in late stance (ES > 0.8).



Figure 4.8: Sum of net activation of the knee extensors and flexors

Table 4.6: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during early and late stance phase in walking (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs (Control	Meni vs Contra		Contra vs Contro	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
	Co-contraction	0.27 ± 0.47	0.40 ± 0.45	0.29 ± 0.50	.851	0.04	.296	0.28	.456	0.23
	Extensor/Flexor ratio									
Early	Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.75 ± 0.07	-0.71 ± 0.07	0.13 ± 0.05	.000*	<u>14.45</u>	.259	0.57	.000***	<u>13.81</u>
Stance phase	ratio									
•	Net activation knee extensors	0.69 ± 0.31	0.73 ± 0.43	0.35 ± 0.30	.000*	<u>1.11</u>	.737	0.11	.002***	<u>1.02</u>
	(%MVC)									
	Net activation knee flexors	0.52 ± 0.37	0.52 ± 0.38	0.31 ± 0.36	.067	0.58	.957	0.00	.064	0.57
	(%MVC)									
	Co-contraction	0.02 ± 0.52	0.16 ± 0.45	-0.01 ± 0.45	.867	0.06	.320	0.29	.237	0.38
	Extensor/Flexor ratio									
T /	Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.74 ± 0.12	-0.70 ± 0.13	-0.24 ± 0.22	.000*	<u>2.82</u>	.557	0.32	.000***	<u>2.55</u>
Late Stance	ratio									
phase	Net activation knee extensors	0.22 ± 0.13	0.21 ± 0.12	0.18 ± 0.12	.357	0.32	.814	0.08	.469	0.25
	(%MVC)									
	Net activation knee flexors	0.54 ± 0.24	0.63 ± 0.50	0.23 ± 0.16	.000*	<u>1.51</u>	.379	0.23	.002***	<u>1.08</u>
	(%MVC)									

4.4.3 Running

4.4.3.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison

There was no significant main effect in any of the planes or joints when comparing the medial and the lateral meniscectomies (p > 0.05; Figure 4.10). The main outcomes of the knee were reported in Table 4.7 to highlight there was no significance. There were low to moderate effect sizes in individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy.

Table 4.7: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee motion and moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparing individuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during running (*indicated the results were significantly different between medial and lateral meniscectomy. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

	The knee variables during stance phase	Medial meniscector	my	Lateral Meniscectomy		
	-	Mean, SD		Mean, SD	P value	ES
	Knee flexion angle (°)	34.12 ± 6.88		35.15 ± 5.83	.885	0.16
Early stance phase (loading)	Knee adduction angle (°)	-5.77 ± 4.65		-5.65 ± 6.03	.953	0.02
	Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	0.86 ± 0.39		0.81 ± 0.39	.749	0.13
	Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.64 ± 0.31		0.56 ± 0.29	.740	0.27
	Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	6.95 ± 5.13		5.38 ± 5.91	.290	0.44
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.96 ± 0.37		1.86 ± 0.29	.415	0.30
Late Stance	Knee flexion angle (°)	31.98 ± 8.39		35.35 ± 9.18	.507	0.38
Phase	Knee adduction (°)	-4.18 ± 5.23		-6.22 ± 5.14	.298	0.39
(Propulsion)	Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.70 ± 0.38		1.64 ± 0.70	.956	0.11
	Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.65 ± 0.25		0.62 ± 0.35	.964	0.10
	Vertical GRF (BW)	2.33 ± 0.26		2.28 ± 0.34	.668	0.17



Figure 4.9: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during running



Figure 4.10: Sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy during running

4.4.3.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison

The running speed between individuals following meniscectomy $(3.59 \pm 0.67 \text{ m/s})$ and healthy controls $(3.40 \pm 0.51 \text{ m/s})$ was not significantly different (F_{1,48} = 1.11, p = 0.298) with a low effect size of 0.33 (Table 4.8). During running there were no statistically significant main effects for knee flexion and knee adduction angles (p > 0.05; Figure 4.11), nor was there a significant main effect for ankle plantarflexion (p > 0.05; Table 4.8). During running there was a statistically significant main effect for hip flexion angle during late stance phase ($F_{2.77}$ = 2.977, p = 0.005; Appendix 3). There was also a large effect size for hip flexion angle during running in late stance between the individuals following meniscectomy and the healthy controls (ES > 0.8). Significantly reduced hip flexion angle in late stance was observed for both the meniscectomy leg ($13.42 \pm 2.68^\circ$, P = .017) and the contralateral leg ($-2.99 \pm 7.80^\circ$, p < 0.001) compared to the healthy control group (-11.61 \pm 6.59°). The trunk flexion angle showed a significant main effect during walking ($F_{2,44} = 16.177$, p < 0.001). There was significantly greater lateral trunk flexion in the individuals following meniscectomy in early stance for the meniscectomy leg (6.27 \pm 4.13°, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (5.43 \pm 3.64°, p < 0.001) compared to the healthy controls $(1.05 \pm 1.79^{\circ})$. There was significantly greater lateral trunk flexion in the individuals following meniscectomy in late stance for the meniscectomy leg (6.13) \pm 3.43°, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (5.40 \pm 3.45°, p < 0.001) compared to the healthy controls $(1.03 \pm 2.58^{\circ})$. There was a large effect size in trunk lean between individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls (ES > 0.8).



Figure 4.11: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during running

Table 4.8: Average speed, peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during early and late stance of running (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Control		Meni vs (Contra	Contra	vs
									Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
	Speed (m/s)	3.59 ± .67		3.40 ± .51	.298	0.33	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
. Т. I.	Ankle flexion angle (°)	21.04 ± 3.16	23.16 ± 3.32	21.96 ± 5.03	.678	0.22	.087	0.65	.517	0.28
Early Stance	Ankle inversion angle (°)	7.61 ± 6.43	5.95 ± 6.08	5.68 ± 5.60	.525	0.32	.558	0.27	.987	0.05
phase	Knee flexion angle (°)	34.68 ± 6.22	33.90 ± 5.62	34.30 ± 5.57	.971	0.06	.866	0.13	.971	0.07
	Knee adduction angle (°)	-5.70 ± 5.36	-5.26 ± 4.92	-3.88 ± 3.48	.189	0.40	.746	0.09	.286	0.32
	Hip flexion angle (°)	37.31 ± 8.32	38.04 ± 8.77	32.12 ± 5.59	.068	0.73	.934	0.09	.031***	<u>0.81</u>
	Hip adduction angle (°)	11.27 ± 4.60	11.68 ± 4.31	12.27 ± 3.67	.701	0.24	.928	0.09	.885	0.15
	Pelvis tilt angle (°)	20.39 ± 4.86	22.45 ± 4.59	16.29 ± 3.81	.003*	<u>0.93</u>	.958	0.44	.002***	<u>1.46</u>
	Trunk lateral flexion	6.27 ± 4.13	5.43 ± 3.64	1.05 ± 1.79	.000*	<u>1.64</u>	.510	0.22	.000***	<u>1.53</u>
	angle (°)									
Lata	Ankle flexion angle (°)	-25.80 ± 8.11	-25.14 ± 7.81	-30.54 ± 5.17	.074	0.70	.938	0.08	.036***	<u>0.82</u>
Stance	Ankle inversion angle (°)	9.61 ± 6.08	8.73 ± 5.92	10.93 ± 6.40	.739	0.21	.845	0.15	.431	0.36
phase	Knee flexion angle (°)	33.84 ± 8.85	32.97 ± 8.23	31.59 ± 6.86	.610	0.28	.912	0.10	.831	0.18
	Knee adduction angle (°)	-5.31 ± 5.19	-5.92 ± 5.11	-4.19 ± 3.61	.411	0.25	.655	0.12	.201	0.39
	Hip flexion angle (°)	-5.39 ± 8.23	-2.99 ± 7.80	-11.61 ± 6.59	.018*	<u>0.83</u>	.463	0.30	.001***	<u>1.19</u>
	Hip adduction angle (°)	3.26 ± 4.39	3.43 ± 2.56	2.75 ± 3.73	.849	0.13	.978	0.05	.749	0.21
	Pelvis tilt angle (°)	21.79 ± 4.39	22.74 ± 4.56	19.63 ± 4.09	.089	0.51	.422	0.21	.018***	0.71
	Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	6.13 ± 3.43	5.40 ± 3.45	1.03 ± 2.58	.000*	<u>1.68</u>	.518	0.21	.000***	<u>1.43</u>

There was a significant main effect in the knee flexion moment during running in late stance phase ($F_{2,77} = -2.883$, p = 0.006; Figure 4.12). The knee flexion moment was significantly lower in the meniscectomy leg (1.67 \pm 0.57 Nm/kg, p = .018) compared to the healthy control group $(2.08 \pm 0.29 \text{ Nm/kg})$ during late stance phase. The contralateral leg was also significantly higher $(2.17 \pm 0.54 \text{ Nm/kg}, \text{ p} < .001)$ compared to the meniscectomy leg $(1.67 \pm 0.57 \text{ Nm/kg}, \text{ p} < .001)$ Table 4.9). There was also a large effect size in knee flexion moment between the meniscectomy leg and the healthy controls in late stance (ES = 0.91). There was also a medium effect size in the knee adduction moment (ES = 0.57) with a greater knee adduction moment in the meniscectomy leg (0.59 \pm 0.29 Nm/kg) compared to the control group (0.44 \pm 0.23 Nm/kg), however, there was no significant difference. There was a significant main effect during ankle plantarflexion moment during running late stance phase ($F_{2,77} = -3.699$, p = 0.001). The ankle plantar flexion moment was significantly lower in the meniscectomy leg (2.50 ± 0.48) Nm/kg, p = .002) compared to the healthy control group $(3.00 \pm 0.44 \text{ Nm/kg})$ and the contralateral leg was also significantly lower (2.52 ± 0.52 Nm/kg, p =.003) compared to the control group (Table 4.9). During running it can also be seen that the individuals following meniscectomy apply pressure on significantly less percentage of the foot, therefore showing greater heel strike foot strike patterns in the individuals following meniscectomy (28.80 ± 15.51 % footlength; p = .034) compared to the healthy controls (41.75 ± 22.88 % footlength).



Figure 4.12: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during running

Table 4.9: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments, vertical GRF during early and late stance, KAAI and medio-lateral centre of pressure during running (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect sizes were indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs		vs Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
					Control	l			Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Р	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
					Value					
	Ankle flexion moment	0.22 ± 0.34	0.21 ± 0.36	0.18 ± 0.36	.945	0.11	.999	0.03	.956	0.08
	(Nm/kg)									
Early	Knee flexion moment	0.83 ± 0.39	0.95 ± 0.37	0.93 ± 0.33	.326	0.28	.236	0.32	.871	0.06
Stance phase	(Nm/kg)									
1	Knee adduction moment	0.59 ± 0.29	0.55 ± 0.34	0.44 ± 0.23	.174	0.57	.838	0.13	.402	0.38
	(Nm/kg)									
	Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.90 ± 0.73	1.78 ± 0.72	1.57 ± 0.56	.225	0.51	.798		.526	0.33
								0.17		
	Hip adduction moment	1.32 ± 0.37	1.25 ± 0.44	1.24 ± 0.41	.858	0.20	.850	0.17	.999	0.02
	(Nm/kg)									
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.91 ± 0.33	1.97 ± 0.38	1.91 ± 0.47	.985	0.00	.530	0.17	.641	0.14
	Ankle flexion moment	2.50 ± 0.48	2.52 ± 0.52	3.00 ± 0.44	.002*	<u>1.09</u>	.984	0.04	.003***	<u>1.00</u>
	(Nm/kg)									
T (Knee flexion moment	1.67 ± 0.57	2.17 ± 0.54	2.08 ± 0.29	.018*	<u>0.91</u>	.001**	<u>0.90</u>	.779	0.21
Late Stance	(Nm/kg)									
phase	Knee adduction moment	0.64 ± 0.30	0.52 ± 0.31	0.54 ± 0.30	.525	0.33	.287	0.39	.956	0.07
	(Nm/kg)									
	Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.04 ± 0.72	0.94 ± 0.67	0.73 ± 0.50	.240	0.50	.831	0.14	.515	0.36
	Hip adduction moment	1.94 ± 0.33	1.90 ± 0.38	1.81 ± 0.34	.488	0.39	.938	0.11	.680	0.25
	(Nm/kg)									
	Vertical GRF (BW)	2.30 ± 0.31	2.33 ± 0.29	2.44 ± 0.45	.189	0.36	.666	0.10	.305	0.29
	KAAI ((Nm/kg)*s)	0.05 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.05	0.05 ± 0.05	.965	0.00	.769	0.00	.930	0.00
	Medio-lateral centre of	0.87 ± 0.21	0.96 ± 0.26	0.88 ± 0.26	.917	0.04	.222	0.38	.327	0.31
	pressure position (mm)									
	Antero-posterior centre of	28.80 ± 15.51	29.26 ± 17.42	41.75 ± 22.88	.034*	0.04	.916	0.38	.054	0.31
	pressure (%foot length)									

4.4.3.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction

There was no significant main effect in the co-activation between the extensors and flexors muscles in early stance ($F_{2,77} = 2.958$, p > 0.05). The knee extensors were more active compared to the flexors, showing a significantly lower co-activation ratio during early stance in the meniscectomy leg (0.34 ± 0.40 , p = 0.011) compared to the healthy controls (0.62 ± 0.21 ; Table 4.10). There was a significantly lower knee extensor muscle activation ratio seen in late stance in the contralateral leg (0.39 ± 0.43 , p = 0.023) compared to the healthy controls (0.10 ± 0.31).

There was a large effect size in the co-contraction ratio between the knee extensor and flexor in early stance (ES >0.8; Table 4.10).

There was no significant main effect between the net extensor and flexor muscle activation in late stance ($F_{2,77} = 1.184$, p > 0.05; Table 4.10). There was, however, a significant increase in the net muscle knee flexor activation (semimembranosus, biceps femoris) during late stance in the meniscectomy leg (1.35 ± 0.76 %MVC, p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (1.26 ± 0.69 %MVC, p < 0.001) compared to the healthy controls (0.54 ± 0.12 %MVC). There was a large effect size in the net muscle activation for the flexors in late stance (ES > 0.8)

Table 4.10: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during early and late stance of running (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variable		Contra	Control	Meni vs (Control	Meni vs Contra		Contra vs Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
	Co-contraction	0.34 ± 0.40	0.48 ± 0.42	0.62 ± 0.21	.011*	<u>0.88</u>	.278	0.34	.184	0.42
	Extensor/Flexor ratio									
Early	Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.16 ± 0.52	-0.13 ± 0.42	0.03 ± 0.43	.240	0.40	.834	0.06	.264	0.38
Stance phase	ratio									
-	Net activation knee extensors	2.47 ± 2.50	2.41 ± 1.49	2.06 ± 0.78	.501	0.22	.928	0.03	.360	0.29
	(%MVC)									
	Net activation knee flexors	1.42 ± 1.14	1.32 ± 1.35	0.86 ± 0.43	.087	0.65	.767	0.08	.232	0.46
	(%MVC)									
	Co-contraction	0.29 ± 0.48	0.39 ± 0.43	0.10 ± 0.31	.172	0.47	.470	0.22	.023***	0.77
	Extensor/Flexor ratio									
Lata	Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.17 ± 0.52	-0.14 ± 0.48	0.01 ± 0.45	.255	0.37	.795	0.06	.355	0.32
Stance	ratio									
phase	Net activation knee extensors	0.39 ± 0.73	0.71 ± 0.82	0.46 ± 0.24	.660	0.13	.156	0.41	.220	0.41
	(%MVC)									
	Net activation knee flexors	1.35 ± 0.76	1.26 ± 0.69	0.54 ± 0.12	.000*	<u>1.49</u>	.640	0.12	.000***	<u>1.45</u>
	(%MVC)									

4.4.4 Landing

4.4.4.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison

There was no significant main effect in any of the planes or joints when comparing the medial and the lateral meniscectomies during landing (p > 0.05; Figure 4.14). The main outcomes of the knee were reported in Table 4.11 to highlight there was no significance. There were low to medium effect sizes in the knee when comparing individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy (ES < 0.8).

Table 4.11: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparing individuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during landing (*indicated significance. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

The knee variables during stance phase	Medial meniscecto	omy	Lateral Meniscectomy		
	Mean, SD		Mean, SD	P value	ES
Knee flexion angle (°)	62.70 ± 15.29		56.73 ± 11.60	.451	0.44
Frontal plane knee motion (°)	-1.00 ± 3.87		-0.73 ± 5.33	.988	0.06
Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.28 ± 0.39		1.08 ± 0.43	.313	0.49
Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.46 ± 0.14		0.44 ± 0.18	.979	0.12
Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	3.66 ± 6.91		5.88 ± 8.67	.117	0.67
Vertical GRF (BW)	2.00 ± 0.40		2.00 ± 0.42	.991	0.00



Figure 4.13: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during landing



Figure 4.14: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during landing

4.4.4.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison

During landing, there was a statistically significant main effect for knee adduction angle ($F_{2,77}$ = -0.442, p > 0.005; Figure 4.15). Lower knee adduction angle was observed in the meniscectomy leg (-0.85 ± 4.66°) compared to both the healthy control group (-3.42 ± 4.73°, p = 0.010) and compared to the contralateral leg (-2.78 ± 5.22°, p = 0.016; Table 4.12). There was a large effect size in the knee adduction angle between the individuals following meniscectomy and the healthy control (ES = 0.91). There was no significant main effect for ankle plantarflexion, knee flexion, hip flexion and hip adduction angles (p > 0.05; Appendix 3). There was a low effect size in ankle plantarflexion, knee flexion, hip flexion and hip adduction angles (ES < 0.5).



Figure 4.15: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during landing

Table 4.12: Average speed, peak ankle, knee, hip and trunk motion during landing from foot contact until maximum knee flexion (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control)

Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Co	ontrol	Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
								Control	
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Ankle flexion angle (°)	20.90 ± 6.61	22.50 ± 6.92	19.40 ± 8.29	.754	0.20	.674	0.24	.304	0.41
Frontal plane knee motion (°)	59.41 ± 13.47	55.43 ± 15.17	57.54 ± 9.76	.880	0.16	.494	0.28	.849	0.17
Knee adduction angle (°)	-0.85 ± 4.66	2.78 ± 5.22	3.42 ± 4.73	.010*	<u>0.91</u>	.016**	0.73	.893	0.13
Hip flexion angle (°)	53.87 ± 16.40	54.98 ± 19.42	49.34 ± 11.47	.616	0.32	.965	0.06	.474	0.35
Hip adduction angle (°)	-0.17 ± 5.46	1.52 ± 9.08	1.12 ± 6.00	.810	0.22	.810	0.23	.640	0.05
Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	4.14 ± 4.39	3.48 ± 4.69	2.38 ± 2.55	.196	0.49	.723	0.15	.405	0.31
				1			1		1

There was a significant main effect for maximum knee flexion moment during landing ($F_{2,77}$ = -3.585, p = 0.001; Table 4.13). The knee flexion moment was significantly lower in the meniscectomy leg (1.17 ± 0.42 Nm/kg, p = 0.003) compared to the healthy control group (1.54 \pm 0.23 Nm/kg) and compared to the contralateral leg (1.60 \pm 0.39 Nm/kg, p < 0.001; Figure 4.16). There was a large effect size in knee flexion moment between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls for both the meniscectomy leg (ES = 1.09) and contralateral leg (ES = 1.06). The ankle plantarflexion moments showed a significant main effect during landing ($F_{2,77} = -2.580$, p = 0.013). There was a significantly lower plantarflexion moment in the meniscectomy leg (1.58 ± 0.35 Nm/kg, p = 0.047) compared to the healthy controls (1.82 ± 0.29 Nm/kg) and between the contralateral leg (1.58 ± 0.38 Nm/kg, p = 0.040) and the healthy control leg. The hip flexion moments showed a significant main effect during landing ($F_{2,77}$ = 3.360, p = 0.002). There was a significantly lower hip flexion moment in the meniscectomy leg (-0.54 \pm 0.70 Nm/kg, p = 0.013) compared to the healthy controls (-1.29 \pm 0.86 Nm/kg). There was a significantly greater vertical GRF in the contralateral leg $(2.23 \pm 0.33 \text{ BW}; \text{ p} =$.022) compared to the meniscectomy leg (2.00 \pm 0.40). There was a moderate effect size between the contralateral leg and the meniscectomy leg in vertical GRF (ES = 0.63).



Figure 4.16: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during landing

Table 4.13: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments and vertical GRF during landing between foot contact until maximum knee flexion (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Control		Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
								Control	
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Ankle flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.58 ± 0.35	1.58 ± 0.38	1.82 ± 0.29	.047*	0.75	.997	0.00	.040***	0.71
Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.17 ± 0.42	1.60 ± 0.39	1.54 ± 0.23	.003*	<u>1.09</u>	.000**	<u>1.06</u>	.884	0.19
Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.44 ± 0.16	0.33 ± 0.29	0.47 ± 0.33	.958	0.12	.243	0.47	.196	0.45
Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	-0.54 ± 0.70	-0.94 ± 1.06	-1.29 ± 0.86	.013*	<u>0.96</u>	.217	0.44	.353	0.36
Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	1.15 ± 0.49	1.17 ± 0.40	1.11 ± 0.31	.943	0.10	.984	0.04	.881	0.17
Vertical GRF (BW)	2.00 ± 0.40	2.23 ± 0.33	1.97 ± 0.42	.891	0.07	.022**	0.63	.080	0.69

4.4.4.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction

There was a significant main effect in the co-activation between the extensors and flexors muscles ($F_{2,77} = 7.303$, p = 0.002). The knee extensors were more active compared to the flexors, showing a significantly lower co-contraction ratio in the contralateral leg (0.74 ± 0.16 , p = 0.002) compared to the healthy controls (0.26 ± 0.52 ; Table 4.14), with the values being closer to 1. There was also a large effect size in the co-contraction between knee extensor and flexor for both the meniscectomy leg and contralateral leg compared the healthy controls (ES > 0.8).

There was no significant main effect between the net extensor and flexor muscle activation ($F_{2,77} = 3.119$, p = 0.053; Table 4.14). There was however, a significant increase in the net muscle knee flexor activation (semimembranosus, biceps femoris) in the contralateral leg (0.63 \pm 0.45 % MVC, p = 0.007) compared to the healthy controls (0.36 ± 0.12 % MVC). There was a large effect size in the net muscle activation for the flexors in both the meniscectomy leg and contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls (ES > 0.8).

Table 4.14: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during landing (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs (eni vs Control Meni vs		Contra	Contra vs Contr	
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Co-contraction	0.59 ± 0.22	0.74 ± 0.16	0.26 ± 0.52	.059	<u>0.83</u>	.058	0.78	.002***	<u>1.25</u>
Extensor/Flexor ratio									
Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.11 ± 0.43	0.16 ± 0.39	0.13 ± 0.48	.163	0.53	.349	0.66	.502	0.07
ratio									
Net activation knee extensors	1.93 ± 1.20	2.11 ± 1.27	1.43 ± 0.54	.156	0.54	.641	0.15	.070	0.70
(%MVC)									
Net activation knee flexors	0.63 ± 0.45	0.71 ± 0.33	0.36 ± 0.12	.078	<u>0.82</u>	.523	0.20	.007***	<u>1.41</u>
(%MVC)									

4.4.5 Change of direction

4.4.5.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison

There was no significant main effect in any of the planes or joints when comparing the medial and the lateral meniscectomies (p > 0.05; Figure 4.18). The main outcomes for the knee were reported in Table 4.15. The knee abduction moment was significantly higher in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy (-0.31 ± 0.46 Nm/kg, p = 0.026) compared to the individuals following medial meniscectomy (-0.10 ± 0.56 Nm/kg). There was a moderate effect size for the adduction moment and medial trunk lean (ES > 0.50).

Table 4.15: Peak sagittal and frontal plane knee moments, vertical GRF and lateral trunk lean comparing individuals following a medial and lateral meniscectomy during change of direction (*indicated significance. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

The knee variables during stance phase	Medial meniscecto	omy	Lateral Me	niscectomy	iscectomy		
	Mean, SD		Mean, SD	P value	ES		
Knee flexion angle (°)	47.23 ± 11.89		49.11 ± 11.16	.932	0.16		
Frontal plane knee motion (°)	-8.56 ± 5.39		-8.87 ± 4.78	.879	0.03		
Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.39 ± 0.39		1.52 ± 0.87	.849	0.19		
Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	-0.52 ± 0.32		-0.78 ± 0.38	.070	0.74		
Trunk lateral flexion angle (°)	-2.36 ± 9.81		-4.04 ± 7.57	.174	0.53		
Vertical GRF (BW)	1.57 ± 0.21		1.69 ± 0.27	.232	0.50		



Figure 4.17: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during change of direction



Figure 4.18: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing individuals following medial (n = 13) and lateral (n = 16) meniscectomy during change of direction

4.4.5.2 Meniscectomy and healthy comparison

During the change of direction task, there were no statistically significant main effects for knee flexion or adduction angles (p > 0.05; Figure 4.19). There was no significance for ankle plantarflexion angle, hip flexion and hip adduction angle (p > 0.05; Table 4.16). There were low effect sizes for all joint angles (ES < 0.5). The trunk flexion angle showed a significant main effect during change of direction ($F_{2,44} = 8.903$, p = 0.005). There was significantly greater medial trunk flexion over the standing leg in the individuals following meniscectomy in both the meniscectomy leg (-10.22 ± 7.47°, p = 0.025) and contralateral leg (-11.07 ± 7.16°, p = 0.011) compared to the healthy controls (-4.59 ± 4.72°). The was also a large effect size in trunk lean angle between the meniscectomy leg and the healthy control (ES > 0.80).



Figure 4.19: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during change of direction

Table 4.16: Average approach and exit speed, peak ankle, knee, hip, pelvis and trunk motion during change of direction (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Control		Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
								Control	
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Approach Speed (m/s)	3.95 ± 0.60	3.99 ± 0.45	4.18 ± 0.67	.219	0.36	.956	0.11	.456	0.26
Exit Speed (m/s)	2.34 ± 0.32	2.25 ± 0.26	2.52 ± 0.35	.070	0.54	.875	0.24	.238	0.34
Ankle flexion angle (°)	9.80 ± 6.38	14.07 ± 8.03	11.87 ± 5.95	.523	0.34	.063	0.59	.568	0.31
Knee flexion angle (°)	48.27 ± 11.33	44.29 ± 18.47	50.25 ± 8.80	.877	0.20	.526	0.26	.311	0.41
Knee adduction angle (°)	-8.74 ± 4.95	-6.69 ± 6.16	-7.57 ± 4.97	.433	0.58	.183	0.48	.598	0.10
Hip flexion angle (°)	42.06 ± 10.90	38.82 ± 15.98	41.16 ± 10.43	.969	0.08	.607	0.24	.808	0.17
Hip adduction angle (°)	-6.55 ± 7.29	-5.30 ± 7.05	-7.37 ± 7.65	.927	0.11	.817	0.17	.608	0.28
Pelvic tilt angle (°)	22.78 ± 7.55	23.15 ± 6.23	21.23 ± 4.68	.679	0.25	.975	0.05	.572	0.35
Trunk flexion angle (°)	-10.22 ± 7.47	-11.07 ± 7.16	-4.59 ± 4.72	.025*	<u>0.90</u>	.750	0.12	.011***	<u>1.07</u>

There was no significant main effect in the knee flexion and knee abduction moments, nor was there any significant difference in the hip flexion, hip adduction moments and ankle plantarflexion (p > 0.05; Figure 4.20). There was, however, a significantly lower plantarflexion moment in the contralateral leg (2.21 \pm 0.29 Nm/kg, P = 0.035) compared to the healthy controls (1.89 \pm 0.53 Nm/kg). There was a low to moderate effect size in all joint moments during change of direction. There was a moderate effect size (ES = 0.73) in knee flexion moment, showing a reduced knee flexion moment in the meniscectomy leg (1.47 \pm 0.71 Nm/kg) compared to the healthy controls (1.89 \pm 0.40 Nm/kg).



Figure 4.20: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments comparing the meniscectomy leg (n = 29), contralateral leg (n = 29) and control individuals (n = 20) during change of direction

Table 4.17: Peak ankle, knee, hip moments and vertical GRF during change of direction (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy (Meni) and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral (Contra) *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

	Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs		Meni vs Contra		Contra	VS
					Control				Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
	Ankle flexion moment (Nm/kg)	2.01 ± 0.41	2.21 ± 0.29	1.89 ± 0.53	.586	0.25	.218	0.56	.035***	0.75
	Knee flexion moment (Nm/kg)	1.47 ± 0.71	1.80 ± 0.64	1.89 ± 0.40	.059	0.73	.153	0.49	.866	0.17
	Knee adduction moment (Nm/kg)	-0.67 ± 0.37	-0.59 ± 0.46	-0.53 ± 0.63	.366	0.27	.529	0.19	.724	0.11
	Hip flexion moment (Nm/kg)	2.30 ± 0.94	2.36 ± 1.15	2.07 ± 0.89	.736	0.25	.971	0.06	.615	0.28
	Hip adduction moment (Nm/kg)	0.42 ± 0.45	0.39 ± 0.78	0.78 ± 0.79	.197	0.56	.990	0.05	.160	0.50
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.63 ± 0.25	1.61 ± 0.41	1.73 ± 0.28	.276	0.38	.819	0.06	.330	0.34

4.4.5.3 Muscle activation and co-contraction

There was a significant main effect in the co-contraction ratio between the extensors (vastus medialis) and the flexors (biceps femoris) in for change of direction when comparing the individuals following meniscectomy to the contralateral leg and the healthy controls ($F_{2,77} = 12.194$, p < 0.001). The extensors were seen to be more active than the flexors, showing a significantly greater co-contraction ratio in the meniscectomy leg (0.27 ± 0.30 , p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (0.33 ± 0.31 , p = 0.001) compared to the healthy controls (0.78 ± 0.36 ; Table 4.18). There was also a large effect size for the co-contraction ratio between extensor and flexors muscles (ES >0.8). There was a significantly greater lateral (vastus lateralis) extensor muscles ($F_{2,77} = 30.233$, p < 0.001). There was a significantly greater lateral knee extensor muscle co-contraction ratio seen in the meniscectomy leg (-0.11 ± 0.39 , p < 0.001) and contralateral leg (-0.07 ± 0.37 , p < 0.001) compared to the healthy controls (0.71 ± 0.25). There was a large effect size in the co-contraction ratio set in the co-contraction ratio between the medial extensor for change of direction (ES >0.8).

There was no significant main effect between the net extensor and flexor muscle activation in late stance ($F_{2,77} = 1.196$, P >0.05; Table 4.18). There was however, a significant increase in the net muscle knee extensor activation (vastus medialis, vastus lateralis) in the contralateral leg (1.75 ± 0.63 %MVC, p = 0.022) compared to the healthy controls (2.47 ± 0.92 %MVC).

Table 4.18: Co-contraction ratio, sum of net activation of the knee flexors and knee extensors during change of
direction (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated
significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and
control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

Variable	Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs Control		Meni vs Contra		Contra vs Control	
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Co-contraction	0.27 ± 0.30	0.33 ± 0.31	0.78 ± 0.36	.000*	<u>1.54</u>	.616	0.20	.001***	<u>1.34</u>
Extensor/Flexor ratio									
Co-contraction Medial/Lateral	-0.11 ± 0.39	-0.07 ± 0.37	0.71 ± 0.25	.000*	<u>2.50</u>	.731	0.11	.000***	<u>2.47</u>
ratio									
Net activation knee extensors	2.37 ± 1.40	1.75 ± 0.63	2.47 ± 0.92	.819	0.08	.123	0.57	.022***	<u>0.91</u>
(%MVC)									
Net activation knee flexors	1.36 ± 0.67	1.49 ± 0.77	1.06 ± 0.51	.207	0.50	.586	0.18	.111	0.66
(%MVC)									

4.4.6 Functional measures

There was a significant main effect between the isometric peak torque ($F_{2,77} = 7.057$, P = 0.002). There was a significantly lower peak torque in the individuals following meniscectomy (2.46 \pm 0.56 Nm/kg, P = 0.002) and contralateral leg (2.77 \pm 0.80 Nm/kg, P = 0.045) compared to the healthy controls (3.23 \pm 0.59 Nm/kg; Table 4.19). There was a large effect size in peak torque between the individuals following meniscectomy and the healthy controls (ES > 0.8). There was a significantly lower reach distance during the Y balance task in the anterior direction in the meniscectomy leg (97.03 \pm 6.81 %Leg length, P = 0.048) compared to the control leg (103.71 \pm 3.52 %Leg length). There was also a significant reduction in reach distance during the Y balance task in the posterolateral direction in the meniscectomy leg (93.33 \pm 4.35 % Leg length, P = 0.049) compared to the control leg (97.40 \pm 5.77 % Leg length) and the contralateral leg (98.15 \pm 6.66 % Leg length, P = 0.033). There was a large effect size in reach distance between the meniscectomy leg and the healthy leg during anterior reach (ES = 1.23), and there was a large effect size in the contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls for anterior reach distance (ES = 1.35) and mediolateral reach distance (ES = 1.39).

Table 4.19: Peak isometric torque and average peak y-balance reach distance comparing the meniscectomy leg, contralateral leg and control individual (*indicated the results were significantly different between meniscectomy and control ** indicated significance between meniscectomy and contralateral and *** indicated significance between contralateral and control. High effect size was indicated in bold and underlined)

		Meni	Contra	Control	Meni vs		Meni vs Contra		Contra	vs
Variable					Control				Control	
		Mean, SD	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P Value	ES	P Value	ES	P Value	ES
Peak Torque (Nm/kg)		2.46 ± 0.56	2.77 ± 0.80	3.23 ± 0.59	.000*	<u>1.34</u>	.120	0.45	.045***	0.65
Y-Balance (% leg	Anterior	97.03 ± 6.81	97.54 ± 5.43	103.71 ± 3.52	.048*	<u>1.23</u>	.763	0.08	.185	<u>1.35</u>
lengui)	Posterolateral	93.33 ± 4.35	98.15 ± 6.66	97.40 ± 5.77	.428	0.33	.384	0.43	.477	0.12
	Mediolateral	91.11 ± 9.01	87.22 ± 5.89	95.56 ± 6.08	.710	0.58	.123	0.51	.074	<u>1.39</u>

4.5 Discussion

Despite information about contributing factors and underlying mechanisms of meniscus injuries and the progression to knee OA, there is still a lack in the current literature on specific movement patterns and the effect of how loads are applied in sports in individual's post-meniscectomy. To the authors knowledge, this is the first study to look at the biomechanical differences between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy and a combination

of sport-specific tasks such as running, landing and particularly change of direction in individuals following meniscectomy. Therefore, the first aim of this study was to compare knee loading and offloading strategies between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy. The second aim was to analyse knee loading during functional and sport-specific tasks and the third objective was looking at outcomes that influence knee loading following meniscectomy such as balance, muscle weakness and activity, kinesiophobia, and quality of life. The findings show that there were no significant differences in outcomes between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomies. In relation to knee loading, there were significant differences in individuals following meniscectomy in sport-specific movements compared to healthy controls. An increase in knee loading was found with the reduced knee flexion moment (KFM), increased muscle activation, joint stiffness, and poor self-reported outcomes following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls were observed. In this study, the external knee adduction moments (EKAM) were not significantly greater as demonstrated in previous research, which may be due to the early stages of rehabilitation and could be indicators for future OA progression (Hall et al., 2015; Sturnieks et al., 2008; Thorlund et al., 2016).

4.5.1 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparisons

When considering knee loading, the medial and lateral compartments of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004). On the contrary to H₁ hypothesis, there were no significant differences in kinetic or kinematics for running, landing and change of direction tasks between the individuals following medial meniscectomy and the individuals following lateral meniscectomy. During walking there was no significant differences between medial and lateral meniscectomies in any lower limb joints. There was however, a large effect size (ES = 0.83) in the EKAM during walking. Wilken et al., (2012) analysed the meaningful detectable difference in walking and found for the EKAM in early stance the meaningful detectable difference was 0.10 Nm/kg and in late stance it was 0.15 Nm/kg. In the current study, there was a difference of 0.11 Nm/kg in late stance for EKAM between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy. The difference was also greater than the 0.06 Nm/kg seen in the SEM of the repeatability study, showing that the results have importance and therefore with a larger population size may show significance.

The greater EKAM in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy could be due to offloading mechanisms for the lateral compartment such as the greater lateral trunk lean to reduce the loading on the lateral compartment, shifting the GRF medially and therefore increasing the EKAM. In the current study, there was a greater lateral trunk lean in the individuals following meniscectomy during walking, running and landing compared to the healthy controls, showing an offloading mechanism taking place, which could explain the lower than expected EKAM. That linked with the increased lateral co-contraction of the leg aids in offloading the medial compartment of the knee. Fox et al., (2018) highlighted that proximal motion at the trunk appears to have a large effect in managing the loads experienced at the knee following ACL reconstruction. Lateral flexion of the trunk over the weight bearing 'plant' leg during the change of direction task were frequently linked to increased external knee abduction moment as it shifts the centre of mass away from the midline of the body, increasing the lever arm distance of the force vector relative to the knee joint axis (Mornieux et al., 2014, Jones et al., 2016). Increased trunk lean may be necessary to help evade an opponent (feint) during match play, although is also linked to re-injury as individuals overcompensate (Kristianslund et al., 2014). Therefore, may not be recommended for individuals following meniscectomy, rather the trunk should stay as upright as possible (Dempsey et al., 2009). As the outcomes for all tasks did not see any significant difference in isolation when looking at the results comparing individuals following a medial meniscectomy and individuals following a lateral meniscectomy, further analysis was conducted with both medial and lateral groups combined.

4.5.2 Comparison of knee loading between meniscectomy and healthy individuals

Once an individual sustains a meniscal tear, the most common treatment is a partial meniscectomy, leaving the cartilage exposed and increasing knee loading through the whole tibiofemoral joint (Barrios et al., 2012, Hurwitz et al., 2002; Asay et al., 2018). On contrary to previous research, in the current study, there were no significant differences in the EKAM during walking when comparing individuals following meniscectomy to healthy controls. The lack of significant differences in EKAM could be explained due to the length of time following meniscectomy as EKAM may increase over a longer period of time. In the current study, on average the length of time following meniscectomy was six months, in comparison to the two years of Hall et al., (2014) and the 22 years of Hulet et al., (2015). The EKAM value during walking in the current study (0.31 Nm/kg) was similar to that found in several OA studies (0.24

– 0.38 Nm/kg) where the individuals were in the early stages of OA and could still exercise highlighting that although there was no significant difference in the individuals following meniscectomy, the EKAM was still similar to that of early stages of OA (Gerbrands et l., 2017; Khlaifat et al., 2015; Jones et al., 2013). In several studies which looked at reducing pain in later stage OA, the EKAM was seen to be higher averaging between 0.48 to 0.57 Nm/kg, indicating that following meniscectomy they are following similar trends in knee loading as individuals with knee OA (Fu et al., 2015; Arazpour et al., 2013; Toriyama et al., 2011; Jones et al., 2013).

In the current study, during running, the findings were comparable to what was found by Hall et al., (2017), however the EKAM was greater in both their meniscectomy group and control group compared to the current study. Hall et al., (2017) showed an EKAM of 0.71 Nm/kg at three months post-meniscectomy compared to 0.64 Nm/kg in healthy controls. In the current study at six months post-meniscectomy the EKAM was seen to be 0.64 Nm/kg which was the same as the control group in Hall et al., (2017) study, whereas the healthy controls EKAM was 0.54 Nm/kg. The lower EKAM values in the current study, could be due to the BMI and age being greater in Hall et al., (2017) study. Englund and Lohmander (2004) found that there was a correlation with joint degeneration and increased BMI (>30), highlighting that individuals with obesity showed greater chances of developing knee OA which may be due to the increased loads applied by the body weight. Voinier at al., (2020) found that greater tibiofemoral loads were also seen in individuals with a moderate to high BMI and therefore, this should be considered, specifically when individuals have not been able to exercise regularly due to treatment. In the current study, there was not a significant difference in BMI between the individuals following meniscectomy and the healthy controls, indicating that the lack of significant differences in EKAM could be due to the individuals still having a BMI < 30. Additionally, there was a significant difference in age in the current study showing that the individuals following meniscectomy were on average five years older compared to the healthy controls, however this is not enough to cause significant differences in knee joint loading and risk of degeneration.

In the current study, during running, the foot strike index indicated that the individuals following meniscectomy were heel strikers as their COP at touchdown was 28.80% from the heel to toe, indicating a rear-foot contact and the healthy controls were more mid-foot strikers as indicated by the 41.75% of COP from the heel (Santuz et al., 2017). In previous research,

EKAM has been found to be smaller during 60° change of direction tasks when performed with an apparent fore-foot strike pattern compared to a rear-foot strike pattern (Kristianslund et al., 2014; Yoshida et al., 2016). During the 90° change of direction task, the individuals following meniscectomy had an ankle dorsiflexion of on average 9.80° which suggests a forefoot strike pattern as shown by Almeida et al., (2015), with lower ankle dorsiflexion indicating a forefoot strike pattern. Fox et al., (2018) suggested that a with a forefoot touchdown during running, toe landing aids athletes to better align the lower extremity to reduce the moment arm of the ground reaction force in the frontal plane. In the current study, there was a greater knee abduction moment during the change of direction task can be seen although a forefoot strike is present seen by the ankle dorsiflexion angle. There was also a greater adduction angle at the knee during change of direction and a greater trunk lean over the supporting knee, which would aid in shifting the GRF and therefore greater the knee abduction moment. Mündermann et al., (2008), analysed the impact of medio-lateral trunk lean and found that it can be used to lower the knee adduction moment in healthy individuals. Lateral trunk lean was observed to be greater following meniscectomy during all tasks, with a greater increase in trunk lean in the more dynamic tasks such as running and landing. This supports previous research showing a clear lateral trunk lean over the support leg (Hunt et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2014).

In the current study, KFM was significantly lower in the meniscectomy group compared to healthy controls for walking (29%), running (25%), landing (32%) and change of direction (29%). The significantly reduced KFM was seen to have a greater difference than that stated by the repeatability SEM results where the SEM was 0.11 Nm/kg and the smallest difference in the KFM for all tasks was 0.23 Nm/kg in late stance, showing that the outcomes seen in the current study are greater than the error and therefore can be taken as meaningful differences.

When looking at the KFM from Hall et al., (2017), where the KFM was reduced at three months post-meniscectomy (1.86 Nm/kg) but increased at two years post-meniscectomy (2.13 Nm/kg) to similar values as the healthy controls (2.03 Nm/kg). The values again line up with those in the current study showing the KFM in the meniscectomy at six months post-meniscectomy were lower (1.67 Nm/kg) compared to the healthy controls (2.08 Nm/kg). This allows us to hypothesise that knee loading shifts in the early stages of rehabilitation due to muscle weakness and that the initial KFM reduction may just be a short-term effect to alleviate post-surgical pain as seen in Hall et al., (2017). The KOOS self-reported pain score showed that individuals following meniscectomy perceived significantly greater pain in their knee compared to healthy

controls in the current study and may be linked to quadriceps muscle weakness as seen in previous ACL studies following surgery (Thomas et al., 2016).

It is understood that reductions in the knee flexion moment are partially caused by changes in the movement patterns such as greater knee flexion angle in early stance to avoid full extension and greater moments as the load is amplified (Bae et al., 2012). If the knee flexion angle is greater whilst running, an individual can accept greater load at the knee and therefore have better eccentric load dissipation. In the current study, knee flexion angle was not shown to be significantly different between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls during running, however, significant differences were observed in the antero-posterior centre of pressure, offering a potential explanation for the differences in the reduced KFM. With the centre of pressure being placed more posterior highlighting rear foot running, the GRF lever arm would have been behind the knee and closer to the knee joint centre of mass, therefore reducing the KFM.

In the current study, the main significant differences in knee joint motion were in the sagittal plane for walking and running. In the meniscectomy group, there was a significantly greater ankle dorsiflexion angle during the propulsion phase, a significantly reduced hip extension angle and a reduced knee flexion angle. The difference in sagittal plane joint motion highlights compensatory mechanisms that are being used bringing the leg into a more stiff stance which may be due to muscle weakness and can be linked to fear of movement shown by the TSK (Steele et al., 2012) and is often implemented to help ground clearance with a stiffer knee (Yavuzer et al., 2011). The greater ankle dorsiflexion in late stance is used to increase the push off momentum with the reduced hip extension, to help protect the knee and reduce following meniscectomy. Knee motion is an important outcome measure for individuals who have suffered an injury and following surgery, as reduced range of motion is often linked to pain, swelling, stiffness, muscle weakness and fear avoidance (Lau et al., 2018).

Although there was not a significant difference in knee and hip flexion angle during landing, individuals following meniscectomy showed slightly greater knee (4°) and hip (2°) flexion angle during landing compared to healthy controls which may be due to softer, more careful landing strategy being used. Slater et al., (2015) analysed landing strategies in gymnastics to reduce GRF and found that increased hip and knee flexion helped reduce the forces going through the lower limb. In addition, the hip flexor moment was significantly greater in the individuals following meniscectomy, which might indicate increased activity of the hip

stabilisers such as the glute medius muscles, whilst the knee flexion moment was significantly reduced. The knee flexion angle was not significantly different in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls which could indicate that individuals following meniscectomy were able to perform the landing task without restrictions during dynamic sports. A more-sport specific landing and jumping tasks such as landing from the counter-movement-jump should be analysed which contains a greater momentum and therefore can be replicated in a dynamic sporting environment rather than just in a controlled laboratory environment. Ford et al., (2011) supported the findings in the current study and adopted a softer landing strategy at three months post-lateral meniscectomy, which was found by the greater knee flexion angle when landing compared to in healthy controls. The landing strategy applied by the individuals who participated in the current study was controlled as to avoid pain and discomfort. Individuals were instructed to drop off the box and land with a bent knee, this may be the reason why the landing task was the only task that did not show a stiff leg strategy. In future, the landing strategy should not be influenced by the researcher and the outcomes may have been slightly different. Several studies looked at the changes in knee kinematics during landing following a ACL injury and found similarly that muscle weakness was an important cause in changes in knee kinematics whilst landing, which caused a stiffer landing mechanisms with a reduced knee flexion angle (Ward et al., 2018; Lisee et al., 2019).

4.5.3 Muscle activation, weakness, and balance

The main limitation of using solely frontal and sagittal plane moments to interpret joint loading is that external joint moments do not account for the contribution of muscle forces to joint loading (Starkey et al., 2020). In the current study, it was found that there was no increase in the co-contraction ratio between extensors and flexors and there was no significant difference when looking at the comparison to healthy controls during walking. This was in agreement with Sturnieks et al., (2011) study where although there was a greater lateral co-contraction and a greater hamstring muscle activation, knee extensor and flexor co-contraction was not significantly different compared to healthy controls. When comparing these findings to OA studies, they show the opposite results, as co-contraction following OA has been found to be greater in the extensors compared to flexors to brace the knee in anticipation of pain (Hortobagyi et al., 2005; Bouchouras et al., 2015; Na and Buchanan., 2019). During running, however, the knee extensors were seen to be more active than the flexors in the co-contraction ratio in the current study. There was a significantly greater knee extensor/flexor co-contraction

ratio in the meniscectomy individuals compared to the controls in early stance of running. The extensors also show greater net activation in early stance in the meniscectomy leg (2.47 %MVC) compared to the healthy controls (2.06 %MVC) which support that at impact the meniscectomy individuals brace their knee more, increasing the activation and therefore a greater co-contraction ratio. During landing, there was a 56% lower extensor/flexor co-contraction ratio in the meniscectomy individuals compared to the healthy control, which can be explained as both the knee extensors and knee flexors show greater net muscle activation during landing in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. There was a significantly increased knee flexor net activation during landing which goes back to the supporting findings in ACL research where greater knee flexor activity have been used as an effective compensatory mechanism to stabilise the knee, improve function, activity levels, and enable normal kinematics (Boerboom et al., 2001).

When considering the medial compared to lateral co-contraction, the current study showed a greater lateral relative to medial co-contraction in both the meniscectomy leg and the contralateral leg compared to matched controls (Heiden et al., 2009). Sturnieks et al., (2011) reported that greater lateral co-contraction relative to medial is a compensatory mechanism often seen in individuals with knee OA to try and reduce medial knee loading and lower the EKAM. This could help explain the lower than expected values for EKAM in the current study and could cause the lateral shift of the GRF moving the load away from the medial compartment. The greater lateral co-contraction highlights that there is greater loading in the knee when considering the reduced knee flexion moments and stiffer gait in unison, which allows the H₃ hypothesis to be accepted stating that there was a significant increase in knee loading during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy.

In the current study, there was also a significantly different medial/lateral co-contraction during the change of direction task, showing a greater lateral co-contraction in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls. The healthy controls had a greater medial knee extensor activation and the individuals following meniscectomy had greater lateral knee extensor activation bilaterally. The greater lateral activation of the knee extensors could be linked to increased trunk lean over the knee, aiding in offloading the medial compartment, potentially explaining the lower than expected EKAM. Bencke et al., (2018) did a literature review, looking at muscle activation during change of direction and landing tasks and the link to ACL injury. The review found greater lateral knee extensor activation during change of

direction, which was linked to increased knee abduction and was identified as being a risk factor for sustaining non-contact ACL injury (Hewett et al., 2005).

During a change of direction, the swing limb is placed laterally, away from the stance limb, toward the new direction of movement. Studies have shown that during change direction tasks, the braking forces (anterior/posterior GRF) increase during early stance due to the need to decelerate to change direction (Rand and Ohtsuki, 2000). These breaking forces are associated with increased quadriceps activation. This is seen in the current study as the quadriceps activation increases with change of direction, compared to walking and landing. The contralateral leg in the meniscectomy individuals during landing had greater knee extensor activation compared to meniscectomy leg and there was greater medial activation whereas in the meniscectomy leg there was greater lateral contraction which may align with pain and wanting to offload the medial compartment of the affected knee. There was also increased quad and hamstring activation in the contralateral leg compared to the control.

Higher overall knee muscle activation has previously been reported in clinical populations such as individuals following meniscectomy (Glatthorn et al., 2010; Sturnieks et al., 2011), individuals with knee OA (Lewek et al., 2004) and individuals following an anterior cruciate ligament injury (Boerboom et al., 2001). In the current study, a greater knee extensor activation was found in early stance of walking compared to healthy controls. Equally greater knee flexor activation was seen in late stance as the individuals would be preparing for swing and where the hamstring is most active. There was a large effect size in the knee extensor and flexor net muscle activation which aligned with the statistical significance highlights the extent of the difference in findings. In early stance of running, there was a 17% greater net extensor activation in the meniscectomy leg compared to the healthy controls and in late stance there was a 60% greater knee flexor activation which aligns what would be expected during running showing great extensor activation during the early stance phase at impact and greater hamstring activation during the late stance phase of running (Besier et al., 2003).

The greater net muscle activation could be due to a bracing strategy being used in anticipation of the knee loading for fear- avoidance (Jones et al., 2015). The fear-avoidance model often occurs in relation to the fear of pain or with athletes the fear of re-injury, which therefore causes maladaptive and restrictive compensatory mechanisms to occur to avoid anything that may cause the individuals pain or re-injury (Fischerauer et al., 2018). Sturnieks et al., (2011) found

similar results stating that the quadriceps and hamstring activity, relative to the MVC was greater in individuals following meniscectomy compared to control throughout different parts of the stance phase. The greater muscle activity has been hypothesised to be used to brace the knee joint and is mostly seen in correlation with a stiffer leg during walking which is generally due to pain, kinesiophobia or muscle weakness also seen in this study (Starkey et al., 2020). Özmen et al., (2017) found that there was a clear link among quadriceps muscle weakness, increased pain, increased stiffness and kinesiophobia in individuals with OA.

The knee extensors show a significant difference but showing a reduced knee extensor activation in the meniscectomy individuals compared to the control during the change of direction task, which demonstrates that pain might result in a quadriceps avoidance strategy and is capable of modulating the movement pattern significantly (Henriksen et al., 2007; Henriksen et al., 2009). Overall reduced co-contraction of the extensors and flexors might result in knee instability and thus also might be responsible for the development of pain and the greater reduction and variability of the knee flexor moment (Besier et al., 2003; Henriksen et al., 2007; Henriksen et al., 2009). The greater extensor muscle activation during the landing and change of direction task could also be a compensatory strategy to reduce knee joint forces during painful activities (Nadeau et al., 1997).

Sturnieks et al., (2011) found that the hamstrings muscle group, on average was 40% greater following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls during walking. In the current study, the hamstring showed a greater activity in the meniscectomy leg compared to control with a minimum of 20% increased hamstring activity during change of direction and an increase of 60% in the running task. During walking in accordance with Sturnieks et al., (2011) study the hamstring was 40% more active in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. The hamstrings have been stated to work as a synergist for the ACL to help in stabilisation and protecting the knee joint during landing and change of direction in ACL injuried individuals (Ebben et al., 2010; Zebis et al., 2016). ACL injuries often occur alongside meniscus injuries, therefore, it can be assumed that the muscle activation may have the same benefits and detriments in meniscectomy individuals as seen in ACL individuals. In the current study, there is greater hamstring activation during running, landing and change of direction in individuals following meniscectomy compared to control.

Muscle weakness is also interconnected with other muscular dysfunctional factors, such as atrophy (Frontera and Ochala., 2015). Furthermore, poor neuromuscular activation can result

in reduced muscle strength and power (Hewett et al., 2007). Knee injuries can lead to an increased muscle inhibition, an impaired neuromuscular activation or a reduced muscle mass after immobilisation and thereby result in muscle weakness (Karatzaferi and Chase, 2013). Muscle weakness and reduced neuromuscular function as shown by the balance task could be seen in the current study following meniscectomy. In the individuals following meniscectomy lower isometric muscle strength of 31% was present six months post-meniscectomy compared to healthy controls and a difference of anterior balance by 7% in the meniscectomy leg compared to healthy controls. Studies showed that quadriceps weakness is a common problem with injury and the weakness of the vastus medialis has been frequently addressed in patellofemoral pain studies (Callaghan et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2010). A weak vastus medialis is assumed to be associated with an increased lateral pull on the patella increasing knee joint loading (Sawatsky et al., 2012). In the current study, during net muscle activation, a weakness of the muscles was not present, however it was shown that the lateral knee extensor (vastus lateralis), was more active than the medial knee extensor, supporting the findings seen in the patellofemoral pain studies.

In the current study, there was a significantly lower isometric strength in the meniscectomy leg (31%) and contralateral leg (17%) in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls, which is considered to be a clinically relevant amount as it is more than 10% (Vaidya et al., 2018). Ericsson et al., (2009) found that hamstring strength was not reduced following meniscectomy. However, the quadriceps strength was still 9% lower in the meniscectomy leg compared to the contralateral leg, but after a four-month functional exercise program, quadriceps strength was fully regained. When compared to the repeatability study, the difference in isometric strength also shows a greater difference as the error of 0.30 Nm/kg compared to the healthy controls. The minimal detectable difference was also stated by Kean et al., (2010) to be 0.33 Nm/kg. In the current study the isometric strength difference between the individuals following meniscectomy and the healthy controls was 0.77 Nm/kg, showing a greater difference than the SEM in the current repeatability study and the minimal detectable difference in Kean et al., (2010) study. This accepts the H₅ hypothesis showing that there was a reduction in muscle strength following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. Hall et al., (2015) undertook a review on muscle strength following meniscectomy and found that there was reduced muscle strength following six months, whereas at two years post-meniscectomy the muscle strength increased again to a similar level compared to healthy controls. Ganderup et al., (2017) highlighted that three months following meniscectomy there was reduced

isometric quadriceps strength, this was however not evident after one year. There was also a significant difference between the contralateral limb and the healthy controls, showing that although one leg is stronger in individuals following meniscectomy, bilateral muscle weakness was present. The strength deficit seen in the current study, shows that the current individuals following meniscectomy would not be allowed to go back to competitive sport and are at a higher risk of re-injury (Noyes and Barber-Westin., 2019). Muscle strength recovery is considered important for young individuals after an arthroscopic surgery to regain the capacity to participate in sports (Ericsson et al., 2006; Pietrosimone et al., 2016). Ericsson et al., (2006) stated that four years following meniscectomy muscle weakness is still present and found that individuals with less weakness also showed less pain and a better quality of life, highlighting the importance of muscle strength even in the long term.

Quadriceps weakness also leads to reduced eccentric control, reducing the ability for the knee to absorb shock and stabilise (Lewek et al., 2004). Eccentric muscle strength although important was not collected during the current study, as the results for the data collected on the isokinetic dynamometer was found to be unreliable, particularly without a familiarisation period as the task is often too uncomfortable for individuals where they have to produce a maximum force on a fully extended leg. Spencer et al., (2020) found that quadriceps strength and force steadiness during knee flexion in ACLR individuals was due to the quadriceps not being able to contract for a prolonged period of time. This can be supported by the study when looking at the Y-balance results showing a significantly reduced reach distance (97.03 % leg length) in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls (103.71 Reach % leg length) due to the lack of control of the standing leg to support the forward lean motion. This suggests that initial rehabilitation and muscle weakness are highly important when considering movement changes and loading alterations. Early rehabilitation to avoid immediate muscle atrophy and maintain strength is a key factor for individuals returning to full function and potentially the return to physical activity at the desired level. Magyar et al., (2012) analysed perturbations in the knee to analyse balance in individuals following meniscectomy at threemonth post-op and 12 months post-op compared to healthy controls. They found that individuals following meniscectomy were significantly worse at dealing with multidirectional perturbations compared to healthy controls even at 12 months post-op. Mallious et al., (2011) found that following meniscectomy both balance and functional capabilities were reduced compared to the contralateral leg up to two years following meniscectomy. Balance has also been shown to be a indicator for knee joint degeneration and therefore, can be used as a

158

precursor for knee OA following meniscectomy (Hatfield et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2018; Porter et al., 2016).

4.5.4 Physical activity following meniscectomy

Individuals that aim to return to full competitive sport as soon as possible post-meniscectomy place a high demand on meniscus function to manage loads following surgery (Eberbach et al., 2018). After analysing the physical activity survey, the data showed that individuals following meniscectomy can regain some level of physical activity, however, the level of activity only increased from a low level of activity post-injury (3.6) to moderate level of activity post-surgery (5.4). The level of activity was still significantly lower than the pre-injury level of activity which started at a high level (8). The physical activity survey represents a level of function and although the level of activity increased following surgery the type of activity itself changed. Most individuals went from participating in a dynamic sport such as football, rugby or netball, to changing their activity either solely training in the gym or running as their main weekly activity due to fear of re-injury or not feeling fit enough.

In the current study, 87% of individuals who previously participated in competitive sport were not able to return to their sport at their previous level six months post-meniscectomy which may be linked to muscle weakness, kinesiophobia or the KOOS pain score. Roos et al., (2000) found that from 74 individuals 63% of them participated in sport before injury, however following meniscectomy surgery only 30% continued. Brophy et al., (2009) found that the career length was shortened substantially in American football athletes following a meniscectomy. The two-year follow up study that found 54.4% of individuals either needed a follow up surgery or developed OA and therefore becoming unable to compete at the same level of activity as before (Brophy et al., 2009). Ekhtiari et al., (2018) stated that out of 244 individuals who had undergone a meniscectomy, 80.4% of them returned to their preoperative level playing their sport as soon as 4.3 months post-rehabilitation, however this can be related to the individuals having a very good and comprehensive level of physiotherapy as they were training at a high level.

Lack of rehabilitation following ACL reconstruction, specifically including muscle strength, neuromuscular function and range of motion was highlighted by Noyes and Barber-Westin., (2019) to lead to reinjury as sport specific tasks are not targeted in general rehabilitation

programmes. The individuals in the current study, were all physically active before the injury and tore their meniscus during their sport which included football, rugby, netball, bouldering and skiing. Due to the variety of these sports, rehabilitation should have been individualised including sport specific exercises for landing, jumping, pivoting, and any other exercise related specifically to their sport. Unfortunately, as shown by our rehabilitation questionnaire, the rehabilitation programme in the National Health Service (NHS) either gave a standard sheet with only a few key exercises on it following surgery or rehabilitation starts once every two weeks at a 2-3 month post-surgery point and is not sport specific. Individuals are therefore not prepared to return to their specific sports. Wilk et al., (2019) highlighted that rehabilitation has become a large challenge due to limited visits allowed to the patient, partly due to the cost of supervised therapy, which can highly influence the successful return to, and participation in sport at the pre-injury level. This can be demonstrated in the current study as individuals only saw their physiotherapists on average once every 2 weeks which was either a one on one or a group session and may, therefore, contribute to kinesiophobia, stiffer joints and therefore a delay in returning to, or avoidance of, their pre-injury sport. Tichonova et al., (2016) found that kinesiophobia was improved from 22.7 to 18.4 following 16 sessions of rehabilitation, demonstrating that with an adequate rehabilitation programme confidence in their movement improves.

Jahan et al., (2018) developed a validated rehabilitation protocol following extensive research and found that rehabilitation following a meniscectomy should start three days post-surgery for the best functional outcomes. They established an eight-week rehabilitation protocol after reviewing literature and consulting leading experts in the field and found with starting rehabilitation as early as possible and focusing on healing at the start and progressively building up the rehabilitation strength measures improved by increase by 28% in the quadriceps and an increase of 59% in the hamstrings following meniscectomy. The rehabilitation programme from Jahan et al., (2018) unfortunately not comparable to the current study as the individuals from Jahan et al., (2018) study were asked to go to rehabilitation sessions three times a week for two hours and attend massage and hydrotherapy session in addition to the already existing three session. In the current study, rehabilitation did not start immediately and was seen to take as long as four months to start following surgery, in addition session would generally only be once a week for a maximum of one hour. Similarly, Ebert et al., (2017) observed that in ACL reconstruction (ACLR) individuals limb symmetry indices were largely associated with rehabilitation and stated that a good rehabilitation programme is required to address postoperative strength and functional deficits, particularly when wanting to return to sport. Samitier et al., (2015) stated that the mean timeframe of the individuals to go back to competitive sports was 10 months post-ACL reconstruction, however it took several individuals almost three years to get back to a semi-professional level due to pain and muscle weakness.

Jahan et al., (2018) also stated the importance of knee range of motion and increasing knee flexion as soon as possible with this being the central focus in the first four weeks of their eightweek program. They showed a 59% greater knee flexion angle following the focused rehabilitation protocol. The reduction in knee flexion capacity during all tasks, particularly change of direction has been seen in previous ACL literature to indicate a reduced ability to absorb loads through the knee (Fox et al., 2018). This can be linked to the current study, where knee flexion is reduced and therefore, a reduced ability to absorb load may also be seen. The knee at initial foot contact during foot strike stays in a more extended position and can therefore influence the re-injury susceptibility on return to their competitive sports (Dos'Santos et al., 2018). In the current study, out of the four individuals that went back to participating at a competitive level of their sport, one participant reinjured their knee during a football game and had another surgery after this study was completed, which may be caused by the lack of knee flexion during the game and therefore not managing the loads properly in the dynamic tasks. This demonstrates that leg stiffness, knee loading, strength and kinesiophobia need to be considered carefully before returning back to any level of competitive sport.

4.5.5 Patient-reported outcomes

Fear of re-injury is one of the most common reasons that active individuals following surgery do not to return to sport (Kvist et al., 2005) and the fear-avoidance model may help to explain the patient's decision not to return to sport (Trigsted et al., 2018). Some individuals associate the trauma and pain with certain movements or activities and will therefore, try to avoid them and often alter movement patterns in the attempt to do so (Vlaeyen et al., 2000). The Tampa scale of kinesiophobia (TSK) was used to establish fear of movement or fear or re-injury as seen in patient groups such as ACL individuals following surgery, which could alter movement patterns, particularly when returning to activity (Chmielewski et al., 2008). In the current study, individuals who had a meniscectomy reported 5.2 points greater on the TSK than healthy controls (p = 0.005). Previous studies reported that a change of 5.5 points is a clinically meaningful difference for the TSK (Monticone, Ambrosini, Rocca, Foti, & Ferrante, 2016).

Although statistically individuals following meniscectomy reported a significantly higher score on the TSK, this did not meet the threshold for the clinically meaningful difference. Previous studies have shown that high fear of reinjury has been linked to low rates of return to sport (Lentz et al., 2015), reduced self-reported activity levels (Paterno et al., 2017), reduced knee function (Chmielewski et al., 2008), altered sagittal plane movement (Trigsted et al., 2018), lower quadriceps strength and in turn a greater risk of reinjury in ACL individuals following reconstruction (Paterno et al., 2017). All fear avoidance techniques could be seen in the current study with low physical activity levels following meniscectomy, low return to sport, reduced muscle strength, reduced knee and hip flexion creating a stiffer movement and therefore may be at a greater risk of reinjury. Tichonova et al., (2016) found that kinesiophobia decreased in individuals following meniscectomy following a good rehabilitation program, however, a high level of kinesiophobia was significantly correlated with more difficulties experienced in daily activities and poorer knee-related quality of life before and after rehabilitation.

The KOOS is structured into five separately scored subscales: Pain, other symptoms, function in daily living (ADL), function in sports and recreation (Sport/ Rec) and knee-related Quality of Life (QOL). In this study, individuals following meniscectomy had significantly reduced KOOS values compared to healthy, with 30.41-point difference in total KOOS value showing a lower value in individuals following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. There was a difference of 23.81 points for pain, 29.88 points for symptoms, and 133.63 points for ADL, 35.62 points for Sport / Rec and 49.55 points for QOL in the subscales of the KOOS questionnaire showing lower scores in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to controls. The meaningful difference of the KOOS is reflected by a change of the score between 8-10 points (Roos & Lohmander, 2003). In the current study, the lowest differences between groups were for pain with a 14-point difference. Thus, the result of this study shows an overall clinically meaningful reduction of function in the knee in individuals following a meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. The total change in knee function between control and individuals following meniscectomy was 30 points from 98 to 68. Thorlund et al., (2017) study was relatable to the current study as the scores for each group of the KOOS scale showed similar results 12 weeks following meniscectomy in the traumatic individuals following meniscectomy: pain (70.4), symptoms (67.1), ADL (77.3), Sport/ Rec (43.7) and QOL (48.3), compared to the current study: pain (75.2), symptoms (64.8), ADL (86.3), Sport/ Rec (62.2) and QOL (49.3). The Sport/ Rec and ADL were higher, however, this may be due to the age being on average 10 years younger in the current study. This may therefore lead to the

162

assumption that 52 weeks following meniscectomy the score in all groups may improve even more as they did in Thorlund et al., (2017) study. Hall et al., (2013) found that individuals following meniscectomy on average 2 years post-surgery had low pain levels (86) and good function (92) when looking at the self-reported KOOS scale. Hall et al., (2013) highlighted that at early-stage post-meniscectomy pain may be greater, however, this is reduced until joint degeneration starts causing a degenerative pain.

4.6 Limitation/Future direction

Long term clinical and radiographical consequences of a lateral meniscectomy are seen to be different from a medial meniscectomy (Chatain et al., 2003), however lateral meniscectomies have not been as commonly reported, similarly to lateral knee OA in comparison to medial knee OA, and therefore long-term outcomes following medial and lateral meniscectomy need to be analysed. In this study, although there were no significant differences in the outcomes compared to medial and lateral meniscectomy, these findings may differ longer term. This needs to be looked at longitudinally with a greater sample size. Understanding what occurs in the lateral meniscectomy could be clinically beneficial to help understand the difference in movement patterns between these injuries and why medial meniscectomies were more likely to end up developing OA.

The current study did not look at the exact rehabilitation plan which is a limitation. It would have been more accurate and beneficial if the consultants could have provided the rehabilitation program following the meniscectomy, including the exact date it started and length of treatment. All the data collected was from word of mouth or from the rehabilitation questionnaire which was quite lengthy including exercises that were put together from several different programs online, however, were not specific to meniscectomy. With the word-of-mouth interpretations, there could have been a bias from the researcher in interpreting what the individuals are saying to support outcomes in the current study. As the rehabilitation questionnaire was quite long and this was not the only questionnaire to be completed, there were some questions which were not filled out in detail or even missing for some individuals. This was put down to length of questionnaire and it being an open questionnaire as this was not seen in the other questionnaires. Eisele et al., (2020) showed that increased length of questionnaires was stated to increase burden on individuals and therefore effect the time invested in the questionnaire and therefore the depth of the outcomes. With the rehabilitation

questionnaire there is also a chance for retrospective bias which may affect the answers in the questionnaire depending on how they felt about their rehabilitation, for instance if they really enjoyed it and perceived it to be worth the time to undertake the questionnaire the answers may be more detailed in comparison to an individual who did not have a good rehabilitation experience and did not want to invest the time to think about the answers (Solhan et al., 2009). Creating a qualitative approach to understanding current rehabilitation processes could be a impactful study to consider in the future as rehabilitation seems to be a key factor for improvement in short-term outcomes such as muscle strength and knee flexion range of motion following meniscectomy which may lead on to long-term joint degeneration.

4.7 Summary

To the author's knowledge, this was the first study to analyse the biomechanical difference between individuals following medial meniscectomy and lateral meniscectomy. Frontal and sagittal knee loading were similar between individuals following medial meniscectomy compared to lateral meniscectomy during all tasks. Combining medial and lateral meniscectomy groups was applicable when assessing knee loading in the short period following surgery. When analysing knee loading following meniscectomy, results showed that the EKAM was not significantly different at six-months post-meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. However, altered knee mechanics were still present which was seen by knee motion stiffness, reduced KFM, greater lateral co-contraction of the knee extensor muscles and reduced net activation of the extensor and flexor throughout stance.

Muscle weakness was associated to be linked to pain, kinesiophobia and return to activity. Individuals following meniscectomy were not ready to return to sport six-months following surgery as compensatory mechanisms were seen during dynamic tasks such as lateral trunk lean with greater knee loading compared to walking. This may have been affected by the lack of rehabilitation in the current cohort. Improved early rehabilitation should be considered to limit differences in knee loading following a meniscectomy and therefore reduce risk for medial knee joint degeneration progression. Further research needs to be done looking at the link to rehabilitation and return to sport and whether a proper rehabilitation programme can slow the risk of joint degeneration in a young and active population.
To the authors knowledge this is the first study to look at a combination of dynamic sportspecific tasks following meniscectomy and it could be seen that individuals are at greater risk with high intensity tasks which needs to be considered when thinking about return to sport criteria. As natural compensatory mechanisms have been employed following meniscectomy, implementing the use of offloading mechanisms such as footwear may be highly beneficial, particularly in dynamic sport-specific tasks. Therefore, the second study in this thesis has focused on the use of different footwear as a means to offload the knee joint in individuals following meniscectomy.

Chapter 5 - The effect of commercially available **Foot**wear on biomechanical outcomes associated with knee osteoarthritis in individuals following **Meni**scectomy. (**Meni-Foot study**)

5.1 Background

The role of the meniscus in knee joint health, and its function in weight-bearing, load transmission, shock absorption and lubrication of the articular cartilage, is well understood (Sturnieks et al., 2008; Arno et al., 2013; Makris et al., 2011). Meniscal injuries are one of the most common injuries to occur in the knee, specifically in a sporting population, with a meniscectomy being the most common treatment due to the lowest recovery time (Grassi et al., 2019). Young active populations who sustain a sporting meniscal injury are likely to and want to return to sport following treatment (Eberbach et al., 2018). Noyes et al., (2019) review of previous studies found that on average 80% of athletes who had meniscectomy returned to their previous sport at either the same level of competition as prior to the injury or a lower level. In a cohort study of 90 professional football players the return to play rate was nearly six times greater following medial meniscectomy compared to following lateral meniscectomy, which was found to be due to individuals following lateral meniscectomy experiencing more adverse effects related to pain and swelling (Nawabi et al., 2014).

When participating in sports, it can be assumed that post-meniscectomy generally the same footwear is worn as before the injury occurred. During physical activity, as seen in many individuals who suffer from a meniscal tear, finding the right footwear while considering the scope of injuries is important (Nigg et al., 2015). Trainers/running footwear and other footwear have evolved dramatically over the past few decades (Subotnick., 2017). Whilst there are many different types of footwear on the market, the three primary categories are motion control, cushioning footwear, and stability footwear. Understanding the loads and compressive forces that go through the knee is essential when choosing your footwear, particularly following injury, or surgery (Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, it can be assumed that more cushioning, support or wedges should be implemented to try and offload the affected part of the knee to help either reduce load, reduce movement or shift the loads (Levinger et al., 2013). The evaluation of different types of footwear has not been researched following a meniscectomy, however, it has been widely investigated in knee joint degeneration to try and offload the

affected compartment (Voloshin, Wosk, & Brull, 1981; Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018).

Following on from the previous study, knee loading was seen to be greater with greater muscle co-contraction, greater knee stiffness and reduced knee flexor moments following meniscectomy in comparison to healthy controls, specifically in the sporting dynamic tasks. Recent studies have demonstrated that individuals following meniscectomy have demonstrated greater knee loading determined by greater EKAM and or KFM, specifically long-term following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014; Willy et al., 2016; Zedde et al., 2015). Greater EKAM and KFM have been associated with greater risk to lead on to osteoarthritis developments (Englund et al., 2016; Wolski et al., 2020). Therefore, looking at offloading the knee joint early on to prevent or slow knee joint degeneration is vital. When considering knee loading, the medial and lateral properties of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004). The lateral meniscus deals with 70% of the load in the lateral compartment, whereas the medial and lateral compartments of the knee may need different offloading strategies, in particular when compromised.

Recent evidence suggests that non-invasive interventions such as modern footwear have substantial influence on knee loading, particularly in people with a compromised knee joint such as post-surgery or in knee OA individuals (Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2015). Yet, the role of footwear to manage knee loading post-meniscectomy has not been previously documented. Footwear interventions have been used to alter knee loading and pain included increased stability, cushioning or a lateral wedge insole in knee OA individuals (Paterson et al., 2014; Shakoor et al., 2010; Hinman et al., 2012). Following injury or surgery, the stability in the knee is often reduced (Almekinders et al., 2004), however is seems that adding more stability or stiffness to footwear may not be the most beneficial for an active clinical population (Paterson et al., 2018). It has been well established that stable supportive footwear styles increase knee loads significantly more in individuals with OA compared to flat flexible footwear styles (Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). Stability footwear typically possess medial, midfoot, and longitudinal stiffness and support (medial arch support) and similarly to cushioning footwear, have an increased pitch which likely influence sagittal plane knee moments (Sayer et al., 2019).

Footwear has been seen to alter foot knee pathology in individuals with OA and is a comfortable and cost-effective way to reduce symptomatic pain and possibly slow OA progression (Bennell et al., 2009). Comfort is an important aspect of athletic footwear since it has been associated with health and performance benefits (Hoerzer et al., 2016). Understanding the effect of commonly available footwear on knee loading and the link with comfort could identify appropriate footwear features for conservative management of knee loading following a meniscectomy. Four different commercially available trainers were compared including the Asics Melbourne OA trainer which has been specifically designed for joint degeneration with a lateral wedge implemented. The other trainers included a stability and cushioning trainer which was compared to a neutral trainer to identify which might be more appropriate whilst participating in sports.

Evidence on footwear interventions in individuals following meniscectomy is currently nonexistent, particularly in a sporting aspect, however, evidence suggests that modern footwear have substantial influence on knee loading, particularly in people with a compromised knee joint such as post-surgery or in knee OA individuals (Shakoor et al., 2010). It is likely that athletes who sustain a meniscal injury would return to sport and therefore be required to perform movements that require a greater demand and muscular control then reported during walking. Footwear during running has previously been widely researched, however many studies show very varied results and therefore the best running footwear, particularly for clinical populations has not yet been established (Theisen et al., 2016). It is unclear whether footwear interventions can alleviate the risk factors associated with the progression of OA following a meniscal injury in a younger athletic population. Understanding knee loading during sport-specific movements and between sports footwear can provide a greater insight to the risk of OA development for athletic populations. This relatively low-cost strategy of a pair of trainers could be used to help offload the affected knee post-meniscectomy and possibly help slow joint degeneration by alleviating the affected compartment of the knee.

5.2 Aims and Hypotheses

The primary aim of this study was to compare biomechanical outcome measures in individuals following meniscectomy to evaluate changes in knee loading during dynamic tasks while wearing three different commercially available footwear. Secondly, this study aimed to understand the different effects of cushioning, stability, and lateral wedge footwear compared to neutral trainers on knee loading in individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy,

which can lead to future footwear recommendations for these populations. Lastly, the comfort of the footwear was measured to see whether these types of footwear would benefit individuals in a non-laboratory based setting.

H₁: Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear show differences in knee loading compared to neutral footwear in individuals following meniscectomy

- H₀: there is no difference in knee loading between stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear compared to neutral footwear in individuals following meniscectomy

H₂: Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear show a difference in knee loading during dynamic tasks compared to neutral footwear in individuals following meniscectomy

- H₀: There is no difference in knee loading during dynamic tasks whilst wearing stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy.

H₃: Individuals following both medial and lateral meniscectomy show a differences in knee loading whilst wearing stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear

- H₀: There is no difference in knee loading whilst wearing different footwear for individuals following medial meniscectomy compared to individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

H₄: Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear show a difference in comfort rating during dynamic tasks compared to neutral footwear in individuals following meniscectomy

- H₀: There is no significant difference in comfort whilst wearing different commercially available footwear during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy.

5.3 Methods

Ethical approval was granted from both the ethics panel of the academic audit and governance committee at the University of Salford (Approval number: HSR1617-140) and the NHS HRA (IRAS 231370; Appendix 1) approval was given. Additionally, the trial was registered with clinicaltrials.gov (NCT03379415).

5.3.1 Recruitment

The individuals following meniscectomy who participated in the previous BOOM study were asked if they were interested in returning for a second session on a separate day to participate in the Meni-Foot study. Potential meniscectomy participants who did not participate in the previous study were also identified through the relevant NHS clinics and private orthopaedic clinics on attendance to consultations within the Greater Manchester area. An invitation letter was sent to all individuals. Individuals who responded to the invitational letters had the study explained to them and they received a participant information sheet and a health screening questionnaire. A minimum of 24 hours was given before they were contacted to determine if they were interested to participate. They were then asked to return the health screening questionnaire so full eligibility could be assessed. If they agreed to participate and were eligible for the study, they were given an appointment at the Performance Capture Laboratory at the Manchester Institute of Health and Performance.

5.3.2 Participants

Individuals diagnosed with a meniscectomy were asked to volunteer for the project. Both medial and lateral meniscal tears were accepted and compared. These individuals were all participants from the previous BOOM study who were happy to return for a second session and therefore eligibility for the study was already accepted as it was based on the following

Meniscectomy inclusion criteria

- 1. Aged between 18 and 40 years
- 2. Meniscal injury sustained during a sporting task e.g. sports cutting manoeuvre
- 3. Compete and or play sport a minimum of two times a week for a minimum of 60 minutes
- 4. Able to perform sport-specific tasks including running, single leg landing and change of direction
- 5. Medial or a lateral meniscectomy
- 6. Individuals between 3-12 months post-meniscectomy

Meniscectomy exclusion criteria

- 1. History of lower extremity surgeries e.g., ACL reconstruction
- 2. Evidence of knee osteoarthritis development either assessed clinically (based on ACR criteria) or radiographically (Kellgren-Lawrence grade >1)
- 3. Previous history of traumatic, inflammatory, or infectious pathology in the lower extremity
- 4. Evidence of ligament laxity

5.3.3 Procedure

On arrival to the performance capture laboratory, the participants had any final questions answered and were asked to sign the informed consent form (Figure 5.1). The participants were informed that they were free to withdraw at any point of time from the study, without any disadvantage to them. One copy of the consent form was given to the participant and one was kept in the study filing cabinet.



Figure 5.1: The testing protocol including the timing

Prior to the biomechanical data collection participants body mass and height were taken. Threedimensional movement data were collected using 28 Qualisys OQUS7 cameras (Qualisys AB, Sweden). The ground reaction forces were collected with four force plates (BP600900, Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc.USA), which were embedded into the floor and synchronised with the Qualisys system.

Each subject was then asked to perform walking, running and a 90-degree change of direction task on a 60 m running track at the MIHP (see section 3.4.1-3.4.5). These tasks were chosen because they gave a comparable indication for previous studies compared to the walking, however as a meniscal tear is generally a sporting injury, the more dynamic fast paces tasks were chosen. Walking and running speed were controlled and reported using timing gates to ensure that each trial was within $\pm 5\%$ of their self-selected speed. The walking, running and change of direction tasks were performed until five successful trials were collected. This was due to needing at least three perfect trials and with a more dynamic movement sometimes it is

hard to see any errors. All individuals were comfortable with the tasks as they were repeated from the previous study.

Four commercially available Asics trainers were worn during the testing (Melbourne OA, GT2000, Foundation and Pursue). These trainers reflect the common classifications used in running footwear such as, cushioning, stability and neutral footwear with the Melbourne OA having a lateral wedge. The Melbourne OA trainer was specifically designed to lower loading of the medial compartment of the knee for joint medial compartment joint degeneration with a lateral wedge plus medial support implemented (Hinman et al., 2016). The Pursue was used as our control as it was neutral footwear with a slight medial arch support. The GT2000 equally had a medial arch support with an increased pitch (heel) and cushioning in the heel and finally, the Foundation footwear also had a medial arch support with increased pitch and a more rigid sole as it was stability footwear (Figure 5.2). The minimalist index was calculated using the equations by Esculier et al., (2015) which was stated to be the most efficient way to analyse minimalist footwear. This equation calculated the percentage of minimalist footwear by taking into account shoe flexibility, weight, stack height (distance of where foot sits and most external part of outsole), stability and motion control technologies and heel drop. The lower the score (closer to 0) was for the footwear, the more minimalist the footwear was. The running clinic established а webpage to easily calculate this equation. https://therunningclinic.com/minimalist-index/#calculate. The Minimalist Index showed that the lateral wedge, cushioning and stability footwear were all at 12% and the neutral footwear was at 20%.



Melbourne OA (Lateral Wedge)

Foundation (Stability)

Figure 5.2: The four commercially available trainers used

The order of footwear conditions was randomised, using computer-generated permutations (www.randomization.com/) prior to participant enrolment. At the start of each trainer condition, a normalisation protocol was orchestrated involving the participant running 300 m in the neutral footwear (Pursue) to allow their perception of the following trainer to not be impacted by the previous trainer (Melvin et al., 2014). Following this the trainer was changed to the one which was first on the list, then the four tasks were performed. This was repeated for all four trainers, starting with the normalisation trainer, then the protocol including the next trainer on the list. Individuals were not informed about what type of trainers they were but the individuals were not blinded to the actual colour of the trainer.

5.3.4 Data processing

The kinematic and kinetic outcomes were calculated by utilising a six-degrees-of-freedom model in Visual3D (Version 5, C-motion Inc, USA). Motion and force plate data were filtered with a 4th order Butterworth filter with cut-off frequencies of 12Hz (Kristanslund et al., 2012). The Cardan sequence used in the kinematics calculation with Visual3D was the ordered sequence of rotations (x, y, z), with: x = flexion/extension, y = abduction/adduction, z = longitudinal rotation (R. B. Davis, Ounpuu, Tyburski, & Gage, 1991).

Joint moment data were calculated using a three-dimensional inverse dynamics algorithm. The joint moments were normalised to body mass and presented as external moments referenced to the proximal segment. The kinematic and kinetic data were normalised to 100% of the stance phase, whereby the stance phase was sub-grouped in early-stance (0 - 20% of stance phase) and late stance (20 – 60% of stance phase) during walking. During running the stance phase is the first 40% and the swing phase is the last 60%, the stance phase was sub-grouped in early stance (0 - 20% of stance phase) and late stance (20 – 40% of stance phase) (see section 3.6.1). The change of direction was calculated from heel strike where the foot contact occurred on the force platform (CUT_ON_R/CUT_ON_L) to toe off where the foot contact finished on the force platform (CUT_OFF_R/CUT_OFF_L). The early stance (initial 50%) of the change of direction was analysed for the kinematics and kinetics as the impact management was most important during this task. The peak values were then analysed. (see section 3.6.1).

5.3.5 Primary outcomes

Similarly, to the previous study, the following outcome measures were investigated minus the strength, balance and EMG which can be found explained in more detail in the methodology chapter 3.7-3.8. Lower limb kinematics and kinetics for three footwear conditions were analysed with a main focus on the knee and knee joint mechanics during dynamic tasks in individuals following meniscectomy. The comfort score was collected using a visual analogue scale for each footwear.

These outcomes were chosen to identify any specific movement changes whilst wearing the footwear conditions and whether they can be used to offload the knee. To identify what happens at the knee, the other joints need to be included in the analysis. Comfort was measured on a visual analogue scale which was handed to the individuals after each footwear condition was worn.

5.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out with SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics 20), graphs and tables were produced using excel (Microsoft Office Excel 2013). Normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test and normal detrended Q-Q-plots was examined. A repeated-measures ANOVA was conducted for the MENI-FOOT study to compare differences in the outcome measures between footwear conditions. In addition, a two-way ANOVA was conducted to examine differences between control, individuals following meniscectomy, footwear conditions and between the medial and lateral menisci. An alpha level 0.05 was used to identify significance and Cohen's D effect sizes and partial eta squared effect sizes will be calculated and reported. The effect size was calculated using the Cohen's D calculation where the mean difference is divided by the standard deviation of the difference to give an indication of the magnitude of the effect of the intervention (>0.8 large effect, 0.5 moderate effect, <0.3 small effect) (Cohen, 1988).

5.4 Results

Thirty participants were recruited for this study from the previous BOOM study, however ten declined to return due to personal reasons (Figure 5.3). The individuals that participated were between the ages of 18-40 ((mean \pm SD), 28.65 \pm 6.56 years, height 172.1 \pm 8.2cm and mass

78.1 ±10.7) (Table 5.1). There were 10 individuals following medial meniscectomy (age 29.30 ± 6.68 years, height 171.4 ± 8.4cm, mass 73.7 ± 9.9kg), and 10 individuals following lateral meniscectomy (age 28.00 ± 6.73 years, height 172.9 ± 8.3cm, mass 82.6 ± 10.1kg) included in the twenty. The individuals following meniscectomy were on between three- and twelve-months post-surgery (7.20 ± 3.38 months).



Figure 5.3: Flow chart of meniscectomy participant inclusion in this study

 Table 5.1: The participant demographics

	Number	Age (years)	Height (cm)	Mass (kg)	BMI (kg/m ²)	Time since surgery (months)
Total	20	28.65 ± 6.56	172.1 ± 8.2	78.1 ± 10.7	26.3 ± 3.76	7.20 ± 3.38
Medial	10	29.30 ± 6.68	171.4 ± 8.4	73.7 ± 9.9	25.2 ± 2.86	7.10 ± 3.60
Lateral	10	28.00 ± 6.73	172.9 ± 8.3	82.6 ± 10.1	27.9 ± 3.53	7.30 ± 3.33

5.4.1 Walking

During walking there were no statistically significant main effects for ankle plantarflexion, knee flexion, knee adduction, hip flexion and hip adduction angles (p > 0.05; Table 5.2). There was a significant difference in the knee flexion angle between the lateral wedge footwear and the neutral footwear (p < 0.05). The knee was significantly more flexed in the lateral wedge footwear ($38.03 \pm 6.53^\circ$, p = 0.019) compared to the neutral footwear during late stance ($35.97 \pm 7.25^\circ$). There was no statistically significant main effect for ankle eversion angle during early and late stance phase (p > 0.05), however, there was a significant difference between the lateral wedge footwear compared to the neutral footwear. The ankle was significantly more everted in the lateral wedge footwear ($8.75 \pm 5.07^\circ$, p = 0.015) compared to the neutral footwear in late stance ($10.89 \pm 6.16^\circ$).

Table 5.2: Mean \pm SD speed, peak ankle, knee and hip motion during walking comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer (* indicated significance, large effect size indicated by bold and underlined value)

The kinematic variables (°) during stance		Neutral	Cus	Cushioning			al Wedge	9	Stability		
	phase	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES
	Speed (m/s)	1.43 ± 0.10									
Early	Ankle flexion angle	-6.40 ± 4.35	-7.37 ± 5.24	.340	0.20	-6.38 ± 4.15	.974	0.01	-7.34 ± 4.84	.266	0.20
Stance phase	Ankle inversion angle	-2.04 ± 6.03	-3.40 ± 7.77	.675	0.20	-3.18 ± 6.03	.114	0.19	-2.13 ± 4.93	.951	0.02
	Knee flexion angle	13.16 ± 8.05	12.08 ± 8.12	.255	0.13	12.58 ± 6.05	.483	0.08	13.98 ± 6.52	.466	0.11
	Knee adduction angle	-0.14 ± 3.28	0.03 ± 3.61	.542	0.05	-0.30 ± 3.91	.708	0.04	0.15 ± 3.56	.574	0.08
	Hip flexion angle	34.94 ± 7.98	32.86 ± 10.50	.554	0.22	33.82 ± 7.16	.344	0.15	33.47 ± 6.52	.119	0.20
	Hip adduction angle	7.71 ± 2.04	8.10 ± 3.03	.599	0.15	8.36 ± 2.62	.178	0.28	7.88 ± 2.67	.717	0.07
Late	Ankle flexion angle	11.84 ± 3.12	11.23 ± 3.13	.740	0.20	12.78 ± 3.24	.077	0.30	12.98 ± 3.80	.118	0.33
Stance phase	Ankle inversion angle	10.89 ± 6.16	9.75 ± 6.99	.630	0.17	8.75 ± 5.07	.015*	0.38	11.73 ± 5.01	.582	0.15
	Knee flexion angle	35.97 ± 7.25	33.33 ± 10.47	.167	0.29	38.03 ± 6.53	.019*	0.30	35.38 ± 7.68	.490	0.08
	Knee adduction angle	0.78 ± 3.21	0.80 ± 3.46	.365	0.01	0.82 ± 3.85	.941	0.01	0.86 ± 3.61	.898	0.02
	Hip flexion angle	-7.70 ± 9.26	-7.25 ± 8.97	.425	0.05	-7.24 ± 9.51	.657	0.05	-9.17 ± 8.84	.122	0.16
	Hip adduction angle	7.03 ± 2.01	7.49 ± 3.18	.205	0.17	7.47 ± 2.88	.326	0.18	7.64 ± 2.90	.126	0.24

There was no significant main effect for footwear in knee adduction moment during walking (p > 0.05). There was however a significant difference between the knee adduction moment of the lateral wedge footwear and the neutral footwear. The lateral wedge footwear showed a significantly lower knee adduction moment (0.38 \pm 0.14 Nm/kg, P = 0.046) compared to the neutral footwear (0.42 \pm 0.12 Nm/kg, Table 5.3). There was no significant difference for ankle and hip moments (p > 0.05). There was also no significant main effect comparing the meniscectomy leg to the contralateral leg (P > 0.05). There was a significant medial shift in the centre of pressure excursion between the stability footwear (0.97 \pm 0.31 mm, p < .001) compared to the neutral footwear (0.67 \pm 0.21 mm).

The kinetic variables		Neutral	Cu	Cushioning			Lateral Wedge			Stability		
	(Nm/kg) during stance phase	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	
Early	Ankle flexion moment	0.52 ± 0.15	0.53 ± 0.14	.431	0.07	0.55 ± 0.15	.055	0.20	0.54 ± 0.13	.080	0.14	
stance phase	Knee flexion moment	0.36 ± 0.26	0.38 ± 0.31	.471	0.07	0.39 ± 0.26	.101	0.12	0.36 ± 0.30	.733	0.00	
(loading)	Knee adduction moment	0.42 ± 0.12	0.43 ± 0.12	.128	0.08	0.38 ± 0.14	.046*	0.31	0.41 ± 0.12	.840	0.08	
	Hip flexion moment	0.84 ± 0.29	0.81 ± 0.29	.266	0.10	0.87 ± 0.29	.433	0.10	0.79 ± 0.23	.082	0.19	
	Hip adduction moment	0.92 ± 0.18	0.91 ± 0.20	.542	0.05	0.93 ± 0.18	.871	0.06	0.92 ± 0.17	.865	0.00	
Late	Ankle flexion moment	1.44 ± 0.13	1.44 ± 0.12	.726	0.00	1.48 ± 0.11	.078	0.33	1.48 ± 0.11	.200	0.33	
Stance phase	Knee flexion moment	-0.41 ± 0.17	-0.42 ± 0.16	.756	0.06	-0.44 ± 0.18	.105	0.17	-0.42 ± 0.17	.621	0.06	
	Knee adduction moment	0.29 ± 0.09	0.30 ± 0.08	.325	0.12	0.25 ± 0.12	.080	0.38	0.30 ± 0.10	.351	0.11	
	Hip flexion moment	-0.94 ± 0.45	-0.91 ± 0.46	.962	0.07	-0.89 ± 0.41	.314	0.12	-0.94 ± 0.43	.947	0.00	
	Hip adduction moment	0.82 ± 0.17	0.78 ± 0.15	.118	0.25	0.82 ± 0.20	1.00	0.00	0.80 ± 0.18	.442	0.11	
	Vertical GRF (BW)	1.17 ± 0.07	1.16 ± 0.08	.117	0.13	1.16 ± 0.07	.364	0.14	1.16 ± 0.07	.147	0.14	
	Centre of pressure position at touchdown (mm)	0.67 ± 0.21	0.74 ± 0.29	.203	0.28	0.71 ± 0.25	.279	0.17	0.97 ± 0.31	.000*	<u>1.13</u>	

Table 5.3: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments during walking comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer (* indicated significance, large effect size indicated by bold and underlined value)

5.4.2 Running

During running there were no statistically significant changes between footwear conditions for ankle plantarflexion, knee adduction, hip flexion and hip adduction angles (p > 0.05; Table 5.4). There was a statistically significant change in knee flexion angle during late stance phase between the footwear conditions ($F_{3,54} = 58.745$, p = 0.002). The knee was significantly less flexed in the lateral wedge footwear ($31.79 \pm 7.10^\circ$, p = 0.002) compared to the neutral footwear during late stance ($34.55 \pm 6.82^\circ$; Figure 5.4). There was no significant difference in knee flexion between the stability and cushioning footwear compared to the neutral footwear (p > 0.05). There was no statistically significant change for ankle eversion angle between all footwear conditions during early and stance phase (p > 0.05), however, there was a significant difference between the lateral wedge footwear compared to the neutral footwear. The ankle was significantly more everted in the lateral wedge footwear ($-1.77 \pm 4.72^\circ$, p = 0.021) compared to the neutral footwear in early stance ($-0.54 \pm 5.43^\circ$) and the ankle was also

significantly less inverted in the lateral wedge footwear (9.10 \pm 5.64°, p = 0.003) compared to the neutral footwear during late stance (10.74 \pm 6.51°).



Figure 5.4:Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion during running comparing four different footwear conditions (n = 20)

Table 5.4: Peak ankle, knee and hip motion in early and late stance during running comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer (* demonstrated significance and a bold underlined effect size showed large effect)

The kinematic variables (°) during		Neutral	Cus	hioning		Lateral	Wedge		Stability		
	stance phase	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES
	Speed (m/s)	3.34 ± 0.09									
	Ankle flexion angle	22.48 ± 3.95	20.03 ± 3.42	.195	0.66	23.14 ± 2.90	.092	0.19	21.33 ± 4.46	.647	0.27
Early Stance	Ankle inversion angle	-0.54 ± 5.43	-1.68 ± 5.74	.231	0.20	-1.77 ± 4.72	.021*	0.24	-0.60 ± 5.12	.936	0.01
phase	Knee flexion angle	34.58 ± 5.06	36.15 ± 3.14	.596	0.37	33.70 ± 3.73	.477	0.20	36.16 ± 4.01	.516	0.35
	Knee adduction angle	0.54 ± 3.63	0.42 ± 4.44	.827	0.03	0.67 ± 3.74	.713	0.04	0.56 ± 3.74	.976	0.01
	Hip flexion angle	38.93 ± 9.27	38.63 ± 8.59	.638	0.03	38.71 ± 9.72	.760	0.02	37.88 ± 8.72	.166	0.12
	Hip adduction angle	12.59 ± 3.88	12.44 ± 3.98	.748	0.04	12.87 ± 3.66	.465	0.07	12.41 ± 3.62	.671	0.05
. .	Ankle flexion angle	-28.31 ± 7.18	-29.66 ± 6.77	.930	0.19	-27.92 ± 7.00	.330	0.06	-29.81 ± 7.28	.847	0.21
Late Stance	Ankle inversion angle	10.74 ± 6.51	9.93 ± 7.25	.488	0.12	9.10 ± 5.64	.003*	0.27	10.48 ± 5.92	.785	0.04
phase	Knee flexion angle	34.55 ± 6.82	34.07 ± 4.85	.642	0.08	31.79 ± 7.10	.002*	0.40	32.97 ± 6.31	.057	0.24
	Knee adduction angle	0.68 ± 3.69	0.39 ± 4.11	.501	0.07	0.62 ± 3.90	.841	0.02	0.43 ± 3.82	.558	0.07
	Hip flexion angle	-4.16 ± 8.39	-4.75 ± 8.49	.403	0.07	-4.06 ± 9.16	.896	0.01	-5.62 ± 8.42	.056	0.17
	Hip adduction angle	7.00 ± 3.86	7.13 ± 4.29	.773	0.03	7.53 ± 3.89	.111	0.14	6.99 ± 3.68	.987	0.00

There was a significant main effect for footwear in knee flexion moment ($F_{1,38} = 5.265$, P = 0.027). The lateral wedge footwear showed significantly lower knee flexion moments (1.94 ± 0.82 Nm/kg, P = 0.017) compared to the neutral footwear (2.04 ± 0.83 Nm/kg, Table 5.5). There was a significant main effect for footwear in knee adduction moment ($F_{1,38} = 4.907$, P = 0.033). The lateral wedge footwear showed significantly lower knee adduction moment (0.51 ± 0.22 Nm/kg, P = 0.010) compared to the neutral footwear (0.59 ± 0.23 Nm/kg; Figure 5.5). There was however, only a small effect size when comparing the lateral wedge footwear to the neutral footwear (ES = 0.36), which also aligns with the difference not being greater than that seen in the repeatability study showing no clinical meaningful difference. There was no significant medial shift in the centre of pressure excursion between the lateral wedge footwear (0.93 ± 0.23 mm, P < .001) compared to the neutral footwear (0.66 ± 0.22 mm).



Figure 5.5: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments during running comparing four different footwear conditions (n = 20)

Table 5.5: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments, vertical GRF and medial/lateral COP during running comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer. (* demonstrated significance. Large effect size was shown by bold and underlined value).

The kinetic variables (Nm/kg) during stance	Neutral	Cushioning			Lateral Wedge			Stability		
phase	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES
Ankle flexion moment	2.24 ± 0.37	2.28 ± 0.37	.578	0.11	2.28 ± 0.29	.998	0.12	2.30 ± 0.37	.549	0.16
Knee flexion moment	2.04 ± 0.83	2.10 ± 0.85	.104	0.07	1.94 ± 0.82	.017*	0.12	2.08 ± 0.82	.179	0.05
Knee adduction moment	0.59 ± 0.23	0.58 ± 0.26	.837	0.05	0.51 ± 0.22	.010*	0.36	0.55 ± 0.24	.186	0.17
Hip flexion moment	1.27 ± 0.62	1.22 ± 0.53	.107	0.09	1.25 ± 0.57	.780	0.03	1.19 ± 0.54	.163	0.14
Hip adduction moment	1.71 ± 0.32	1.78 ± 0.35	.076	0.21	1.67 ± 0.36	.528	0.12	1.74 ± 0.35	.355	0.09
Vertical GRF (BW)	2.40 ± 0.29	2.43 ± 0.27	.110	0.11	2.36 ± 0.28	.143	0.14	2.38 ± 0.30	.552	0.07
Medial/lateral centre of pressure position at touchdown (mm)	0.66 ± 0.22	0.81 ± 0.22	.215	0.68	0.93 ± 0.23	.000*	<u>1.20</u>	0.75 ± 0.28	.027*	0.36

5.4.3 Change of direction

During the change of direction, there were no statistically significant main effects for knee flexion or adduction angle (p > 0.05; Figure 5.6). There were no significance for ankle plantarflexion angle, hip flexion and hip adduction angle (p > 0.05; Table 5.6), however, there was a significant difference between the cushioning footwear hip flexion angle and the neutral footwear. There was a significantly lower hip flexion angle in the cushioning footwear (37.05 $\pm 11.69^{\circ}$, P = 0.019) compared to the neutral footwear (39.16 $\pm 11.94^{\circ}$).



Figure 5.6: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee motion during change of direction comparing four different footwear conditions (n = 20)

Table 5.6: Average approach and exit velocity, peak ankle, knee and hip motion during change of direction comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer

The kinematic variables (°) during	Neutral	Cus	Cushioning			Lateral Wedge			Stability		
	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	
Average approach velocity(m/s)	4.04 ± 0.63										
Average exit velocity (m/s)	2.43 ± 0.32										
Ankle flexion angle	12.94 ± 9.46	13.00 ± 10.25	.948	0.01	13.37 ± 8.51	.536	0.05	13.05 ± 11.11	.911	0.01	
Ankle inversion angle	5.62 ± 10.96	9.98 ± 13.21	.158	0.36	7.05 ± 10.37	.444	0.13	7.93 ± 9.05	.158	0.23	
Knee flexion angle	45.98 ± 7.69	45.63 ± 6.68	.644	0.05	46.35 ± 6.52	.660	0.05	45.31 ± 7.96	.412	0.09	
Knee adduction angle	1.77 ± 4.89	1.54 ± 4.65	.651	0.05	1.33 ± 4.89	.291	0.09	1.43 ± 4.59	.349	0.07	
Hip flexion angle	39.16 ± 11.94	37.05 ± 11.69	.019*	0.18	38.83 ± 11.54	.720	0.03	37.95 ± 11.89	.252	0.10	
Hip adduction angle	-6.89 ± 7.30	-8.08 ± 6.89	.067	0.17	-7.77 ± 7.24	.344	0.12	-7.69 ± 7.06	.262	0.11	

There was a significant main effect for footwear in knee adduction moment ($F_{1,36} = 16.073$, p < .001). The lateral wedge footwear showed a significantly greater knee abduction moment (- 0.64 ± 0.67 Nm/kg, p < .001; Figure 5.7) compared to the neutral footwear (- 0.47 ± 0.49 Nm/kg, Table 5.7). There was no significant knee flexion moment or ankle and hip moments between any of the footwear conditions in comparison to the neutral footwear during the change of direction task.



Figure 5.7: Ensemble average sagittal and frontal plane knee moments during change of direction comparing four different footwear conditions

Table 5.7: Peak ankle, knee and hip moments and vertical GRF during change of direction comparing cushioning, stability and lateral wedge trainers to a neutral trainer

The kinetic variables (Nm/kg) during	Cu	shioning		Lat	eral Wedge	Stability				
stance phase	Mean, SD	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES	Mean, SD	P value	ES
Ankle flexion moment	2.02 ± 0.49	2.02 ± 0.46	.864	0.00	2.10 ± 0.52	.092	0.16	2.02 ± 0.46	.934	0.00
Knee flexion moment	1.64 ± 0.81	1.65 ± 0.79	.647	0.01	1.68 ± 0.84	.472	0.05	1.59 ± 0.71	.476	0.07
Knee adduction moment	-0.47 ± 0.49	-0.60 ± 0.56	.117	0.14	-0.64 ± 0.67	.000*	0.26	-0.57 ± 0.59	.144	0.04
Hip flexion moment	1.73 ± 0.93	1.64 ± 0.90	.290	0.10	1.78 ± 1.00	.571	0.05	1.65 ± 0.81	.463	0.09
Hip adduction moment	-1.62 ± 1.24	-1.63 ± 1.26	.978	0.11	-1.78 ± 1.31	.067	0.14	-1.65 ± 1.36	.744	0.06
Vertical GRF (BW)	1.04 ± 0.20	1.04 ± 0.33	.990	0.00	1.05 ± 0.21	.833	0.05	0.98 ± 0.23	.174	0.28

5.4.4 Medial and lateral comparison

There was no significant difference between the footwear conditions when comparing the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy during walking and change of direction (p > 0.05; Table 5.8). There was significantly reduced EKAM in the lateral wedge footwear during running in individuals following lateral meniscectomy (0.51 ± 0.27 Nm/kg, p = 0.008) when compared to the individuals following medial meniscectomy (0.57 ± 0.11 Nm/kg). In the

change of direction task there was a moderate effect size in the stability shoe (ES = 0.75) and a large effect size in the neutral, cushioning, and lateral wedge footwear (ES > 0.8), showing greater KFM in individuals following lateral meniscectomy compared to individuals following medial meniscectomy.

Moments (Nm/kg)	Task	Footwear Type	Medial	Lateral	P value	ES
		Neutral	0.40 ± 0.10	0.43 ± 0.14	.607	0.25
	XX7 11 ·	Stability	0.41 ± 0.09	0.41 ± 0.14	.274	0.00
	Walking	Cushioning	0.43 ± 0.10	0.43 ± 0.15	.260	0.00
		Lateral Wedge	0.38 ± 0.10	0.37 ± 0.18	.099	0.07
	Running	Neutral	0.62 ± 0.20	0.64 ± 0.26	.452	0.09
EKAM		Stability	0.63 ± 0.22	0.57 ± 0.32	.358	0.22
		Cushioning	0.68 ± 0.17	0.61 ± 0.30	.148	0.29
		Lateral Wedge	0.57 ± 0.11	0.51 ± 0.27	.008*	0.29
		Neutral	-0.83 ± 0.89	-1.00 ± 0.46	.176	0.24
	Change of	Stability	-0.79 ± 0.81	-1.26 ± 0.62	.483	0.65
	Direction	Cushioning	-0.81 ± 0.76	-1.09 ± 0.59	.737	0.41
		Lateral Wedge	-1.00 ± 0.89	-1.13 ± 0.64	.516	0.17

Table 5.8: EKAM when comparing medial vs lateral meniscectomy in all four footwear conditions

5.4.5 Perception of comfort

The neutral trainers were perceived the most comfortable when scored on a visual analogue scale (Figure 5.8). There was a significant main effect for footwear conditions for the comfort score ($F_{3,57} = 20.824$, p < 0.001). Comfort was rated significantly lower for the cushioning footwear (61.50 ± 20.90 mm, p = 0.002) compared to the neutral footwear (76.50 ± 11.19 mm). The lateral wedge scored the lowest for comfort with a significantly reduced score (39.00 ± 19.63 mm p < 0.001) compared to the neutral footwear.





5.5 Discussion

Understanding the loads and compressive forces that go through the knee is essential when choosing your footwear, particularly following knee injury or surgery (Wang et al., 2018). Footwear has been seen to alter foot knee pathology in individuals with OA and is a comfortable and cost-effective way to reduce symptomatic pain and possibly slow OA progression (Bennell et al., 2009).

5.5.1 Cushioning

Several conflicting studies show that cushioning footwear can either reduce knee loading or increase knee loading (Chambon et al., 2014; Kulmala et al., 2018; Day and Hahn., 2019). Footwear with an increased pitch (raised heel in relation to the forefoot), specifically with a soft cushioned heel, have been used to aid in firstly reducing knee loading during impact tasks and secondly to aid in propulsion during running to enhance running economy with an added bounce from the increased soft pitch on the heel (Day and Hahn., 2019). In the current study, on average seven months following meniscectomy, there were no significant changes during running in the frontal plane knee joint loading whilst wearing cushioning footwear (p > 0.05; 0.58 ± 0.26 Nm/kg) compared to neutral footwear (0.59 ± 0.23 Nm/kg).

In the current study, there were no significant differences between the neutral trainer and the cushioning trainer, however, there was a moderate effect size (0.66) seen in the ankle dorsiflexion angle in the first stance phase of running, showing a (11%) reduction in the cushioning footwear which was supported by a greater knee flexion angle (6%) as previous research with increased pitch. Kulmala et al., (2018) looked at a neutral running trainer compared to a highly cushioned footwear at 10 km/hr and 14 km/hr and found that there was a 6.4% and 10.7% increase in knee loading. The greater knee loading was attributed to a stiffer leg mechanism being used at heel strike in early stance which is also seen in the current study. In the current study, individuals ran at 3.34 m/s (12.02 km/hr) and found that the vertical GRF results (2.42 BW) were similar to those found in Kulmala et al., (2018) study at 10 km/hr (2.55 BW), however, the vertical GRF increased significantly at 14 km/hr (2.91 BW). Therefore, the increase in vertical GRF at 14 km/hr highlights that knee loading should be analysed during a faster running speed as seen during competitive sports where meniscal injuries are most common. A greater GRF shows greater force applied to the body is shown to increase joint loading (Logan et al., 2010). In the current study, only self-selected running speed was looked

at to make sure that the individuals would feel comfortable and to assess their normal running, rather than strained running, particularly as the individuals had to repeat dynamic task movements four times.

On the contrary to cushioning footwear, research has shown that running barefoot or in minimalist footwear may be associated with a reduced incidence of running injuries (Liebermann et al., 2010), and therefore, there has been an increased number of runners that are choosing to run barefoot or with minimalist footwear (Sinclair et al., 2013). Hollander et al., (2015) analysed the effect of cushioning on footwear as they looked at footwear with and without cushioning and found that the ankle dorsiflexion angle was 6.90° without cushioning, however with added cushioning this increased to 11.66° which was closer to what was seen in the current study where the ankle dorsiflexion angle was 20.03°. The reduced dorsiflexion angle was associated with a reduced EKAM (Sinclair et al., 2013) and therefore, highlights that minimalist footwear should be considered for individuals following meniscectomy.

Sacco et al., (2011) found that individuals with knee OA had a lower EKAM whilst wearing minimalist footwear compared to standard footwear. The lower EKAM whilst wearing minimalist footwear in individuals with OA could be due to due to greater sensitivity in the foot with less cushioning and therefore increased sensitivity to the ground, which is often reduced in older individuals, additionally the minimalist footwear would be lighter and therefore may allow greater lower limb movement in older individuals, with muscle weakness and pain as seen in OA individuals (Hurley et al., 1997; Rossignol et al., 2006). In the current study, there was no change in EKAM whilst wearing cushioning footwear during walking, running and change of direction which may be due to the difference of the footwear not being great enough to the neutral footwear or, that with the increased cushioning there is lack of sensory awareness to the floor and therefore, individuals land with greater force. Jellema et al., (2019) literature review reported that footwear sole hardness affects sensorial awareness, which is the sensitivity of the foot, and with greater cushioning in the sole, instability in the elderly was caused, which can be related to a compromised joint. This was demonstrated in this study by the greater difference in ankle inversion/eversion in the cushioning footwear compared to the neutral footwear. Hamacher et al., (2016) showed a greater variability in ankle inversion/eversion angle in individuals with chronic ankle instability, which supports the findings in the current study with the cushioning footwear causing a greater instability.

Bohne et al., (2017) analysed cushioning footwear to minimalist footwear and standard footwear and found similar results to the current study with no significant differences between cushioning footwear and standard footwear, however in Bohne et al., (2017) study there was a significant difference in vertical ground reaction forces, ankle dorsiflexion and knee flexion angles compared to the minimalist footwear. The change of direction task in the current study demonstrated no significant differences in KFM, nor did it show a significant difference in the knee abduction moment. In previous research, knee abduction moments tended to be smaller during 60° change of direction manoeuvres performed with an apparent forefoot strike pattern in healthy adults (Kristianslund et al., 2014; Yoshida et al., 2016). This was not evident in the current study, however, there was a greater knee abduction moment during landing between the cushioning footwear and the neutral footwear. The compromised joint seen following meniscectomy may play a part in greater loading during change of direction tasks; however, this needs to be researched further. Footwear with additional cushioning has demonstrated few differences when compared to a neutral control footwear in individuals following meniscectomy, which suggests that it may not reduce knee loading during dynamic tasks, however with increased speed, loading may increase more drastically and with a compromised joint, the knee may not be able to deal with the extra propulsion as stated by Kulmala et al., (2018).

5.5.2 Stability Footwear

As seen in cushioning footwear, high-supportive footwear generally classed as stability footwear, showed similar results with no great reductions in knee loading, which may be linked to the minimalist score showing a similar score (stability footwear scored 12% and the neutral footwear scored 20%), which includes a greater pitch compared to the neutral footwear. In the current study, the findings for the stability footwear showed similar results as for the cushioning footwear with a reduced ankle dorsiflexion angle, greater knee flexion angle, and greater knee flexor moment during running. The findings for knee joint loading whilst wearing the stability footwear in comparison to the neutral footwear was not significantly different and therefore, do not support the hypothesis H_1 as knee loading was similar between the stability trainer and neutral trainer. The lack of significance could also be due to the Minimalist Index being close between footwear conditions. Therefore, a minimalist shoe could be looked at in future studies.

Stability footwear uses mechanisms to reduce excessive movement of the rearfoot, particularly during dynamic tasks which is classed as motion control (Cheung et al., 2006). Unfortunately, there is conflicting research showing whether stability footwear has beneficial effect for both performance and injury prevention (Butler et al., 2007; Davis., 2014; Langley et al., 2019). The lack of significance in the current study highlights that stability footwear may not be beneficial to help offload the knee in individuals following meniscectomy, however there were no significant detriments to wearing stability footwear during dynamic tasks. Previous studies have found biomechanical changes during change of direction tasks in ACL individuals that may influence knee injuries (Besier et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2017). During a 45° change of direction task, decreased knee flexion angles whilst wearing high-supportive footwear compared to neutral footwear reduced the ability of impact absorption on landing, putting the knee at risk of injury (Derrick et al., 2002). In the current study, although the knee flexion angle during the change of direction task was slightly reduced, there was no significant difference in the stability footwear compared to the neutral footwear, highlighting that there may not be an increased risk of re-injury with the stability footwear. On contrary, it has been stated that excessive foot pronation also plays a part in greater knee loading as foot pronation transfers the load up the kinetic chain, contributing to greater knee abduction moments during landing or change of direction tasks (Sayer et al., 2018; Shin et al., 2011). To neutralise the greater knee loading during these dynamic tasks, high-supportive shoes with appropriate antipronation features such as the medial arch support have been suggested to help reduce knee abduction moments (Barton et al., 2009). Morio et al., (2014) agreed to the findings in the current study and stated that there were no significant differences in the ankle joint kinematics and knee loading during change of direction when wearing footwear with increased support and hardness. The lack of differences when comparing stability footwear to neutral footwear illustrates that extra stability and stiffness of the footwear, does not have any negative effects in individuals following meniscectomy when considering return to play, however, was also seen not to be beneficial in offloading the knee and therefore, does not reduce the risk of knee degeneration.

5.5.3 Lateral Wedge

Footwear with a lateral wedge can be used to offload the knee due to greater ankle eversion in early stance and less ankle inversion in late stance, shifting the ground reaction force laterally and therefore reducing EKAM (Kakihana et al., 2005). As the footwear in the current study is

a variable stiffness footwear with a lateral wedge, the stiffer lateral midsole results in a medial shift in centre of pressure (COP), which lowers the knee adduction moment arm during stance. In the current study, the lateral wedge footwear with a medial arch support was found to have 15% reduction in EKAM compared to neutral footwear during running. This could be explained by the greater eversion angle (69%) and the medially shifted COP (41%). This accepts the H₁ Hypothesis stating that knee loading was reduced with lateral wedge footwear. Previous studies showed that EKAM is associated with cartilage thickness loss and joint degeneration in the knee over 12 months (Bennell et al., 2011) and 24 months (Chang et al., 2015). Therefore, the reduction in EKAM in the current study with the lateral wedge footwear use may reduce or delay the progression of the knee OA which has been shown to be inevitable following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2014).

Previous studies have highlighted that a lateral wedge of at least 5° produces reductions in the first peak EKAM similar to those in the current study during walking: 12% (Hinman et al., 2008a), 13.7% (Fu et al., 2015), 10% (Butler et al., 2009), and 12% (Jones et al., 2013). Jones et al. (2015) highlighted that both the typical lateral wedge (5.21%) and medial supported lateral wedge (6.29%) reduced the medial knee loading, showing a more significant reduction with medial support. During walking there was a 11% reduction in EKAM in individuals following meniscectomy whilst wearing lateral wedge footwear which supported the general consensus of studies mentioned above. Steiner (2019) found a considerable variation in response to their variable stiffness footwear and demonstrated a range from an 11% reduction in EKAM to a 19% increase in EKAM when compared to a neutral control footwear. This variation in response to the footwear is supported in part by the literature, where around 15-20% of individuals experience an increase in EKAM (Bennell et al., 2013; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2012; Erhart et al., 2008; Fisher et al., 2007). Chapman et al., (2015) found that when wearing a lateral wedge in individuals with OA, there were 30% of individuals which were nonresponders. When comparing to the current study, the lack of significant results may be due to there being some non-responders, specifically when comparing the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy.

The change of direction task in the current study, shows a greater knee abduction moment with a significant increase of 17% whilst wearing the lateral wedge footwear compared to the neutral. A greater knee abduction moment has been seen as an indicator for greater risk of injury due to the added strain on the meniscus (Kristianslund et al., 2012; Myer et al., 2014),

and therefore may mean that a lateral wedge footwear is not appropriate for dynamic sporting tasks seen in competitive sports, particularly following a meniscectomy. The knee abduction moment was greater compared to all three footwear conditions which supports that adding the lateral wedge may only be beneficial during walking and running. Whilst changes were seen in the footwear, ultimately comfort is an important attribute of footwear selection and thus must be understood to gain the full perspective of the results.

5.5.4 Medial and lateral meniscectomy comparison in footwear

It has been previously stated that the medial and lateral menisci deal with different amounts of loads (Dudhia et al., 2004). In the BOOM study, it was found that although there were no significant differences between following medial and lateral meniscectomy, it was stated that over a longer period, differences may become more apparent. Therefore, analysing the effect of footwear in individuals with both a medial and lateral meniscectomy was important.

Footwear has not been researched following meniscectomy, whereas, it has been widely investigated in joint degeneration such as OA in the knee to try and offload the affected compartment, however this compartment is generally solely the medial compartment (Voloshin, Wosk, & Brull, 1981; Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). Sabbag et al., (2019) found that at 8 years post-lateral meniscectomy approximately 50% of individuals develop lateral knee OA. In the current study, during running, there was a considerable change of knee loading in the lateral wedge footwear. The lateral wedge footwear showed a significant reduction in the EKAM during running (12%) in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy compared to the individuals following medial meniscectomy. This accepted the H₃ Hypothesis stating that there was a difference in knee loading between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. This could be due to the medial arch support helping prevent medial collapse, and with the compromised lateral compartment of the knee.

No significant main effects in the knee loading were seen during walking and change of direction between all four footwear, however, this could be due to all footwear conditions having a slight medial arch support which means there is a slight lateral shift in the GRF in both individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. There was also a moderate to large effect sizes in the walking and the change of direction task, which states that there could

be a significant result if more participants would have been included when splitting the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. In the current study, it has been observed that the lateral wedge with medial arch support was the most beneficial as it prevented the foot from collapsing inwards and added greater stability which had a more significant effect (Steiner., 2019). In individuals with medial knee OA, it has been widely stated that lateral wedge footwear (Shaw et al., 2018) or footwear with midsoles that are stiffer laterally than medially where the knee load is redistributed away from the medial tibiofemoral compartment towards the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and can be beneficial for individuals with medial knee OA (Bennell et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2015). Likewise, footwear with midsoles that are stiffer medially compared to laterally, such as those with medial arch support seen in stability footwear (Shakoor et al., 2010), shift load toward the medial compartment which may allow a reduction in lateral tibiofemoral knee loading, however this has not been widely researched (Patterson et al., 2020).

Although the lateral meniscectomy shows a more significant reduction in EKAM when wearing the lateral wedge, this may cause more issues for this population. The lateral wedge footwear shifts the GRF laterally to the compromised joint in the lateral meniscus individuals, which reduces medial knee joint loading. This loading is then additionally increased with exercise and could cause further damage or joint degeneration in the knee. Patterson et al., (2020) found that in a healthy population, footwear with medial arch support shifted the GRF medially (Schmalz et al., 2006), reducing loading on the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and therefore may be feasible for offloading individuals following lateral meniscectomy. Whether individuals following lateral meniscectomy develop lateral OA has not previously been researched. Sayer et al., (2018) highlighted that laterally wedged footwear provides a lateral shift of the centre of pressure and increasing the knee abduction moment. On the contrary, medially wedged footwear, create foot inversion, shifting the centre of pressure medially and lowering the knee abduction moment (Franz et al., 2008). This may be applicable for the purpose of offloading the medial and lateral compartment of the knee depending which side had a meniscectomy.

Looking at footwear for both individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy, therefore, was of interest to investigate whether there was a significant difference between meniscectomies when comparing the four different types of footwear. Sabbag et al., (2019) found that at 8 years post-lateral meniscectomy approximately 50% of individuals develop

lateral knee OA. As for medial OA and medial meniscectomy, the intent is to offload the medial compartment of the joint, which is why the lateral wedge footwear may be of benefit for these individuals, however in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy, the aim is to offload the lateral compartment of the knee which is more challenging as the lateral compartment deals with more loads in general. The neutral footwear, which had only a slight medial arch support and has the smallest pitch, seems to be the only footwear that may cause slightly greater medial knee loading, particularly during running and change of direction. With only ten individuals in each group, the results for this study may not have a significant clinical implication. Further research needs to be done with a larger population group comparing individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy when looking and the lateral wedge and a medial support footwear. The individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy were grouped together for the comfort analysis as there were no significant differences in kinematic and kinetic outcomes and therefore, comfort was not deemed necessary to be analysed separately.

5.5.5 Comfort Score

Comfort is an important aspect of athletic footwear since it has been associated with health and performance benefits (Hoerzer et al., 2016). Footwear comfort is highly important in clinical populations, as when you have an injury or treatment you do not want discomfort elsewhere (Hurst et al., 2017). Nigg et al., (2015) highlighted that footwear comfort plays an important role in enhancing running performance and in reducing movement-related injuries. Footwear comfort, along with aesthetics are some of the most important aspects to consider when looking at footwear as generally, aesthetics is the deciding factor whether a pair of footwear is chosen followed in priority by its comfort, as seen in high heeled footwear where aesthetics outweigh comfort (Ko and Lee., 2013). Herbaut et al., (2016) stated that comfort for athletic shoes, specifically for individuals who compete in sports is the most important deciding factor when choosing a shoe. In this study, there was a difference in all footwear comfort scores, supporting the hypothesis H₄. The lateral wedge footwear was perceived to be the least comfortable footwear and therefore, it can be assumed that they may not be chosen freely by an individual when purchasing footwear in a retail environment. Ramsey et al., (2019) analysed choice of footwear for 12 runners and identified the complexity of this choice as it includes, the type of running, whether it improves running economy, fit, comfort, performance. The choice of footwear is extremely individualised.

Although lateral wedge footwear may have the most significant benefit in reducing knee loading following meniscectomy during running, due to the low comfort perceived when worn, they would most likely not be worn regularly, and therefore would not have the desired remedial effect expected (Farndon et al., 2016). The comfort in the footwear may also improve as the individuals get used to the footwear, particularly during dynamic tasks and therefore, may still be a solution to offload the knee. Hurst et al., (2017) stated that a more flexible mesh fabric top part of the footwear is thought to reduce pressure on the forefoot and reduce discomfort which is necessary when considering clinical footwear. In the current study, the stability, cushioning and neutral footwear all had a mesh fabric top part, whereas the lateral wedge footwear was a hard leather top, which may have influenced the comfort score. Additionally, with lateral wedge footwear there will be an increased discomfort during athletic tasks. Jones et al., (2014) highlighted that in individuals with knee OA, the pain ratings were correlated with the comfort score of wearing lateral wedge footwear, indicating an increased pain response with reduced footwear comfort. In the current study, the lateral wedge footwear rated the lowest in comfort with a 49% reduction when compared to the neutral trainer. The cushioning footwear also revealed that comfort decreased by 24% compared to the neutral footwear. The reduction of comfort in the cushioning footwear could be explained as the cushioning trainer did have a wider fit around the metatarsals which allowed the foot to slide around particularly during the dynamic tasks and therefore could be the reason for the discomfort of these footwear, whereas the neutral and stability footwear had a more narrow fit. McRitchie et al., (2018) found that 60% of individuals both in an older and younger age group wear the wrong shoe size by around half a size, with around 86% of individuals wearing footwear that was narrower than their actual feet. McRitchie et al., (2018) also showed that narrower shoes are preferred, which is why the cushioning footwear in the current study may have been classes as uncomfortable as it was a wider fit. Mei et al., (2017) highlighted that reduced foot volume in the footwear would lead to footwear support instability, combined with poor motion control from muscle fatigue after long-distance running. Therefore, fit plays a large role in comfort scoring and should be assessed in future work.

5.6 Limitation/Future direction

There were some limitations concerning the findings of the study. Firstly, it is important to note that the individuals in this study were fitted with standard training footwear to minimise the influence of footwear on the results. It is recommended that participant's own footwear be

used as control conditions to ensure they do not experience a substantial biomechanical change (Lewinson et al., 2016). However, individuals generally would wear very different footwear and as seen in the current footwear study including variations in pitch, stiffness and including wedges. Implementing different types of footwear has an effect on the data and therefore interpretation of the data would have been harder whilst wearing their own footwear as it would have been unclear if the differences in findings were due to actual changes following meniscectomy or due to different footwear that was worn. However, the standard footwear might have limited comfort during running and thereby might have influenced the running performance. Future studies should be conducted in the participants own footwear or at least include this condition, specifically for the footwear study.

Secondly, the investigator and participants were not blinded to the footwear conditions in the laboratory. However, being blinded to such treatments is difficult due to the footwear conditions looking and feeling different. However, to reduce the bias, the participants were told that all types of treatment are effective following meniscectomy. Future studies should try to have the same outer shell of the footwear with an attractive mesh upper and just adjusting the insoles on the inside and different types of heels such as the increased pitch. The questionnaires for the study were collected without comment to the participants and were analysed at the end of the study without knowledge of the biomechanical data. A cushioning footwear should be used that has a narrower for forefoot to make sure this is not one of the determining factors for the comfort. As these were commercially available footwear provided by Asics, there was no input on footwear in the current study. Additionally, a minimalist shoe should be looked at to identify if there is an greater benefit with an even more reduced pitch. Lastly, not including a control group in the Meni-Foot study with the four footwear conditions is a limitation to the current study as to would have made it clearer what effect these specific types of footwear have following a meniscectomy compared to healthy controls.

In future studies, a lateral wedge footwear should be included with a soft mesh top and more flexible sole to account for aesthetics and comfort. In addition, a more pronounced medial arch support footwear should be included to look at the offload on individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

5.7 Summary

Non-invasive interventions, such as footwear and insoles, have been found to reduce knee loading during running (Lewinson *et al.*, 2013). When participating in sports, it can be assumed that generally, post-meniscectomy the same trainers are worn as before the injury occurred. However, having specific trainers to help offload the affected compartment of the knee could be hugely beneficial in slowing joint degeneration. Lateral wedge insoles have shown promising results in reducing medial knee loading. This does not seem however to be the best method for offloading the lateral tibiofemoral compartment of the knee in individuals following lateral meniscectomy. When considering the comfort of the footwear, the lateral wedge footwear also showed the lowest comfort score compared to the neutral footwear. Further research needs to be undertaken in footwear with a lateral wedge including medial arch support, however including a softer cushioning layer for individuals following medial meniscectomy as well as a footwear with a stiff medial arch support to help reduce lateral knee loading for individuals following lateral meniscectomy. This would then help to create practical based solutions for individuals following a meniscectomy and advice on footwear given.

Chapter 6 - Final Discussion

This chapter aims to discuss and summarise the findings of this thesis, to contextualise these findings and their implications and highlight future directions this work should take.

The thesis was created to further understand the effect a meniscectomy has on young active individuals who want to return to sport and perform dynamic tasks and how this could link to an increased risk of joint degeneration in the affected compartment of the knee. This thesis started with a literature review, which identified the gaps in the existing literature. The main gaps identified were the lack of literature looking at the comparison between individuals with a medial and lateral meniscectomy and a lack of literature on dynamic tasks following meniscectomy. A repeatability study was performed to show that the data collected by the researcher was repeatable for the investigation of lower limb kinematics, kinetics and isometric quadriceps strength which were used in this study.

The developed protocol was firstly applied in the BOOM study which investigated the biomechanical outcomes following meniscectomy surgery in comparison to healthy controls and to risk factors associated with knee OA. There was a comparison between individuals with medial and lateral meniscectomies with a focus on dynamic tasks. Lastly, the Meni-Foot study looked at the use of three different types of footwear including a cushioning shoe, stability shoe and lateral wedge shoe in comparison to a neutral shoe, to examine whether footwear offloaded the affected compartment of the knee and slow the risk of OA progression, specifically in a young active population.

The first aim of this thesis was to analyse knee loading in individuals following meniscectomy. The first objective was to compare knee loading and offloading strategies between individuals following medial meniscectomy and individuals following lateral meniscectomy. The second objective was to analyse knee loading during functional and sport-specific tasks and the third objective was looking at outcomes that influence knee loading following meniscectomy such as balance, muscle weakness, activity, kinesiophobia, and quality of life. The second aim of this thesis was to look at footwear as an offloading mechanism for the knee following meniscectomy. The first objective was to identify the difference in knee loading wearing a stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear in comparison to neutral footwear. The second objective was to look at knee loading in the three different types of footwear during dynamic

tasks and the third objective was to analyse the comfort of these different types of footwear following meniscectomy.

Throughout the thesis there were some hypotheses that showed to be accurate, however there were also several where the null hypothesis had to be accepted instead. H_1 for instance did not show a significant difference in knee loading between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. There were also no significant increases in the EKAM following meniscectomy during all the tasks, however there was still an increase in knee loads which were shown by the increased muscle co-contractions and net activation and therefore H_2 , H_3 and H_6 were accepted. H_4 and H_5 were also accepted showing that there were lower self-reported outcomes and isometric muscle strength following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls. There was also a significant difference in knee loads between stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear in comparison to the neutral footwear following meniscectomy. This showed a reduction in knee loads so H_7 and H_8 can only be partly accepted. Lastly, there was a significant difference in comfort ratings between lateral wedge footwear and cushioning footwear compared to the neutral footwear and therefore H_9 could also be accepted.

The novelty of this thesis was threefold; (i) the changes in biomechanical knee loading following medial meniscectomy were compared to lateral meniscectomy; (ii) a combination of sport-specific tasks in a single sample of individuals following meniscectomy were analysed; (iii) the use of footwear to aid offloading the knee following meniscectomy was investigated.

6.1 Medial compared to lateral meniscectomy

Despite the consideration that medial and lateral menisci properties of the knee deal with different amounts of loads and have different functions (Dudhia et al., 2004), there have been no previous biomechanical studies analysing the comparison between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. The lateral meniscus has been seen to play a more vital part in dynamic movements (Fox et al., 2015), therefore looking at the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy in isolation was highly important, specifically in relation to knee joint loading during dynamic tasks. The results in the thesis, however, show no significant differences for both walking and dynamic tasks when comparing individuals following a medial meniscectomy and individuals following a lateral meniscectomy.

was able to be analysed as a whole meniscectomy group following this initial analysis isolating each separate meniscectomy group.

There were no significant differences in kinetic or kinematics for walking, running, landing and change of direction between individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. The lack of significant differences could be due to compensatory strategies being used to offload the compartments, such as trunk lean. If an increased lateral trunk lean is implemented, this could help shift the moment arm away from the medial compartment and therefore reduce loads (Jamison et al., 2012). In the current study, it can be seen that lateral trunk lean was greater in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy compared to the individuals following medial meniscectomy during all tasks which aligns with the greater EKAM seen in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy. Fox et al., (2018) highlighted that proximal motion at the trunk appears to have a large effect in managing the loads experienced at the knee following ACL reconstruction. With pain, individuals often walk with an altered gait and may use trunk lean to help reduce the loading on the compromised leg. Although not significant, it could be seen that there was greater knee pain and symptoms present in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy, which showed that they compensate more than the individuals following medial meniscectomy, which is a major contributing factor as to why they were analysed as a subgroup in the Meni-Foot study. Additionally, the differences between meniscectomy groups might become clearer as time progresses when individuals following meniscectomy return back to sport and are no longer in the early stages of rehabilitation.

Footwear had not previously been researched in individuals following a meniscectomy, whereas, it has been widely investigated in joint degeneration (Voloshin, Wosk, & Brull, 1981; Paterson et al., 2017; Shakoor et al., 2010; Paterson et al., 2018). To offload the affected compartment of the knee lateral wedge footwear has been seen to reduce medial knee loading, however this is generally solely looking at medial knee OA (Bennell et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2015; Shaw et al., 2018). Implementing lateral wedge footwear on individuals following medial meniscectomy showed beneficial results as the EKAM was reduced, however, this was indicated to not be the best method for reducing lateral compartment loading for individuals following lateral meniscectomy. Using a greater medial arch support or a medial wedge may be more beneficial for individuals following lateral meniscectomy to offload the lateral compartment and reduce the risk of lateral OA development. The neutral footwear, which had only a slight medial arch support and has the smallest pitch, seems to be the only footwear that

may cause slightly greater medial knee loading, particularly during running and change of direction and therefore may be the most beneficial for individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

6.2 Knee loading following meniscectomy in physically active individuals

In this thesis the aim was to investigate the changes in knee loading following meniscectomy surgery compared to healthy controls. Once a meniscal tear occurs and partial meniscectomy is performed, the cartilage is left exposed and loading changes through the whole tibiofemoral joint (Englund et al., 2003). Although tibiofemoral knee loading has been previously analysed following meniscectomy, this has generally been done during walking, with only few studies looking at running (Willy et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2017). Additionally, the running studies were seen not to be ecologically valid, and with a traumatic meniscal tear generally occurring in the young active population (Mitchell et al., 2016), it was important to identify the loads that occur in other non-linear sporting tasks such as landing and change of directions. Joint moments have been identified to be one of the key indicators of joint loading, therefore, understanding these moments is vital for analysing joint health (Sturnieks et al., 2008). The thesis has demonstrated that there were no differences in knee adduction moments (EKAM) and knee adduction angular impulse (KAAI) during walking which contradicts previous studies following meniscectomy (Hall et al., 2015; Sturnieks et al., 2008; Thorlund et al., 2016). The lack of significant differences in the EKAM was hypothesised to be due to the length of time following surgery which aligns with Hall et al., (2014). The previous studies, which have investigated increases in EKAM, were either doing a comparison between early stages of injury/surgery and postmeniscectomy which generally looked at the surgery at least 12 months following meniscectomy, or they were longer term studies of 5-20 years (Sturnieks et al., 2008; Hall et al., 2014; Thorlund et al., 2016). In the current study, EKAM was greater in the individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls, however, these results were not significant, nor did they have a large effect size. Previous studies suggest that greater EKAM may progress further over time which could show a link to the risk of OA progression and is a future research area for investigation.

The knee flexion moments (KFM) were reduced in the meniscectomy leg compared to healthy controls for walking (29%), running (25%), landing (32%) and change of direction (29%). The reduced KFM was partly caused by changes in the movement patterns such as the significantly

greater ankle dorsiflexion angle, greater hip flexion angle and a reduced knee flexion angle during all tasks. These altered movement patterns indicate compensatory mechanisms often seen with quadriceps avoidance that are being used bringing the leg into a stiffer stance which may be due to muscle weakness (Steele et al., 2012) and is often implemented to help ground clearance with a stiffer knee which has been found to increase knee anterior loading (Yavuzer et al., 2011). In the current thesis, it was found that just because the EKAM was not significantly reduced, this did not mean that knee loading did not increase at all as anterior knee loading was greater following the stiffer motion and reduced knee flexion moment. Equally, a stiffer stance has been linked to fear of moving in previous studies, shown by the Tampa scale of kinesiophobia (Molyneux et al., 2017; de Oliveira Silva et a., 2019).

Fear of movement due to surgery and re-injury following ACL reconstruction have been highly reported as negative psychological readiness to return-to-sport outcome (Ageberg & Roos, 2016; Everhart et al., 2020; Hart et al., 2020). Therefore, it was advised that kinesiophobia is brought into standard clinical discharge criteria from physiotherapy and treatment. Several studies which have investigated individuals with knee OA have reported that kinesiophobia has a negative impact on daily activities (Özmen et al., 2017; Alaca 2019; Molyneux et al., 2019). In the current study, there was a significant increase in the Tampa score of Kinesiophobia showing that there was an increase in fear of movement following meniscectomy. The kinematics during running also showed a greater ankle dorsiflexion angle in late stance, with a reduced hip extension angle which are used to increase the push off momentum whilst trying to guard the knee joint following meniscectomy. Changes in knee mechanics and loading were seen to be due to quadriceps avoidance strategies being employed with kinesiophobia and muscle weakness being present which may have been enhanced with the lack of rehabilitation during the current study. When considering the increase of fear of movement at six months post-meniscectomy it is clear that strength and confidence in the movement needs to be implemented earlier in the rehabilitation programme, particularly when considering returning to sport. Rehabilitation criteria and specific programmes have not previously been researched following meniscectomy, however, are crucial for the young active population who wish to return to sport.

Muscle strength is essential to control movement, including movements such as change of direction and landing, which are common in many sports (Rudolph and Snyder-Mackler., 2004). Following meniscectomy quadriceps muscle weakness is often present (Becker et al.,

2004; Sturnieks et al., 2011). In the current study, the strength difference between the meniscectomy leg and the healthy controls was 29%, which is a clinically relevant amount as it is more than 10% (Vaidya et al., 2018). Muscle strength recovery is considered important for young individuals after arthroscopic surgery to regain the capacity to participate in sports (Ericsson et al., 2006; Pietrosimone et al., 2016). The muscle net activity was also greater following meniscectomy in the current study, which can be associated with compensatory mechanisms with muscle weakness (Özmen et al., 2017). These changes in strength and muscle activity strongly support the kinesiophobia outcomes and changes in kinematics at early stages of rehabilitation which in turn reduce the physical ability to participate in sport and the quality of life in individuals following meniscectomy.

Activation of the muscles was hypothesised to be lower with greater muscle weakness (Williams et al., 2005). In the current study, however, muscle activation was greater in the knee extensors in both the meniscectomy leg and the contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls in early stance, which was shown in aid to help brace the knee at impact, however the greater knee extensor activation also contributes to increased stiffness around the knee and could increase loading overall. The knee flexors showed significantly greater net activation in the individuals following meniscectomy and the contralateral leg compared to the healthy controls in late stance to aid in knee flexion in preparation for swing. There was a large effect size in the knee extensor and flexor net muscle activation which aligned with the statistical significance highlighting the gravity of change in individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls. Greater muscle activation has been shown to be linked to pain and kinesiophobia, therefore trying to support the knee joint by keeping it stiff, the individuals keep the muscles actively contracted (Lamoth et al., 2004; Starkey et al., 2020).

The greater lateral co-contraction compared to medial showed a greater offloading strategy occurring to help offload the medial compartment of the knee. There was also a large effect showing an increase in lateral co-contraction of the muscles in individuals following meniscectomy, highlighting the importance of this measure and the gravity of the outcome when looking at all the muscle activity. Sturnieks et al., (2011) reported that greater lateral co-contraction relative to medial is a compensatory mechanism often seen in Individuals with knee OA to try and reduce medial knee loading and lower the EKAM which could support why the EKAM in the current study was not significantly greater. It would be beneficial to look at muscle activation in later stages following meniscectomy and whether the greater activation is

an early response to the meniscectomy, or whether this could be a key indicator for risk of knee OA development. These results confirm that there is an increase in knee loading postmeniscectomy with a reduced knee flexion moment for quadriceps avoidance, greater net muscle activation and with greater muscle co-contraction on the lateral side to try and shift the load away from the medial compartment. However, to gain further depth and understand the knee loading response from the muscle activation and co-contractions, it would need to be further examined in an EMG-driven model (Kumar et al., 2012) or a musculoskeletal modelling approach whilst running the EMG data through Opensimm or similar software which was outside the scope of this PhD.

Individuals who sustain a meniscal injury during competitive sport generally aim to return to their pre-injury level of competitive sport as soon as possible (Eberbach et al., 2018). In the current study, 87% of individuals who previously participated in competitive sport were not able to return to their previous sporting level on average six months post-meniscectomy. The low return to sport numbers following meniscectomy in the current study may be linked to lack of rehabilitation with most individuals not starting rehabilitation straight away following the surgery, with significant muscle weakness and kinesiophobia being present. Rehabilitation aids in building confidence in movement while building the strength to participate in sport (Podlog et al., 2015).

In this study, out of the four individuals that went back to participating at a competitive level of their sport, one individual had already suffered a re-injury and has had to be subsequently re-operated. Ekhtiari et al., (2018) stated that out of 244 individuals who had undergone a meniscectomy, 80.4% of them returned to their preoperative level, playing their sport as soon as 4.3 months post-rehabilitation. The individuals playing sport as soon as 4.3 months post-could have been linked to the fact that the individuals had particularly good level of physiotherapy, as Ekhtiari et al., (2018) used elite athletes in their study and they therefore had more physiotherapy contact time. However, in this study, individuals were 3 - 12 months post-surgery and had not returned to sport owing to poor knee function (KOOS), reduced strength, greater fear of movement and poor movement patterns which increases the risk of re-injury (greater KFM and reduced knee flexion angle).

Lack of rehabilitation following ACL reconstruction, specifically including muscle strength, neuromuscular function and range of motion was highlighted by Noyes and Barber-Westin.,
(2019) to lead to reinjury as sport specific tasks are not targeted in general rehabilitation programmes. The reduction in knee flexion moment during all tasks, particularly change of direction has been seen to indicate a reduced ability to absorb loads through the knee (Fox et al., 2018). The knee stays in a more extended position and can therefore influence the re-injury susceptibility on return to their competitive sports (Dos'Santos et al., 2018). The previously stated results such as the stiffer movement strategies, greater muscle co-contraction and greater kinesiophobia have all been linked to bad KOOS outcomes (Hall et al., 2013; Thorlund et al., 2017). The lower perception of the function of the knee following meniscectomy could also be linked to poor rehabilitation and not building strength and confidence in the knee following meniscectomy, to allow the individuals to return to participating in their preferred sport.

6.3 Footwear following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls

Stability, cushioning and lateral wedge footwear were analysed in the Meni-foot study to identify an easy way to help offload the compromised joint following a meniscectomy which can be implemented both in rehabilitation/recovery and when returning to sport and performing dynamic tasks. Footwear has been seen to knee loading in individuals with knee OA and can be a comfortable and cost-effective way to reduce symptomatic pain and possibly slow OA progression (Bennell et al., 2009). There has been previous research which has stated that footwear can be used to help offload individuals who suffer from knee pain and joint degeneration by shifting the GRF and reducing the EKAM (Jones et al., 2015), however, footwear had never been looked at following meniscectomy, which could be employed as an effective and relatively low-cost way to offload the knee and help return back to significant physical activity.

In all the footwear conditions, there were no significant changes during walking in EKAM, which was comparable to the data found in the BOOM study. The values in both sagittal and frontal planes were comparable to those found in the BOOM study which is to be expected as the participants were the same for both studies. Nigg et al., (2017) analysed the difference in running whilst wearing a conventional running shoe, a racing flat shoe and a minimalist shoe and found that there were minimal differences. Similar to the current study, Nigg et al., (2017) only found differences in the sagittal plane, however there were no changes in joint angles more than 2.5° which was stated not to be significant in their study. Nigg et al., (2017) showed the magnitude of differences to be split in thresholds of 2° , 3° and 5° , showing the greatest

difference as anything over 5° during running. In the current study all differences in motion was also under 2.5°. Nigg et al., (2017) also looked at wearing footwear and barefoot and found that there was a greater change, which states that the change in movement patterns is dependent on the magnitude of the change introduced by the footwear condition, which supports why there is a greater change in movement seen in the current study whilst wearing the lateral wedge footwear.

When examining knee loading during drop landing, whilst footwear with greater cushioning, EKAM was seen to be slightly greater in healthy controls (Lindenberg et al., 2011). The increase in knee loading is due to the additional imbalance caused by the increased soft heel, which the body needs to compensate for and can be seen by the greater shift in the centre of pressure in the cushioning footwear compared to neutral footwear (Jellema et al., 2019). Bohne et al., (2017) found that there was not a substantial difference in knee loading between extra cushioning in a shoe and a standard normal shoe during running. The current Meni-foot study supported the lack of difference in increased cushioning as seen by Bohne et al., (2017), as there were minimal changes in knee loading in the cushioning footwear compared to neutral footwear compared to neutral footwear compared to neutral footwear compared to neutral footwear uses a substantial difference in knee loading between extra cushioning in a shoe and a standard normal shoe during running. The current Meni-foot study supported the lack of difference in increased cushioning as seen by Bohne et al., (2017), as

Following injury or surgery, knee stability is often reduced (Almekinders et al., 2004), however, the current study shoes that adding more stability or stiffness to shoes may not be the most beneficial intervention for an active clinical population. Previous studies have reported greater peak KFM wearing stability shoes and neutral shoes compared to barefoot in a mixed cohort (Bonacci et al., 2014 and Sinclair et al., 2014), which supports the findings in these individuals following meniscectomy as there was a slight increase in KFM in the stability shoe, however no significant difference compared to the neutral shoe. This was supported by the effect size throughout the study being low in walking, running and change of direction. Sayer et al., (2018) found that the greater KFM was mainly due to the footwear pitch. Similarly, to the cushioning data, the stability shoe results showed a slight reduction in EKAM and increase in KFM. This could be due to the minimalist index being identical at 12% in the stability and cushioning footwear, which leads to minimalist footwear being of greater interest for future research. The similarity in knee loading between the meniscectomy and healthy controls whilst wearing stability footwear shows that although there are no significant differences between the stability and neutral shoe, there is a reduction in knee loading similar to those of the healthy controls. Wearing shoes in general increases the EKAM compared to barefoot walking (Shakoor et al., 2006). Sinclair et al., (2018) however, emphasised the opposite, and analysed barefoot, minimalist and general running trainers during running and found that there was greater medial compartment knee loading (20-25%) when wearing no or minimalist trainers which puts the runners at increased risk of medial compartment knee OA. Minimalist footwear should be considered in a future study in individuals following meniscectomy as the footwear conditions did not reduce knee loading compared to the neutral shoe which may indicate that a lower pitch leading to minimalist footwear could be beneficial in the compromised knee joint, however caution needs to be taken when analysing more dynamic tasks and minimalist footwear.

Previous studies have highlighted that a lateral wedge of at least 5° produces reductions in the first peak EKAM during walking (Hinman et al., 2008; Fu et al., 2015; Butler et al., 2009; Jones et al., 2013). Jones et al. (2015) highlighted that both the typical lateral wedge (5.21%) and medial supported lateral wedge (6.29%) reduced the medial knee loading during walking, showing a more significant reduction with medial support. On contrary, Starbuck et al., (2017) found that during running whilst wearing lateral wedge footwear knee loading did not differ, which was stated to be associated to different foot strike patterns. However, in most literature with individuals with medial knee OA, it has been widely stated that an lateral wedge footwear, where the knee load is redistributed away from the medial compartment towards the lateral compartment of the knee can be beneficial for reducing knee loading in individuals with medial knee OA (Bennell et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2015; Shaw et al., 2018). Likewise, footwear with midsoles that are raised medially compared to laterally, such as those with medial arch support seen in stability footwear (Shakoor et al., 2010), shift load toward the medial compartment which may allow a reduction in lateral compartment knee loading, however this has not been widely researched (Patterson et al., 2020).

It has been stated that lateral wedge footwear can be used to offload the knee, due to an increase in ankle eversion occurring, shifting the ground reaction force laterally and therefore reducing EKAM (Kakihana et al., 2005). In this study, a medially supported lateral wedge was found to have an 11% reduction in EKAM during walking in meniscectomy which supported the consensus of previous studies (Bennell et al., 2013; Erhart-Hledik et al., 2012; Erhart et al., 2008; Fisher et al., 2007). Although dynamic tasks were not previously considered in footwear, specifically in individuals following meniscectomy, it was found in the Meni-Foot study that knee loading was reduced even more significantly during running with a reduction in the EKAM of 15% in the lateral wedge footwear compared to neutral footwear and a 17% reduction in knee abduction moment during the change of direction task. In comparison to the BOOM study, it could be seen that the KFM was greater to a similar level in the lateral wedge footwear as the healthy controls during walking, running and change of direction. The EKAM whilst wearing the lateral wedge footwear was reduced to a level that was on average 12% lower than the healthy controls indicating that the knee loading can be reduced using a lateral wedge footwear following meniscectomy.

6.4 Limitations

There were some limitations concerning the overall findings in this thesis. Firstly, it is important to note that the individuals in this study were fitted with standard training shoes to minimise the influence of footwear on the results. Individuals would normally wear different footwear than that worn in this study and therefore it may affect the data as the individuals may need not find the footwear easy to manoeuvre in and they were not given a familiarisation period to get used to the footwear. Standardising footwear allows the exploration of knee loading in individuals following a meniscectomy compared with healthy individuals without the influence of footwear. However, the standard training shoes might have limited the comfort during running and thereby might have influenced the running performance. Future studies should be conducted in the individuals own training shoes or at least include this condition, specifically for the footwear study.

Secondly, although it was seen that knee loading was greater in the current study with a stiffer gait and greater co-contraction of the muscles, the results appearing may be short-term consequences to lack of rehabilitation and muscle weakness. A limitation is that exact rehabilitation was not recorded, but self-reported ones were which may not be as accurate. A longer-term study should be considered to look at both short term outcomes including a group that follows vigorous rehabilitation and a group that does not. The study should include all the related outcome measures that were used in the current study including EMG, KOOS, kinesiophobia, balance and the kinematics and kinetics to establish how rehabilitation and changes following meniscectomy alter over a longer period of time. A longitudinal study would help establish a clearer link to the risk associated with OA, particularly when including dynamic tasks and return to sport criteria. The current study did not look at the exact rehabilitation plan, nor the quality of rehabilitation, which is a limitation, as all the data

collected was either verbal feedback or from the rehabilitation questionnaire which due to its length may not have been filled out completely or as detailed as it could potentially have been.

The lack of differences could be due to the size and location of the meniscal tear, however this has not been previously researched as discriminating between size of meniscectomy is quite complex and difficult to accurately determine consistently. The size of the meniscal tear may affect the number of loads managed by the knee and therefore could cause increased risk of knee degeneration. On contrary, some of the significant differences that were found in the current study without a large effect size, may have been due to the number of statistical tests that were run, therefore causing mass significance and creating a false positive result.

Although the sample size in the current study was comparable with previous studies, the outcomes would have had more power to them with a larger sample size. Specifically, when having the individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy separate, it could be seen that there were no significant differences, however there were moderate effect sizes which highlight that with a greater sample size, there may have been more significances. As the protocol in this study was not complex, the rigour of the study was still high even if the low sample size was not massive.

Lastly, the investigator and participants were not blinded to the footwear conditions in the laboratory. However, being blinded to such treatments is difficult due to the footwear conditions looking and feeling different. The intervention is inserted in the shoes or is wrapped around the knee, however, to reduce the bias, the participants were told that all types of treatment are effective following meniscectomy. The questionnaires for the study were collected without comment to the participants and were analysed at the end of the study without knowledge of the biomechanical data.

6.5 Novelty of study

This study investigated the biomechanical outcomes post-meniscectomy during functional and sport specific tasks compared to healthy individuals. Meniscal injuries are one of the most common knee injuries in competitive sport which include running, change of direction and landing movements, with meniscectomy being the most common treatment. To the authors knowledge, only a very few studies have investigated the effect of high impact activities as seen in competitive sports on individuals following meniscectomy including two studies looking at non-ecologically valid running (Willy et al., 2016, Hall et al., 20140, one study looking at landing (Ford et al., 2011) and one study looking at a single leg hop (Hsu et al., 2016). As a traumatic meniscal tear generally occurs in a sporting environment, looking at dynamic tasks such as running, landing and change of direction where the knee is at greater risk is much more beneficial, specifically to understand what happens to the knee following meniscectomy in an active population.

There has never been a study looking at balance nor muscle activation combined with links relating to strength, KOOS and kinesiophobia in individuals following meniscectomy. This could have a major implication for individuals following meniscectomy as this could identify issues post-surgery and give strategies and modalities to help slow if not offset degeneration in the joint, allowing these athletic individuals to carry on with competitive sport. This is the first study to look at the entire gamut of everything that occurs biomechanically, clinically and psychologically in a sporting population post-meniscectomy. For example, EKAM is the most reported outcomes in meniscectomy literature to look at knee loading, as previous studies have shown that EKAM is correlated with loading and is a valid and reliable measurement (Kutzner et al., 2013; Schipplein & Andriacchi, 1991). Furthermore, muscle co-contraction has recently been found to correlate with knee joint loading (Brandon et al., 2014; Sritharan et al., 2017; Winby et al., 2013) and may cause higher loading even if EKAM remains the same (Lu et al., 1997; Trepczynski et al., 2014). Moreover, Walter et al. (2010) highlighted that a reduction in EKAM may not guarantee a reduction in loading due to the increase in the knee flexion moment. This highlights the importance of combining several outcomes in the same study as EKAM, muscle co-contraction and the knee flexion moment, as it is important that a reduction in one outcome that reflects knee joint loading is not offset by an increase in another one. This was then supported by looking at the strength, balance and psychological aspects to support any other findings in knee loading and to fully understand why these changes may be present. In this thesis the most important outcome six month following meniscectomy was the knee flexion moments as this showed quadriceps avoidance and greater knee loading in the early stages of rehabilitation. This highlights the strength of the current thesis for gaining a full picture and a better view of what is going on following meniscectomy.

To date, there has only ever been one study that looked at the biomechanical outcomes following lateral meniscectomy (Ford et al., 2011), however, there have been no biomechanical studies that compare both individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy. Both the

medial and lateral menisci load differently and aid in different aspects of movement. Therefore, looking at both medial and lateral meniscectomies, specifically when looking at sport is of high value.

Footwear interventions have been used in individuals with knee OA to reduce knee loading and pain (Butler et al., 2007; Chapman et al., 2013; Erhart et al., 2008). This conservative strategy could be used to help offload the affected knee following meniscectomy and possibly help slow joint degeneration by alleviating the affected compartment of the knee. Looking at several different types of footwear allowed this study to determine the biomechanical changes in knee loading mechanisms whilst wearing different commercially available footwear and possibly use these as an offloading mechanism post-meniscectomy. Footwear interventions have never been looked at in individuals following meniscectomy, however, could be used as way to help slow or reduce the risk of knee OA development. Looking at both the medial and lateral meniscectomy also helps identify different strategies to help offload both compartments of the knee.

6.6 Implications of study to clinical practice

In the current thesis, although results were not significant, compensatory mechanisms were seen in individuals following lateral meniscectomy more than in individuals following medial meniscectomy. Due to its role in dynamic tasks, it is essential to look at the lateral meniscus when individuals return to sport and analyse the knee loading capabilities over a longer period of time, with a minimum follow-up period of 12 month. Although the differences were not significant in the early stages following rehabilitation, literature has suggested that gait adaptations may become more evident longer term (Thorlund et al., 2016).

Following the results found in this thesis, knee loading increases and changes over time following meniscectomy. Rehabilitation is key in the early stages of recovery influencing an individual's muscle activation and weakness, gait adaptations, kinesiophobia, and perception of knee function and may have played a part in the current study results, however accurate correlations between these outcomes cannot be made. In the UK, for the sample of individuals appearing in this thesis, it was demonstrated that NHS rehabilitation was insufficient for individuals with the aim of returning to sport. When stating that rehabilitation was insufficient,

it refers to the time taken to start rehabilitation, in addition to muscle weakness still being significantly reduced six-months following meniscectomy compared to healthy controls.

Lateral wedge footwear has been seen to help offload the medial compartment of the knee and therefore can be recommended for individuals following medial meniscectomy when participating in dynamic tasks. Greater pitch has been seen to increase knee loading slightly and therefore is not as advisable for individuals following meniscectomy, however this may not be as evident in the longer term when stability in the knee is improved with muscle strength. Footwear to offload the lateral compartment of the knee, needs to be researched further and it is not advisable for individuals following lateral meniscectomy to wear lateral wedge footwear.

6.7 Future directions

In this thesis, although there were no significant differences in the outcomes compared to medial and lateral meniscectomy, there were still indications that there might be differences longer term as knee loading was still greater in individuals following meniscectomy compared to the healthy controls. This needs to be investigated further in a longitudinal study with an increased sample size. Understanding what occurs in the lateral meniscectomy over time could be clinically beneficial to help understand the difference in movement patterns between these injuries and why medial meniscectomies are more likely to end up developing OA. Future studies looking at both medial and lateral meniscectomies and medial compared to lateral OA should include MRI scans.

Future studies should also look at analysing the total knee joint moment which incorporates all planes, as well as using SPM to analyse the whole waveform, rather than solely interpreting the peak values. SPM allows for the comparison of entire movement cycles, reducing the likelihood of errors in the reporting of statistical inferences. SPM removes interpretation bias and focuses solely on the quantitative data. Such an analysis is required to appropriately identify the biomechanical differences between individuals following meniscectomy and healthy controls.

There has been previous research which has stated that footwear can be used to help offload individuals who suffer from knee pain and joint degeneration by shifting the GRF and reducing the EKAM (Jones et al., 2015). The lateral wedge insole with a medial arch support shows the most promising results in offloading the medial compartment for individuals following medial

meniscectomy, however due to the comfort of these shoes being low, further research needs to be done to look into a softer insole in a more flexible shoe in order to increase acceptance by the individuals. In addition, a stronger medial arch support shoe should be analysed to help offload the lateral compartment of the knee in individuals following lateral meniscectomy.

Post-meniscectomy research thus far has only concentrated on either walking or nonecologically valid running, as Willy et al., (2016) looked at treadmill running and Hall et al., (2014) looked at barefoot running. These previous running studies are not translatable to a real life setting where individuals would run over ground wearing shoes and therefore, does not give a full indication of the loads that are applied to the body in competitive sports, particularly in individuals who may have a compromised knee joint. In the current study, it has been demonstrated that loads are greater on the joint following meniscectomy, and with a greater muscle weakness return to sport between 3-12 months post-surgery point is not advisable. Rehabilitation should be started at an earlier stage following meniscectomy and should be managed more than once every two weeks to avoid muscle atrophy and get back to dynamic movement as soon as possible without the psychological trauma of kinesiophobia. Further research should be conducted looking at the effect of different stages of rehabilitation and how this may influence return to sport for the individuals whilst looking at compensatory mechanisms following meniscectomy.

6.8 Summary

To summarise, the comparison between the medial and lateral meniscectomies did not show any significant results, however a greater dysfunction in the individuals following lateral meniscectomy was indicated with greater loading and greater compensatory mechanisms present such as greater trunk lean. When returning to sport between 3-12 months postmeniscectomy, individuals are not generally ready as they still suffer from muscle weakness, lack of motor control, reduced self-perceived function and kinesiophobia, increasing movement inhibition and therefore causing reduced quality of life and potentially increasing the risk of re-injury.

Non-invasive interventions, such as footwear and insoles, have been found to reduce knee loading during running (Lewinson et al., 2013). Lateral wedge insoles have shown promising results in reducing medial knee loading in individuals following meniscectomy. When

considering the comfort of the shoes however, the lateral wedge shoe also showed the most significant discomfort. Using the lateral wedge footwear also does not seem however, to be the best method for offloading the lateral tibiofemoral compartment of the knee in individuals following lateral meniscectomy. Shoes with more significant medial arch support may be of greater benefit for individuals following lateral meniscectomy and need to be researched further.

The current thesis has provided substantial knowledge in individuals following meniscectomy in various methodological areas. Increases in knee loading following meniscectomy were shown due to a stiffer movement pattern, greater muscle activation and quadriceps avoidance. Fear of movement was present and self-reported function was low. This is the first study to the authors knowledge that looked at dynamic tasks such as change of direction following meniscectomy although it is a common sporting injury. All the findings highlight the importance of rehabilitation, particularly when returning to sport. Without proper rehabilitation, specifically in the early stages following meniscectomy compensatory factors start developing which may have severe consequences when returning to sport and can increase the risk of OA developments. Footwear can be seen to be a good way to help offload the affected compartments of the knee, however the perfect shoe has not yet been established for both individuals following medial and lateral meniscectomy, but future directions have been made clear.

Chapter 7 - References

Abram, S. G. F., Hopewell, S., Monk, A. P., Bayliss, L. E., Beard, D. J., & Price, A. J. (2019). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for meniscal tears of the knee: A systematic review and meta-analysis. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100223

Abram, S. G. F., Price, A. J., Judge, A., & Beard, D. J. (2020). Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction and meniscal repair rates have both increased in the past 20 years in England: Hospital statistics from 1997 to 2017. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 54(5), 286–291. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100195

Aerts, P., & Clercq, D. D. (1993). Deformation characteristics of the heel region of the shod foot during a simulated heel strike: the effect of varying midsole hardness. *Journal of sports sciences*, *11*(5), 449-461.

Agresta, C., Kessler, S., Southern, E., Goulet, G. C., Zernicke, R., & Zendler, J. D. (2018). Immediate and short-term adaptations to maximalist and minimalist running shoes. *Footwear Science*, *10*(2), 95-107.

Ahn, J. H., Kang, D. M., & Choi, K. J. (2017). Risk factors for radiographic progression of osteoarthritis after partial meniscectomy of discoid lateral meniscus tear. Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 103(8), 1183–1188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2017.09.013

Al-Amri, M., Al Balushi, H., & Mashabi, A. (2017). Intra-rater repeatability of gait parameters in healthy adults during self-paced treadmill-based virtual reality walking. *Computer methods in BiomeChaniCs and BiomediCal engineering*, *20*(16), 1669-1677.

Al-Dadah, O., Shepstone, L., & Donell, S. T. (2011). Proprioception following partial meniscectomy in stable knees. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 19(2), 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-010-1237-7

Alenezi, F., Dieppe, P., Lohmander, L. S., Kim, S.-J. G. S.-H., Nagao, M., Kamata, K., Maeda, K., Nozawa, M., Shakoor, N., Sengupta, M., Foucher, K. C., Wimmer, M. A., Fogg, L. F., Block, J. A., Zedde, P., Mela, F., Prete, F. Del, Masia, F., Manunta, F., ... Whitney, S. L. (2005). Trabecular bone structure and spatial differences in articular cartilage MR relaxation times in individuals with posterior horn medial meniscal tears. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, 365(1), 965–973. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20165

Alenezi, F., Herrington, L., Jones, P., & Jones, R. (2016). How reliable are lower limb biomechanical variables during running and cutting tasks. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 30, 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2016.07.001

Alentorn-geli, E., Cugat, R., Farmer, K. W., & Moser, M. W. (2015). Failure of ACL Reconstruction. Archives of Bone and Joint Surgery, 3(4), 220–240. https://doi.org/10.22038/abjs.2015.4584

Alessio-Mazzola, M., Formica, M., Coviello, M., Basso, M., & Felli, L. (2016). Conservative treatment of meniscal tears in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *The Knee*, *23*(4), 642-646.

Ali, N., Robertson, D. G. E., & Rouhi, G. (2014). Sagittal plane body kinematics and kinetics during single-leg landing from increasing vertical heights and horizontal distances: Implications for risk of non-contact ACL injury. *The Knee*, *21*(1), 38-46.

Almeida, M. O., Davis, I. S., & Lopes, A. D. (2015). Biomechanical differences of foot-strike patterns during running: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy*, *45*(10), 738-755.

Alnahdi, A. H., Zeni, J. A., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2012). Muscle impairments in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Sports Health*, 4(4), 284-292.

Alnahdi, A. H., Zeni, J. A., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2016). Quadriceps strength asymmetry predicts loading asymmetry during sit-to-stand task in patients with unilateral total knee arthroplasty. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 24(8), 2587-2594.

Anderson, J., Williams, A. E., & Nester, C. J. (2017). A narrative review of musculoskeletal problems of the lower extremity and back associated with the interface between occupational tasks, feet, footwear and flooring. Musculoskeletal Care, 15(4), 304–315. https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1174

Anderson, P. (2016). Star excursion balance tests as a measure of functional joint mobility: an exploratory study.

https://brage.bibsys.no/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2399149/Anderson Patrick Julian v2016.pdf?sequence=1

Andrews, S., Shrive, N., & Ronsky, J. (2011). The shocking truth about meniscus. *Journal of biomechanics*, 44(16), 2737-2740.

Andriacchi, T. P., & Favre, J. (2014). The Nature of In Vivo Mechanical Signals That Influence Cartilage Health and Progression to Knee Osteoarthritis. Current Rheumatology Reports, 16(11), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-014-0463-2

Andriacchi, T. P., Koo, S., & Scanlan, S. F. (2009). Gait mechanics influence healthy cartilage morphology and osteoarthritis of the knee. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery - Series A, 91(SUPPL. 1), 95–101. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.H.01408

Anetzberger, C. Birkenmaier, S. L. (2014). Meniscectomy: indications, procedure, outcomes, and rehabilitation. Orthopedic Research and Reviews, 6, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2147/ORR.S54669 Annandale, T. (1885). An operation for displaced semilunar cartilage. British medical journal, 1(1268), 779.

Ardestani, M. M., Ferrigno, C., Moazen, M., & Wimmer, M. A. (2016). From normal to fast walking: Impact of cadence and stride length on lower extremity joint moments. *Gait & Posture*, *46*, 118-125.

Armand, S., Sangeux, M., & Baker, R. (2014). Optimal markers' placement on the thorax for clinical gait analysis. Gait and Posture, 39(1), 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.06.016

Arnoczky SP, Warren RF. Microvasculature of the human meniscus. Am J Sports Med. 1982;10:90–5. Arthritis Rheum 48(8):2178–2187

Arnoczky, S. P. (1992). Gross and vascular anatomy of the meniscus and its role in meniscal healing, regeneration and remodeling. In: Mow VC, Arnoczky SP, Jackson SW, editors. Knee Meniscus: Basic and Clinical Foundations. New York: Raven Press. p 1–14.

Arnoczky, S. P, Adams ME, DeHaven KE, Eyre DR, Mow VC. (1987). The meniscus. In: Woo SL, Buckwalter J, editors. Injury and Repair of Musculoskeletal Soft Tissues. Park Ridge, IL: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. p 487–537.

Asay, J. L., Erhart-Hledik, J. C., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2018). Changes in the total knee joint moment in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis over 5 years. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 36(9), 2373–2379. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23908

Astephen Wilson, J. L., Stanish, W. D., & Hubley-Kozey, C. L. (2017). Asymptomatic and symptomatic individuals with the same radiographic evidence of knee osteoarthritis walk with different knee moments and muscle activity. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, *35*(8), 1661-1670.

Atmaca H, Kesemenli CC, Memisoglu K, Ozkan A, Celik Y (2013) Changes in the loading of tibial articular cartilage following medial meniscectomy: a finite element analysis study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 21(12):2667–2673 2.

Aune, K. T., Andrews, J. R., Dugas, J. R., & Cain, E. L. (2014). Return to play after partial lateral meniscectomy in national football league athletes. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 42(8), 1865–1872. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546514535069

Bade, M. J., & Stevens-Lapsley, J. E. (2011). Early high-intensity rehabilitation following total knee arthroplasty improves outcomes. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 41(12), 932–941. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2011.3734

Badlani, J. T., Borrero, C., Golla, S., Harner, C. D., & Irrgang, J. J. (2013). The effects of meniscus injury on the development of knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 41(6), 1238–44.

Badlani, J. T., Borrero, C., Golla, S., Harner, C. D., & Irrgang, J. J. (2013). The effects of meniscus injury on the development of knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *41*(6), 1238-1244.

Bae, J. Y., Park, K. S., Seon, J. K., Kwak, D. S., Jeon, I., & Song, E. K. (2012). Biomechanical analysis of the effects of medial meniscectomy on degenerative osteoarthritis. Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing, 50(1), 53–60.

Baert I. A, Mahmoudian A, Nieuwenhuys A, Jonkers I, Staes F, Luyten FP, Truijen S, Verschueren S. M., (2013). Proprioceptive accuracy in women with early and established knee osteoarthritis and its relation to functional ability, postural control, and muscle strength. Clin Rheumatol; 32: 1365-1374. [DOI: 10.1007/s10067-0132285-4].

Baghaei Roodsari, R., Esteki, A., Aminian, G., Ebrahimi, I., Mousavi, M. E., Majdoleslami, B., & Bahramian, F. (2017). The effect of orthotic devices on knee adduction moment, pain and function in medial compartment knee osteoarthritis: a literature review. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 12(5), 441–449. https://doi.org/10.3109/17483107.2016.1151952

Baker, B. E. Peckham, A.C., Pupparo, F., Sanborn, J.C. (1985). Review of meniscal injury and associated sports. Am J Sports Med 13:1–4.

Baker, P., Coggon, D., Reading, I., Barrett, D., McLaren, M., & Cooper, C. (2002). Sports injury, occupational physical activity, joint laxity, and meniscal damage. Journal of Rheumatology, 29(3), 557–563. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546506287939

Baltich, J., Maurer, C., & Nigg, B. M. (2015). Increased vertical impact forces and altered running mechanics with softer midsole shoes. *PloS one*, *10*(4), e0125196.

Bansal, S., Mandalapu, S., Aeppli, C., Qu, F., Szczesny, S. E., Mauck, R. L., & Zgonis, M. H. (2017). Mechanical function near defects in an aligned nanofiber composite is preserved by inclusion of disorganized layers: Insight into meniscus structure and function. Acta Biomaterialia, 56, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.01.074

Barnds, B., Morris, B., Mullen, S., Schroeppel, J. P., Tarakemeh, A., & Vopat, B. G. (2019). Increased rates of knee arthroplasty and cost of patients with meniscal tears treated with arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus non-operative management. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 27(7), 2316–2321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-019-05481-8

Bass H (1731) Observationes anatomico-chirurgico-medicae: in quatuor decades digestae, variis observatis rarioribus exornatae et solidis medicae scientiae principiis superstructae cum figuris aeneis. Officina Rengeriana, Halae Magdeburgicae

Bates, N. A., McPherson, A. L., Rao, M. B., Myer, G. D., & Hewett, T. E. (2016). Characteristics of inpatient anterior cruciate ligament reconstructions and concomitant injuries. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 24(9), 2778–2786. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-3478-3 Baumgarten B (2007) To run or not to run: a post-meniscectomy qualitative risk analysis model for osteoarthritis when considering a return to recreational running. J Man Manip Ther 15(1):E1–E15

Bayramoglu, M., Toprak, R., & Sozay, S. (2007). Effects of osteoarthritis and fatigue on proprioception of the knee joint. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 88(3), 346-350.

Beaufils, P., Becker, R., Kopf, S., Englund, M., Verdonk, R., Ollivier, M., & Seil, R. (2017). Surgical management of degenerative meniscus lesions: the 2016 ESSKA meniscus consensus. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 25(2), 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-016-4407-4

Beaufils, P., Becker, R., Verdonk, R., Aagaard, H., & Karlsson, J. (2014). Focusing on results after meniscus surgery. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 23(1), 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-3471-x

Belzer JP, Cannon WD (1993) Meniscus tears: treatment in the stable and unstable knee. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 1:41–47

Bernholt, D., Wright, R. W., Matava, M. J., Brophy, R. H., Bogunovic, L., & Smith, M. V. (2018). Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System Scores Are Responsive to Early Changes in Patient Outcomes Following Arthroscopic Partial Meniscectomy. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 34(4), 1113–1117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2017.10.047

Bernstein, J. (2000). Meniscal tears of the knee: diagnosis and individualized treatment. *The Physician and sportsmedicine*, 28(3), 83-90.

Bernstein, J. (2010). In brief: meniscal tears.

Besier, T. F., Fredericson, M., Gold, G. E., Beaupré, G. S., & Delp, S. L. (2009). Knee muscle forces during walking and running in patellofemoral pain patients and pain-free controls. Journal of Biomechanics, 42(7), 898–905. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2009.01.032

Besier, T. F., Lloyd, D. G., & Ackland, T. R. (2003). Muscle Activation Strategies at the Knee. Medicine & Science in Sport & Exercise, 35(1), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000043608.79537.ab

Beyer, E. B., Lunden, J. B., & Giveans, M. R. (2019). MEDIAL AND LATERAL HAMSTRINGS RESPONSE AND FORCE PRODUCTION AT VARYING DEGREES OF KNEE FLEXION AND TIBIAL ROTATION IN HEALTHY INDIVIDUALS. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, *14*(3), 376.

Bishop, C., Paul, G., & Thewlis, D. (2013). The reliability, accuracy and minimal detectable difference of a multi-segment kinematic model of the foot-shoe complex. Gait and Posture, 37(4), 552–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2012.09.020

Bishop, M., Fiolkowski, P., Conrad, B., Brunt, D., & Horodyski, M. (2006). Running Kinematics. Journal of Athletic Training, 41(4), 387–392.

Blackmore, T., Willy, R. W., & Creaby, M. W. (2016). The high frequency component of the vertical ground reaction force is a valid surrogate measure of the impact peak. Journal of Biomechanics, 49(3), 479–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.12.019

Blickhan, R. (1989). The spring-mass model for running and hopping. *Journal of biomechanics*, 22(11-12), 1217-1227.

Bochyńska, A. I., Hannink, G., Grijpma, D. W., & Buma, P. (2016). Tissue adhesives for meniscus tear repair: an overview of current advances and prospects for future clinical solutions. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine, 27(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-016-5694-5

Boerboom, A. L., Hof, A. L., Halbertsma, J. P., Raaij, J. J., Schenk, W., Diercks, R. L., & Horn, J. R. (2001). Atypical hamstrings electromyographic activity as a compensatory mechanism in anterior cruciate ligament deficiency. *Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy*, *9*(4), 211-216.

Bohne, M., Standifird, T., Nelson, A., & Robinson, D. (2017). Acute Effects of Different Cushioned Footwear on the Biomechanics of Running. 14–18. http://commons.nmu.edu/isbs/vol35/iss1/204

Bonnevie, E. D., Puetzer, J. L., & Bonassar, L. J. (2014). Enhanced boundary lubrication properties of engineered menisci by lubricin localization with insulin-like growth factor I treatment. *Journal of biomechanics*, 47(9), 2183-2188.

Bouchouras, G., Patsika, G., Hatzitaki, V., & Kellis, E. (2015). Kinematics and knee muscle activation during sit-to-stand movement in women with knee osteoarthritis. *Clinical biomechanics*, *30*(6), 599-607.

Bowersock, C. D., Willy, R. W., DeVita, P., & Willson, J. D. (2017). Reduced step length reduces knee joint contact forces during running following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction but does not alter inter-limb asymmetry. Clinical Biomechanics, 43, 79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2017.02.004

Boyer, K. A. (2018). Biomechanical Response to Osteoarthritis Pain Treatment May Impair Long-Term Efficacy. Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews, 46(2), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1249/JES.00000000000141

Brand 2009 patient outcomes following ACL influence of psychological factors.pdf. (n.d.).

Brandon S. C. E, Miller R. H, Thelen D. G, Deluzio K. J., (2014). Selective lateral muscle activation in moderate medial knee osteoarthritis subjects does not unload medial knee condyle. J Biomech.;47(6):1409–1415. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2014.01.038.

Brandt, K. D., Dieppe, P., & Radin, E. L. (2008). Etiopathogenesis of osteoarthritis. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*, *34*(3), 531-559.

Braunstein, B., Arampatzis, A., Eysel, P., & Brüggemann, G. P. (2010). Footwear affects the gearing at the ankle and knee joints during running. Journal of Biomechanics, 43(11), 2120–2125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2010.04.001

Brenneman, E. C., Kuntz, A. B., Wiebenga, E. G., & Maly, M. R. (2015). A yoga strengthening program designed to minimize the knee adduction moment for women with knee osteoarthritis: A proof-of-principle cohort study. PLoS ONE, 10(9), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136854

Briani, R. V., de Oliveira Silva, D., Pazzinatto, M. F., Ferreira, A. S., Ferrari, D., & de Azevedo, F. M. (2016). Delayed onset of electromyographic activity of the vastus medialis relative to the vastus lateralis may be related to physical activity levels in females with patellofemoral pain. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 26, 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2015.10.012

Brindley-mills, S. (2018). An exploration into aesthetics and comfort of dress shoes for working Australian women Chapter 1 . Table of Contents.

Brophy, R. H., Gefen, A. M., Matava, M. J., Wright, R. W., & Smith, M. V. (2015). Understanding of meniscus injury and expectations of meniscus surgery in patients presenting for orthopaedic care. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 31(12), 2295–2300e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2015.05.003

Brophy, R. H., Gill, C. S., Lyman, S., Barnes, R. P., Rodeo, S. A., & Warren, R. F. (2009). Effect of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and meniscectomy on length of career in National Football League athletes: a case control study. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *37*(11), 2102-2107.

Brophy, R. H., Matava, M. J. (2012). Surgical options for meniscal replacement. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 20:265–272.

Brophy, R. H., Rai, M. F., Zhang, Z., Torgomyan, A., & Sandell, L. J. (2012). Molecular analysis of age and sex-related gene expression in meniscal tears with and without a concomitant anterior cruciate ligament tear. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*. *American volume.*, *94*(5), 385.

Brophy, R. H., Zhang, B., Cai, L., Wright, R. W., Sandell, L. J., & Rai, M. F. (2018). Transcriptome comparison of meniscus from patients with and without osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 26(3), 422–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.12.004

Browner BD, Jupiter JB, Levine AM, Trafton PG. 2003. Skeletal Trauma. Basic Science, Management and Reconstruction., 3rd Ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders

Buchanan, T. S., Lloyd, D. G., Manal, K., & Besier, T. F. (2004). Neuromusculoskeletal modeling: estimation of muscle forces and joint moments and movements from measurements of neural command. *Journal of applied biomechanics*, *20*(4), 367-395.

Burns, G. T., & Tam, N. (2020). Is it the shoes? A simple proposal for regulating footwear in road running.

Butler, R. J., Hamill, J., & Davis, I. (2007). Effect of footwear on high and low arched runners' mechanics during a prolonged run. *Gait & posture*, *26*(2), 219-225.

Butler, R. J., Minick, K. I., Ferber, R., & Underwood, F. (2009). Gait mechanics after ACL reconstruction: Implications for the early onset of knee osteoarthritis. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 43(5), 366–370. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2008.052522

Bylski-Austrow, D. I., Ciarelli, M. J., Kayner, D. C., Matthews, L. S., & Goldstein, S. A. (1994). Displacements of the menisci under joint load: An in vitro study in human knees. Journal of Biomechanics, 27(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9290(94)90018-3

Callaghan, M. J., Parkes, M. J., Hutchinson, C. E., & Felson, D. T. (2014). Factors associated with arthrogenous muscle inhibition in patellofemoral osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 22(6), 742-746.

Campbell, S. E., Sanders, T. G., & Morrison, W. B. (2001). MR imaging of meniscal cysts: incidence, location, and clinical significance. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, *177*(2), 409-413.

Capin, J. J., Khandha, A., Zarzycki, R., Manal, K., Buchanan, T. S., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2017). Gait mechanics and second ACL rupture: Implications for delaying return-to-sport. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 35(9), 1894–1901. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23476

Cappozzo, a, Catani, F., Della Croce, U., & Leardini, a. (1995). Position and orietnation in space of bones during movement. Clin. Biomech., 10(4), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0268-0033(95)91394-T

Cappozzo, A., Catani, F., Leardini, A., Benedetti, M. G., & Croce, U. D. (1996). Position and orientation in space of bones during movement: experimental artefacts. *Clin Biomech* (*Bristol, Avon*), *11*(2), 90-100.

Carbone, A., & Rodeo, S. (2017). Review of current understanding of post-traumatic osteoarthritis resulting from sports injuries. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 35(3), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23341

Cavanagh, P. R., and Lafortune, M. A. (1980). Ground reaction forces in distance running. *J. Biomech.* 13, 397–406.

Chakravarty, E. F., Hubert, H. B., Lingala, V. B., Zatarain, E., & Fries, J. F. (2008). Long Distance Running and Knee Osteoarthritis. A Prospective Study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 35(2), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2008.03.032

Chalmers, P. N., Karas, V., Sherman, S. L., & Cole, B. J. (2013). Return to high-level sport after meniscal allograft transplantation. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 29(3), 539–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2012.10.027

Chan, Z. Y., Au, I. P., Lau, F. O., Ching, E. C., Zhang, J. H., & Cheung, R. T. (2018). Does maximalist footwear lower impact loading during level ground and downhill running?. *European journal of sport science*, *18*(8), 1083-1089.

Chang, A. H., Moisio, K. C., Chmiel, J. S., Eckstein, F., Guermazi, A., Prasad, P. V., ... Sharma, L. (2014). External knee adduction and flexion moments during gait and medial tibiofemoral disease progression in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 23(7), 1099–1106.

Chang, P. S., & Brophy, R. H. (2020). As Goes the Meniscus Goes the Knee: Early, Intermediate, and Late Evidence for the Detrimental Effect of Meniscus Tears. *Clinics in sports medicine*, *39*(1), 29-36.

Chapman, G. J., Parkes, M. J., Forsythe, L. M., Felson, D. T., & Jones, R. K. (2013). Biomechanical factors related to response to lateral wedge insoles. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 21, Supple(0), S95–S96. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.02.204

Chatain, F., Adeleine, P., Chambat, P., & Neyret, P. (2003). A comparative study of medial versus lateral arthroscopic partial meniscectomy on stable knees: 10-Year minimum followup. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 19(8), 842–849. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-8063(03)00735-7

Chedal-Bornu, B., Morin, V., & Saragaglia, D. (2015). Meniscoplasty for lateral discoid meniscus tears: Long-term results of 14 cases. Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 101(6), 699–702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2015.06.017

Chehab, E. F., Favre, J., Erhart-Hledik, J. C., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2014). Baseline knee adduction and flexion moments during walking are both associated with 5year cartilage changes in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 22(11), 1833–1839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2014.08.009

Chester, R., Smith, T. O., Sweeting, D., Dixon, J., Wood, S., & Song, F. (2008). The relative timing of VMO and VL in the aetiology of anterior knee pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-9-64

Cheung, R. T. H., Ng, G. Y. F., & Chen, B. F. C. (2006). Association of footwear with patellofemoral pain syndrome in runners. Sports Medicine (Auckland, N.Z.), 36(3), 199–205. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200636030-00002

Chimera, N. J., & Warren, M. (2016). Use of clinical movement screening tests to predict injury in sport. World Journal of Orthopedics, 7(4), 202. https://doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v7.i4.202 Chivers, M. D., & Howitt, S. D. (2009). Anatomy and physical examination of the knee menisci: a narrative review of the orthopedic literature. *The journal of the canadian chiropractic association*, *53*(4), 319.

Chmielewski, T. L., Jones, D., Day, T., Tillman, S. M., Lentz, T. A., & George, S. Z. (2008). The Association of Pain and Fear of Movement/Reinjury With Function During Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Rehabilitation. Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, 38(12), 746–753. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2008.2887

Chughtai, M., Newman, J. M., Akil, S., Khlopas, A., Sultan, A. A., Sodhi, N., ... & Mont, M. A. (2018). Knee Pain and the Use of Various Types of Footwear—A Review. *The journal of knee surgery*, *31*(10), 952-964.

Chung-Hoon, K., Tracy, B. L., Marcus, R., Dibble, L., Burgess, P., & Lastayo, P. C. (2015). Effects of practice on variability of muscle force. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 120(2), 475–490. https://doi.org/10.2466/26.PMS.120v12x4

Clark, C. R., & Ogden, J. A. (1983). Development of the menisci of the human knee joint. Morphological changes and their potential role in childhood meniscal injury. JBJS, 65(4), 538-547.

Clausen, B., Andriacchi, T. P., Nielsen, D. B., Roos, E. M., & Holsgaard-Larsen, A. (2014). Composition of the knee index, a three-dimensional biomechanical index for knee joint load, in subjects with mild to moderate knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 22(2014), S95–S96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2014.02.183

Collins, N. J., Prinsen, C. A. C., Christensen, R., Bartels, E. M., Terwee, C. B., & Roos, E. M. (2016). Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS): systematic review and meta-analysis of measurement properties. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 24(8), 1317–1329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.03.010

Cooke, T. D. V, Sled, E. A., & Scudamore, R. A. (2007). Frontal plane knee alignment: A call for standardized measurement. Journal of Rheumatology, 34(9), 1796–1801. https://doi.org/0315162X-34-1796 [pii]

Coughlan, G. F., Fullam, K., Delahunt, E., Gissane, C., & Caulfield, B. M. (2012). A comparison between performance on selected directions of the star excursion balance test and the Y balance test. Journal of Athletic Training, 47(4), 366–371. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-47.4.03

Danso, E. K., Oinas, J. M. T., Saarakkala, S., Mikkonen, S., Töyräs, J., & Korhonen, R. K. (2017). Structure-function relationships of human meniscus. Journal of the Mechanical Behavior of Biomedical Materials, 67(August 2016), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2016.12.002

Davis, I. S. (2014). The re-emergence of the minimal running shoe. *journal of orthopaedic & sports physical therapy*, 44(10), 775-784.

De David, A. C., Carpes, F. P., & Stefanyshyn, D. (2015). Effects of changing speed on knee and ankle joint load during walking and running. *Journal of sports sciences*, *33*(4), 391-397.

de Haart, M., Geurts, A. C., Dault, M. C., Nienhuis, B., & Duysens, J. (2005). Restoration of weight-shifting capacity in patients with postacute stroke: a rehabilitation cohort study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *86*(4), 755-762.

de Oliveira Silva, D., Barton, C. J., Briani, R. V., Taborda, B., Ferreira, A. S., Pazzinatto, M. F., & de Azevedo, F. M. (2019). Kinesiophobia, but not strength is associated with altered movement in women with patellofemoral pain. *Gait & posture*, *68*, 1-5.

Dempsey, A. R., Lloyd, D. G., Elliott, B. C., Steele, J. R., Munro, B. J., & Russo, K. A. (2007). The effect of technique change on knee loads during sidestep cutting. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *39*(10), 1765-1773.

Dempsey, A. R., Lloyd, D. G., Elliott, B. C., Steele, J. R., & Munro, B. J. (2009). Changing sidestep cutting technique reduces knee valgus loading. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *37*(11), 2194-2200.

Dempsey, A. R., Wang, Y., Thorlund, J. B., Mills, P. M., Wrigley, T. V., Bennell, K. L., Metcalf, B. R., Hanna, F., Cicuttini, F. M., & Lloyd, D. G. (2013). The relationship between patellofemoral and tibiofemoral morphology and gait biomechanics following arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 21(5), 1097–1103. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-012-2075-6

Den Otter, A. R., Geurts, A. C. H., Mulder, T. H., & Duysens, J. (2006). Gait recovery is not associated with changes in the temporal patterning of muscle activity during treadmill walking in patients with post-stroke hemiparesis. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(1), 4-15.

Deveza, L. A., Kraus, V. B., Collins, J. E., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F. W., Bowes, M., ... & Hunter, D. J. (2017). Association between biochemical markers of bone turnover and bone changes on imaging: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Arthritis care & research*, *69*(8), 1179-1191.

Dhillon, M. S., Bali, K., & Prabhakar, S. (2012). Differences among mechanoreceptors in healthy and injured anterior cruciate ligaments and their clinical importance. Muscles, Ligaments and Tendons Journal, 2(1), 38–43.

Di Matteo, B., Moran, C. J., Tarabella, V., Vigano, A., Tomba, P., Marcacci, M., & Verdonk, R. (2016). A history of meniscal surgery: from ancient times to the twenty-first century. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, *24*(5), 1510-1518.

Di Matteo, B., Moran, C. J., Tarabella, V., Viganò, A., Tomba, P., Marcacci, M., & Verdonk, R. (2016). A history of meniscal surgery: from ancient times to the twenty-first century. Knee

Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 24(5), 1510–1518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-015-3717-2

Dieppe, P., & Lohmander, L. (2005). Pathogenesis and management of pain in osteoarthritis. Lancet, 365(9463), 965–973. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71086-2

Dierks, T. A., Manal, K. T., Hamill, J., & Davis, I. (2011). Lower extremity kinematics in runners with patellofemoral pain during a prolonged run. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 43(4), 693–700. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181f744f5

Doma, K., Deakin, G. B., Sealey, R. M., Science, E., & Science, E. (n.d.). 2012-Doma-The Reliability of Lower Extremity and Thoracic Kinematics at Various Running Speeds, 364–369.

Dong, Y., Hu, G., Dong, Y., Hu, Y., & Xu, Q. (2014). The effect of meniscal tears and resultant partial meniscectomies on the knee contact stresses: a finite element analysis. Computer methods in biomechanics and biomedical engineering, 17(13), 1452-1463.

Donnelly, C. J., Chinnasee, C., Weir, G., Sasimontonkul, S., & Alderson, J. (2017). Joint dynamics of rear- and fore-foot unplanned sidestepping. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 20(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2016.06.002

Donnelly, C. J., Lloyd, D. G., Elliott, B. C., & Reinbolt, J. A. (2012). Optimizing whole-body kinematics to minimize valgus knee loading during sidestepping: Implications for ACL injury risk. Journal of Biomechanics, 45(8), 1491–1497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.02.010

Dos'Santos, T., Thomas, C., Comfort, P., & Jones, P. A. (2018). The Effect of Angle and Velocity on Change of Direction Biomechanics: An Angle-Velocity Trade-Off. Sports Medicine, 48(10), 2235–2253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-0968-3

Driban, J. B., Eaton, C. B., Lo, G. H., Ward, R. J., Lu, B., & McAlindon, T. E. (2014). Association of Knee Injuries With Accelerated Knee Osteoarthritis Progression: Data From the Osteoarthritis Initiative. Arthritis Care & Research, 66(11), 1673–1679. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22359

Driban, J. B., McAlindon, T. E., Amin, M., Price, L. L., Eaton, C. B., Davis, J. E., ... Barbe, M. F. (2018). Risk factors can classify individuals who develop accelerated knee osteoarthritis: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 36(3), 876–880. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23675

Drosos, G. I., & Pozo, J. L. (2004). The causes and mechanisms of meniscal injuries in the sporting and non-sporting environment in an unselected population. The knee, 11(2), 143-149.

Dudhia, J., Scott, C. M., Draper, E. R., Heinegård, D., Pitsillides, A. A., & Smith, R. K. (2007). Aging enhances a mechanically-induced reduction in tendon strength by an active process involving matrix metalloproteinase activity. Aging cell, 6(4), 547-556.

Dudley, R. D. M. (2020). ACL Kinesiophobia : The Missing Puzzle Piece. 1(1), 7–10. https://doi.org/02.0550/jrsp20200101

Dugan, S. A., & Bhat, K. P. (2005). Biomechanics and analysis of running gait. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America, 16(3), 603–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmr.2005.02.007

Ebben, W. P., Fauth, M. L., Petushek, E. J., Garceau, L. R., Hsu, B. E., Lutsch, B. N., & Feldmann, C. R. (2010). Gender-based analysis of hamstring and quadriceps muscle activation during jump landings and cutting. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, *24*(2), 408-415.

Eberbach, H., Zwingmann, J., Hohloch, L., Bode, G., Maier, D., Niemeyer, P., Südkamp, N. P., & Feucht, M. J. (2018). Sport-specific outcomes after isolated meniscal repair: a systematic review. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 26(3), 762–771. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-017-4463-4

Edd, S. N., Netravali, N. A., Favre, J., Giori, N. J., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2015). Alterations in Knee Kinematics After Partial Medial Meniscectomy Are Activity Dependent. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 43(6), 1399–1407. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546515577360

Eijgenraam, S. M., Reijman, M., Bierma-Zeinstra, S. M. A., Van Yperen, D. T., & Meuffels, D. E. (2018). Can we predict the clinical outcome of arthroscopic partial meniscectomy? A systematic review. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 52(8), 514–521. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097836

Elleuch MH, Guermazi M, Mezghanni M, Ghroubi S, Fki H, Mefteh S, Baklouti S, Sellami S (2008) Knee osteoarthritis in 50 former top-level soccer players: a comparative study. Ann Readapt Med Phys 51(3):174–178

Englund, M. (2008). The role of the meniscus in osteoarthritis genesis. *Rheumatic disease clinics of North America*, *34*(3), 573-579.

Englund, M. (2010). The role of biomechanics in the initiation and progression of OA of the knee. *Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology*, 24(1), 39-46.

Englund, M., Guermazi, A., & Lohmander, S. L. (2009). The role of the meniscus in knee osteoarthritis: a cause or consequence?. *Radiologic Clinics*, *47*(4), 703-712.

Englund, M., Haugen, I. K., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F. W., Niu, J., Neogi, T., Aliabadi, P., & Felson, D. T. (2016). Evidence that meniscus damage may be a component of osteoarthritis: The Framingham study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 24(2), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.08.005

Englund, M., Niu, J., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F. W., Hunter, D. J., Lynch, J. A., Lewis, C. E., Torner, J., Nevitt, M. C., Zhang, Y. Q., & Felson, D. T. (2007). Effect of meniscal damage on the development of frequent knee pain, aching, or stiffness. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 56(12), 4048–4054. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23071

Englund, M., Roos, E. M., & Lohmander, L. S. (2003). Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: A sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 48(8), 2178–2187. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.11088

Ericsson, Y. B., Dahlberg, L. E., & Roos, E. M. (2009). Effects of functional exercise training on performance and muscle strength after meniscectomy: A randomized trial. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 19(2), 156–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2008.00794.

Ericsson, Y. B., Owman, H., Roos, E. M., Englund, M., & Dahlberg, L. E. (2014). Thigh muscle weakness 4 years after partial meniscectomy is associated with radiographic features of osteoarthritis 11 years later. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 22(2014), S329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2014.02.609

Eriksrud, O., Federolf, P., Sæland, F., Litsos, S., & Cabri, J. (2017). Reliability and validity of the hand reach star excursion balance test. Journal of Functional Morphology and Kinesiology, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/jfmk2030028

Esculier, J. F., Dubois, B., Dionne, C. E., Leblond, J., & Roy, J. S. (2015). A consensus definition and rating scale for minimalist shoes. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-015-0094-5

Esculier, J. F., Roy, J. S., & Bouyer, L. J. (2015). Lower limb control and strength in runners with and without patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Gait Posture*, *41*(3), 813-819.

Esfandiari, E., Kamyab, M., Yazdi, H. R., Foroughi, N., & Sanjari, M. A. (2013). The Immediate Effect of Lateral Wedge Insoles, With and Without a Subtalar Strap, on the Lateral Trunk Lean Motion in Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis. Geriatric Orthopaedic Surgery and Rehabilitation, 4(4), 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1177/2151458513512327

Fabricant, P. D., & Jokl, P. (2007). Surgical outcomes after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *JAAOS-Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*, *15*(11), 647-653.

Fairbank T. J. (1948). Knee joint changes after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg;30-B:664-70.

Fang, M. A., Taylor, C. E., Nouvong, A., Masih, S., Kao, K. C., & Perell, K. L. (2006). Effects of footwear on medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development, 43(4), 427–433. https://doi.org/10.1682/JRRD.2005.10.0161

Farndon, L., Robinson, V., Nicholls, E., & Vernon, W. (2016). If the shoe fits: Development of an on-line tool to aid practitioner/patient discussions about "healthy footwear." Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 9(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-016-0149-2

Feeley, B. T., Liu, S., Garner, A. M., Zhang, A. L., & Pietzsch, J. B. (2016). The costeffectiveness of meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: A model-based projection for the United States. Knee, 23(4), 674–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2016.03.006

Felson, D. T., Niu, J., McClennan, C., Sack, B., Aliabadi, P., Hunter, D. J., ... & Englund, M. (2007). Knee Buckling: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Associated Limitations in FunctionKnee Buckling: Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Associated Limitations in Function. Annals of internal medicine, 147(8), 534-540.

Felson, D. T., Parkes, M., Carter, S., Liu, A., Callaghan, M. J., Hodgson, R., Bowes, M., & Jones, R. K. (2019). The Efficacy of a Lateral Wedge Insole for Painful Medial Knee Osteoarthritis After Prescreening: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Arthritis and Rheumatology, 71(6), 908–915. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.40808

Ferro, A., Villacieros, J., Floría, P., & Graupera, J. L. (2014). Analysis of speed performance in soccer by a playing position and a sports level using a laser system. *Journal of human kinetics*, *44*(1), 143-153.

Feucht, M. J., Kühle, J., Bode, G., Mehl, J., Schmal, H., Südkamp, N. P., & Niemeyer, P. (2015). Arthroscopic transtibial pullout repair for posterior medial meniscus root tears: a systematic review of clinical, radiographic, and second-look arthroscopic results. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, *31*(9), 1808-1816.

Fischer, A. G., Erhart-Hledik, J. C., Asay, J. L., Chu, C. R., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2019). Activating the somatosensory system enhances net quadriceps moment during gait. Journal of Biomechanics, 82, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.10.026

Fischerauer, S. F., Talaei-Khoei, M., Bexkens, R., Ring, D. C., Oh, L. S., & Vranceanu, A. M. (2018). What is the relationship of fear avoidance to physical function and pain intensity in injured athletes?. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, *476*(4), 754.

Fisher, D. S., Dyrby, C. O., Mündermann, A., Morag, E., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2007). In healthy subjects without knee osteoarthritis, the peak knee adduction moment influences the acute effect of shoe interventions designed to reduce medial compartment knee load. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, *25*(4), 540-546.

Flaxman, T. (2017). Neuromuscular Strategies for Regulating Knee Joint Moments in Healthy and Injured Populations (Doctoral dissertation, Université d'Ottawa/University of Ottawa).

Ford, K. R., Minning, S. J., Myer, G. D., Mangine, R. E., Colosimo, A. J., & Hewett, T. E. (2011). Landing adaptations following isolated lateral meniscectomy in athletes. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 19(10), 1716–1721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-011-1490-4 Ford, K. R., Myer, G. D., & Hewett, T. E. (2003). Valgus knee motion during landing in high school female and male basketball players. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 35(10), 1745–1750. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000089346.85744.D9

Forkel, P., Herbort, M., Sprenker, F., Metzlaff, S., Raschke, M., & Petersen, W. (2014). The biomechanical effect of a lateral meniscus posterior root tear with and without damage to the meniscofemoral ligament: Efficacy of different repair techniques. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 30(7), 833–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2014.02.040

Fox, A. J. S., Bedi, A., & Rodeo, S. A. (2012). The Basic Science of Human Knee Menisci. Sports Health: A Multidisciplinary Approach, 4(4), 340–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738111429419

Fox, A. J. S., Wanivenhaus, F., Burge, A. J., Warren, R. F., & Rodeo, S. A. (2015). The human meniscus: A review of anatomy, function, injury, and advances in treatment. Clinical Anatomy, 28(2), 269–287. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.22456

Fox, A. J., Wanivenhaus, F., Burge, A. J., Warren, R. F., & Rodeo, S. A. (2015). The human meniscus: a review of anatomy, function, injury, and advances in treatment. *Clinical Anatomy*, 28(2), 269-287.

Fox, A. S. (2018). Change-of-Direction Biomechanics: Is What's Best for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Prevention Also Best for Performance? Sports Medicine, 48(8), 1799–1807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-0931-3

Franklin, S., Grey, M. J., Heneghan, N., Bowen, L., & Li, F. X. (2015). Barefoot vs common footwear: A systematic review of the kinematic, kinetic and muscle activity differences during walking. Gait and Posture, 42(3), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2015.05.019

Fritz, C. O., Morris, P. E., & Richler, J. J. (2012). Effect size estimates: Current use, calculations, and interpretation. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 141(1), 2–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024338

Frontera, W. R., & Ochala, J. (2015). Skeletal muscle: a brief review of structure and function. *Calcified tissue international*, *96*(3), 183-195.

Fuller, J. T., Bellenger, C. R., Thewlis, D., Tsiros, M. D., & Buckley, J. D. (2015). The Effect of Footwear on Running Performance and Running Economy in Distance Runners. Sports Medicine, 45(3), 411–422. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0283-6

Gerbrands, T. A., Pisters, M. F., & Vanwanseele, B. (2014). Individual selection of gait retraining strategies is essential to optimally reduce medial knee load during gait. Clinical Biomechanics, 29(7), 828–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2014.05.005

Ghadially, F. N., Lalonde, J. M., & Wedge, J. H. (1983). Ultrastructure of normal and torn menisci of the human knee joint. Journal of anatomy, 136(Pt 4), 773.

Ghazaly, S. A., Rahman, A. A. A., Yusry, A. H., & Fathalla, M. M. (2015). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy is superior to physical rehabilitation in the management of symptomatic unstable meniscal tears. International orthopaedics, 39(4), 769-775.

Gilbert, S., Chen, T., Hutchinson, I. D., Choi, D., Voigt, C., Warren, R. F., Maher, S. A. (2013). Dynamic contact mechanics on the tibial plateau of the human knee during activities of daily living. J Biomech 16: 00555–00551.

Gill, N., Preece, S. J., & Baker, R. (2020). Using the spring-mass model for running: forcelength curves and foot-strike patterns. *Gait & Posture*.

Glatthorn, J. F., Berendts, A. M., Bizzini, M., Munzinger, U., & Maffiuletti, N. A. (2010). Neuromuscular function after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*®, *468*(5), 1336-1343.

Goodwin, P. C., Morrissey, M. C., Omar, R. Z., Brown, M., Southall, K., & McAuliffe, T. B. (2003). Effectiveness of Supervised Physical Therapy in the Early Period After Arthroscopic Partial Meniscectomy. Physical Therapy, 83(6), 520–535. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/83.6.520

Goossens, P., Keijsers, E., Van Geenen, R. J. C., Zijta, A., Van Den Broek, M., Verhagen, A. P., & Scholten-Peeters, G. G. M. (2015). Validity of the Thessaly test in evaluating meniscal tears compared with arthroscopy: A diagnostic accuracy study. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 45(1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2015.5215

Greis, P. E., Bardana, D. D., Holmstrom, M. C., & Burks, R. T. (2002). Meniscal injury: I. Basic science and evaluation. Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, 10(3), 168-176.

Gribble, P. A., Hertel, J., & Plisky, P. (2012). Using the star excursion balance test to assess dynamic postural-control deficits and outcomes in lower extremity injury: A literature and systematic review. *Journal of athletic training*, 47(3), 339-357.

Grindem, H., Snyder-Mackler, L., Moksnes, H., Engebretsen, L., & Risberg, M. A. (2016). Simple decision rules can reduce reinjury risk by 84% after ACL reconstruction: the Delaware-Oslo ACL cohort study. British journal of sports medicine, bjsports-2016.

Gross, K. D., Ferreira de Sousa, R., Lim, S., & LaValley, M. P. (2015). The effects of shoes on knee pain and medial joint loading in persons with knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 23(2015), A385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.02.711

Guo, W., Xu, W., Wang, Z., Chen, M., Hao, C., Zheng, X., Huang, J., Sui, X., Yuan, Z., Zhang, Y., Wang, M., Li, X., Wang, Z., Peng, J., Wang, A., Wang, Y., Liu, S., Lu, S., & Guo, Q. (2018). Cell-Free Strategies for Repair and Regeneration of Meniscus Injuries through the Recruitment of Endogenous Stem/Progenitor Cells. Stem Cells International, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5310471

Hall, M., Bennell, K. L., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Campbell, P. K., Kasza, J., ... & Hinman, R. S. (2017). The knee adduction moment and knee osteoarthritis symptoms: relationships according to radiographic disease severity. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 25(1), 34-41.

Hall, M., Nielsen, J. H., Holsgaard-Larsen, A., Nielsen, D. B., Creaby, M. W., & Thorlund, J.
B. (2015). Forward lunge knee biomechanics before and after partial meniscectomy. Knee, 22(6), 506–509. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2015.03.005

Hall, M., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Hinman, R. S., Cicuttini, F. M., Dempsey, A. R., Lloyd, D. G., & Bennell, K. L. (2017). Knee biomechanics during jogging after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: A longitudinal study. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(8), 1872–1880. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546517698934

Hall, M., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Hinman, R. S., Dempsey, A. R., Mills, P. M., ... Bennell, K. L. (2013). A longitudinal study of strength and gait after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 45(11), 2036–2043. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318299982a

Hall, M., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Hinman, R. S., Dempsey, A. R., Mills, P. M., ... Bennell, K. L. (2014). Knee muscle strength after recent partial meniscectomy does not relate to 2-year change in knee adduction moment. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research, 472(10), 3114–3120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-014-3737-0

Hall, M., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Hinman, R. S., Dempsey, A. R., Mills, P. M., Cicuttini, F. M., Lloyd, D. G., & Bennell, K. L. (2014). Mechanisms underpinning longitudinal increases in the knee adduction moment following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Clinical Biomechanics, 29(8), 892–897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2014.07.002

Han, H. S., Lee, D. Y., Kim, S. H., Kwak, Y. H., & Lee, M. C. (2018). Slow gait speed after bilateral total knee arthroplasty is associated with suboptimal improvement of knee biomechanics. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, *26*(6), 1671-1680.

Hardin, E. C., Van Den Bogert, A. J., & Hamill, J. (2004). Kinematic Adaptations during Running: Effects of Footwear, Surface, and Duration. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 36(5), 838–844. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000126605.65966.40

Harner CD, Janaushek MA, Kanamori A, Yagi M, Vogrin TM, Woo SL. 2000. Biomechanical analysis of a double-bundle posterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 28:144–151.

Harper KW, Helms CA, Lambert HS, 3rd, Higgins LD. (2005). Radial meniscal tears: significance, incidence, and MR appearance. AJR Am J Roentgenol 185:1429–1434.

Harris, J. D., Cavo, M., Brophy, R., Siston, R., & Flanigan, D. (2011). Biological knee reconstruction: a systematic review of combined meniscal allograft transplantation and

cartilage repair or restoration. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 27(3), 409-418.

Hart, H. F., Collins, N. J., Ackland, D. C., & Crossley, K. M. (2015). Is impaired knee confidence related to worse kinesiophobia, symptoms, and physical function in people with knee osteoarthritis after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction? Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 18(5), 512–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.09.011

Hart, H. F., Crossley, K. M., Felson, D., Jarraya, M., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F., Lewis, C. E., Torner, J., Nevitt, M., & Stefanik, J. J. (2018). Relation of meniscus pathology to prevalence and worsening of patellofemoral joint osteoarthritis: the Multicenter Osteoarthritis Study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 26(7), 912–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.11.017

Hassan B. S, Mockett S, Doherty M., (2001). Static postural sway, proprioception, and maximal voluntary quadriceps contraction in patients with knee osteoarthritis and normal control subjects. Ann Rheum Dis; 60: 612-618.

Hatfield, G. L., Cochrane, C. K., Takacs, J., Krowchuk, N. M., Chang, R., Hinman, R. S., & Hunt, M. A. (2016). Knee and ankle biomechanics with lateral wedges with and without a custom arch support in those with medial knee osteoarthritis and flat feet. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 34(9), 1597–1605. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.23174

Hatfield, G. L., Morrison, A., Wenman, M., Hammond, C. A., & Hunt, M. A. (2016). Clinical tests of standing balance in the knee osteoarthritis population: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Physical therapy*, *96*(3), 324-337.

Hede, A., Jensen, D. B., Blyme, P., & Sonne-Holm, S. (1990). Epidemiology of meniscal lesions in the knee: 1,215 open operations in copenhagen 1982-84. Acta Orthopaedica, 61(5), 435–437. https://doi.org/10.3109/17453679008993557

Heiden, Tamika & Lloyd, David & Ackland, Timothy. (2009). Knee joint kinematics, kinetics and muscle co-contraction in knee osteoarthritis patient gait. Clinical biomechanics (Bristol, Avon). 24. 833-41. 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.08.005.

Henning CE, Lynch MA, Clark JR. (1987). Vascularity for healing of meniscus repairs. Arthroscopy 3:13–18.

Henriksen, M., Aaboe, J., Simonsen, E. B., Alkjær, T., & Bliddal, H. (2009). Experimentally reduced hip abductor function during walking: implications for knee joint loads. *Journal of biomechanics*, *42*(9), 1236-1240.

Henriksen, M., Alkjær, T., Lund, H., Simonsen, E. B., Graven-Nielsen, T., Danneskiold-Samsøe, B., & Bliddal, H. (2007). Experimental quadriceps muscle pain impairs knee joint control during walking. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *103*(1), 132-139.

Herwig, J., Egner, E., & Buddecke, E. (1984). Chemical changes of human knee joint menisci in various stages of degeneration. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 43(4), 635–640. https://doi.org/10.1136/ard.43.4.635

Hewett, T. E., Myer, G. D., & Zazulak, B. T. (2008). Hamstrings to quadriceps peak torque ratios diverge between sexes with increasing isokinetic angular velocity. *J Sci Med Sport*, *11*(5), 452-459.

Hewett. T. E., Shultz, S. J. & Griffin, L. Y., & American Orthopaedic Society for Sports Medicine. (2007). *Understanding and preventing noncontact ACL injuries* (pp. 166-167). T. E. Hewett (Ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Hing, W., White, S., Reid, D., & Marshall, R. (2009). Validity of the McMurray's test and modified versions of the test: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Manual & Manipulative Therapy*, *17*(1), 22-35.

Hinman, R. S., Bowles, K. A., & Bennell, K. L. (2009). Laterally wedged insoles in knee osteoarthritis: Do biomechanical effects decline after one month of wear? BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 10(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-10-146

Hinman, R. S., Hunt, M. A., Simic, M., & Bennell, K. L. (2013). Exercise, Gait Retraining, Footwear and Insoles for Knee Osteoarthritis. Current Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Reports, 1(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40141-012-0004-8

Hinman, R. S., Payne, C., Metcalf, B. R., Wrigley, T. V., & Bennell, K. L. (2008). Lateral wedges in knee osteoarthritis: What are their immediate clinical and biomechanical effects and can these predict a three-month clinical outcome? Arthritis Care and Research, 59(3), 408–415. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23326

Hinman, R. S., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Hunter, D. J., Campbell, P., Paterson, K.,
Staples, M. P., & Bennell, K. L. (2014). Unloading shoes for osteoarthritis of the knee:
Protocol for the SHARK randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 15(1),
1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-15-48

Hippocrates (400 BCE) On fractures.

Hirschmann MT, Friederich NF. 2009. Meniscal lesions in children, classifications. In: Beaufils P, Verdonk R-, editors. The Meniscus. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag. p 241–246.

Hodges, P. W., van den Hoorn, W., Wrigley, T. V., Hinman, R. S., Bowles, K. A., Cicuttini, F., Wang, Y., & Bennell, K. (2016). Increased duration of co-contraction of medial knee muscles is associated with greater progression of knee osteoarthritis. Manual Therapy, 21, 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2015.07.004

Hollander, K., Argubi-Wollesen, A., Reer, R., & Zech, A. (2015). Comparison of minimalist footwear strategies for simulating barefoot running: a randomized crossover study. *PloS one*, *10*(5), e0125880.

Hollander, K., Heidt, C., Van Der Zwaard, B. C., Braumann, K. M., & Zech, A. (2017). Long-term effects of habitual barefoot running and walking: A systematic review. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 49(4), 752–762. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.000000000001141

Holsgaard-Larsen, A., Thorlund, J. B., Blackmore, T., & Creaby, M. W. (2019). Changes in total lower limb support moment in middle-aged patients undergoing arthroscopic partial meniscectomy — A longitudinal observational cohort study. Knee, 26(3), 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2019.04.004

Hopkins, W. G., Marshall, S. W., Batterham, A. M., & Hanin, J. (2009). Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 41(1), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278

Horsak, B., Heller, M., & Baca, A. (2015). Muscle co-contraction around the knee when walking with unstable shoes. Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology, 25(1), 175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelekin.2014.07.015

Hortobágyi, T., Westerkamp, L., Beam, S., Moody, J., Garry, J., Holbert, D., & DeVita, P. (2005). Altered hamstring-quadriceps muscle balance in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 20(1), 97-104.

Hsieh, C.-J., George, S. Z., Dominguez, J. A., Moser, M. W., & Chmielewski, T. L. (2013). Pre-operative self-efficacy and pain catastrophizing are associated with knee biomechanics during gait post-meniscectomy. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 21(2013), S99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.02.211

Hsu, C. J., George, S. Z., & Chmielewski, T. L. (2016). Association of Quadriceps Strength and Psychosocial Factors With Single-Leg Hop Performance in Patients With Meniscectomy. Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine, 4(12), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967116676078

Hügle, T., & Geurts, J. (2017). What drives osteoarthritis?-Synovial versus subchondral bone pathology. Rheumatology (United Kingdom), 56(9), 1461–1471. https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kew389

Hulet, C. H., Locker, B. G., Schiltz, D., Texier, A., Tallier, E., & Vielpeau, C. H. (2001). Arthroscopic medial meniscectomy on stable knees: A 12-YEAR FOLLOW-UP. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 83(1), 29-32.

Hulet, C., Menetrey, J., Beaufils, P., Chambat, P., Djian, P., Hardy, P., Potel, J. F., Servien, E., & Seil, R. (2014). Clinical and radiographic results of arthroscopic partial lateral meniscectomies in stable knees with a minimum follow up of 20 years. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 23(1), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-3245-5

Hulet, C., Pereira, H., Peretti, G. M., & Denti, M. (2016). Surgery of the meniscus. In Surgery of the Meniscus. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-49188-1

Hunt, M. A., Wrigley, T. V., Hinman, R. S., & Bennell, K. L. (2010). Individuals with severe knee osteoarthritis (OA) exhibit altered proximal walking mechanics compared with

individuals with less severe OA and those without knee pain. Arthritis Care and Research, 62(10), 1426–1432. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20248

Hurley, M. V., Scott, D. L., Rees, J., & Newham, D. J. (1997). Sensorimotor changes and functional performance in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, *56*(11), 641-648.

Hurst, B., Branthwaite, H., Greenhalgh, A., & Chockalingam, N. (2017). Medical-grade footwear: The impact of fit and comfort. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 10(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-016-0184-z

Hurst, B., Branthwaite, H., Greenhalgh, A., & Chockalingam, N. (2017). Medical-grade footwear: the impact of fit and comfort. *Journal of foot and ankle research*, *10*(1), 2.

Hwang, B. Y., Kim, S. J., Lee, S. W., Lee, H. E., Lee, C. K., Hunter, D. J., & Jung, K. A. (2012). Risk factors for medial meniscus posterior root tear. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *40*(7), 1606-1610.

Ireland, M. L., Willson, J. D., Ballantyne, B. T., & Davis, I. M. C. (2003). Hip Strength in Females with and without Patellofemoral Pain. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 33(11), 671–676. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2003.33.11.671

Jacquet, C., Pujol, N., Pauly, V., Beaufils, P., & Ollivier, M. (2019). Analysis of the trends in arthroscopic meniscectomy and meniscus repair procedures in France from 2005 to 2017. Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 105(4), 677–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2019.01.024

Jahan, A., Dmitrievna, M., & Ismayilova, M. (2018). Development and preliminary validation of a new protocol for postoperative rehabilitation of partial meniscectomy.

Jellema, A. H., Huysmans, T., Hartholt, K., & van der Cammen, T. J. M. (2019). Shoe design for older adults: Evidence from a systematic review on the elements of optimal footwear. Maturitas, 127(February), 64–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.06.002

Jeong, H., Lee, S., & Ko, C. (2012). Meniscectomy, 24(3), 129–136.

Ji, C., Lin, X., Zhu, L., & Li, M. (2015). McMurray Test: A Prediction of Arthroscopic Meniscectomy Outcomes in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis. Cell Biochemistry and Biophysics, 72(1), 269–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12013-014-0449-8

Jiang, E. X., Everhart, J. S., Abouljoud, M., Kirven, J. C., Magnussen, R. A., Kaeding, C. C., & Flanigan, D. C. (2019). Biomechanical Properties of Posterior Meniscal Root Repairs: A Systematic Review. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 35(7), 2189-2206.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2019.01.018

Jjw, R. (2017). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews Surgical versus conservative interventions for treating meniscal tears of the knee in adults (Protocol). 9, 2–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011411.pub2

Johnson, V. L., & Hunter, D. J. (2014). The epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Best Practice and Research: Clinical Rheumatology, 28(1), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2014.01.004

Jones, R. K., Chapman, G. J., Findlow, A. H., Forsythe, L., Parkes, M. J., Sultan, J., & Felson, D. T. (2013). A new approach to prevention of knee osteoarthritis: Reducing medial load in the contralateral knee. Journal of Rheumatology, 40(3), 309–315.

Jones, R. K., Chapman, G. J., Forsythe, L., Parkes, M. J., & Felson, D. T. (2014). The relationship between reductions in knee loading and immediate pain response whilst wearing lateral wedged insoles in knee osteoarthritis. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 32(9), 1147–1154. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.22666

Jones, R. K., Chapman, G. J., Parkes, M. J., Forsythe, L., & Felson, D. T. (2015). The effect of different types of insoles or shoe modifications on medial loading of the knee in persons with medial knee osteoarthritis: A randomised trial. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 33(11), 1646–1654.

Karahan, M., Kocaoglu, B., Cabukoglu, C., Akgun, U., & Nuran, R. (2010). Effect of partial medial meniscectomy on the proprioceptive function of the knee. *Archives of orthopaedic and trauma surgery*, *130*(3), 427-431.

Karatzaferi, C., & Chase, P. B. (2013). Muscle fatigue and muscle weakness: What we know and what we wish we did. *Frontiers in physiology*, *4*, 125.

Karia, M., Ghaly, Y., Al-Hadithy, N., Mordecai, S., & Gupte, C. (2019). Current concepts in the techniques, indications and outcomes of meniscal repairs. European Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Traumatology, 29(3), 509–520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00590-018-2317-5

Katano, H., Koga, H., Ozeki, N., Otabe, K., Mizuno, M., Tomita, M., Muneta, T., & Sekiya, I. (2018). Trends in isolated meniscus repair and meniscectomy in Japan, 2011–2016. Journal of Orthopaedic Science, 23(4), 676–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jos.2018.04.003

Katz, J. N., Brophy, R. H., Chaisson, C. E., de Chaves, L., Cole, B. J., Dahm, D. L., Donnell-Fink, L. A., Guermazi, A., Haas, A. K., Jones, M. H., Levy, B. A., Mandl, L. A., Martin, S. D., Marx, R. G., Miniaci, A., Matava, M. J., Palmisano, J., Reinke, E. K., Richardson, B. E., ... Losina, E. (2013). Surgery versus Physical Therapy for a Meniscal Tear and Osteoarthritis. New England Journal of Medicine, 368(18), 1675–1684. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1301408

Katz, J. N., Spindler, K., Safran-Norton, C., Martin, S., Mandl, L., Jones, M., Miniaci, A., Marx, R., Levy, B., Cole, B., Wright, R., & Losina, E. (2015). Predictors and outcomes of cross-over to surgery in a randomized trial of surgery vs. physical therapy for meniscal tear and osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 23, A36–A37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.02.085 Kaya, D., Calik, M., Callaghan, M. J., Yosmaoglu, B., & Doral, M. N. (2018). Proprioception After Knee Injury, Surgery and Rehabilitation. In Proprioception in Orthopaedics, Sports Medicine and Rehabilitation (pp. 123-142). Springer, Cham.

Kazemi, M. (2013). Finite Element Study of the Healthy and Meniscectomized Knee Joints Considering Fibril-Reinforced Poromechanical Behaviour for Cartilages and Menisci. The Journal of Arthroscopy and Related Surgery, 233. https://doi.org/10.11575/PRISM/26182

Kean, C. O., Birmingham, T. B., Garland, S. J., Bryant, D. M., & Giffin, J. R. (2010). Minimal detectable change in quadriceps strength and voluntary muscle activation in patients with knee osteoarthritis. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, *91*(9), 1447-1451.

Keenan, G. S., Franz, J. R., Dicharry, J., Croce, U. Della, & Kerrigan, D. C. (2011). Lower limb joint kinetics in walking: The role of industry recommended footwear. Gait and Posture, 33(3), 350–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2010.09.019

Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS (1957) Radiological assessment of osteoarthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis 16:494–502

Kellis, E. (1998). Quantification of quadriceps and hamstring antagonist activity. *Sports Medicine*, *25*(1), 37-62.

Kelly, M. A., Fithian, D. C., Chern, K. Y., & Mow, V. C. (1990). Structure and function of the meniscus: basic and clinical implications. In *Biomechanics of diarthrodial joints* (pp. 191-211). Springer, New York, NY.

Kemp, G., Crossley, K. M., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., & Hinman, R. S. (2008). Reducing joint loading in medial knee osteoarthritis: Shoes and canes. Arthritis Care and Research, 59(5), 609–614. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23578

Kendall, T. L., Black, C. D., Elder, C. P., Gorgey, A., & Dudley, G. A. (2006). Determining the extent of neural activation during maximal effort. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, *38*(8), 1470-1475.

Kerdok, A. E., Biewener, A. A., McMahon, T. A., Weyand, P. G., & Herr, H. M. (2002). Energetics and mechanics of human running on surfaces of different stiffnesses. *Journal of applied physiology*.

Kerrigan, D. C., Franz, J. R., Keenan, G. S., Dicharry, J., Della Croce, U., & Wilder, R. P. (2009). The Effect of Running Shoes on Lower Extremity Joint Torques. PM and R, 1(12), 1058–1063. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2009.09.011

Khan, T., Alvand, A., Prieto-Alhambra, D., Culliford, D. J., Judge, A., Jackson, W. F., Scammell, B. E., Arden, N. K., & Price, A. J. (2019). ACL and meniscal injuries increase the risk of primary total knee replacement for osteoarthritis: a matched case-control study using the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD). British Journal of Sports Medicine, 53(15), 965–968. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097762 Khan. (2014). Arthroscopy for degenerative meniscal tears. Cmaj, 186(14), 1057–1064. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.140433/-/DC1

Kiesel, K. B., Butler, R. J., & Plisky, P. J. (2014). Prediction of Injury by Limited and Asymmetrical Fundamental Movement Patterns in American Football Players. Journal of Sport Rehabilitation, 23(2), 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1123/JSR.2012-0130

Kim S, Bosque J, Meehan JP, Jamali A, Marder R. (2011). Increase in outpatient knee arthroscopy in the United States: a comparison of National Surveys of ambulatory surgery, 1996 and 2006. J Bone Joint Surg Am;93:994–1000.

Kim, D., Park, G., Kuo, L. T., & Park, W. (2018). The effects of pain on quadriceps strength, joint proprioception and dynamic balance among women aged 65 to 75 years with knee osteoarthritis. *BMC geriatrics*, *18*(1), 245.

Kim, H., & Chang Ho, S. (2012). Comparison of the VMO/VL EMG Ratio and Onset Timing of VMO Relative to VL in Subjects with and without Patellofemoral Pain Syndrome. *J Phys Ther Sci*, 24(12), 1315-1317.

Kim, J. H., Chung, J. H., Lee, D. H., Lee, Y. S., Kim, J. R., & Ryu, K. J. (2011). Arthroscopic suture anchor repair versus pullout suture repair in posterior root tear of the medial meniscus: a prospective comparison study. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic* & *Related Surgery*, 27(12), 1644-1653.

Kim, S. G., Nagao, M., Kamata, K., Maeda, K., & Nozawa, M. (2013). Return to sport after arthroscopic meniscectomy on stable knees. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, 5(1), 2–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-1847-5-23

Kim, W., Voloshin, A. S., & Johnson, S. H. (1994). Modeling of heel strike transients during running. *Human Movement Science*, *13*(2), 221-244.

King, E., Richter, C., Franklyn-Miller, A., Daniels, K., Wadey, R., Jackson, M., Moran, R., & Strike, S. (2018). Biomechanical but not timed performance asymmetries persist between limbs 9 months after ACL reconstruction during planned and unplanned change of direction. Journal of Biomechanics, 81, 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2018.09.021

Kishore, K. V. R., & Narayana Reddy, M. (2019). Clinical accuracy of mcmurray test and thessaly test in meniscal injuries and their correlation with MRI. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 11(4), 1006–1009. https://doi.org/10.31838/ijpr/2019.11.04.106

Knoop, J., Steultjens, M.P.M., Van der Leeden, M., Van der Esch, M., Thorstensson, C.A., Roorda, L.D., Lems, W.F. and Dekker, J. (2011). Proprioception in knee osteoarthritis: a narrative review. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, *19*(4), 381-388.

Knoop, J., Van Der Leeden, M., Van Der Esch, M., Thorstensson, C. A., Gerritsen, M., Voorneman, R. E., ... & Steultjens, M. P. (2012). Association of lower muscle strength with self-reported knee instability in osteoarthritis of the knee: Results from the Amsterdam Osteoarthritis Cohort. *Arthritis care & research*, *64*(1), 38-45.

Koga, H., Muneta, T., Watanabe, T., Mochizuki, T., Horie, M., Nakamura, T., Otabe, K., Nakagawa, Y., & Sekiya, I. (2016). Two-Year Outcomes After Arthroscopic Lateral Meniscus Centralization. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 32(10), 2000–2008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2016.01.052

Koh, Y. G., Choi, Y. J., Kwon, S. K., Kim, Y. S., & Yeo, J. E. (2015). Clinical results and second-look arthroscopic findings after treatment with adipose-derived stem cells for knee osteoarthritis. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 23(5), 1308-1316.

Kong, P. W., & Bagdon, M. (2010). Shoe preference based on subjective comfort for walking and running. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association*, *100*(6), 456-462.

Konrad, P. (2005). Noraxon: The ABC of EMG. Signal Processing, (April), 1–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.05.066

Krause WR, Pope MH, Johnson RJ, Wilder DG (1976) Mechanical changes in the knee after meniscectomy. J Bone Joint Surg Am 58:599–604

Kristianslund, E., Faul, O., Bahr, R., Myklebust, G., & Krosshaug, T. (2014). Sidestep cutting technique and knee abduction loading: Implications for ACL prevention exercises. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 48(9), 779–783. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2012-091370

Kristianslund, E., Krosshaug, T., & van den Bogert, A. J. (2012). Effect of low pass filtering on joint moments from inverse dynamics: implications for injury prevention. *J Biomech*, *45*(4), 666-671.

Krych, A. J. (2019). High Rate of Recurrent Meniscal Tear and Lateral Compartment Osteoarthritis in Patients Treated for Symptomatic Lateral Discoid Meniscus: A Population-Based Study. Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine, 7(7), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967119856284

Krych, A. J., Bernard, C. D., Kennedy, N. I., Tagliero, A. J., Camp, C. L., Levy, B. A., & Stuart, M. J. (2020). Medial vs. Lateral Meniscus Root Tears: Is There a Difference in Injury Presentation, Treatment Decisions, and Surgical Repair Outcomes?. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*.

Kubo, K., Ikebukuro, T., Yata, H., Tsunoda, N., & Kanehisa, H. (2010). Time Course of Changes in Muscle and Tendon Properties During Strength Training and Detraining. *J Strength Cond Res*, *24*(2), 322-331.

Kuijt MT, Inklaar H, Gouttebarge V, Frings-Dresen MH (2012) Knee and ankle osteoarthritis in former elite soccer players: a systematic review of the recent literature. J Sci Med Sport 15(6):480–487

Kulmala, J. P., Kosonen, J., Nurminen, J., & Avela, J. (2018). Running in highly cushioned shoes increases leg stiffness and amplifies impact loading. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35980-6
Kumar, D., Manal, K. T., & Rudolph, K. S. (2013). Knee joint loading during gait in healthy controls and individuals with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 21(2), 298–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2012.11.008

Kumar, D., Rudolph, K. S., & Manal, K. T. (2012). EMG-driven modeling approach to muscle force and joint load estimations: Case study in knee osteoarthritis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, *30*(3), 377-383.

Kumar, D., Wyatt, C. R., Lee, S., Nardo, L., Link, T. M., Majumdar, S., & Souza, R. B. (2013). Association of cartilage defects, and other MRI findings with pain and function in individuals with mild-moderate radiographic hip osteoarthritis and controls. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 21(11), 1685–1692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.08.009

Kvist, J., Ek, A., Sporrstedt, K., & Good, L. (2005). Fear of re-injury: A hindrance for returning to sports after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 13(5), 393–397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-004-0591-8

Lange, A. K., Vanwanseele, B., & Fiatarone singh, M. A. (2008). Strength training for treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: A systematic review. Arthritis & Rheumatism, 59(10), 1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24118

Langley, B., Cramp, M., & Morrison, S. C. (2019). The Influence of Motion Control, Neutral, and Cushioned Running Shoes on Lower Limb Kinematics. *Journal of applied biomechanics*, *35*(3).

Larsson, S., Englund, M., Struglics, A., & Lohmander, L. S. (2015). Interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha in synovial fluid are associated with progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis in subjects with previous meniscectomy. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 23(11), 1906–1914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.05.035

Lau, B. C., Conway, D., Mulvihill, J., Zhang, A. L., & Feeley, B. T. (2018). Biomechanical consequences of meniscal tear, partial meniscectomy, and meniscal repair in the knee. JBJS Reviews, 6(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.RVW.17.00125

LeCroy, C. W., & Krysik, J. (2007). Understanding and interpreting effect size measures. Social Work Research, 31(4), 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/31.4.243

Lee, J. H., Heo, J. W., & Lee, D. H. (2018). Comparative postural stability in patients with lateral meniscus versus medial meniscus tears. Knee, 25(2), 256–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2018.01.012

Lee, J. H., Lee, D.-H., Park, J.-H., Suh, D. W., Kim, E., & Jang, K.-M. (2020). Poorer dynamic postural stability in patients with anterior cruciate ligament rupture combined with lateral meniscus tear than in those with medial meniscus tear. Knee Surgery & Related Research, 32(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43019-019-0027-x

Lee, J. M., & Fu, F. H. (2000). The meniscus: basic science and clinical applications. *Operative Techniques in Orthopaedics*, *10*(3), 162-168.

Lennon, O. M., & Totlis, T. (2017). Rehabilitation and Return to Play Following Meniscal Repair. Operative Techniques in Sports Medicine, 25(3), 194–207. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.otsm.2017.07.007

Lentz, T. A., Zeppieri, G., George, S. Z., Tillman, S. M., Moser, M. W., Farmer, K. W., & Chmielewski, T. L. (2015). Comparison of physical impairment, functional, and psychosocial measures based on fear of reinjury/lack of confidence and return-to-sport status after ACL reconstruction. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 43(2), 345–353. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546514559707

Levinger, P., Menz, H. B., Morrow, A. D., Bartlett, J. R., Feller, J. A., & Bergman, N. R. (2013). Relationship between foot function and medial knee joint loading in people with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis. *J Foot Ankle Res*, *6*, 33-33.

Levy, I. M., Torzilli, P. A., & Warren, R. F. (1982). The effect of medial meniscectomy on anterior-posterior motion of the knee. JBJS, 64(6), 883-888.

Lewek, M. D., Rudolph, K. S., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2004). Quadriceps femoris muscle weakness and activation failure in patients with symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 22(1), 110-115.

Lewinson, R. T., & Stefanyshyn, D. J. (2019). Effect of a commercially available footwear insole on biomechanical variables associated with common running injuries. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 29(4), 341-343.

Lewinson, R. T., Fukuchi, C. A., Worobets, J. T., & Stefanyshyn, D. J. (2013). The effects of wedged footwear on lower limb frontal plane biomechanics during running. Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine, 23(3), 208-215.

Lidtke, H., & Data, R. U. S. A. (2016). (12) United States Patent. 2(12).

Liggett. (2014). 基因的改变NIH Public Access. Bone, 23(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371

Lin, F., Wilson, N. A., Makhsous, M., Press, J. M., Koh, J. L., Nuber, G. W., & Zhang, L. Q. (2010). In vivo patellar tracking induced by individual quadriceps components in individuals with patellofemoral pain. *Journal of biomechanics*, *43*(2), 235-241.

Lindenberg, K. M., Carcia, C. R., Phelps, A. L., Martin, R. L., & Burrows, A. M. (2011). The influence of heel height on sagittal plane knee kinematics during landing tasks in recreationally active and athletic collegiate females. International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy, 6(3), 186–198.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21904697%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/artic lerender.fcgi?artid=PMC3163998

Lisee, C., Birchmeier, T., Yan, A., & Kuenze, C. (2019). Associations between isometric quadriceps strength characteristics, knee flexion angles, and knee extension moments during

single leg step down and landing tasks after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 70, 231-236.

Litchfield, F., & Buttress, S. (2019). Internet educational videos: improving functional recovery following arthroscopic meniscectomy? Physiotherapy, 105, e93–e94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2018.11.067

Livesay, G. A., Reda, D. R., & Nauman, E. A. (2006). Peak torque and rotational stiffness developed at the shoe-surface interface: The effect of shoe type and playing surface. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 34(3), 415–422. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546505284182

Lloyd, D. G., & Buchanan, T. S. (2001). Strategies of muscular support of varus and valgus isometric loads at the human knee. Journal of biomechanics, 34(10), 1257-1267.

Logan, S., Hunter, I., Hopkins, J. T., Feland, J. B., & Parcell, A. C. (2010). Ground reaction force differences between running shoes, racing flats, and distance spikes in runners. *Journal of sports science & medicine*, 9(1), 147.

Logerstedt, D., Arundale, A., Lynch, A., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2015). A conceptual framework for a sports knee injury performance profile (SKIPP) and return to activity criteria (RTAC). Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy, 19(5), 340–359. https://doi.org/10.1590/bjpt-rbf.2014.0116

Lohmander, L. S., Englund, P. M., Dahl, L. L., & Roos, E. M. (2007). The long-term consequence of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: Osteoarthritis. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 35(10), 1756–1769. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546507307396

Longo, U. G., Ciuffreda, M., Candela, V., Rizzello, G., D'Andrea, V., Mannering, N., ... & Denaro, V. (2019). Knee osteoarthritis after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: prevalence and progression of radiographic changes after 5 to 12 years compared with contralateral knee. *The journal of knee surgery*, *32*(05), 407-413.

Lowe, C. J. M., Barker, K. L., Dewey, M., & Sackley, C. M. (2007). Effectiveness of physiotherapy exercise after knee arthroplasty for osteoarthritis: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. Bmj, 335(7624), 812.

Lutz, C., Dalmay, F., Ehkirch, F. P., Cucurulo, T., Laporte, C., Le Henaff, G., Potel, J. F., Pujol, N., Rochcongar, G., Salledechou, E., Seil, R., Gunepin, F. X., & Sonnery-Cottet, B. (2015). Meniscectomy versus meniscal repair: 10 years radiological and clinical results in vertical lesions in stable knee. Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 101(8), S327–S331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2015.09.008

Maffulli N, Longo UG, Campi S, Denaro V. (2012). Meniscal tears (Meniscectomy, Meniscopexy, Meniscal Transplants/Scaffolds). Evidence-Based Orthopedics 803–811.

Magyar, M. O., Knoll, Z., & Kiss, R. M. (2012). Effect of medial meniscus tear and partial meniscectomy on balancing capacity in response to sudden unidirectional perturbation. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 22(3), 440-445.

Majewski, M., Susanne, H., & Klaus, S. (2006). Epidemiology of athletic knee injuries: A 10-year study. The knee, 13(3), 184-188.

Makris, E. A., Hadidi, P., & Athanasiou, K. A. (2011). The knee meniscus: Structurefunction, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. Biomaterials, 32(30), 7411–7431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.06.037

Makris, E. A., Hadidi, P., & Athanasiou, K. A. (2012). Functional Rehabilitation after Medial Meniscus Repair in a High School Football Quarterback : A Case Report Functional Rehabilitation after Medial Meniscus Repair in a High School Football Quarterback : A Case Report. Biomaterials, 75(June), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.06.037.The

Malisoux, L., Chambon, N., Delattre, N., Gueguen, N., Urhausen, A., & Theisen, D. (2016). Injury risk in runners using standard or motion control shoes: a randomised controlled trial with participant and assessor blinding. *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*(8), 481-487.

Mani, E., Tüzün, E. H., Angın, E., & Eker, L. (2020). Lower extremity proprioceptive sensation in patients with early stage knee osteoarthritis: A comparative study. *The Knee*, 27(2), 356-362.

Mani, E., Tüzün, E. H., Angın, E., & Eker, L. (2020). Lower extremity proprioceptive sensation in patients with early stage knee osteoarthritis: A comparative study. *The Knee*, 27(2), 356-362.

Mann, R. W., & Nigg, B. M. (2002). The role of impact forces and foot pronation: A new paradigm (multiple letters). Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine, 12(1), 57–59. https://doi.org/10.1097/00042752-200201000-00019

Marchetti, P. H., Jarbas, J., Schoenfeld, B. J., Silva, P., Nardi, M., Pecoraro, S. L., Maria, J., Greve, D. A., & Hartigan, E. (2016). Muscle Activation Differs between Three Different Knee Joint-Angle Positions during a Maximal Isometric Back Squat Exercise. Journal of Sports Medicine, 2016, 6.

Mason, D. L., Preece, S. J., Bramah, C. A., & Herrington, L. C. (2016). Reproducibility of kinematic measures of the thoracic spine, lumbar spine and pelvis during fast running. Gait and Posture, 43, 96–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.11.007

Matheny, L. M., Ockuly, A. C., Steadman, J. R., & LaPrade, R. F. (2015). Posterior meniscus root tears: associated pathologies to assist as diagnostic tools. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 23(10), 3127-3131.

Maugeri, I. F. S., & Scientifico, I. (2016). C Er ® a C Er. April 2011.

McCarty, E. C., Marx, R. G., & DeHaven, K. E. (2002). Meniscus repair: considerations in treatment and update of clinical results. Clinical Orthopaedics and related research, 402, 122-134.

McDermott, I. (2011). Meniscal tears, repairs and replacement: Their relevance to osteoarthritis of the knee. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(4), 292–297. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2010.081257

McDermott, I. D., & Amis, A. A. (2006). The consequences of meniscectomy. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume*, 88(12), 1549-1556.

McDermott, I. D., Masouros, S. D., & Amis, A. A. (2008). Biomechanics of the menisci of the knee. *Current Orthopaedics*, 22(3), 193-201.

McDevitt, C. A., Mukherjee, S., Kambic, H., & Parker, R. (2002). Emerging concepts of the cell biology of the meniscus. Current Opinion in Orthopaedics, 13(5), 345–350. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001433-200210000-00004

McNulty, A. L., & Guilak, F. (2015). Mechanobiology of the meniscus. Journal of Biomechanics, 48(8), 1469–1478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2015.02.008

Meardon, S. A., Willson, J. D., Kernozek, T. W., Duerst, A. H., & Derrick, T. R. (2018). Shoe cushioning affects lower extremity joint contact forces during running. *Footwear Science*, *10*(2), 109-117.

Melrose J, Fuller ES, Little CB. 2017. The biology of meniscal pathology in osteoarthritis and its contribution to joint disease: beyond simple mechanics. Connect Tissue Res 58: 282–294.

Melvin, J. M. A., Preece, S., Nester, C. J., & Howard, D. (2014). An investigation into plantar pressure measurement protocols for footwear research. Gait and Posture, 40(4), 682–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.07.026

Mercer, M. A., Stone, T. M., Young, J. C., & Mercer, J. (2018). Running Economy while Running in Extreme Cushioning and Normal Cushioning Running Shoes. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, *11*(2), 1031.

Messner, K., & Gao, J. (1998). The menisci of the knee joint. Anatomical and functional characteristics, and a rationale for clinical treatment. The Journal of Anatomy, 193(2), 161-178.

Miller, R. H. (2017). Joint loading in runners does not initiate knee osteoarthritis. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 45(2), 87-95.

Mills, K., Hunt, M. A., & Ferber, R. (2013). Biomechanical deviations during level walking associated with knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arthritis Care and Research, 65(10), 1643–1665. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.22015

Mills, P. M., Wang, Y., Cicuttini, F. M., Stoffel, K., Stachowiak, G. W., Podsiadlo, P., & Lloyd, D. G. (2008). Tibio-femoral cartilage defects 3-5 years following arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 16(12), 1526–1531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2008.04.014

Mitchell, J., Graham, W., Best, T. M., Collins, C., Currie, D. W., Comstock, R. D., & Flanigan, D. C. (2016). Epidemiology of meniscal injuries in US high school athletes between 2007 and 2013. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 24(3), 715–722. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-015-3814-2

Mohr, M., Draganidis, D., Chatzinikolaou, A., Barbero-Álvarez, J. C., Castagna, C., Douroudos, I., ... Fatouros, I. G. (2016). Muscle damage, inflammatory, immune and performance responses to three football games in 1 week in competitive male players. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 116(1), 179–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-015-3245-2

Mølgaard, C. (2015). *Mechanical and physiological factors in knee joint contact mechanics: early changes following meniscectomy and conservative intervention strategies* (Doctoral dissertation, Aalborg Universitetsforlag).

Molyneux, J., Herrington, L., & Jones, R. (2017). An investigation into the effect of a lower limb exercise programme on kinesiophobia in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(August), S407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.02.703

Mordecai, S. C. (2014). Treatment of meniscal tears: An evidence based approach. World Journal of Orthopedics, 5(3), 233. https://doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v5.i3.233

Morio, C., Haddoum, M., Roux, M., & Guéguen, N. (2014). Effects of footwear midsole hardness on females' lower limb kinetics and kinematics during cutting manoeuvres. Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering, 17(SUPP1), 146–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2014.931556

Moulton, S. G., Bhatia, S., Civitarese, D. M., Frank, R. M., Dean, C. S., & LaPrade, R. F. (2016). Surgical Techniques and Outcomes of Repairing Meniscal Radial Tears: A Systematic Review. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 32(9), 1919–1925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2016.03.029

Mu, A. (2019). 済無No Title No Title. Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling, 53(9), 1689–1699. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004

Müller, W. (1994). Menisci and knee stability. *Der Orthopade*, *23*(2), 93-97.scus: structure–function, pathophysiology, current repair techniques, and prospects for regeneration. *Biomaterials*, *32*(30), 7411-7431.

Mündermann, A., Asay, J. L., Mündermann, L., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2008). Implications of increased medio-lateral trunk sway for ambulatory mechanics. Journal of Biomechanics, 41(1), 165–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2007.07.001

Mündermann, A., Dyrby, C. O., & Andriacchi, T. P. (2005). Secondary gait changes in patients with medial compartment knee osteoarthritis: Increased load at the ankle, knee, and hip during walking. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 52(9), 2835–2844. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21262

Munro, A. G., & Herrington, L. C. (2010). Between-session reliability of the star excursion balance test. *Phys Ther Sport*, *11*(4), 128-132.

Murphy, C. A., Garg, A. K., Silva-Correia, J., Reis, R. L., Oliveira, J. M., & Collins, M. N. (2019). The meniscus in normal and osteoarthritic tissues: facing the structure property challenges and current treatment trends. *Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering*, *21*, 495-521.

Musahl, V., Citak, M., O'Loughlin, P. F., Choi, D., Bedi, A., & Pearle, A. D. (2010). The effect of medial versus lateral meniscectomy on the stability of the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. The American journal of sports medicine, 38(8), 1591-1597.

Muthuri, S. G., McWilliams, D. F., Doherty, M., & Zhang, W. (2011). History of knee injuries and knee osteoarthritis: A meta-analysis of observational studies. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 19(11), 1286–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2011.07.015

Myer, G. D., Ford, K. R., Di Stasi, S. L., Barber Foss, K. D., Micheli, L. J., & Hewett, T. E. (2015). High knee abduction moments are common risk factors for patellofemoral pain (PFP) and anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury in girls: Is PFP itself a predictor for subsequent ACL injury? British Journal of Sports Medicine, 49(2), 118–122. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-092536

Na, A., & Buchanan, T. S. (2019). Self-reported walking difficulty and knee osteoarthritis influences limb dynamics and muscle co-contraction during gait. *Human Movement Science*, *64*, 409-419.

Nadeau, S., Gravel, D., Hébert, L. J., Arsenault, A. B., & Lepage, Y. (1997). Gait study of patients with patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Gait & posture*, *5*(1), 21-27.

Nakagawa, T. H., Baldon Rde, M., Muniz, T. B., & Serrao, F. V. (2011). Relationship among eccentric hip and knee torques, symptom severity and functional capacity in females with patellofemoral pain syndrome. *Phys Ther Sport*, *12*(3), 133-139.

Nakagawa, T., Kimura, M., Ogoshi, A., Yanagisawa, S., Yorifuji, H., & Takagishi, K. (2017). Risk Factors for the Development of Osteoarthritis after Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *67*(2), 129-133.

Nakagawa, Y., Muneta, T., Watanabe, T., Horie, M., Nakamura, T., Otabe, K., Katakura, M., Sumi, Y., Sekiya, I., & Koga, H. (2018). Arthroscopic centralization achieved good clinical improvements and radiographic outcomes in a rugby player with osteoarthritis after subtotal lateral meniscectomy: A case report. Journal of Orthopaedic Science, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jos.2017.09.011

Nawabi, D. H., Cro, S., Hamid, I. P., & Williams, A. (2014). Return to play after lateral meniscectomy compared with medial meniscectomy in elite professional soccer players. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 42(9), 2193-2198.

Nepple J. J, Dunn W. R, Wright R. W. (2012). Meniscal repair outcomes at greater than five years: a systematic literature review and metaanalysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 94:2222–2227.

Nepple JJ, Wright RW, Matava MJ, Brophy RH (2012) Full thickness knee articular cartilage defects in national football league combine athletes undergoing magnetic resonance imaging: prevalence, location, and association with previous surgery. Arthroscopy 28:798–806

NHS England., (2017) Annual Report 2016-17. In NHS, Annual Report 2017.

NICE. (2015). National Clinical Guideline Centre Osteoarthritis: Care and management in adults. National Institute for Health and Care Excellene CG 177, February, 1–505. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH0068962/pdf/PubMedHealth_PMH006896 2.pdf

Nicolini, A. P., Carvalho, R. T. de, Matsuda, M. M., Sayum Filho, J., & Cohen, M. (2014). Common injuries in athletes' knee: experience of a specialized center. Acta Ortopédica Brasileira, 22(3), 127–131. https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-78522014220300475

Nigg, B. M., & Wakeling, J. M. (2001). Impact forces and muscle tuning: A new paradigm. Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews, 29(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003677-200101000-00008

Nigg, B. M., Vienneau, J., Smith, A. C., Trudeau, M. B., Mohr, M., & Nigg, S. R. (2017). The preferred movement path paradigm: Influence of running shoes on joint movement. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 49(8), 1641–1648. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001260

O'Donnell, K., Freedman, K. B., & Tjoumakaris, F. P. (2017). Rehabilitation Protocols after Isolated Meniscal Repair: A Systematic Review. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 45(7), 1687–1697. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546516667578

O'Reilly SC, Jones A, Muir KR, Doherty M (1998) Quadriceps weakness in knee osteoarthritis: the effect on pain and disability. Ann Rheum Dis 57:588–594. doi:10.1136/ard.57.10.588

Ogawa, S., Awaga, Y., Takashima, M., Hama, A., Matsuda, A., & Takamatsu, H. (2016). Knee osteoarthritis pain following medial meniscectomy in the nonhuman primate. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 24(7), 1190-1199.

Omori, G., Koga, Y., Tanaka, M., Nawata, A., Watanabe, H., Narumi, K., & Endoh, K. (2013). Quadriceps muscle strength and its relationship to radiographic knee osteoarthritis in Japanese elderly. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, *18*(4), 536-542.

Özkaya, N., & Nordin, M. (1999). Application of Statics to Biomechanics. In N. Özkaya, M. Nordin, & D. L. Leger (Eds.), *Fundamentals of biomechanics: equilibrium, motion and deformation* (2nd ed., pp. 81-116). New York: Springer.

Palmieri-Smith, R. M., Thomas, A. C., Karvonen-Gutierrez, C., & Sowers, M. F. (2010). Isometric quadriceps strength in women with mild, moderate, and severe knee osteoarthritis. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation/Association of Academic Physiatrists*, 89(7), 541.

Papalia R, Franceschi F, Diaz Balzani L, D'Adamio S, Maffulli N, Denaro V (2013) Scaffolds for partial meniscal replacement: an updated systematic review. Br Med Bull 107:19–40

Papalia, R., Del Buono, A., Osti, L., Denaro, V., & Maffulli, N. (2011). Meniscectomy as a risk factor for knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review. British medical bulletin, 99(1), 89-106.

Papalia, R., Di Pino, G., Tecame, A., Vadalà, G., Formica, D., Di Martino, A., Albo, E., Di Lazzaro, V., & Denaro, V. (2015). Biomechanical and neural changes evaluation induced by prolonged use of non-stable footwear: a systematic review. Musculoskeletal Surgery, 99(3), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12306-015-0350-7

Paterno, M. V., Flynn, K., Thomas, S., & Schmitt, L. C. (2018). Self-Reported Fear Predicts Functional Performance and Second ACL Injury After ACL Reconstruction and Return to Sport: A Pilot Study. Sports Health, 10(3), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738117745806

Paterson, K. L., Bennell, K. L., Metcalf, B. R., Campbell, P. K., Kasza, J., Wrigley, T. V., & Hinman, R. S. (2020). Footwear for osteoarthritis of the lateral knee: Protocol for the FOLK randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 21(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-020-03275-5

Paterson, K. L., Bennell, K. L., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Kasza, J., & Hinman, R. S. (2017). Effects of footwear on the knee adduction moment in medial knee osteoarthritis: classification criteria for flat flexible vs stable supportive shoes. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(2), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.10.001

Paterson, K. L., Bennell, K. L., Wrigley, T. V., Metcalf, B. R., Campbell, P. K., Kazsa, J., & Hinman, R. S. (2018). Footwear for self-managing knee osteoarthritis symptoms: Protocol for the Footstep randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 19(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-2144-1

Paterson, K. L., Wrigley, T. V., Bennell, K. L., & Hinman, R. S. (2014). A survey of footwear advice, beliefs and wear habits in people with knee osteoarthritis. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 7(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-014-0043-8

Paxton, E. S., Stock, M. V., & Brophy, R. H. (2011). Meniscal repair versus partial meniscectomy: A systematic review comparing reoperation rates and clinical outcomes. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 27(9), 1275–1288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2011.03.088

Pereira, H., Cengiz, I. F., Gomes, S., Espregueira-Mendes, J., Ripoll, P. L., Monllau, J. C., Reis, R. L., & Oliveira, J. M. (2019). Meniscal allograft transplants and new scaffolding techniques. EFORT Open Reviews, 4(6), 279–295. https://doi.org/10.1302/2058-5241.4.180103

Perkins, K. P., Hanney, W. J., & Rothschild, C. E. (2014). The risks and benefits of running barefoot or in minimalist shoes: a systematic review. *Sports Health*, *6*(6), 475-480.

Persson, F., Turkiewicz, A., Bergkvist, D., Neuman, P., & Englund, M. (2018). The risk of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis after arthroscopic meniscus repair vs partial meniscectomy vs the general population. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 26(2), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.08.020

Petty, C. A., & Lubowitz, J. H. (2011). Does arthroscopic partial meniscectomy result in knee osteoarthritis? A systematic review with a minimum of 8 years' follow-up. Arthroscopy - Journal of Arthroscopic and Related Surgery, 27(3), 419–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2010.08.016

Phinyomark, A., Osis, S. T., Hettinga, B. A., Kobsar, D., & Ferber, R. (2016). Gender differences in gait kinematics for patients with knee osteoarthritis. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 17(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1013-z

Pietrosimone, B., Lepley, A. S., Murray, A. M., Thomas, A. C., Bahhur, N. O., & Schwartz, T. A. (2014). Changes in voluntary quadriceps activation predict changes in muscle strength and gait biomechanics following knee joint effusion. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon), 29*(8), 923-929.

Pihl, K., Englund, M., Lohmander, L. S., Jørgensen, U., Nissen, N., Schjerning, J., & Thorlund, J. B. (2017). Signs of knee osteoarthritis common in 620 patients undergoing arthroscopic surgery for meniscal tear. Acta Orthopaedica, 88(1), 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/17453674.2016.1253329

Pihl, K., Turkiewicz, A., Englund, M., Lohmander, L. S., Jørgensen, U., Nissen, N., Schjerning, J., & Thorlund, J. B. (2019). Association of specific meniscal pathologies and other structural pathologies with self-reported mechanical symptoms: A cross-sectional study of 566 patients undergoing meniscal surgery. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 22(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2018.07.018

Pihl, K., Turkiewicz, A., Englund, M., Stefan Lohmander, L., Jørgensen, U., Nissen, N., ... Thorlund, J. B. (2018). Change in patient-reported outcomes in patients with and without mechanical symptoms undergoing arthroscopic meniscal surgery: A prospective cohort study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 0(0), 1008–1016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2018.05.004 Plisky, P. J., Rauh, M. J., Kaminski, T. W., & Underwood, F. B. (2006). Star excursion balance test as a predictor of lower extremity injury in high school basketball players. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 36(12), 911–919. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2006.2244

Podlog, L., Banham, S. M., Wadey, R., & Hannon, J. C. (2015). Psychological readiness to return to competitive sport following injury: a qualitative study. *The Sport Psychologist*, *29*(1), 1-14.

Pollard, C. D., Ter Har, J. A., Hannigan, J. J., & Norcross, M. F. (2018). Influence of maximal running shoes on biomechanics before and after a 5K run. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, *6*(6), 2325967118775720.

Porter, J., Rae, M., Greidanus, N., Russell, C., & Riskowski, J. (2016). Relations between proprioception in young adults and older adults with and without knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 24, S475.

Prakash, J., Song, E. K., Lim, H. A., Shin, Y. J., Jin, C., & Seon, J. K. (2018). High tibial osteotomy accelerates lateral compartment osteoarthritis in discoid meniscus patients. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 26(6), 1845–1850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-017-4422-0

Preece, S. J., Jones, R. K., Brown, C. A., Cacciatore, T. W., & Jones, A. K. (2016). Reductions in co-contraction following neuromuscular re-education in people with knee osteoarthritis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *17*(1), 1-12.

Prejbeanu, R., & Vermesan, D. (2015). The Menisci. In Atlas of Knee Arthroscopy. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-6593-4_2

Price, V., & DeVita, P. (2017). Knee Joint Forces in Relation To Ground Surface Stiffness During Running. May.

Prodromos CC, Andriacchi TP, Galante JO. (1985). A relationship between gait and clinical changes following high tibial osteotomy. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* **67**:1188–1194.

Proske, U., Morgan, D. L., & Gregory, J. E. (1993). Thixotropy in skeletal muscle and in muscle spindles: a review. *Progress in neurobiology*, *41*(6), 705-721.

Pujol, N., & Beaufils, P. (2019). Save the meniscus again! Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 27(2), 341–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-018-5325-4

Pujol, N., Barbier, O., Boisrenoult, P., & Beaufils, P. (2011). Amount of meniscal resection after failed meniscal repair. The American journal of sports medicine, 39(8), 1648-1653.

Quicke, J. G., Foster, N. E., Croft, P. R., Ogollah, R. O., & Holden, M. A. (2018). Change in physical activity level and clinical outcomes in older adults with knee pain: A secondary analysis from a randomised controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 19(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-1968-z

Radzimski, A. O., Mündermann, A., & Sole, G. (2012). Effect of footwear on the external knee adduction moment - A systematic review. Knee, 19(3), 163–175. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2011.05.013

Rai, M. F., & McNulty, A. L. (2017). Meniscus beyond mechanics: Using biology to advance our understanding of meniscus injury and treatment. Connective Tissue Research, 58(3–4), 221–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/03008207.2017.1312921

Raj M. A, Bubnis M. A., (2020) Knee Meniscal Tears. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK431067/

Ramsey, C., Lamb, P., & Ribeiro, D. (2019). Factors influencing runner's choices of footwear. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 22, S104.

Rao, A. J., Erickson, B. J., Cvetanovich, G. L., Yanke, A. B., Bach, B. R., & Cole, B. J. (2015). The Meniscus-Deficient Knee: Biomechanics, Evaluation, and Treatment Options. Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine, 3(10), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967115611386

Rath, E., & Richmond, J. C. (2000). Topic collections The menisci: basic science and advances in treatment. Br. J. Sports Med, 34, 252–257. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.34.4.252

Richards, R. E., Andersen, M. S., Harlaar, J., & van den Noort, J. C. (2018). Relationship between knee joint contact forces and external knee joint moments in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis: effects of gait modifications. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 26(9), 1203–1214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2018.04.011

Riddle, D. L., & Stratford, P. W. (2011). Impact of Pain Reported During Isometric Quadriceps Muscle Strength Testing in People With Knee Pain: Data From the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Physical Therapy*, *91*(10), 1478-1489.

Ridley, T. J., McCarthy, M. A., Bollier, M. J., Wolf, B. R., & Amendola, A. (2017). Age Differences in the Prevalence of Isolated Medial and Lateral Meniscal Tears in Surgically Treated Patients. The Iowa Orthopaedic Journal, 37, 91–94.

Riley, P. O., Paolini, G., Della Croce, U., Paylo, K. W., & Kerrigan, D. C. (2007). A kinematic and kinetic comparison of overground and treadmill walking in healthy subjects. *Gait & posture*, *26*(1), 17-24.

Rodeo, S. A., Monibi, F., Dehghani, B., & Maher, S. (2020). Biological and Mechanical Predictors of Meniscus Function: Basic Science to Clinical Translation. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 38(5), 937–945. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.24552

Röijezon, U., Clark, N. C., & Treleaven, J. (2015). Proprioception in musculoskeletal rehabilitation. Part 1: Basic science and principles of assessment and clinical interventions. *Manual therapy*, *20*(3), 368-377.

Røislien, J., Skare, Ø., Opheim, A., & Rennie, L. (2012). Evaluating the properties of the coefficient of multiple correlation (CMC) for kinematic gait data. *J Biomech*, *45*(11), 2014-2018.

Rongen, J. J., Rovers, M. M., van Tienen, T. G., Buma, P., & Hannink, G. (2017). Increased risk for knee replacement surgery after arthroscopic surgery for degenerative meniscal tears: a multi-center longitudinal observational study using data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 25(1), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.09.013

Roos H, Lauren M, Adalberth T, Roos EM, Jonsson K, Lohmander LS. (1998). Knee osteoarthritis after meniscectomy: prevalence of radiographic changes after twenty-one years, compared with matched controls. Arthritis Rheum.;41(4):687-693

Roos, E. M., Roos, H. P., Ryd, L., & Lohmander, L. S. (2000). Substantial disability 3 months after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: A prospective study of patient-relevant outcomes. Arthroscopy, 16(6), 619–626. https://doi.org/10.1053/jars.2000.4818

Rossignol, S., Dubuc, R., & Gossard, J. P. (2006). Dynamic sensorimotor interactions in locomotion. *Physiological reviews*, 86(1), 89-154.

Rudolph, K. S., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2004). Effect of dynamic stability on a step task in ACL deficient individuals. Journal of electromyography and kinesiology, 14(5), 565-575.

Rudolph, K. S., Axe, M. J., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2000). Dynamic stability after ACL injury: who can hop?. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 8(5), 262-269.

Ryan, M. B., Valiant, G. A., McDonald, K., & Taunton, J. E. (2011). The effect of three different levels of footwear stability on pain outcomes in women runners: a randomised control trial. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *45*(9), 715-721.

Saad, M. C., Felicio, L. R., Masullo Cde, L., Liporaci, R. F., & Bevilaqua-Grossi, D. (2011). Analysis of the center of pressure displacement, ground reaction force and muscular activity during step exercises. *J Electromyogr Kinesiol*, *21*(5), 712-718.

Sabbag, O. D., Hevesi, M., Sanders, T. L., Camp, C. L., Dahm, D. L., Levy, B. A., ... & Krych, A. J. (2019). High Rate of Recurrent Meniscal Tear and Lateral Compartment Osteoarthritis in Patients Treated for Symptomatic Lateral Discoid Meniscus: A Population-Based Study. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, *7*(7), 2325967119856284.

Sacco, I. C. N., Trombini-Souza, F., Butugan, M. K., Pássaro, A. C., Arnone, A. C., & Fuller, R. (2012). Joint loading decreased by inexpensive and minimalist footwear in elderly women with knee osteoarthritis during stair descent. Arthritis Care and Research, 64(3), 368–374. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20690

Samitier, G., Alentorn-Geli, E., Taylor, D. C., Rill, B., Lock, T., Moutzouros, V., & Kolowich, P. (2014). Meniscal allograft transplantation. Part 2: systematic review of transplant timing, outcomes, return to competition, associated procedures, and prevention of

osteoarthritis. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 23(1), 323–333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-3344-3

Santuz, A., Ekizos, A., and Arampatzis, A. (2016). A pressure plate-based method for the automatic assessment of foot strike patterns during running. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 44, 1646–1655. doi: 10.1007/s10439-015-1484-3

Santuz, A., Ekizos, A., Janshen, L., Baltzopoulos, V., & Arampatzis, A. (2017). The influence of footwear on the modular organization of running. Frontiers in Physiology, 8(NOV), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00958

Santuz, A., Ekizos, A., Janshen, L., Baltzopoulos, V., & Arampatzis, A. (2017). The influence of footwear on the modular organization of running. *Frontiers in physiology*, *8*, 958.

Sappho (615 BCE) The Fisherman's Tomb

Sasaki, E., Ota, S., Chiba, D., Kimura, Y., Sasaki, S., Yamamoto, Y., Tsuda, E., Nakaji, S., & Ishibashi, Y. (2020). Early knee osteoarthritis prevalence is highest among middle-aged adult females with obesity based on new set of diagnostic criteria from a large sample cohort study in the Japanese general population. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 28(3), 984–994. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-019-05614-z

Sawatsky, A., Bourne, D., Horisberger, M., Jinha, A., & Herzog, W. (2012). Changes in patellofemoral joint contact pressures caused by vastus medialis muscle weakness. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 27(6), 595-601.

Sayer, T. A., Hinman, R. S., Paterson, K. L., Bennell, K. L., Fortin, K., Kasza, J., & Bryant, A. L. (2019). Differences and mechanisms underpinning a change in the knee flexion moment while running in stability and neutral footwear among young females. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 12(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-018-0307-9

Sayer, T. A., Hinman, R. S., Paterson, K. L., Bennell, K. L., Fortin, K., & Bryant, A. L. (2018). Effect of high and low-supportive footwear on female tri-planar knee moments during single limb landing. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research, 11(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13047-018-0294-x

Schmitt, L. C., & Rudolph, K. S. (2008). Muscle stabilization strategies in people with medial knee osteoarthritis: The effect of instability. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 26(9), 1180–1185.

Schmitz, A., Buczek, F. L., Bruening, D., Rainbow, M. J., Cooney, K., & Thelen, D. (2016). Comparison of hierarchical and six degrees-of-freedom marker sets in analyzing gait kinematics. *Comput Methods Biomech Biomed Engin*, *19*(2), 199-207. doi:10.1080/10255842.2015.1006208 Schreurs, M. J., Benjaminse, A., & Lemmink, K. A. P. M. (2017). Sharper angle, higher risk? The effect of cutting angle on knee mechanics in invasion sport athletes. Journal of Biomechanics, 63, 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2017.08.019

Seedhom BB, Hargreaves DJ. (1979). Transmission of the load in the knee joint with special reference to the role in the menisci: part II. Experimental results, discussion and conclusion. Eng Med 8: 220–228.

Seeley, M. K., Park, J., King, D., & Hopkins, J. T. (2013). A Novel Experimental Knee-Pain Model Affects Perceived Pain and Movement Biomechanics. *J Athl Train*, 48(3), 337-345.

Segal, N. A., & Glass, N. A. (2011). Is quadriceps muscle weakness a risk factor for incident or progressive knee osteoarthritis? Physician and Sportsmedicine, 39(4), 44–50. https://doi.org/10.3810/psm.2011.11.1938

Segal, N. A., Glass, N. A., Torner, J., Yang, M., Felson, D. T., Sharma, L., ... & Lewis, C. E. (2010). Quadriceps weakness predicts risk for knee joint space narrowing in women in the MOST cohort. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, *18*(6), 769-775.

Selfe, J., Callaghan, M., Witvrouw, E., Richards, J., Dey, M. P., Sutton, C., Dixon, J., Martin, D., Stokes, M., Janssen, J., Ritchie, E., & Turner, D. (2013). Targeted interventions for patellofemoral pain syndrome (TIPPS): classification of clinical subgroups. *BMJ Open*, *3*(9), e003795.

Shakoor, N., Lidtke, R. H., Sengupta, M., Fogg, L. F., & Block, J. A. (2008). Effects of specialized footwear on joint loads in osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Care and Research, 59(9), 1214–1220. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.24017

Shakoor, N., Lidtke, R. H., Wimmer, M. A., Mikolaitis, R. A., Foucher, K. C., Thorp, L. E., Fogg, L. F., & Block, J. A. (2013). Improvement in knee loading after use of specialized footwear for knee osteoarthritis: Results of a six-month pilot investigation. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 65(5), 1282–1289. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.37896

Shakoor, N., Sengupta, M., Foucher, K. C., Wimmer, M. A., Fogg, L. F., & Block, J. A. (2010). Effects of common footwear on joint loading in osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Care and Research, 62(7), 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20165

Sharma, L., Pai, Y. C., Holtkamp, K., & Rymer, W. Z. (1997). Is knee joint proprioception worse in the arthritic knee versus the unaffected knee in unilateral knee osteoarthritis?. *Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology*, 40(8), 1518-1525.

Sharma, S. K., Yadav, S. L., Singh, U., & Wadhwa, S. (2017). Muscle activation profiles and co-activation of quadriceps and hamstring muscles around knee joint in Indian primary osteoarthritis knee patients. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research: JCDR*, *11*(5), RC09.

Sherman, S. L., DiPaolo, Z. J., Ray, T. E., Sachs, B. M., & Oladeji, L. O. (2020). Meniscus injuries: a review of rehabilitation and return to play. *Clinics in sports medicine*, *39*(1), 165-183.

Shimada, S., Kobayashi, S., Wada, M., Uchida, K., Sasaki, S., Kawahara, H., Yayama, T., Kitade, I., Kamei, K., Kubota, M., & Baba, H. (2006). Effects of Disease Severity on Response to Lateral Wedged Shoe Insole for Medial Compartment Knee Osteoarthritis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 87(11), 1436–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2006.08.018

Sigurdsson, U., Müller, G., Siversson, C., Lammentausta, E., Svensson, J., Tiderius, C. J., & Dahlberg, L. E. (2016). Delayed gadolinium-enhanced MRI of meniscus (dGEMRIM) and cartilage (dGEMRIC) in healthy knees and in knees with different stages of meniscus pathology. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1244-z

Simic, M., Hinman, R. S., Wrigley, T. V., Bennell, K. L., & Hunt, M. A. (2011). Gait modification strategies for altering medial knee joint load: A systematic review. Arthritis Care and Research, 63(3), 405–426. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20380

Sinclair, J., Butters, B., & Stainton, P. (2018). Acute effects of barefoot and minimalist footwear on medial tibiofemoral compartment loading during running: A statistical parametric mapping approach. Journal of Human Kinetics, 65(1), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.2478/hukin-2018-0037

Sinclair, J., Hebron, J., & Taylor, P. J. (2014). The influence of tester experience on the reliability of 3D kinematic information during running. Gait and Posture, 40(4), 707–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.06.004

Sinclair, J., Richards, J., Selfe, J., Fau-Goodwin, J., & Shore, H. (2016). The Influence of Minimalist and Maximalist Footwear on Patellofemoral Kinetics During Running. *J Appl Biomech*, 32(4), 359-64.

Smith, M. V., Nepple, J. J., Wright, R. W., Matava, M. J., & Brophy, R. H. (2017). Knee Osteoarthritis Is Associated With Previous Meniscus and Anterior Cruciate Ligament Surgery Among Elite College American Football Athletes. Sports Health, 9(3), 247–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738116683146

Snoeker, B. A. M., Bakker, E. W. P., Kegel, C. A. T., & Lucas, C. (2013). Risk Factors for Meniscal Tears: A Systematic Review Including Meta-analysis. Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, 43(6), 352–367. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2013.4295

Solhan, M. B., Trull, T. J., Jahng, S., & Wood, P. K. (2009). Clinical assessment of affective instability: comparing EMA indices, questionnaire reports, and retrospective recall. *Psychological assessment*, *21*(3), 425.

Solomonow, M., Guzzi, A. L., Baratta, R., Shoji, H., & d'Ambrosia, R. (1986). EMG-Force model of the elbows antagonistic muscle pair: The effect of joint position, gravity and recruitment. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 65(5), 223-244.

Souissi, H., Zory, R., Bredin, J., & Gerus, P. (2017). Comparison of methodologies to assess muscle co-contraction during gait. *Journal of biomechanics*, *57*, 141-145.

Souza, R. B., & Powers, C. M. (2009). Differences in hip kinematics, muscle strength, and muscle activation between subjects with and without patellofemoral pain. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 39(1), 12–19. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2009.2885

Stanley, L. E., Kerr, Z. Y., Dompier, T. P., & Padua, D. A. (2016). Sex differences in the incidence of anterior cruciate ligament, medial collateral ligament, and meniscal injuries in collegiate and high school sports: 2009-2010 through 2013-2014. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *44*(6), 1565-1572.

Starbuck, C., Price, C., Smith, L. C., & Jones, R. (2017). The influence of an off the shelf lateral wedge orthotic on knee loading during running. *Footwear Science*, *9*(Sup. 1), S37-S38.

Stefanyshyn, D. J., & Wannop, J. W. (2016). The influence of forefoot bending stiffness of footwear on athletic injury and performance. *Footwear Science*, 8(2), 51-63.

Stegeman, D., & Hermens, H. (2007). Standards for surface electromyography: The European project Surface EMG for non-invasive assessment of muscles (SENIAM). Línea). Disponible En: Http://Www. Med. ..., 108–112. Retrieved from http://www.seniam.org/%5Cnhttp://www.med.uni-jena.de/motorik/pdf/stegeman.pdf

Stein T, Mehling AP, Welsch F, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, Jager A (2010) Long-term outcome after arthroscopic meniscal repair versus arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic meniscal tears. Am J Sports Med 38:1542–1548

Steiner, E. (2019). ScholarWorks @ UMass Amherst Impact of Footwear on Mechanisms of Knee Osteoarthritis Progression. July.

Stief, F., Böhm, H., Ebert, C., Döderlein, L., & Meurer, A. (2014). Effect of compensatory trunk movements on knee and hip joint loading during gait in children with different orthopedic pathologies. Gait and Posture, 39(3), 859–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.11.012

Sturnieks, D. L., Besier, T. F., & Lloyd, D. G. (2011). Muscle activations to stabilize the knee following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Clinical Biomechanics, 26(3), 292–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2010.11.003

Sturnieks, D. L., Besier, T. F., Hamer, P. W., Ackland, T. R., Mills, P. M., Stachowiak, G. W., Podsiadlo, P., & Lloyd, D. G. (2008). Knee strength and knee adduction moments

following arthroscopic partial meniscectomy. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 40(6), 991–997. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318167812a

Sun, D., Mei, Q., Baker, J. S., Jia, X., & Gu, Y. (2017). A Pilot Study of the Effect of Outsole Hardness on Lower Limb Kinematics and Kinetics during Soccer Related Movements. Journal of Human Kinetics, 57(1), 17–27. https://doi.org/10.1515/hukin-2017-0043

Takagi, S., Omori, G., Koga, H., Endo, K., Koga, Y., Nawata, A., & Endo, N. (2018). Quadriceps muscle weakness is related to increased risk of radiographic knee OA but not its progression in both women and men: the Matsudai Knee Osteoarthritis Survey. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, *26*(9), 2607-2614.

Teng, H. L., MacLeod, T. D., Link, T. M., Majumdar, S., & Souza, R. B. (2015). Higher knee flexion moment during the second half of the stance phase of gait is associated with magnetic resonance imaging progression of patellofemoral joint osteoarthritis. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*, *45*(9), 656-664.

Theisen, D., Malisoux, L., Gette, P., Nührenbörger, C., & Urhausen, A. (2016). Footwear and running-related injuries–Running on faith?. *Sports Orthopaedics and Traumatology Sport-Orthopädie-Sport-Traumatologie*, *32*(2), 169-176.

Thorlund, J. B., Englund, M., Christensen, R., Nissen, N., Pihl, K., Jørgensen, U., Schjerning, J., & Lohmander, L. S. (2017). Patient reported outcomes in patients undergoing arthroscopic partial meniscectomy for traumatic or degenerative meniscal tears: Comparative prospective cohort study. BMJ (Online), 356. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j356

Thorlund, J. B., Holsgaard-Larsen, A., Creaby, M. W., Jørgensen, G. M., Nissen, N., Englund, M., & Lohmander, L. S. (2016). Changes in knee joint load indices from before to 12 months after arthroscopic partial meniscectomy: A prospective cohort study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 24(7), 1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.01.987

Thorlund, J. B., Pihl, K., Nissen, N., Jørgensen, U., Fristed, J. V., Lohmander, L. S., & Englund, M. (2019). Conundrum of mechanical knee symptoms: Signifying feature of a meniscal tear? British Journal of Sports Medicine, 53(5), 299–303. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099431

Thorp, L. E., Sumner, D. R., Block, J. A., Moisio, K. C., Shott, S., & Wimmer, M. A. (2006). Knee joint loading differs in individuals with mild compared with moderate medial knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis and Rheumatism, 54(12), 3842–3849. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.22247

Tichonova, A., Rimdeikienė, I., Petruševičienė, D., & Lendraitienė, E. (2016). The relationship between pain catastrophizing, kinesiophobia and subjective knee function during rehabilitation following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and meniscectomy: A pilot study. Medicina (Lithuania), 52(4), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medici.2016.07.005

Toda, Y., & Tsukimura, N. (2008). Influence of concomitant heeled footwear when wearing a lateral wedged insole for medial compartment osteoarthritis of the knee. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 16(2), 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2007.06.010

Tokuda, K., Anan, M., Takahashi, M., Sawada, T., Tanimoto, K., Kito, N., & Shinkoda, K. (2018). Biomechanical mechanism of lateral trunk lean gait for knee osteoarthritis patients. Journal of Biomechanics, 66, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2017.10.016

Tomescu, S., Bakker, R., Wasserstein, D., Kalra, M., Nicholls, M., Whyne, C., & Chandrashekar, N. (2018). Dynamically tensioned ACL functional knee braces reduce ACL and meniscal strain. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 26(2), 526–533. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-017-4794-1

Totah, D., Menon, M., Jones-Hershinow, C., Barton, K., & Gates, D. H. (2019). The impact of ankle-foot orthosis stiffness on gait: A systematic literature review. Gait and Posture, 69(January), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2019.01.020

Travascio, F., & Jackson, A. R. (2017). The nutrition of the human meniscus: a computational analysis investigating the effect of vascular recession on tissue homeostasis. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *61*, 151-159.

Trigsted, S. M., Cook, D. B., Pickett, K. A., Cadmus-Bertram, L., Dunn, W. R., & Bell, D. R. (2018). Greater fear of reinjury is related to stiffened jump-landing biomechanics and muscle activation in women after ACL reconstruction. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 26(12), 3682–3689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-018-4950-2

Trombini-Souza, F., Fuller, R., Matias, A., Yokota, M., Butugan, M., Goldenstein-Schainberg, C., & Sacco, I. C. N. (2012). Effectiveness of a long-term use of a minimalist footwear versus habitual shoe on pain, function and mechanical loads in knee osteoarthritis: A randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-13-121

Trombini-Souza, F., Kimura, A., Ribeiro, A. P., Butugan, M., Akashi, P., Pássaro, A. C., Arnone, A. C., & Sacco, I. C. N. (2011). Inexpensive footwear decreases joint loading in elderly women with knee osteoarthritis. Gait and Posture, 34(1), 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2011.03.026

Trombini-Souza, F., Matias, A. B., Yokota, M., Butugan, M. K., Goldenstein-Schainberg, C., Fuller, R., & Sacco, I. C. N. (2015). Long-term use of minimal footwear on pain, self-reported function, analgesic intake, and joint loading in elderly women with knee osteoarthritis: A randomized controlled trial. Clinical Biomechanics, 30(10), 1194–1201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2015.08.004

Tschopp, M., & Brunner, F. (2017). Erkrankungen und Überlastungsschäden an der unteren Extremität bei Langstreckenläufern. *Zeitschrift für Rheumatologie*, *76*(5), 443-450.

Tsujii, A., Nakamura, N., & Horibe, S. (2017). Age-related changes in the knee meniscus. Knee, 24(6), 1262–1270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2017.08.001

Ursei, M. E., Accadbled, F., Scandella, M., Knorr, G., Munzer, C., Swider, P., Briot, J., & Gauzy, J. S. de. (2020). Foot and ankle compensation for anterior cruciate ligament deficiency during gait in children. Orthopaedics and Traumatology: Surgery and Research, 106(1), 179–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2019.07.009

Van der Esch, M., De Zwart, A., Pijnappels, M., Hoozemans, M., Van Der Leeden, M., Roorda, L., ... & Van Dieën, J. (2014). Falls associated with knee instability in people with knee osteoarthritis: biomechanical risk factors and pain. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 22, S432.

Vanwanseele, B., Eckstein, F., Smith, R. M., Lange, A. K., Foroughi, N., Baker, M. K., Shnier, R., & Fiatarone Singh, M. A. (2010). The relationship between knee adduction moment and cartilage and meniscus morphology in women with osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage, 18(7), 894–901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2010.04.006

Vaquero, J., & Forriol, F. (2016). Meniscus tear surgery and meniscus replacement. Muscles, Ligaments and Tendons Journal, 6(1), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.11138/mltj/2016.6.1.071

Verdonk P, Beaufils P, Bellemans J, Djian P, Heinrichs EL, Huysse W, Laprell H, Siebold R, Verdonk R. (2012). Successful treatment of painful irreparable partial meniscal defects with a polyurethane scaffold: two-year safety and clinical outcomes. Am J Sports Med 40:844–853.

Verdonk PC, Forsyth RG, Wang J, Almqvist KF, Verdonk R, Veys EM, Verbruggen G. (2005). Characterisation of human knee meniscus cell phenotype. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 13:548–560.

Verdonk R, Verdonk P, Huysse W, et al. Tissue ingrowth after implantation of a novel, biodegradable polyurethane scaffold for treatment of partial meniscal lesions. Am J Sports Med. 2011; 39:774-782.

Verdonk R, Volpi P, Verdonk P, Van der Bracht H, Van Laer M, Almqvist KF, Vander Eecken S, Prospero E, Quaglia A (2013) Indications and limits of meniscal allografts. Injury 44:21–27

Verdonk, R., & Kohn, D. (1999). Harvest and conservation of meniscal allografts. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports, 9(3), 158-159.

Vesalius A (1543) Andreae Vesalii de humani corporis fabrica libri septem. ex officina Joannis Oporini, Basileæ

Vidal, A. F. (2012). Commentary & Perspective. BY THE JOURNAL OF BONE AND JOINT SURGERY INCORPORATED J Bone Joint Surg Am, 18694(1), 186–1. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.L.01243 Voinier, D., Neogi, T., Stefanik, J. J., Guermazi, A., Roemer, F. W., Thoma, L. M., ... & White, D. K. (2020). Using Cumulative Load to Explain How Body Mass Index and Daily Walking Relate to Worsening Knee Cartilage Damage Over Two Years: The MOST Study. *Arthritis & Rheumatology*, *72*(6), 957-965.

Voloshin, A. S., & Wosk, J. (1983). Shock absorption of meniscectomized and painful knees: a comparative in vivo study. Journal of biomedical engineering, 5(2), 157-161.

Walter, J. P., D'Lima, D. D., Colwell, C. W., & Fregly, B. J. (2010). Decreased knee adduction moment does not guarantee decreased medial contact force during gait. Journal of Orthopaedic Research, 28(10), 1348–1354. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.21142

Wang, S. (2018). The biomechanical effect of different types of footwear on medial compartment knee loading during stair ascent and descent. January.

Wang, Y., Dempsey, A. R., Lloyd, D. G., Mills, P. M., Wrigley, T., Bennell, K. L., ... Cicuttini, F. M. (2012). Patellofemoral and tibiofemoral articular cartilage and subchondral bone health following arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 20(5), 970–978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-011-1681-z

Ward, S. H., Blackburn, J. T., Padua, D. A., Stanley, L. E., Harkey, M. S., Luc-Harkey, B. A., & Pietrosimone, B. (2018). Quadriceps neuromuscular function and jump-landing sagittal-plane knee biomechanics after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Journal of athletic training*, *53*(2), 135-143.

Wei, Q., Wang, Z., Woo, J., Liebenberg, J., Park, S. K., Ryu, J., & Lam, W. K. (2018). Kinetics and perception of basketball landing in various heights and footwear cushioning. PLoS ONE, 13(8), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201758

Weiss, K., & Whatman, C. (2015). Biomechanics associated with patellofemoral pain and ACL injuries in sports. *Sports medicine*, *45*(9), 1325-1337.

Werd, M. B., & Leslie Knight, E. (2010). Athletic footwear and orthoses in sports medicine. In Athletic Footwear and Orthoses in Sports Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-76416-0

Wilken, J. M., Rodriguez, K. M., Brawner, M., & Darter, B. J. (2012). Reliability and minimal detectible change values for gait kinematics and kinetics in healthy adults. *Gait & posture*, *35*(2), 301-307.

Willy, R. W., & Davis, I. S. (2011). The effect of a hip-strengthening program on mechanics during running and during a single-leg squat. Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 41(9), 625–632. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2011.3470

Willy, R. W., Bigelow, M. A., Kolesar, A., Willson, J. D., & Thomas, J. S. (2017). Erratum to: Knee contact forces and lower extremity support moments during running in young individuals post-partial meniscectomy (Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc,

10.1007/s00167-016-4143-9). Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 25(12), 3988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-016-4321-9

Winter, D. A. (2005). *Biomechanics and motor control of human movement* (3rd ed.). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons

Winter, D. A. (2009). Kinematics. In *Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement* (pp. 45-81): John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

Woolf, A. (2018). Tackling the elephant in the room. Retrieved from https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/tackling-the-elephant-in-the-room/

Wu, W. H., Hackett, T., & Richmond, J. C. (2002). Effects of meniscal and articular surface status on knee stability, function, and symptoms after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: a long-term prospective study. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *30*(6), 845-850.

Xing, F., Lu, B., Kuang, M. J., Wang, Y., Zhao, Y. L., Zhao, J., Sun, L., Wang, Y., Ma, J. X., & Ma, X. L. (2017). A systematic review and meta-analysis into the effect of lateral wedge arch support insoles for reducing knee joint load in patients with medial knee osteoarthritis. Medicine (United States), 96(24), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000007168

Xu, C., & Zhao, J. (2013). A meta-analysis comparing meniscal repair with meniscectomy in the treatment of meniscal tears: the more meniscus, the better outcome? Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy, 23(1), 164–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-013-2528-6

Xu, C., & Zhao, J. (2015). A meta-analysis comparing meniscal repair with meniscectomy in the treatment of meniscal tears: the more meniscus, the better outcome?. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 23(1), 164-170.

Yeh, P. C., Starkey, C., Lombardo, S., Vitti, G., & Kharrazi, F. D. (2012). Epidemiology of isolated meniscal injury and its effect on performance in athletes from the National Basketball Association. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 40(3), 589–594. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546511428601

Yeow, C. H., Lee, P. V. S., & Goh, J. C. H. (2010). Sagittal knee joint kinematics and energetics in response to different landing heights and techniques. *The Knee*, *17*(2), 127-131.

Yim, J. H., Seon, J. K., Song, E. K., Choi, J. I., Kim, M. C., Lee, K. B., & Seo, H. Y. (2013). A comparative study of meniscectomy and nonoperative treatment for degenerative horizontal tears of the medial meniscus. American Journal of Sports Medicine, 41(7), 1565–1570. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546513488518

Yoshida, N., Kunugi, S., Mashimo, S., Okuma, Y., Masunari, A., Miyazaki, S., Hisajima, T., & Miyakawa, S. (2016). Effect of Forefoot Strike on Lower Extremity Muscle Activity and Knee Joint Angle During Cutting in Female Team Handball Players. Sports Medicine - Open, 2(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-016-0056-x

Yoshida, Y., Mizner, R. L., & Snyder-Mackler, L. (2013). Association between long-term quadriceps weakness and early walking muscle co-contraction after total knee arthroplasty. *Knee*, *20*(6), 426-431.

Zebis, M. K., Andersen, L. L., Bencke, J., Kjaer, M., & Aagaard, P. (2009). Identification of athletes at future risk of anterior cruciate ligament ruptures by neuromuscular screening. *The American journal of sports medicine*, *37*(10), 1967-1973.

Zebis, M. K., Andersen, L. L., Brandt, M., Myklebust, G., Bencke, J., Lauridsen, H. B., ... & Aagaard, P. (2016). Effects of evidence-based prevention training on neuromuscular and biomechanical risk factors for ACL injury in adolescent female athletes: a randomised controlled trial. *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*(9), 552-557.

Zedde, P., Mela, F., Prete, F. Del, Masia, F., Manunta, F., Yamamoto, T., ... Whitney, S. L. (2017). Trabecular bone structure and spatial differences in articular cartilage MR relaxation times in individuals with posterior horn medial meniscal tears. Gait and Posture, 25(1), 651–664. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-50.1.09

Zelik, K. E., Takahashi, K. Z., & Sawicki, G. S. (2015). Six degree-of-freedom analysis of hip, knee, ankle and foot provides updated understanding of biomechanical work during human walking. Journal of Experimental Biology, 218(6), 876–886.

Zhang, S. N., Bates, B. T., & Dufek, J. S. (2000). Contributions of lower extremity joints to energy dissipation during landings. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *32*(4), 812-819.https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.115451

Zhang, K., Li, L., Yang, L., Shi, J., Zhu, L., Liang, H., Wang, X., Yang, X., & Jiang, Q. (2019). The biomechanical changes of load distribution with longitudinal tears of meniscal horns on knee joint: A finite element analysis. Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research, 14(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-019-1255-1

Zhang, P., Zhao, Q., Shang, X., & Wang, Y. (2018). Effect of arthroscopic resection for discoid lateral meniscus on the axial alignment of the lower limb. International Orthopaedics, 42(8), 1897–1903. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-018-3944-5

Zimny, M.L. (1988). Mechanoreceptors in articular tissues. Am J Anat 182:16-32.

Zwart, A. H., van der Esch, M., Pijnappels, M. A., Hoozemans, M. J., van der Leeden, M., Roorda, L. D., & van Dieën, J. H. (2015). Falls associated with muscle strength in patients with knee osteoarthritis and self-reported knee instability. The Journal of rheumatology, 42(7), 1218-1223.

Chapter 8 - Appendices

Appendix 1: Ethical approval



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

10 March 2017

Dear Vanessa,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION-HSR1617-57-'The reliability of lower limb and thoracic kinematics and</u> <u>strength measures in relation to clinical patients.'</u>

Based on the information you provided I am pleased to inform you that application HSR1617-57 has been approved.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, then please inform the Panel as soon as possible by contacting <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u>

Yours sincerely,

dhy M.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel

Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/



21 February 2017

Dear Vanessa,

<u>RE: ETHICS APPLICATION HSR1617-56 – 'Biomechanical Outcomes associated with OA progression</u> in Meniscectomy patients during athletic and functional tasks (BOOM study).'

Based on the information you provided I am pleased to inform you that your application HSR1617-56 has been approved to go forward to NRES.

Once you have received it, please submit a copy of the NRES approval letter to <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u> so that it can be placed on your application file.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, please inform the Health Research Ethics Support team as soon as possible.

Yours sincerely,

dhy M.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel



Research, Innovation and Academic Engagement Ethical Approval Panel

Research Centres Support Team G0.3 Joule House University of Salford M5 4WT

T +44(0)161 295 2280

www.salford.ac.uk/

22 June 2017

Dear Vanessa,

<u>RE:</u> ETHICS APPLICATION HSR1617-140 – 'The effect of commercially available footwear interventions on biomechanical outcomes associated with knee osteoarthritis in meniscectomy patients. The MENI-FOOT project.'

Based on the information you provided I am pleased to inform you that your application HSR1617-140 has been approved to go forward to NRES.

Once you have received it, please submit a copy of the NRES approval letter to <u>Health-ResearchEthics@salford.ac.uk</u> so that it can be placed on your application file.

If there are any changes to the project and/or its methodology, please inform the Health Research Ethics Support team as soon as possible.

Yours sincerely,

day, A.

Sue McAndrew Chair of the Research Ethics Panel

Appendix 2: Questionnaires

_

_

_

Appendix 2.1: Health questionnaire

	Appendix 3 – H		University of Salford				
HEALTH HISTORY QUESTIONNAIRE							
Per	sonal information						
Sur	name:	Name:					
Dat	e of birth:	Age:					
Hei	ght (cm)	Mass (kg)					
Ado	ditional information						
1	 Give an example of a typical week How long?) 	s exercises (what a	activities? How	often?			
-							
-							
Plea	ase note if you answer YES to any of	the following quest	ons, you migh	t not be			
allo you	wed to participate in this experiment, or r GP before testing.	or you will be asked	to provide a	letter from			
L			(Please	tick the box)			
1. Are abi	e you currently taking any medication lity to participate in this study?	that affect your	Yes	No			
2. Do	you suffer or haver ever suffered from	n knee pain?	Yes	No			
3. Ha kne	ve you undergone surgery to your le ee, ankle, foot), e.g. an arthroscopy?	ower body (hip,	Yes	No			
4. Do dis	you suffer or have ever suffered from ease? E.g. chest pain, cholesterol, irre	m cardiovascular egular pulse, etc.	Yes	No			
5. Do pre	you suffer or have ever suffered fror essure	n high/ low blood	Yes	No			

Appendix 3 – Health Questionnaire

Name of researcher	Signature	Date					
Signature of participant		Date					
I certify that none of the above i questionnaire.	information has changed sinc	e I completed this					
If this questionnaire was not testing, the participant must o	completed and countersig complete this section:	ned immediately prior to					
Name of participant	D	ate					
	_						
12. Are there other reasons, not should not exercise? E.g. surgeries, or anything else	mentioned above, why you an accident, pregnancy,	Yes No					
11. Are you currently receiving tr from a GP or physiotherapist	Yes No						
10. Do you ever lose balance b you ever lose consciousness	Yes No						
 Have you had a cold or fever weeks 	 Have you had a cold or feverish illness within the last two weeks 						
8. Do you suffer or ever suffered	from epilepsy/ seizures?	Yes No					
7. Do you suffer or ever suffered	Yes No						
Do you suffer or ever suffered from respiratory disease? Yes No E.g. asthma, bronchitis, etc.							



Sports activity survey

Activity level prior to injury: (Please tick one of the following)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

 How would you describe the activities you participated in <u>before your injury</u>? (tick all which apply)

Activity	Tick which apply
Running	
Cycling	
Swimming	
Gym (weight training)	
Gym (fitness)	
Team sport (recreational)	
Team sport (competitive)	
Individual sports (recreational)	
Individual sports (competitive)	

2. What sport(s) did you exactly participate in before your injury? (please complete below)

Sport	Highest Level (recreational = 2, amateur competitive = 4, semi-professional = 6, professional = 8, international professional = 10)	How many years since you participated at that level

Activity level prior to surgery: (Please tick one of the following)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

3. What sport(s) did you participate in prior to your surgery? (please complete box below)

Sport	Highest Level (recreational = 2, amateur competitive = 4, semi-professional = 6, professional = 8, international professional = 10)	How many years since you participated at that level



4. In the <u>3 months prior to your surgery</u> could you indicate how much time you spent doing the following training activities?

Activity	Hours per week (0-2, 3-4, 5-6, 7-8, 9-10)
Gym (weight training)	
Gym (circuit training or classes)	
Gym (cardiovascular training; bikes, cross trainer	
rowing, running etc)	
Sport specific training	
Competitive matches-events	
Other sport activity	

Activity level NOW: (Please tick one of the following)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

5. Give an example of typical week's exercises at present:

Activity	How often a week	How many hours	Level

Please tick one of the following

- 6. Compared to before your injury, how would you rate your activity level now?
 - Much better than before injury
 - Somewhat better than before injury
 - About the same as before injury
 - Somewhat worse than before injury
 - Much worse than before injury

Please tick one of the following

- 7. Compared to before your surgery, how would you rate your activity level now?
 - Much better than before surgery
 - Somewhat better than before surgery
 - About the same as before surgery
 - Somewhat worse than before surgery
 - Much worse than before surgery

Rehabilitation Questionnaire

Date:					
Name:	Date of Operation:				
Age:	Type of operation:				
Did you have regular physiotherapy sessions:		Yes/No			
Rehabilitation period:					
How often did you see physiotherapist:					
Are you back to full physical strength:		Yes/ <u>No</u>			
In your physiotherapy programme did you do a stage of the programme?	ny of the following exerci	ses, how often and at what			
1. Passive knee extension					
Have you done this in your rehab?		Yes/No			
At what stage of your program did you do t	this?				
How often did you do this exercise?					
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?					
2. Heel slide					
Have you done this in your rehab? Yes/No					
At what stage of your program did you do t					
How often did you do this exercise?					

How long did you carry on doing this exercise?

3. Standing knee to wall

Have you done this in your rehab?

Yes/No

At what stage of your program did you do this?

How often did you do this exercise?

How long did you carry on doing this exercise?



4. Hamstring stretch on wall

At what stage of your program did you do this?

How long did you carry on doing this exercise?

6. Clams

Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	ş
How often did you do this exercise?	(
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	2
<u>seal (a</u>	
7. Glute bridges	
Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	PC
How often did you do this exercise?	1 <u>1</u> 21
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	<u></u>



8. Step up

Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	3 <u>1</u> 3
How often did you do this exercise?	
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	

9. Wall squat

Have you done this in your rehab? At what stage of your program did you do this? How often did you do this exercise? How long did you carry on doing this exercise?



10. Crab walks

Have you done this in your rehab? At what stage of your program did you do this? How often did you do this exercise? How long did you carry on doing this exercise?



11. Resisted knee extension

Have you done this in your rehab? Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?
How often did you do this exercise?
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?

Yes/No

Yes/No

12. Leg press

Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	
How often did you do this exercise?	
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	

13. Balance board exercises

Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	
How often did you do this exercise?	
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	



15. Lunges

Have you done this in your rehab?

At what stage of your program did you do this?

How often did you do this exercise?

How long did you carry on doing this exercise?



16. Single leg squat

Have you done this in your rehab?	
At what stage of your program did you do this?	
How often did you do this exercise?	
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	

17. Plyometric (jumps, hops)

Have you done this in your rehab? At what stage of your program did you do this? How often did you do this exercise? How long did you carry on doing this exercise?

18. Agility (ladders, change direction)

Have you done this in your rehab?	Yes/No
At what stage of your program did you do this?	
How often did you do this exercise?	
How long did you carry on doing this exercise?	

Yes/No

Yes/No

Yes/No
Appendix 2.4: VAS Footwear comfort score



The MENI-FOOT project: The effect of commercially available footwear interventions on biomechanical outcomes associated with knee osteoarthritis in meniscectomy patients

Trainer

Overall Comfort

Please mark the line (\downarrow) to indicate the relative comfort of a specific shoe condition; the further to the right the more comfortable the shoe.

Not comfortable at all

Most comfortable condition imaginable

44 OF 45











Appendix 3.4: Change of direction

277